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Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statementsral Industry Data

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statemehts are based on our management’s beliefs andnasisins and on information
currently available to our management. The forwlanking statements are contained principally ingketions entitled “Risk factors,”
“Management’s discussion and analysis of finanoaldition and results of operations,” and “BusineBsrward-looking statements include
information concerning our possible or assumedréutasults of operations, business strategiesading plans, competitive position, industry
environment, potential growth opportunities andeffects of competition. Forward-looking statementdude statements that are not
historical facts and can be identified by termshsas “anticipates,” “believes,” “could,” “seeks gstimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,”
“plans,” “potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “shodl|” “will,” “would” or similar expressions and theegatives of those terms.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknaeisks, uncertainties and other factors that nase our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially difiefrom any future results, performance or achiests expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements. We discuss these iiskigeater detail in “Risk factors” and elsewhearéhis Form 10-K. Given these
uncertainties, you should not place undue reliarcthese forward-looking statements. Also, forwtmmking statements represent our
management’s beliefs and assumptions only as afdteeof this Form 10-K.

Except as required by law, we assume no obligatarpdate these forward-looking statements, optiate the reasons actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated irese forward-looking statements, even if new inftion becomes available in the future.
You should read this Form 10-K completely and with understanding that our actual future resultg beamaterially different from what we
expect.

Corporate information

We were incorporated in California in May 1999 agddmetrix Corporation, changed our name to Fluidigamporation in April 2001
and reincorporated in Delaware in July 2007. Ourgipal executive offices are located at 7000 SlmeeCourt, Suite 100, South San
Francisco, California 94080. Our telephone numb€650) 266-6000. Our website address is www.fgridcom. Information contained on
our website is not incorporated by reference ihts Form 10-K, and should not be considered todveqf this Form 10-K.

“Fluidigm,” the Fluidigm logo, “BioMark,” “DynamicArray,” “Digital Array,” “Access Array,” “EP1,” “FCL,” “TOPAZ,”
“FLUIDLINE,” “AutolnspeX,” “MSL” and “NanoFlex” aretrademarks or registered trademarks of Fluidignp@rtion. Other service
marks, trademarks and trade names referred tasfrthm 1(-K are the property of their respective owni
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We develop, manufacture and market microfluididesys for growth markets in the life science andcadfural biotechnology, or Ag-
Bio, industries. Our proprietary microfluidic systs consist of instruments and consumables, inadudmips and reagents. These systems are
designed to significantly simplify experimental Wwflow, increase throughput and reduce costs, wiritviding the excellent data quality
demanded by customers. In addition, our proprietaeiinology enables genetic analysis that in mastances was previously impractical.
We actively market three microfluidic systems irtihg eight different commercial chips to leadin@phaceutical and biotechnology
companies, academic institutions, diagnostic laooies and Ag-Bio companies. We have sold overs3@®ems to customers in over 20
countries worldwide.

To achieve and exploit advances in life scienceaesh, Ag-Bio and molecular diagnostics, laboratrieed robust systems that deliver
increased throughput and simpler workflows at desed costs. Our microfluidic systems are design@yércome many of the limitations of
conventional laboratory systems by integratingremaasing number of fluidic components on a singjerofabricated chip. Our technology
enables our customers to perform and measure thdsigd sophisticated biochemical reactions on sasginaller than the content of a sir
cell, while utilizing minute volumes of reagentdaamples. Similarly, for next generation DNA satgieg, our systems enable rapid
preparation of multiple samples in parallel at lcost.

We have successfully commercialized our BioMark BRd. systems for genetic analysis and our Access/Alystem for next
generation DNA sequencing sample preparation. Reflses and clinicians have successfully employedoaducts to help achieve
breakthroughs in a variety of fields, including gga variation, cellular function and structuraploigy. These include using our microfluidic
systems to help detect life-threatening mutationgatients’ cancer cells, discover cancer assatlaitanarkers, analyze the genetic
composition of individual stem cells, identify fethhromosomal abnormalities and assess the qualigricultural seed products. We believe
our Access Array system resolves a critical womkflaottleneck that exists in all commercial nextgation DNA sequencing platforms. We
expect that the versatility of our microfluidic temlogy will enable us to develop additional apaiicns across a wide variety of markets.

Our Target Markets

The current markets for our products include lf@sce research and Ag-Bio. In addition, we arestiging products for use in
molecular diagnostics and other markets.

Life Science Research

Our primary area of focus within life science raskds genetic analysis, the study of genes anid filnections. The sum total of the
hereditary material of an organism is known agésome, which is commonly organized into functiamaits known as genes. Analysis of
variations in genomes, genes and gene activitpihbeetween organisms can provide tremendous insitghtheir health and functioning.
There are several forms of genetic analysis intaday including gene expression analysis, genotypaigital PCR and DNA sequencing.

Gene expression and genotyping are studied thrawgimbination of various technology platforms ttizracterize gene function and
genetic variation. These platforms rely on polyrserahain reaction, or PCR, amplification to gereeeatponential copies of a DNA sample
provide sufficient signal to facilitate detectid®eal-time quantitative PCR, or real-time gPCR, mae advanced form of PCR that makes it
possible to identify the number of copies of DNAgent in a sample. Retilre qPCR often utilizes TagMan, which is a protanig chemistry
developed by Roche Molecular Systems Inc.
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The scale of genetic research varies widely. Afdlaeend, researchers sometimes examine a limitetber of genetic variations in a
relatively small population. At the upper end, asbers may perform genome wide association studiese hundreds of thousands of
possible genetic variations are examined acrossstmals or tens of thousands of samples. Becauke otherent complexity of biological
systems, it is rare for researchers to be abléstmder scientifically relevant information by examng just a few genetic variations. On the
other hand, the result of many genome wide assogiatudies is simply the identification of a mdimeited set of genetic variations that need
to be examined in a larger population. As a resoltye of the most productive life science resemrdone at a mid-multiplex scale, where
tens or hundreds of genetic variations are examimédndreds or thousands of samples.

We target the following specific areas of life suie research, and our products are used for mitigiax research or applications of a
similar scale:

Gene Expression AnalysiJ his form of genetic analysis focuses on meagugjgne expression. The genome is typically madef up
DNA, except in some viruses which utilize RNA. Tggily, the process of gene expression involvegtreeration of RNA copies of specific
regions of the genome by a process known as trigtiscr. Such RNA copies are known as messenger RNAis messenger RNA may then
be translated by the cell into a protein which raffgct the activity of the cell or the larger organ. One prevalent form of gene expression
analysis measures the levels of messenger RNA@l an order to determine how the activity of fi@urlar genes or sets of genes affect the
cell or the organism.

Genotyping Genotyping involves the analysis of variationsas individual genomes. A common application ofagping focuses on
analyzing variations of single nucleotides, knowrassingle nucleotide polymorphism, or SNP. In $¢Rotyping studies, statistical analyses
are performed to determine whether a SNP or gré@N®s are associated with a particular charatigriich as propensity for a disease.
Haplotyping is an application of genotyping in whisNPs located at different loci on the same chsmm® are studied simultaneously.

Digital PCR. Digital PCR allows researchers to detect nuaeid sequences that are present in sample contiensréhat are too small
to be accurately measured by conventional metHdigial PCR typically relies on standard PCR tecjuas, but increases their sensitivity by
dividing a sample into hundreds or thousands oflemsamples and performing a PCR assay on eathsauple. The ability to count the
presence or absence of amplification in this agsagat allows for absolute quantitative measurencapibilities. As a result, digital PCR «
perform much more precise detection of rare mutatipopularly known as needle-in-a-haystack detectiene expression or copy number
measurements as compared to real-time qPCR. DR@& has the potential to enable early detectiatisgfases and other conditions, thereby
improving prospects for effective treatment.

Single Cell Analysis Single cell analysis is an emerging area of gemesearch that requires specialized tools artthigques. Genetic
research typically involves the analysis of samptastaining thousands of cells and many differetittypes. When such samples are studied
using gene expression analysis, the results olstaefeect a rough average of the activity of altlod cells in the sample. Recently, researc
have demonstrated that this approach often magicatdifferences in gene expression levels betwaifferent cell types and even between
individual cells of the same type. In additiontte fields of in-vitro fertilization and stem cedlsearch, researchers are often required to
examine single cells because the number of cetldadle for analysis is inherently limited. The pemf this research has often been
constrained because the small amount of genetierrabin a single cell prevents conventional methfsxdm analyzing the activity of more
than a few genes. In addition, large numbers ofpbesrare required to determine the heterogeneguatsires of sub-populations of cells and
large studies like these can be prohibitively epenwhen performed on conventional platforms.

Sample Preparation for Next Generation DNA Sequencihrough a process known as sequencing, researahenble to determine
the particular order of nucleotide bases that cisepall or a portion of a

2
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particular genome. In the last few years, reseasdhg@ve begun to use next generation DNA sequeteapidly and cost-effectively
sequence large portions of the genomes of manyithdils and identify genetic variations that caatelwith particular characteristics. Next
generation DNA sequencing technologies have draalbtireduced the cost and processing time for tigsequencing, but to be utilized
effectively, require large numbers of unique sample addition, next generation DNA sequencing iegunew sample preparation
methodologies including adding identification taggach segment of each individual sample that letsequenced. These sample
preparation and tagging processes, known as tangethment, are complex and require precise meamneand manipulation of minute
guantities of DNA and reagents.

Agricultural Biotechnology

Genetic analysis techniques such as SNP genotyaing become increasingly useful in Ag-Bio applimasi such as wildlife population
studies, agricultural quality control and commergenetic engineering. These applications typicadlyuire the analysis of hundreds or
thousands of SNPs to achieve representative sampteattain useful information. Due to these dermaodmmercially viable genetic
analysis tools in Ag-Bio must be inexpensive, éasyse and able to provide extremely high throughipelow a certain cost per data point,
we believe Ag-Bio customers would choose to anatiigegenome of each animal or sample.

Molecular Diagnostics

Recent advances in genetic analysis technologinareasingly being used for clinical applicatiomechniques such as SNP genotyp
gene expression analysis and other genetic caoelstiudies are used to identify disease suscéptiand to diagnose, classify and monitor
disease progression. Molecular diagnostic testschas measuring these genetic markers have thet@t® be much more accurate and
robust than conventional diagnostics. Within molacdiagnostics, an area of significant unmet clihineed is noninvasive prenatal
diagnostics, or NIPD, for fetal aneuploidies, sitioe most reliable diagnostic tests currently akdd are invasive and carry risks to the fetus.
Current physician guidelines recommend that algpast women receive aneuploidy screening in ttse irmester. In collaboration with
Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics, Inc., or Novaii&D, we are developing a microfluidic system toget this NIPD market for fet:
aneuploidies.

The Limitations of Existing Laboratory Systems

Academic, clinical and industrial researchers aoegasingly performing genetic analysis on largaefsa sizes and assay sets. These
experiments are typically performed using systeamsisting of 384 well or larger microplates, pip®jtstations, robotic plate movers and
other elements of laboratory equipment. Howevearsghconventional systems require an extremely aoovpbrkflow involving thousands of
pipetting steps, hundreds of microplates and, tesipé use of robotics, extensive human intervantsuch complexity limits the throughput
of laboratories and increases the possibility odrsrand variability between experiments. In additithese systems typically are unable to
perform experiments with low fluid volumes, leaditmgexcessive consumption of reagents and inc@mtisesults.

In response to the limitations of conventional syst, numerous other methods of genetic analysiidimg microarrays, pre-formatted
arrays, bead arrays, microdroplets and mass speeteo analysis have been developed. However, dabese high-throughput methods has
one or more limitations that reduce its utility fi@rlarly for mid-multiplex experimentation.

Microarrays, pre-formatted arrays and bead arrliyack flexibility because researchers must spettie assays they wish to perform at
the time the products are ordered. This in turiitéimesearchers’ ability to refine their assay palueing the course of a study. In addition, if
researchers wish to use assay panels other thamafacturer's standard panels, they must wait fmrstomized product to be produced.

The quality of the data produced by microarrays;formatted arrays and mass spectrometer anadysisufficient for certain research
activities. For genotyping studies, data qualittyjsically measured by call rate,

3
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which is the frequency of a reading with resped fmrticular SNP. Both pre-formatted arrays andsispectrometer analysis generally have
call rates lower than real-time gPCR performed icraplates. For gene expression studies, it isaftgortant to measure expression levels
over a broad dynamic range to capture all or mb#teovariation found among subjects. Microarrgre-formatted arrays, bead arrays or

mass spectrometer analysis cannot measure geressixpr levels over as broad a dynamic range asimealgPCR performed in microplates.

The workflow for bead arrays and mass spectronagtalysis is complex, time consuming and costly.&@mple, standard protocols
often require multiple complex operations to befqrened over several days by skilled techniciansoAtertain pre-formatted arrays require
significant manual intervention, which significanthcreases costs and potential for error.

These methods can also be very costly for mid-pledti experimentation. For example, a single mig@aor bead array is capable of
analyzing thousands of genes from a single sarfiplese devices have been successfully used forysngvthe genome to discover basic
patterns of genetic variation. These surveys anenconly performed on tens or hundreds of samplesaamihtended to identify a subset of
genes for further investigation. However, for vatidn studies, which typically require the analysishousands or tens of thousands of
samples, the high per sample cost of microarragibaad arrays often make them uneconomical. Simildre high initial setup costs for
mass spectrometry analysis generally make it ecaradijnfeasible only for very large-scale studies.

While the cost and processing time for genetic eaging has plummeted with next generation DNA seqing technologies,
improvements in sample preparation has laggedet@xtent that sample preparation now representsigti@r bottleneck from both a cost and
time perspective in the sequencing process. Miodt technologies have been proposed as a meacséterate the sample preparation and
tagging process for next generation DNA sequenditogvever, this technique can process only one saatp time, is expensive and cannot
be validated prior to sequencing.

The limitations of existing technologies becomerer®re acute when clinicians attempt to transleigensific research into commercial
molecular diagnostics. Given the nature of the@rafions, commercial clinical laboratories needesys that can test large numbers of pa
samples at low cost and with minimal labor requieata. Moreover, many of the most promising resestatlies rely on measuring each
sample across tens or even hundreds of geneticensaik diagnose or classify a disease. We belleateusing standard microplate technols
to make multiple measurements on a large numbsamples is often too complex and expensive for rlostal laboratories. Similarly,
many of the limitations of microarrays, pre-forneattarrays, bead arrays and microdroplets also intbair ability to provide a broadly
acceptable molecular diagnostic solution. As altethe molecular diagnostic tests adopted by céihiaboratories have generally been
relatively simple or have required specialized niaeh to perform. Diagnostic approaches that requiasuring large numbers of genetic
markers are generally not available or are avalably from a diagnostic laboratory that specializethe particular test.

Researchers, clinicians and commercial users need robust systems that deliver increased througgapa simpler workflows with
decreased costs.

The Fluidigm Solution

Our proprietary microfluidic systems are designedignificantly simplify experimental workflow, inease throughput, reduce costs,
provide excellent data quality and in many instareable genetic analysis that was previously iotiga. Our microfluidic systems
empower researchers and commercial customers itlyrgerform significantly more experiments or paep significantly more samples—all
at one time and in nanoliter volumes—with a comtiamaof speed and accuracy that we believe canmaichieved with other systems. Our
systems deliver these advantages through the attegrof sophisticated nanoliter fluid handlingain

4



Table of Contents

easy-to-use format that is compatible with mosstnxg laboratory workflows and chemistries. Ourteyss are used in existing and emerging
life science research and Ag-Bio markets, and viiesmethere are significant growth opportunitiesiditional markets. A significant portion
of our research and development efforts are cuyrémtused on potential applications of our tecloggiin molecular diagnostics, and we
expect such development focus to continue.

We believe that our microfluidic systems have a banof compelling advantages over microplate systand other mid-multiplex
platforms including:

Data Quality. Our microfluidic systems provide exceptionallghiquality data. In genotyping, our systems achgreater than
99% call rate and call accuracy. For gene expressiar systems achieve 6 orders of magnitude oflyo range with inter- and
intra-chip reproducibility at correlation coefficientsegter than 0.9¢

Improved Throughpt. Our base BioMark system can generate over 2§660typing data points per day and our high thrput
configurations of our systems can generate ovej0DD0data points per day, with a time to first femeasured in hours. Some
competing systems may offer comparable data ppetslay, but may take longer for first results. @tsystems offer comparable
time to first result, but produce fewer data popes day, and often with lower data quality. Oupioved throughput reduces the
time and cost associated with complex experimamisexpands the number and range of experimentsnimatoe conductel

Ease of Us.. Loading our 96.96 Dynamic Array chip requires p2etting steps as compared to 18,432 steps edjtorload the
number of 384 well microplates required for the earperiment. Difficulties encountered with somenpeting systems include
manual sample loading and chip alignment that afésnlts in lower throughput. We believe our mitiafic systems’ efficient
workflow reduces time, cost and potential for er

Flexibility . Our chips are built on input frames that are catilpte with most commonly used laboratory systemduding
existing robotic pipetting systems, bar code resdaate handling systems and other equipmentcBips are also designed to
work with standard chemistries, including TagMan ather reagents. In addition, our chips give regeas the flexibility to
develop and load their own assays, unlike some etimpproducts that can be used only to analyzeifipgenes or that are
supplied pr-configured with fixed conten

Nanoliter Precisior. Our microfluidic systems allow users to dispesamples and reagents in microliter volumes whieh ar
automatically partitioned, combined or mixed in oliter and sulanoliter volumes. In addition to cost and workflbenefits, thi
capability makes it practical for users to condrertain high sensitivity, low volume techniquesstsas digital PCR and single ¢
analysis.

Cost EffectivenessWe believe our high throughput systems offermpelling cost benefit for high volume users. Owtens
consume reagents in nanoliter volumes, have thigyaioi conduct thousands of parallel experimentsae chip, and offer
customers the flexibility to use lower cost reagead neede(
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We provide complete microfluidic systems consistifignstruments and consumables, including chigsraagents. Our systems are
easily incorporated into our customers’ laboragmyironments and analysis workflow. For example,ahips are the same size and shape as
standard 384 well microplates and other chip comgues, which facilitate the loading and handlingof chips by standard laboratory
equipment. Each of our chips includes an elastamerirubber-like, core that contains an extenag®vork of microfluidic components that
deliver samples and reagents to thousands of nanetilume chambers where individual assays arfeimeed. Our primary product offerings
are summarized in the table below:

Products Product Description Applications
Instruments
BioMark System Realtime PCR instrument, bundled analy  Digital PCR, SNP Genotyping, Gene
BioMark HD Systen software and chip loading platforms Expression
EP1 System Realtime PCR instrument, bundled analy  Digital PCR, SNP Genotyping
software and chip loading platforr
Access Array System Sample preparation system that facilitates Next Generation DNA Sequencil

parallel amplification of 48 unique samp

Consumables

Dynamic Array Chips Microfluidic chip based on matrix Real-time gPCR, SNP Genotyping,
architecture, allowing users to generate up Gene Expression
to 9,216 real-time gPCR reactions
simultaneousl

Digital Array Chips Microfluidic chip based on Digital PCR, Gene Expression,
partitioning architecture, allowing Copy Number Variation,
users to divide each of 48 separate Mutation Detection

samples into 770 smaller samp

Access Array Chips Microfluidic chip that facilitates parallel Next Generation DNA Sequencil
amplification, barcoding and tagging of 48
unique sample

Multi-use Chips Reusable microfluidic chip that can be used SNP Genotyping
up to five times and is able to produce up to
11,520 genotypes over its lifesp

Reagent Kits Custom designed assays for specific nuc ~ Gene Expression, Next Generation
acid regions of intere: DNA Sequencin

Current Commercial Applications
We believe our microfluidic systems offer distiaclvantages for mid-multiplex analysis in each aftanget markets:

Life Science Research

Gene Expression and GenotypinQur systems provide researchers a flexible ansy ®ause tool for generating high quality data.
Competing technologies, such as foenatted arrays, bead arrays and microarraydjnaited and inflexible because they require nucksd
sequences on the device to be pre-specified wieechiip or other consumable is manufactured. Inrashtour microfluidic systems allow
researchers to utilize and
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easily tailor their assays to meet their experimleméeds, which can shorten the analytical cyal@fgiven study to hours instead of weeks.
We believe our systems also offer meaningful casingis because they operate on nanoliter volumesagfents and samples, which are
between 0.5% and 1.0% of the amount required byamional microplate systems.

For example, a consortium consisting of a majoeassh university, a fertility clinic and a regertara medicine and research group has
utilized our systems to conduct research in ineviértilization. By performing individual expressigrofile analyses, this group has
discovered a set of factors implicated in the siavand maturation of human eggs, leading to imedosuccess in fertility clinics.

Digital PCR. Our BioMark and EP1 systems can be used foradifiCR, a process in which samples are partitiomedmninute reactio
volumes containing individual DNA strands to enattilgital counting for more accurate DNA quantificsit Because of their lack of
precision, such as in pipetting nanoliter volunieis, not practical to perform digital PCR usingwwentional microplate systems. With our
systems, digital PCR has been used for a numhdiffefent applications, including absolute quactfion, determination of genomic copy
number variation and detection of rare mutatiorith@dugh several competitors are currently develggiigital PCR systems, we were the {
to introduce and successfully commercialize a digiCR system in 2006. For example, pharmacewitdbiotechnology companies are
taking advantage of the increased sensitivity esthbl/ our digital PCR technology to detect gengtittations that are linked to drug efficacy
and monitor cancer remission.

Single Cell Analysis The integrated workflow and precision of our sys$ enable researchers to perform gene expressidyse on
single cells on a scale that is impractical with\wentional systems. Information gathered on cdil/gies has traditionally been obtained fri
populations of cells due to technological limitasoon the ability to examine each individual c8llir systems are able to precisely divide the
limited amount of sample material extractable frasingle cell into a multitude of divisions, anéthaccurately assay each such minute
division. The high throughput of our systems alloesearchers to analyze thousands of cells imtaisner. Providing the combination of
high throughput and data quality necessary forlsingll analysis presents significant challenges e believe most conventional systems
are unable to address in a practical manner.

For example, our BioMark system has been usedIfoithentify specific signatures of cancer stemgedt the single cell level.
Researchers believe that cancer stem cells arargms to tumors and are often manifested weltivaace of other tumor markers. By
detecting and identifying such cells, researcheligbe they can diagnose and treat cancer at a eatier stage than with conventional
methods. In addition, our BioMark system has besmaduo identify signatures of induced pluripoteetis or iPS, cells. These iPS cells may
have multiple applications in life science reseant therapeutics. Similarly, our BioMark systers hbso been used to identify signatures of
immune system cells, both pre- and post- exposuaatigens, to gain insight into improved vacciand disease treatments.

Sample Preparation for Next Generation DNA Sequencio efficiently use next-generation sequencerseirdorm validation or other
studies, researchers need to be able to prepartagidmples from tens or hundreds of individuals o the samples being processed by the
sequencers. Using conventional methods, this pagiparand tagging must be done separately for gmlitidual sample being processed, a
laborious process that could take several daysooe fior a typical validation study. The streamlivearkflow and flexibility of our systems
address this critical workflow bottleneck by allegisamples from up to 48 individuals to be prepareditagged in approximately four hot

For example, a leading cancer research institigeutibzed our Access Array system in conjunctiathwheir next generation DNA
sequencing platform to analyze key oncology genessa large cohorts of cancer samples. We beligsle studies will advance the
understanding of cancer etiology and potentialhdle the development of improved cancer treatments
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Agricultural Biotechnology

Ag-Bio customers require systems that can quichly accurately analyze a large number of samples, asitissue from livestock
populations or seeds from a production lot, in st efficient manner. The streamlined workflow of gystems allows customers to genotype
a set of samples in approximately three hours pes®zl to a day or more, which is the time requiogaiepare and run a set of samples on
bead array systems. In addition, the call rat@forsystems is much higher than for pre-formattealya or mass spectrometry, and our
products offer significant cost advantages overpatmg systems.

For example, our BioMark system is being used tp beeate disease resistant strains of staple ¢omuk for developing nations.
Recently, certain genetic indicators have beentifiieth that quickly and accurately fingerprint ceoBy systematically analyzing over 300
specific genetic markers, the BioMark system iphmg our customer produce and deliver seeds tHagreiw into plants more likely to
survive, leading to improved yields. This success led to increased adoption of the BioMark systeghich is now used to selectively breed
other desirable food qualities and drive agricaltwfficiency and natural resource conservation.

Potential Future Applications

The inherent design flexibility of our core techmgy allows us to build microfluidic systems thahqaovide significant benefits in a
wide range of fields and industries. We believes¢hieatures could lead to a number of differentroencial applications including:

Molecular Diagnostics Life science research is revealing additionadaées and conditions that can be diagnosed, esdlaat
monitored by measuring panels of gene expressi@mideSNPs, proteins or other biomarkers. Validathrese research findings and
translating them into clinically available testsesf requires life science automation systems tteaflble to measure multiple biomarkers
efficiently in a large number of patient samplesr ©xisting microfluidic systems are able to measartain nucleic acid biomarkers that are
commonly used in these tests, and in the futureexpect to develop additional systems to measiner oelevant biomarkers.

We believe that the high-throughput, flexibilitycasimplified workflow of our microfluidic system®ald make them an attractive
solution for validating and commercializing a widage of molecular diagnostic tests being develdpeatsearchers. Our microfluidic
systems have not been cleared or approved by eRdod and Drug Administration, or FDA, for useaimy molecular diagnostic tests and
we cannot currently market them for the purpospesforming molecular diagnostic tests. We are aulyaleveloping a microfluidic system
with Novartis V&D for NIPD for fetal aneuploidieQur system is in its early stages of developmedtve have not made any submission
the FDA regarding the system or determined whe#iek clearance or approval will be required.

Other Applications We believe that the inherent design flexibilifyonir core microfluidic technology allows us to fmem sophisticate
biochemical processes relevant to a wide rangelufsfand industries. We are developing our miaidit technology for additional
applications, including:

» Single Cell Capture and ProcessinResearchers have increasingly focused on thg stusingle cells to better understand
complex biological processes. We plan to applyteannology to make it easier to capture singlesaatld to increase the range of
methods that can be used to interrogate a single

» Protein Assay. While the analysis of mMRNA and DNA gives insi@htb the activity of biological systems, most bigical
activity in cells is carried out by proteins. Wevbaleveloped a chip that allows quantitation opi@eins within 48 samples
simultaneously. We believe that the sensitivity apdcificity of this chip will be highly valuable the life science research
industry. In addition, we have demonstrated PCRethgsotein quantification using commercially avidiéareagents on our
BioMark system
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» Cell Culture and AssaysWe are developing an integrated microfluidic cifigt enables cell culture to be performed in &lyig
automated fashion in a microfluidic environmentr©o-founder, Dr. Stephen Quake, recently usedtfype of our cell culture
microfluidic chip to perform single cell studiesa#ll signaling, and published these results indenalNature.

» Sample Preparation for Next Generation DNA Sequngndin addition to the Access Array system, we hasmonstrated a
general architecture with the ability to use beasiell purification steps in-chip, allowing sequédmiactions with purification
steps in between. While we have no immediate glaicemmercialize this architecture, it may finditytiin automated library pre
for de novo next generation DNA sequenci

Our microfluidic systems address the needs of rekees and clinicians who perform mid-multiplex ekmentation in the areas of
genetics, Ag-Bio and molecular diagnostics. Inipafar, for validation studies or projects of a Banscale, our microfluidic systems
substantially reduce cost, simplify workflow andiiease throughput as compared to conventional plae@systems. Nevertheless,
researchers may be slow to adopt our microfluigitesms as they are based on technology that, ceahpaiconventional technology, is new
and less established in the industry. Moreover ynwdithe existing laboratories have already madestuntial capital investments in their
existing systems and may be hesitant to abandémthestment. While we believe our systems prowigmificant cost-savings, the initial
price of our instruments and the price of our clapshigher than conventional systems and star&Btdvell microplates. Our microfluidic
systems are less well suited for smaller scalearebanitiatives where complexity and workflow issumay be less pressing and conventional
systems may be more economical. In addition, foy l@rge-scale association or survey projects,ae$ers may choose to use microarrays
because of the ability of those products to meashwesands of genetic markers with a single devAsdife science research continues to
evolve and is commercialized, we believe that thdhebe increasing demand for life science autdorasolutions that enable
experimentation on the scale supported by our ridgdic systems.

Products

We actively sell three microfluidic systems, BioMaEP1 and Access Array. These systems are basedeoar more chips designed
particular applications and include specializedrimaentation and software. All of our systems idewchip controllers that control the
activation of valves, loading of reagents, and vecp or wash steps within the chips. Each chip raier comes with software to control chip
and instrument operations for particular appliaaiol he BioMark system includes a real-time PCRhimecthat comprises a thermal cycler
for PCR and a fluorescence reader that can détecesults of reactions over time. The EP1 systmtudes stand-alone thermal cyclers and
an end-point fluorescence reader. The EP1 themaégcsupports fast PCR enabling the performandegif-throughput SNP genotyping.
The BioMark and EP1 systems both include softwarnalyze, annotate and archive the data producétetreader. The Access Array
system includes a stand-alone thermal cycler andctvip controllers. We provide an extensive sgirofocols and application notes with all
of our systems to support specific scientific apgtiions. All of our systems are designed to be @iible with standard laboratory automation
equipment.

The BioMark System for Genetic Analysis

Our BioMark system performs high-throughput gengregsion analysis, SNP genotyping, single cellyamabnd digital PCR using
TaqMan, EvaGreen dye and other chemistries.

Fluidigm Dynamic Array ChipsOur Fluidigm 96.96 Dynamic Array chip is basedeomatrix architecture and is capable of indivitiu
assaying 96 samples against 96 reagents, gene®?ih§ reactions on a single chip. Our Fluidignd8@ynamic Array chip is based on the
same architecture and is capable of individualsagig 48 samples against 48 reagents, genera80g Peactions. One version of each chip
is optimized to perform gene expression analysisarother is optimized for genotyping. All assases erformed in volumes of 10 nanolit
or less. In 2010, we introduced the reusable FR3Bynamic Array chip. This chip is based
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upon the same matrix architecture as our standavtBDynamic Array chip, but can be cleaned bycitomer and used up to 5 times. In
2011, we expect to introduce an enhanced reushlgecapable of assaying 192 samples against 2&nésag

Fluidigm Digital Array Chips. Our Fluidigm 48.770 Digital Array chip is based partitioning architecture that divides each otag8
separate samples into 770 microscopic sampleshemdoerforms a PCR or other assay for each diddetple in 1 nanoliter or smaller
volume. Our 12.765 Digital Array chip is based ba same architecture and divides up to 12 sampies 65 parts. These chips can be used
for digital PCR applications such as rare mutatietection or copy number variation analysis.

BioMark Instrumentation and Softwar®ur chip controllers for the BioMark system fulytomate the setup of Dynamic Array and
Digital Array chips for real-time gPCR-based expernts and include software for implementing andkirsg experiments. Our BioMark
reader controls the PCR process and detects theeflcent signals generated using a white lightcep@wmission and excitation filters,
precision lenses, a thermal cycler and a digitalara. In 2011, we introduced the BioMark HD, anarded version of our BioMark reader
that has a faster thermal cycler. We also offeiowarsoftware packages that provide data analgfmAfing data collection. Our analysis
software shows data as a color-coded map of evasifign on the chip, such as for amplification @s\and as numeric tabular data.

The EP1 System

The EP1 system performs SNP genotyping and end-gigjital PCR using TagMan, EvaGreen dye and athemistries. Our EP1
System uses the same Dynamic Array and DigitalyActdps that are used by our BioMark system. Besadists high throughput and focus
on genotyping, the EP1 system is a preferred chojceur Ag-Bio customers for field implementation.addition, we believe our reusable
FR48.48 Dynamic Array chip and future reusable smay be widely adopted by our A&je customers because they can substantially re
the cost per data point for high volume users.

EP1 Instrumentation and Softwar&@he chip controllers for the EP1 system fullycamate the setup of chips for end-point SNP
genotyping and digital PCR experiments, and inclkmféwvare for implementing and tracking experimeftsr EP1 reader detects fluorescent
signals generated in our chips using a light squegssion and excitation filters, precision lenaed a digital camera. Our FC1 Cycler
performs fast thermal cycling for chips and enable$o 12 Dynamic Array chips to be run per day. 8é® offer various software packages
that provide data analysis following data collesti@ur analysis software shows data as color-causga of every position on the chip, cluster
maps showing results for every assay, and as nartadyular data.

The Access Array System

The Access Array system enables automated samgpammtion and tagging for all currently marketegtmeneration DNA sequencers.
We believe the Access Array system is the only tiigbughput target enrichment system currentlyhennharket that is capable of
simultaneously processing multiple samples. TheeAsdrray system can be used in conjunction wittBaeMark system to provide real-
time monitoring of amplification steps.

Fluidigm Access Array ChipsOur Fluidigm 48.48 Access Array chip is basedaorarchitecture similar to that of the Dynamic Arra
chip, but is designed to enable recovery of reagiimducts from the chip. This chip combines ug8samples with 48 primer sets prior to
PCR amplification. This is accomplished with ony @ipetting steps as compared to approximately07gddetting steps that would be
required by conventional systems. After amplifioatiall 48 PCR products for each sample are reedviera pool. When PCR primers are
designed to include DNA tags for specific sequenasmid DNA barcodes for each sample, samples fremAticess Array chip can be loaded
directly into the sequencer. The DNA barcodes ban be used to identify products from each sampla the sequence data. In addition, we
have shown that we have been able to
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combine up to 10 unique primer pairs per primey a&wing up to 480 samples per chip, which camthe tagged for specific sequencers in
a secondary step.

Access Array InstrumentatioiThe Access Array system is comprised of two doiptrollers and a single stand-alone thermal cycler
This system can load Access Array chips, amplify &g the regions of interest, and recover the &afoploading into a next generation
DNA sequencer.

Access Array Barcode Libraries and Access Arrayt€ainService We provide optimized barcoding primers, or Accegy Barcode
Libraries, for use with Roche and lllumina sequagglatforms. When used with the 48.48 Access Adtap, the barcode library enables the
user to pool products of different samples, perfamplification of all samples in parallel, and thesguence the pooled samples as a single
sample. We also offer the Access Array ContentiSero provide validated custom primer sets forsise

The TOPAZ System for Protein Crystallization

The TOPAZ System allows users to screen proteiplsmagainst a set of reagents in order to deterthim optimum conditions for
crystallizing a protein. While we currently offeOPAZ systems and chips for sale, we do not actir@yket this system.

Technology

Our products are based on a tiered set of relatgutiptary technologies that we have either deeddpternally or licensed from third
parties.

Multi-Layer Soft Lithography

Our chips are manufactured using a technology knasvmulti-layer soft lithography, or MSL. Using M$chnology, we are able to
create valves, chambers, channels and other fla@itponents on our chips at high density. We comtiiese components in complex
arrangements that allow nanoliter quantities afiiuor drops to be precisely manipulated withindhig. Unlike most prior microfluidic
technologies, our chips do not rely on electriaibggnetism or similar approaches to control fluovement. Rather, they control fluid flow
with valves. The most important components on tipscare our NanoFlex valves, which are createthéyntersection of two channels on
adjacent layers. When the valve is open, fluichig o flow through the lower or “flow” channel. Wh the upper or “control” channel is
pressurized, the material separating the two cHammeeflected into the lower channel, closingthb/e and stopping fluid flow. If pressure
is removed from the control channel, the chanretlern to their original form, and the valve is agapen. The elastomeric properties of
microfluidic chip cores allow our NanoFlex valvesform a reliable seal and cycle through milliofi®penings and closings.

The elastomer we currently use for our commeraiatipcts is a form of silicone rubber known as pothethylsiloxane, or PDMS, but
we have researched other materials with differempgrties for specific purposes. PDMS is transpakehich allows the fluids and their
contents to be easily monitored with a varietyxa$eng optical technologies, such as bright figldase contrast or fluorescence microscopy.
The gas permeability of PDMS allows the reliableteniag of fluids with near picoliter precision biimsinating the bubble problems
encountered by most other microfluidic technologiegssence, we are able to pump fluids into dasaction chambers at sufficient
pressure to drive any air out of the chamber diygébtough the chamber walls. This gas permeabdlisp supports maintenance of cells in
culture conditions. PDMS offers a favorable envinamt for many biochemical reactions, including P& cell culture.

We have developed commercial manufacturing prosgsskabricate valves, channels, vias and chambitihsdimensions in the 10 to
100 micron range, at high density and with highdgeFor research purposes, we have created dewitteboth substantially smaller and
larger features. Though our manufacturing is basestandard semiconductor manufacturing technadomiel techniques, we have also
developed novel processes for
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mold fabrication that enable mass production ohldgnsity chips with nanoliter volume features. Sghprocesses are sufficiently robust that
new microfluidic designs can often be built usixgsting fabrication techniques, allowing for rapihovation of new chip designs without
needing manufacturing process or equipment changes.

Microfluidic Chips

Our chips incorporate several different types ohtmlogy that together enable us to use MSL tadigmiesign and deploy new
microfluidic applications.

Microfluidic Components The first level of our chip technology is a libyaf components that perform basic microfluidiadtions. W
have proven designs for numerous elements, suphraps, mixers, separation columns, control logit action chambers. These are
readily integrated to create circuits capable ofgrening a wide range of biochemical reactions. fevdnen it is necessary to integrate
multiple elements to perform a particularly compiegction, the area taken up on a circuit for glsimeaction is small compared to our
typical overall chip core size of three centimetgyshree centimeters. As a result, we are routiable to develop chips that perform
thousands of reactions per square centimeter.

Architectures The second level of our chip technology comprtbesarchitectures we have designed to exploibbility to conduct
thousands of reactions on a single chip. The difshese is the Dynamic Array, a matrix architeettirat allows multiple different samples i
multiple different reagents to be loaded onto glsichip and then combined so that there is aatisdireaction between each sample and
reagent. The primary advantage of this architedtutieat each sample and reagent is only handledgpette once per chip rather than once
per reaction, as is the case with conventional apiate-based technologies. For example, a sing@6dBynamic Array chip can perform a
total of 9,216 unique reactions between 96 sangiesd6 reagents with only 192 pipetting steps. Withventional microplate-based
technologies, the same experiment would requireiab®,432 pipetting steps and at least 24 conveatimicroplates. Our Sample Processor
architecture allows us to bring similar benefitseactions which require export of the reactiondpict and more complex (multi-step)
reactions. For example, our Access Array chip aatesisample preparation for targeted resequengiagniplifying 48 genetic regions on
each of 48 samples and exporting each preparedsa®ur Digital Array architecture allows a sampgebe split into hundreds to tens of
thousands of smaller samples. Separate reactionhea be conducted on each of the smaller samfescell processor automates cell
seeding, culture, combinatorial dosing with mu#tiptagents, and export for further analysis.

Interface and Handling FramesThe third level of our chip technology involvétinteraction of our chips with the actual laborat
environment. The core elastomeric block at thearewit our chip is surrounded by specially desigimathes that are able to deliver samples
and reagents to the blocks. These frames are the size as standard 384 well microplates and hawgle and reagent input ports laid out in
a standard 384 well microplate format. As a result,chips can be loaded with standard laboratggtfing robots and can be used with
standard plate handling equipment. These framesti@asmit the pressure and control signals frommatruments to the chip.

Technological Advancedn the second quarter of 2002, we sold the firetotype of our 1.48 chip for our Topaz systemichifeature(
22 valves capable of 2.5 assays per square cestinfetday we sell 48.770 Digital Array chips, wither 4,000 valves capable of more than
4,000 assays per square centimeter, a 181-foldaserin valve density and a 1,600-fold increasessay capability. In our research and
development laboratory, we have built and testdig functional Digital Array chips capable of perfoing substantially more assays.

We have added capabilities to our chips in additioimcreasing the density. In 2010, we employedsaumple processor architecture to
create the FR48.48 reusable Dynamic Array chipsh\dleaning, each chip may be used five times,gieduthe cost of each assay.
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We also recently developed a second generatiorfactetechnology, which increases our number gf cbintrol signals, or states, by
nearly a factor of 10 (from 4 to 36). Since the bemof chip states is approximately 2 raised topiwer of the number of control signals,
this represents a billion-fold increase in the nemtif states a chip may be set to; this advancesntbat the complexity of reactions that our
chips may run is no longer meaningfully limitedthg number of control lines. We expect to implenthigt architecture on commercial
products in 2011.

Software and | nstrumentation

We have developed instrumentation technology td ksmples and reagents onto our chips and to ¢@mdomonitor reactions within
our chips. Our line of chip controllers consistsommercial pneumatic components and both custahtammercial electronics. They apply
precise control of multiple pressures to move flandl control valve states in an microfluidic chjur BioMark system consists of a custom
thermal cycler packaged with a sophisticated flsoeace imaging system. Our FC1 cycler is a cush@mmtal cycler capable of very rapid
cycling: 45 cycles in 30 minutes. Our EP-1 instrafrie a fluorescence reader designed for endpmiaging, suitable for digital PCR and
genotyping applications. All of these instruments designed to be easily introduced into standatdnaated lab environments.

We have developed specialized software packagesit@ge and analyze the unusually large amountstafiifoduced by our systems.
Our BioMark system’s gene expression analysis softvautomatically measures individual real-time BR€actions from fluorescent images
and generates amplification threshold crossingesahllowing researchers to readily perform compietenalized comparative gene
expression analysis across large numbers of sarapteassays. Similarly, our SNP Genotyping Analgeifsware automatically clusters
fluorescent intensities from individual genotypacgtons and makes genotype calls across indivigiudimultiple chip runs. The Digital PCR
Analysis software automatically calculates absobaey number and copy number ratios from digitaRR&periments. Our Melting Curve
Analysis software supports genotyping from datéectdd on the BioMark reader.

Protocols and Assays Design

We provide protocols to guide our customers inube our products with commonly available molecblatogy reagents for the
analysis of their specific samples types. The ptatocols we offer are regularly expanded. Fareggexpression, we initially provided a
protocol for TagMan real-time reagents for gengeale expression analysis. We now offer a protqoetiically for single cell analysis. We
have also expanded the choices of reagents farumtomers. In early 2010 we released a protocdt¥aGreen, a DNA binding dye for gene
expression measurements with excellent data quelitlya very low cost per assay. We also releasedquls for the use of our microfluidic
systems with Qiagen GmbH gene expression panel3lagano-Fisher Solaris assays. For genotyping, eweldped a protocol for using
KASPar assays in the BioMark system.

PCR assay reagents need to be specific to thetgegeds of interest. Since our systems analyze rgang targets at once, the proces
designing a set of assays may delay the implerientakperiments or require the use of expensivedpsgned assays. To address this issue
we have developed a computational method for rapidPCR assay design. This process allows usowid® customers with validated ass
for their targets of interest. We have commercalithis service for our Access Array customersameddeveloping the service for other
applications.

In the first quarter of 2011, we introduced assasigh and custom content delivery systems for ggpeession that allow customers to
specify genes of interest and match them to regpetific primers, enabling our existing systemanwlify specific genetic regions of
interest. We expect to introduce a similar assaygeand custom content delivery system for gerintym 2011. We believe these assay
design and content delivery systems represent prorement over conventional pre-defined panelslloyvang customization based on
cellular pathways or biological areas of interest.
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In 2011, we plan on releasing gene expression andtgping chemistries together with assay desigvicsss. We expect these offerings
will provide low-cost alternatives to chemistriegk as Tagman and allow customers to use chip®ie ftexible ways.

Sales and Marketing

We distribute our instruments and supplies viadlifield sales and support organizations locatedarth America, Europe and Japan
and through distributors or sales agents in pdrEuoope, Latin America, the Middle East and théaABacific region outside of Japan. Our
domestic and international sales force informsaourent and potential customers of current prodifetrings, new product introductions, and
technological advances in our microfluidic systemstkflows, and notable research being performedurycustomers or ourselves. As our
primary point of contact in the marketplace, odesdorce focuses on delivering a consistent margehessage and high level of customer
service, while also attempting to help us bettetaustand our customer needs.

Our sales and marketing efforts are targeted at#bry directors and principal investigators aidi@g companies and institutions who
need reliable life science automation solutionglieir business or commercial purposes. We se#ictease awareness of our products
among our target customers through regular conpacticipation in tradeshows, on customer site sansi academic conferences and
dedicated company gatherings attended by promim®rs and prospective customers from various urtistits.

Our systems are relatively new to the market ptakrequire a capital investment. As a result alessprocess often involves numer
interactions and demonstrations with multiple peapithin an organization. Some potential custoncersluct in-depth evaluations of the
system including running experiments on our sysaechcompeting systems. In addition, in most coasfrsales to academic or governmental
institutions require participation in a tender pss involving preparation of extensive documentiadiod a lengthy review process. As a re
of these factors and the budget cycles of our custs, our sales cycle, the time from initial cohtaith a customer to our receipt of a
purchase order, can often be 12 months or longer.

Commercial Alliances
Co-Marketing Agreements for Next Generation Sequencing

We have entered into an agreement to co-markeAotess Array system with 454 Life Sciences, a @iviof F. Hoffman-La Roche
Ltd., a manufacturer of leading next generation Dé&§uencing platforms. Per our agreement, we magllewur Access Array sample
preparation system with our co-marketer’'s next gaien DNA sequencing technologies. This agreereaables us to disseminate the
benefits of using the products in combination, gegia co-operative marketing and messaging, inolyidelect dual presence at trade shows
and technical seminars, perform selective speaitdia or utilization of each respective companyiamnel for promotional or sales activity
and educate the direct and indirect distributioanttels of both companies, in each case without@nimum sales, volume or other financial
obligations of either party. The agreement doegpnetiude us from engaging in other activitiesiofigr or related interest with other
participants in the sequencing technology markdtraay be terminated by either party with notice. Mdge entered into a similar co-
marketing agreement with another manufacturer gf generation DNA sequencing platforms. This secagictement is in its early stages,
does not contain any minimum performance obligatiointhe parties and may be terminated at anytiyneither party with notice.

Non-invasive Prenatal Diagnostics Collaboration

We entered into a set of related agreements withaNis V&D, in May 2010. Under these agreements,aapabilities in digital PCR a
being developed for potential in-vitro diagnostigmplications, with an initial focus on the develamhof an NIPD test for fetal aneuploidies.
These agreements provide Novartis V&D with an aptm exclusively license our technology in the @ignfield of non-invasive testing for
fetal aneuploidies
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and the secondary field of non-invasive testingerietic abnormality, disease or condition in adetuin a pregnant woman (other than as
tested in the primary field), RhD genotyping orr@rstatus in a pregnant woman and the genetieecatatus of a prospective mother anc
male partner. Under these agreements, except vaittamis V&D, we cannot, directly or in collaboratievith a third party, use, develop or
any products or services in the primary field @ secondary field, other than for research apjptinatin the secondary field. The agreements
contain certain initial technical feasibility miteses to be attained in 2010 and 2011, and prdeiderilestone payments to us upon our
execution and satisfaction of milestones with aggte payments totaling $3,000,000. At Novartis V&DBption, these agreements can be
extended to encompass further research, developmdntommercialization of our products in the pryrand secondary fields described
above, which could take several years or more hoptete. If the agreements are extended, we wilbtiate additional technical feasibility
milestones and milestone payments with Novartis V&bDaddition, the agreements provide for paymémiss upon Novartis V& exercist
of its option to license our technology and uponmeeting a specified product development milestdhese additional payments total
$3,000,000. The term of the development portiothefagreements will extend until attainment ofaiting and to-be-negotiated technical
feasibility milestones, but will automatically teimate if Novartis V&D does not exercise its optiorlicense our technology within 90 days
our attainment of the initial technical feasibilityilestones. In addition, the agreements may hmiteted at any time in Novartis V&D’s sole
discretion and, by us, at certain times, if Now&D elects not to proceed with the developmengpam. The agreements provide that if a
test is commercialized, we would supply the reglisgstems and chips for performance of such test.

Customers

We have sold our BioMark, EP1 and Access Arrayesyistto leading pharmaceutical and biotechnologypeonies, academic
institutions, diagnostic laboratories and Ag-Biomanies. As of December 31, 2010, we have sold 3@ mof these systems to customers in
over 20 countries.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing operations are located in Singapad fabricate all of our microfluidic systemslamstrumentation for commercial
sale, as well as for internal research and devetopmpurposes. Our Singapore facility commencedatjmers in October 2005 and established
full process capability for the Topaz chip in J@@96 and for our first Dynamic Array chip, the 48[dynamic Array chip in October 2006.
During 2009, we completed the move of all of oumnrfacturing for commercial products to Singapore.

We established our manufacturing facility in Singagpto take advantage of the skilled workforce pliep and partner network, lower
operating costs and government support availakeleetf©Our microfluidic system manufacturing prodestudes photolithography and
fabrication technologies that are very similaritose used in the fabrication of semiconductor chiyssa result, we are able to hire from a
pool of skilled manpower created by the existingisenductor industry in Singapore. Similarly, theagapore semiconductor industry has
created a broad network of potential suppliersgarthers for our manufacturing operations. We ate # locally source a large proportion
of the raw materials required in our processesh@ve been able to collaborate with local engingecmmpanies to develop enabling
technologies chip fabrication.

Our manufacturing operations in Singapore have sagported by grants from the Singapore Economie@@ment Board, or EDB,
which provides incentive grant payments for redeadevelopment and manufacturing activity in Sirggap Our arrangements with EDB
require us to maintain a significant and increasiranufacturing and research and development preser&ingapore.

We expect that our existing manufacturing capdoitynstrumentation and chips is sufficient to meet needs at least through mid-
2012. However, we are considering developing aolutti capacity to ensure that all or most of oudpats are produced by at least two
different facilities. We believe that having dualisces for
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our products would help mitigate the potential ictpaf a production disruption at any one of ouiilfies and that such redundancy may be
required by our customers in the future. We havedetermined the timing or location of any addiibmanufacturing capacity.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers for cartabmponents and materials used in our systemdeWei are in the process of
qualifying additional sources of supply, we canpidict how long that qualification process wiktalf we were to lose one or more of our
limited source suppliers, it would take significéimie and effort to qualify alternative supplieik®y components in our products that are
supplied by sole or limited source suppliers ineliadspecialized polymer from which our chip conesfabricated. With respect to many of
our suppliers, we are neither a major customerdnare have long term supply contracts. These srsphay therefore give other customers’
needs higher priority than ours, and we may nalide to obtain adequate supply in a timely mannenacommercially reasonable terms.

Research and Development

We have assembled experienced research and deerioprams at our South San Francisco and Singémaéons with the scientific,
engineering, software and process talent that Weueeis required to grow our business.

New Product and Application Development
The largest component of our current research amdldpment effort is in the areas of new produntsew applications.

We plan to focus on enhancing our single cell aig)ycell preparation and cell culturing capataiti strengthening our current product
lines by further developing content and our exgthip architectures, and developing products ppett molecular diagnostic applications.

Single Cell AnalysisWe intend to strengthen the single cell analgajgability of the BioMark system by expanding oustomers’
options for single cell procurement and downstrelata analysis. For example, we are developing tesyfor single cell capture and
preparation that will increase the types of samgiiascan be processed by the system as well agfbe of usable preparation chemistry. We
expect that this new system will be able to pregaraples both for BioMark system as well as fort geaeration sequencing.

Cell Culture SystemWe are developing system that will enable redearcto culture a large number of individual celithin separate
chambers on a chip, control the conditions in wigahh cell is cultured, and then extract the deti$urther analysis. With the support of a
grant from the California Institute of Regeneratiedicine, or CIRM, in an aggregate amount of $880, we have developed a prototype
system that demonstrates the technical feasilafithis application. CIRM has notified us thatritends to provide us with an additional $1.9
million grant over three years to further advaresearch in this area.

Assay DevelopmentVe plan to add both content and flexibility ta@urrent product lines. For example, we plan tooitluce assays to
support gene expression applications. This expansimtended to enable customers in those are@sitwe their assay costs without
sacrificing data quality by purchasing assays tlydoom us.

Existing Architectures We intend to develop additional products to gjthan the capabilities of our existing Dynamic Areand Digita
Array architectures. For example, our existing 48.Digital Array chip can perform 36,960 reactiove have developed prototype chips
based on the Digital Array architecture that cariggen 200,000 or more reactions and believe, thtt further development, these chips
could have substantial utility for research andenolar diagnostic applications.
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Process Devel opment

The second component of our research and develdpeffert is process development. We continuouskettsp new manufacturing
processes and test methods to drive down manuiiagtcost, increase manufacturing throughput, widdmication process capability, and
support new microfluidic devices and designs. I62@ve opened a prototype fabrication facility at 8ingapore manufacturing to fabricate
prototype chips and test new fabrication procedasinvest in manufacturing automation, processigha and design modifications which
historically have significantly improved yields almivered the manufacturing costs of our chips.

New Technology Development

We have background research and development eféoitsrease the density of components on our rfiigdic systems and to lower
the materials cost of our current production meghdde are evaluating new materials that can inerdasfunctionality of existing products
and that would allow our microfluidic systems toused for a wider variety of biological and cherhieactions. Over the longer term, we are
seeking ways to transfer functionality from instemtation to chips to support development of fiedddd and point-of-care applications.

Scientific Advisory Board

We maintain a scientific advisory board, consistfignembers with experience and expertise in thie of microfluidic systems and
their application, who provide us with consultire\dces. The scientific advisory board generallggsinot meet as a group but instead, at our
request, the individual members advise us on nsatedated to their areas of expertise. We haveaethiato agreements with each of our
advisors, other than Dr. Stephen Quake, that reqoé@m spend between 6 and 12 days each yearraglvisiand provide for stock option
grants to the advisor. Dr. Quake serves as chalreoScientific Advisory Board pursuant to a braactnsulting agreement with us. As
Chairman, Dr. Quake advises us on the composifidhhecadvisory board and is involved in discussiaiith us more frequently than other
advisory board members. When the advisory boardsnBe. Quake is responsible for setting the agdadthe meetings and chairing such
meetings. Our scientific advisory board consistgheffollowing members:

Stephen Quake, Ph.3.a co-founder of Fluidigm and the chair of oueatfic advisory board. He is a co-chair of thedngineering
department at Stanford University and an investigaf the Howard Hughes Medical Institute. Dr. Qea&ceived a B.S. in Physics and a
M.S. in Mathematics from Stanford University anBtaD. in Physics from Oxford University. Dr. Quékas been a member of our scientific
advisory board since June 1999.

Frances H. Arnold, Ph.Ds the Dick and Barbara Dickinson Professor of diealrengineering and biochemistry at the California
Institute of Technology. She is a member of thedwal Academy of Engineering and a fellow at theegkiman Institute for Medical and
Biological Engineering. Dr. Arnold received a Bis Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering from Ptorcé&niversity and a Ph.D. in
Chemical Engineering from the University of Calii@, Berkeley. Dr. Arnold has been a member ofsmigntific advisory board since
August 1999.

James M. Berger, Ph.0s a Professor of Biochemistry and Molecular Bigiag the University of California, Berkeley and amber of
the Physical Biosciences Division, Lawrence Berk&lational Laboratory. Dr. Berger received a BrEBiochemistry from the University of
Utah and a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from Harvard Unsity. Dr. Berger has been a member of our scierdidvisory board since June 2002.

Carl Hansen, Ph.Dis an Assistant Professor in the Department of eRyand Astronomy at the University of British Cawlbia.
Dr. Hansen received a Ph.D. and M.S. in ApplieddRisyfrom the California Institute of TechnologydaamB.S. in Engineering
Physics/Electrical Engineering/Honors Math from thaversity of British Columbia. Dr. Hansen has bh@emember of our Scientific
Advisory Board since May 2008.
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Frank McCormick, Ph.Dis the David A. Wood Distinguished Professor of TurBiology and the E. Dixon Heise Distinguished
Professor in Oncology at the University of CalifianSan Francisco, or UCSF. He is also the diremt@fCSF's Comprehensive Cancer
Center. He is a member of the Institute of Medi@nd a fellow of The Royal Society. Dr. McCormi@ceived a B.Sc. in Biochemistry from
the University of Birmingham and a Ph.D. in Biochstny from the University of Cambridge. Dr. McCorkihas been a member of our
scientific advisory board since November 2006.

Howard M. Shapiro, M.Dis a lecturer on Pathology at Harvard Medical Stlhod a research associate in Medicine and Pathalbg
Beth Israel Hospital. Dr. Shapiro received a Brani Harvard College and an M.D. from New York Unsity School of Medicine.
Dr. Shapiro has been a member of our scientifi¢gsady board since December 1999.

Richard N. Zare, Ph.Os the Marguerite Blake Wilbur Professor of Natu8alence and chair of the chemistry departmentaatf&rd
University. He is a member of the National Acadesh$ciences, the American Academy of Arts and Smerand the recipient of the
National Medal of Science. Dr. Zare received a Bi¥hemistry and Physics and a Ph.D. in ChemibgbkRs from Harvard Universit
Dr. Zare has been a member of our scientific adyiboard since December 2000.

Competition

We compete with both established and developmeagedife science companies that design, manufaanaenarket instruments for
gene expression analysis, genotyping, other nuatgit detection and additional applications. Famegle, companies such as Affymetrix,
Inc., Agilent Technologies, Inc., Caliper Life Setes, Inc., lllumina, Inc., Life Technologies Coration, Luminex Corporation, Roche
Applied Science, NanoString Technologies, Inc.nRaince Technologies, Inc., Sequenom, Inc. and WafeBio-Systems, Inc. have
products for gene expression, genotyping, andfpuesgcing that compete in certain segments of thikeha which we sell our products. In
addition, a number of other companies and acadgroigps are in the process of developing novel telcigies for life science markets.

The life science automation industry is highly catifive and expected to grow more competitive whih increasing knowledge gained
from ongoing research and development. Many ofcounpetitors are either publicly traded or are didnis of publicly traded companies and
enjoy several competitive advantages over us, dtietu

» significantly greater name recognitic

» greater financial and human resourc

» broader product lines and product packa

» larger sales force:

» larger and more geographically dispersed custoompat organizatior
e substantial intellectual property portfolic

» larger and more established customer bases anbnships;

« greater resources dedicated to marketing eff

» better established and larger scale manufactuapglality; anc

» greater resources and longer experience in resaartdevelopmen

We believe that the principal competitive factorour target markets include:
e cost of capital equipment and suppli
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e reputation among custome

e innovation in product offering:

« flexibility and ease of ust

e accuracy and reproducibility of results; ¢

« compatibility with existing laboratory processamls and method:

To successfully compete with existing products fartdre technologies, we need to demonstrate tonpiatecustomers that the cost
savings and performance of our technologies andygts, as well as our customer support capabiliiessuperior to those of our
competitors. The regular introduction of new antbwative offerings is necessary to continue toedéhtiate our company from other, larger
enterprises. Additionally, a well staffed commekbtgam “in the field” is required to successfullyremunicate the advantages of our products
and overcome potential obstacles acceptance gfroducts. In addition ongoing collaborations andrgships with key opinion leaders in
the genetics fields are desirable to demonstrateiboovation and applicability of our products.€Ble relationships create the need for
retention of a large and talented specialized staifl occasionally require the placement of praglacsupplies on a temporary basis at a
customer facility to demonstrate applicability afrd@ool to a specific scientific application.

Intellectual Property
Strategy and Position

Our core technology originated at the Californistitute of Technology, or Caltech, in the laboratof Professor Stephen Quake, wh
a co-founder of Fluidigm. Dr. Quake, his studemtd their collaborators pioneered the applicatiomattilayer soft lithography in the field of
microfluidics. In particular, Dr. Quake’s laborayateveloped technologies that enabled the productiGpecialized valves and pumps
capable of controlling fluid flow at nanoliter vohes. In a series of transactions, we exclusivesnised from Caltech the relevant patent
filings relating to these developments. We have algered into additional exclusive and non-exeteificenses for related technologies from
various companies and academic institutions.

Our patent strategy is to seek broad patent pioteon new developments in microfluidic technol@md then later file patent
applications covering new implementations of thetelogy and new microfluidic circuit architectungdlizing the technology. As these
technologies are implemented and tested, we file patent applications covering scientific methodgienabled by our technology.
Additionally, where appropriate, we file new patapplications covering instrumentation and softwhed are used in conjunction with our
microfluidic systems.

We have developed our own portfolio of issued patand patent applications directed at commerc@dycts and technologies in
development. For example, in part because of aumrgaring commercialization efforts in the fielddidital PCR, we have patents and patent
applications pending relating to devices, technégaed applications for digital PC, including metblagjies for copy number variation and
noninvasive prenatal diagnostics. We have additipatents and patent filings cell culture and sacgll isolation and analysis devices and
associated methodologies, high density and reuggpletyping and gene expression chips and massiltgphexing techniques for samples
and assays in these chips, sample processing anplespreparation chips and encoding technologyi$er with next-generation sequencers,
and associated instrumentation and software faralting and reading our chips and analyzing theddbtained from them.

As of March 17, 2011, we own or have licensed EsRéd U.S. patents and 81 issued internationahtsafEhere are 233 pending pat
applications, including 109 in the United Statel} international applications and 10 applicatidtesifunder the Patent Cooperation Treaty.
The U.S. issued patents we have licensed from €aéigpire between 2017 and 2028; the U.S. issukth{zawe have licensed from other
parties expire between 2011 and 2029.
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The patent positions of companies like ours aregdly uncertain and involve complex legal and datguestions. Our patents may not
enable us to obtain or keep any competitive adgent@ur pending U.S. and foreign patent applicatioay not issue as patents or may not
issue in a form that will be advantageous to us; paitents we have obtained or do obtain may bdestged by re-examination, opposition or
other administrative proceeding, or may be chabenig litigation, and such challenges could resuét determination that the patent is
invalid. In addition, competitors may be able tsida alternative methods or devices that avoidngfment of our patents. To the extent our
intellectual property protection offers inadequattetection, or is found to be invalid, we are exgb# a greater risk of direct competition. If
our intellectual property does not provide adeqpatéection against our competitors’ products, @mpetitive position could be adversely
affected, as could our business. Both the pateplicapion process and the process of managing pdisputes can be time consuming and
expensive. Furthermore, the laws of some foreigmtrees may not protect our intellectual propeights to the same extent as do the laws of
the United States.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technology have taken steps to protect our intellectugbgry and proprietary technology by
entering into confidentiality agreements and igtlial property assignment agreements with our @epk, consultants, corporate partners
and, when needed, our advisors. Such agreementaohég enforceable or may not provide meaningfolgztion for our trade secrets or
other proprietary information in the event of uearized use or disclosure or other breaches cagineements, and we may not be able to
prevent such unauthorized disclosure. Monitoringuthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do nobw whether the steps we have taken to
prevent such disclosure are, or will be, adequate.

Our commercial success may depend in part on auinfdngement of the patents or proprietary rigbtshird parties. Third parties
have asserted and may assert in the future thatrevemploying their proprietary technology withauthorization. Competitors may assert
that our products infringe their intellectual prayeights as part of a business strategy to imprdesuccessful entry into those markets. In
addition, our competitors and others may have psi@nmay in the future obtain patents and claiat tise of our products infringes these
patents. We could incur substantial costs and titierattention of our management and technicagmerel in defending against any of these
claims. Parties making claims against us may be bbbtain injunctive or other relief, which coddtbck our ability to develop,
commercialize and sell products, and could resulhé award of substantial damages against ubelavent of a successful claim of
infringement against us, we may be required togamyages and obtain one or more licenses from plairties, or be prohibited from selling
certain products. We may not be able to obtainetiesnses at a reasonable cost, if at all.

License Agreements

We have entered into several significant exclusieeexclusive, and non-exclusive licenses to patantl patent applications owned by
various academic institutions and have additiomigliectual property agreements with a range dftirtioons and companies.

Our license agreement with Caltech provides us aiitlexclusive, worldwide license to certain patemts related intellectual property,
as well as the right to prosecute licensed patiamg$ worldwide at our expense and to initiate amfyingement proceedings. Caltech retains
the right to use the licensed materials for noncenwml educational and research purposes, as walharights necessary to comply with the
statutory rights of the U.S. government. We hasaesl shares of our common stock to Caltech andyvezd to pay to Caltech royalties be
on sales revenues of licensed products on a cebgtpountry basis with a minimum annual royalty eTiicense agreement will terminate as
to each country and licensed product upon expimatfche last-to-expire patent covering licenseatpicts in each country.

Our license agreements with Harvard Universityvaliublicenses (i) provided we can demonstratevileatave added significant value
to the patent rights to be sublicensed and thdt sublicense also contains a substantial and ésestmultaneous license to intellectual
property owned by us, or (i) when such patenttegire necessary to practice other Harvard Uniyepsitent rights exclusively licensed to us
which are also
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being licensed. We have issued shares of our constoak to Harvard and we agreed to pay to Harvaydlties based on sales revenues of
licensed products on a country-by-country basit wiminimum annual royalty. Harvard is responsfbtefiling and maintaining all licensed
patents, but we must reimburse Harvard for ouresbéits related patent prosecution expenses. We thee right to prosecute any
infringement of our licensed patent rights. Thefise agreement will terminate with the last-to-expf the licensed patents.

Our license agreement with Gyros AB grants us aexatusive, field-limited license to specified pateand patent applications filings
in exchange for an upfront fee plus annual roypityments based on net revenues of licensed prodbiote an annual license fee. Gyros has
the right to terminate if we assign our interesa tiird party competitor of Gyros or if we comedancommon control of such a third party.
Otherwise, the license will terminate at the exjgraof the last-to-expire of the licensed patents.

Government Regulation

Pursuant to its authority under the Federal Foadg2nd Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, FDA has jurisdintiover medical devices, which
are defined to include, among other things, imvitiagnostic products, or IVDs. Our products aneently labeled and sold for research
purposes only, and we sell them to pharmaceutiwhbéotechnology companies, academic institutiorgslde sciences laboratories. Because
our products are not intended for use in clinicgaktice in the diagnosis of disease or other cadit they do not fit the definition of a
medical device under the FFDCA and thus are ngesuto regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug AdstirEtion, or FDA, as medical
devices. In particular, while FDA regulations raguhat research only products be labeled, “FoeReh Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic
procedures”, the regulations do not subject suodymts to FDA’s pre- and post-market controls fedioal devices. However, in the future,
certain of our products or related applicationslddecome subject to regulation as medical devigeSDA.

For example, if we wish to label and market ourdmais for use in performing clinical diagnostids)g subjecting them to regulation by
FDA as medical devices, unless an exemption appliesvould be required to obtain either prior 5)Qflearance or prior pre-market
approval from the FDA before commercializing thedgurct. The FDA classifies medical devices into ohthree classes. Devices deemed to
pose lower risk to the patient are placed in eitthess | or I, which, unless an exemption applieguires the manufacturer to submit a pre-
market notification requesting FDA clearance fomoeercial distribution pursuant to Section 510(kjted FFDCA. This process, known as
510(k) clearance, requires that the manufactuneroastrate that the device is substantially equitaie a previously cleared 510(k) device or
a “pre-amendment” class Il device for which prerked approval applications, or PMAs, have not biegyuired by the FDA. This process
typically takes from four to twelve months, althbugcan take longer. Most class | devices are g@tethfrom this requirement. Devices
deemed by FDA to pose the greatest risk, sucHeasuistaining, life-supporting or implantable dedcor those deemed not substantially
equivalent to a legally marketed predicate devace,placed in class Ill. Class Il devices typiga#tquire PMA approval. To obtain PMA
approval, an applicant must demonstrate the safedyeffectiveness of the device based, in partlada obtained in clinical studies. PMA
reviews generally last between one and two ye#tmyuggh they can take longer. Both the 510(k) d®dRMA processes can be expensive
lengthy and may not result in clearance or apprdf/ale are required to submit our products for-prarket review by the FDA, we may be
required to delay marketing while we obtain prensadtearance or approval from the FDA. There wdiglcho assurance that we could ever
obtain such clearance or approval.

Changes to a device that have received PMA apptygpalally require a new PMA or PMA supplement. @bes to a device that
received 510(k) clearance which could significasmtffect its safety or effectiveness, or that woeddistitute a major change in its intended
use, require a new 510(k) clearance or possibly Riggroval. The FDA requires each manufacturer tkentlais determination initially, but
the FDA can review any of these decisions and nisggdee. If the FDA disagreed with our determinatiot to seek a new 510(k) clearance
for a change to a previously marketed productHbaA could require us to seek a new 510(k) clearamgee-market approval. The FDA also
could require us to cease manufacturing and/oilrénea
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modified device until 510(k) clearance or pre-maaproval was obtained. Also, in these circumstanwe could be subject to warning
letters, significant regulatory fines or penaltigsizure or injunctive action, or criminal proséont

In some cases, our customers or collaborators e@yur products in their own LDTs or in other FDefgralated products for clinical
diagnostic use. The FDA has historically exercisefibrcement discretion in not enforcing the medisalice regulations against LDTs.
However, the FDA could assert jurisdiction over soon all LDTs, which may impact our customers’ usksur products. A significant
change in the way that the FDA regulates our prtedocthe LDTs that our customers develop may requs to change our business model in
order to maintain compliance with these laws. TB&Fecently held a meeting in July 2010, during ethit indicated that it intends to
reconsider its policy of enforcement discretion emblegin drafting a new oversight framework forT

We are currently developing a microfluidic systefittviNovartis V&D for NIPD for fetal aneuploidies.u®system is in its early stages
of development and we have not made any submisgiahe FDA regarding the system or determined hdvefEDA clearance or approval
will be required.

If our products become subject to regulation aedioal device, we would become subject to additi&isA requirements, and we
could be subject to unannounced inspections by BBd\other governmental authorities, which coulddase our costs of doing business.
Specifically, manufacturers of medical devices noashply with various requirements of the FFDCA @sdmplementing regulations,
including:

» the Quality System Regulation, which covers thehmd$ and documentation of the design, testingrehmhanufacturing,
labeling, quality assurance, packaging, storagesaiping of our produc

» labeling regulations

» medical device reporting, or MDR, regulatio

e correction and removal regulations; ¢

» pos-market surveillance regulations, which includeniegbns on marketing and promotic

We would need to continue to invest significantdiemd other resources to ensure ongoing compliaithéd=-DA quality system
regulations and other post-market regulatory resméents.

Ouir failure to comply with applicable FDA regulataequirements, or our failure to timely and adeglyarespond to inspectional
observations, could result in enforcement actiothigyFDA, which may include the following sanctions
» fines, injunctions and civil penaltie
» recall or seizure or our produc
e operating restrictions, partial suspension or tebaitdown of productior
» delays in clearance or approval, or failure to whégproval or clearance of future product candigair product modification
e restrictions on labeling and promotic
* warning letters, fines, or injunctior
» withdrawal of previously granted clearances or apgls; anc
» criminal prosecution

International sales of medical devices are suliefrireign government regulations, which vary sabsally from country to country.
The primary regulatory environment in Europe ig thfahe European
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Union, or EU, which includes most of the major cwi@s in Europe. Currently, 27 countries make wgpEh. Other countries, such as
Switzerland, have voluntarily adopted laws and l&iions that mirror those of the EU with respecirtedical devices. The EU has adopted
numerous directives and standards regulating thiglemanufacture, clinical trials, labeling and@de event reporting for medical devices.
Devices that comply with the requirements of avaite directive will be entitled to bear the CE aammifiity marking, indicating that the device
conforms to the essential requirements of the agbplé directives and, accordingly, can be commbyaiistributed throughout Europe.

Outside of the EU, regulatory approval needs tedagght on a country-by-country basis in order tok&amedical devices. Although
there is a trend towards harmonization of qualiistem standards, regulations in each country maysibstantially which can affect
timelines of introduction.

Environmental Matters

Our research and development and manufacturingepses involve the controlled use of hazardous mkeincluding flammables,
toxics, corrosives and biologics. Our researchrandufacturing operations produce hazardous bickbgicd chemical waste products. We
seek to comply with applicable laws regarding thadiing and disposal of such materials. Given thallsvolume of such materials used or
generated at our facilities, we do not expect amliance efforts to have a material effect onaapital expenditures, earnings and
competitive position. However, we cannot elimintdie risk of accidental contamination or dischange any resultant injury from these
materials. We do not currently maintain separatérenmental liability coverage and any such contaation or discharge could result in
significant cost to us in penalties, damages asgension of our operations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2010, we had 206 employeeshaffws3 work in research and development, 30 woreineral and administrati\
59 work in manufacturing and 64 work in sales aradk@ating.

None of our employees are represented by a lakionam are the subject of a collective bargainiggeament.

Geographic I nformation

During the last three years, a majority of our rm@was generated within North America and Eurapkesamajority of our long-lived
assets are located within the United States angbBore.

Seasonality

In 2008 and 2009, our product revenue was hightdrarfourth quarter of the year than in the finsader of the next year reflecting
numerous factors, including, among others, seas@maltions in customer operations and customegéuand capital spending cycles.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Related to our Business and Strategy

We have incurred losses since inception, and we eéqi to continue to incur substantial losses for théoreseeable future.

We have a limited operating history and have iredigignificant losses in each fiscal year sinceimegption, including net losses of
$16.9 million, $19.1 million and $29.5 million dag 2010, 2009 and 2008,
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respectively. As of December 31, 2010, we had anraalated deficit of $199.3 million. These lossaséresulted principally from costs
incurred in our research and development prograrddgram our selling, general and administrativeanges. We expect to continue to incur
operating and net losses and negative cash flaw fnperations, which may increase, for the forededakure due in part to anticipated
increases in expenses for research and produclogevent and significant expansion of our salesraadketing capabilities. Additionally, we
expect that our selling, general and administratiMgenses will increase due to the additional djmral and reporting costs associated with
being a public company. We anticipate that ourfress will generate operating losses until we ssakyg implement our commercial
development strategy and generate significant imehdit revenues to support our level of operatingesses. Because of the numerous risks
and uncertainties associated with our commerciéirzafforts and future product development, welarable to predict when we will becol
profitable, and we may never become profitable.réf@e do achieve profitability, we may not beealbb sustain or increase our profitabil

If our products fail to achieve and sustain suffiecdnt market acceptance, our revenue will be adversehffected.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability telbgvand market products that are recognized arebéed as reliable, enabling and
effective. Most of our potential customers alreadg expensive research systems in their laboratand may be reluctant to replace those
systems. Market acceptance of our systems will tigp@ many factors, including our ability to corménpotential customers that our systems
are an attractive alternative to existing technielesgCompared to most competing technologies, acroffuidic technology is relatively new,
and most potential customers have limited knowleafger experience with, our products. Prior toptitog our microfluidic systems, some
potential customers may need to devote time amtatf testing and validating our systems. Anyuial of our systems to meet these custc
benchmarks could result in customers choosingteirréheir existing systems or to purchase systetmar than ours.

In addition, many customers intend to publish #wmults of their experiments in scientific and matjournals. Therefore, it is importa
that our systems be perceived as accurate antlesbg the scientific and medical research comnyumsta whole. Many factors influence the
perception of a system including its use by leadewparch groups and the publication of their tesalwell regarded journals. Historically, a
significant part of our sales and marketing efftidse been directed at convincing industry leadétbe advantages of our systems and
encouraging such leaders to publish or preseneshdts of their evaluation of our system. If we anable to continue to induce leading
researchers to use our systems or if such researateeunable to achieve and publish or presenifigignt experimental results using our
systems, acceptance and adoption of our systernbanglowed.

Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter due to a number of factors, whichmay lead to volatility in our
stock price.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operation® vavied in the past and may continue to vary Samtly from quarter-to-quarter.
This variability may lead to volatility in our stb@rice as research analysts and investors resjpahese quarterly fluctuations. These
fluctuations are due to numerous factors, includflugtuations in demand for our products; changesistomer budget cycles and capital
spending; seasonal variations in customer opegtiendencies among some customers to defer perdeassions to the end of the quarter;
the large unit value of our systems; changes irpoiging and sales policies or the pricing and slalicies of our competitors; our ability to
design, manufacture and deliver products to outoonsrs in a timely and cost-effective manner; dyaontrol or yield problems in our
manufacturing operations; our ability to timely aibtadequate quantities of the components usedriproducts; new product introductions
and enhancements by us and our competitors; uiatiéd increases in costs or expenses; and flustisain foreign currency exchange rates.
For example, in 2008 and 2009, we experienced higgies in the fourth quarter than in the firstrteraof the next fiscal year as a result of
one or more of the factors described above. Thegfuing factors are difficult to forecast, and thesewell as other factors, could materially
and adversely affect our
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quarterly and annual results of operations. Intaitdia significant amount of our operating expanee relatively fixed due to our
manufacturing, research and development, and aattgeneral administrative efforts. Any failureattjust spending quickly enough to
compensate for a revenue shortfall could magnigyativerse impact of such revenue shortfall on esults of operations. Our results of
operations may not meet the expectations of reBearalysts or investors, in which case the priceusfcommon stock could decrease
significantly.

Our future success is dependent upon our ability texpand our customer base and introduce new applitians.

Our customer base is primarily composed of pharotézzd, biotechnology and ABio companies, academic institutions and life so#
laboratories that perform analyses for researchcantmercial purposes. Our success will dependiinupen our ability to increase our
market share among these customers, attract atilitastomers outside of these markets and maevetpplications to existing and new
customers as we develop such applications. Attrgaetew customers and introducing new applicatiensires substantial time and expense.
For example, it may be difficult to identify, engagnd market to customers who are unfamiliar withdurrent applications of our systems
addition, certain new applications that we are weréng developing are not commonly performed veitimventional techniques and therefore
may require additional sales efforts to createaust awareness of the utility of these applicatiéus failure to expand our existing
customer base or launch new applications would raélxeaffect our ability to increase our revenues.

The life science research and Agio markets are highly competitive and subject to apid technological change, and we may not be at
to successfully compete.

The markets for our products are characterizedapidly changing technology, evolving industry stamt, changes in customer needs,
emerging competition, new product introductions atmdng price competition. We compete with botlaklshed and development stage life
science research and Ag-Bio companies that designufacture and market instruments for gene exjpreasalysis, genotyping, PCR, other
nucleic acid detection and additional applicatiossg well established laboratory techniques, dbsagenewer technologies such as bead
encoded arrays, microfluidics, nanotechnology, fiflgbbughput DNA sequencing and inkjet and photolitaphic arrays. Most of our current
competitors have significantly greater name redigmi greater financial and human resources, bropidgluct lines and product packages,
larger sales forces, larger existing installed baseger intellectual property portfolios and dgezaxperience and scale in research and
development, manufacturing and marketing than wé-doexample, companies such as Affymetrix, IAgiJent Technologies, Inc., Caliper
Life Sciences, Inc., lllumina, Inc., Life Technoleg Corporation, Luminex Corporation, Roche Appl&aience, NanoString Technologies,
Inc., RainDance Technologies, Inc., Sequenom,dnd.WaferGen Biosystems, Inc. have products thapete in certain segments of the
market in which we sell our products, including gexpression analysis, genotyping and sequencirgddition, a number of other
companies and academic groups are in the procelssefoping novel technologies for life science kets.

Competitors may be able to respond more quicklyedfattively than we can to new or changing opputtes, technologies, standards
or customer requirements. In light of these adwgagaeven if our technology is more effective ttranproduct or service offerings of our
competitors, current or potential customers migieeat competitive products and services in liepwthasing our technology. We anticipate
that we will face increased competition in the fatas existing companies and competitors develepanémproved products and as new
companies enter the market with new technologies nvey not be able to compete effectively agairetdtorganizations. Increased
competition is likely to result in pricing presssyevhich could harm our sales, profitability or ketrshare. Our failure to compete effectively
could materially and adversely affect our businéeancial condition and results of operations.

25



Table of Contents

We have limited experience in marketing, selling ashdistributing our products, and we need to expanaur direct sales and marketing
force or distribution capabilities to adequately adiress our customers’ needs.

We have limited experience in marketing, selling distributing our products. Our BioMark and EP&teyns for genomic analysis w
introduced for commercial sale in 2006 and 2008peetively. Our Access Array system for sample @rafon was introduced for
commercial sale in 2009. We may not be able to stadell and distribute our products effectivelpeagh to support our planned growth.

We sell our products primarily through our own sdterce and through distributors in certain teriés. Our future sales will depend in
large part on our ability to develop and substéigtexpand our direct sales force and to increhsestope of our marketing efforts. Our
products are technically complex and used for lyigpecialized applications. As a result, we beligv&necessary to develop a direct sales
force that includes people with specific scientifackgrounds and expertise and a marketing grotiptechnical sophistication. Competition
for such employees is intense. We may not be abd¢ttact and retain personnel or be able to lanléfficient and effective sales and
marketing force, which could negatively impact sadéour products, and reduce our revenues andadibity.

In addition, we may continue to enlist one or mgaies representatives and distributors to assibtsaies, distribution and customer
support globally or in certain regions of the wotfdve do seek to enter into such arrangementsnase not be successful in attracting
desirable sales representatives and distributorseanay not be able to enter into such arrangesrmmfavorable terms. If our sales and
marketing efforts, or those of any third-party salepresentatives and distributors, are not suitdessr technologies and products may not
gain market acceptance, which would materially iotaur business operations.

Our Sales May Be Adversely Affected By Recent Evesiin Japan.

The recent earthquake and tsunami in Japan andafiresimath have created significant economic uag#y in that country. Sales to
customers located in Japan represented approxiy&elof our product revenue in 2010 and 13% in 2@i8ce the earthquake, we have
noticed a significant drop in commercial activitydapan, and we believe economic activity in thenty may be disrupted for a substantial
period of time. As a result, our sales in Japan begdversely affected.

Our business depends on research and developmengesiging levels of pharmaceutical, Ag-Bio and bioteaiology companies and
academic, clinical and governmental research institions and any reduction in such spending could lirb our ability to sell our
products.

We expect that our revenue in the foreseeabledutilt be derived primarily from sales of our mificadic systems and chips to
academic institutions and biotechnology, Ag-Bio ahdrmaceutical companies and life science laboestavorldwide. Our success will
depend upon their demand for and use of our predécicordingly, the spending policies of these aomrs could have a significant effect
the demand for our technology. These policies meapdsed on a wide variety of factors, includingrésources available to make purchases,
the spending priorities among various types of apgint, policies regarding spending during recessioperiods and changes in the political
climate. In addition, academic, governmental atetiotesearch institutions that fund research amdldpment activities may be subject to
stringent budgetary constraints that could resu#fgending reductions, reduced allocations or budgbacks, which could jeopardize the
ability of these customers to purchase our sysum.operating results may fluctuate substantiallg tb reductions and delays in research
and development expenditures by these customergx@mple, reductions in capital expenditures leg¢hcustomers may result in lower tl
expected system sales and, similarly, reductiompérating expenditures by these customers coaldtri@ lower than expected sales of our
microfluidic systems and chips. These reductiortsdeiays may result from factors that are not withir control, such as:

» changes in economic conditior
» changes in government programs that provide funttirrgsearch institutions and compan
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» changes in the regulatory environment affecting difience and /-Bio companies engaged in research and commerdigitias;
» differences in budget cycles across various gedigamnd industrie:

* marke-driven pressures on companies to consolidate apesatnd reduce cos!

* mergers and acquisitions in the life science an-Bio industries; ant

« other factors affecting research and developmesdipg.

Any decrease in our customers’ budgets or expemgditor in the size, scope or frequency of capitalperating expenditures as a result
of the foregoing or other factors could materiahd adversely affect our operations or financiaidition.

We may not be able to develop new systems or enhanhe capabilities of our existing microfluidic syeems to keep pace with rapidly
changing technology and customer requirements.

Our success depends on our ability to develop rpplications for our technology in existing and nenarkets, while improving the
performance and cost effectiveness of our systdiaa. technologies, techniques or products could gentirat might offer better
combinations of price and performance than ouresuror future product lines and systems. Existimgkmats for our products, including gene
expression analysis, genotyping, digital polymexassn reaction, or PCR, and single cell analyassyell as potential markets for our
products such as highroughput DNA sequencing and molecular diagnostpgsications, are characterized by rapid techncédghange ar
innovation. It is critical to our success for usattticipate changes in technology and customeilinegents and to successfully introduce new,
enhanced and competitive technology to meet oupmess’ and prospective customers’ needs on ayitresis. Developing and
implementing new technologies will require us tounsubstantial development costs and we may na hdequate resources available to be
able to successfully introduce new applicationsognhancements to, our systems. We cannot geartmt we will be able to maintain
technological advantages over emerging technolagitse future. While we have planned improvemeéatsur BioMark, EP1 and Access
Array systems, we may not be able to successfuplement these improvements. If we fail to keepepaith emerging technologies, dem:
for our systems will not grow and may decline, and business, revenue, financial condition and atpeg results could suffer materially.
Even if we successfully implement some or all @&sth planned improvements, we cannot guaranteedhaurrent and potential customers
will find our enhanced systems to be an attradciiternative to existing technologies, including ourrent products.

Emerging market opportunities may not develop as qigkly as we expect.

The application of our technologies to moleculagtiostics, single cell analysis, digital PCR anda preparation for next generation
DNA sequencing are emerging market opportunities.b&ieve these opportunities will take severalryéadevelop or mature and we car
be certain that these market opportunities willedlep as we expect. Although we believe that thalieoa applications of our technologies in
these markets, there can be no certainty of theteal or commercial success our technologiesauitiieve in such markets. Our success in
the emerging markets of molecular diagnostics,lsingll analysis, digital PCR and sample prepandiio next generation DNA sequencing
may depend to a large extent on our ability to easfully market and sell products using our teobgiels. In addition, in the case of
molecular diagnostics, we will need to obtain regiy approval for such products in the United &tatnd in overseas markets.

Our research and product development efforts may nioresult in commercially viable products within the timeline anticipated, if at all.

Our business is dependent on the improvement oéxisting products, our development of new prodteiserve existing markets and
our development of new products to create new ntsuked applications that were previously not pcattivith existing systems. We intend
devote significant personnel and financial resasirce
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to research and development activities designeditance the capabilities of our microfluidic sysseechnology. Our technology is new and
complex and the behavior of fluids and surroundiognpounds in a nanoscale environment is diffiaujtrtedict in advance. Though we have
developed design rules for the implementation afteahnology, these are frequently revised to e¢fhew insights we have gained about the
technology. In addition, we have discovered thatdgjical or chemical reactions sometimes behavergifitly when implemented on our
systems rather than in a standard laboratory emviemt. As a result, research and development sffoaty be required to transfer certain
reactions to our systems. In the past, productldpmeent projects have been significantly delayeémwve encountered unanticipated
difficulties in implementing a process on our syste We may have similar delays in the future, archvay not obtain any benefits from our
research and development activities. Any delayauarfe by us to develop new products or enhancgtiagi products would have a substantial
adverse effect on our business and results of tipesa

Our sales cycles are lengthy and variable, which nkas it difficult for us to forecast revenue and otlkr operating results.

The sales cycles for our systems are lengthy, wimiakes it difficult for us to accurately forecastenues in a given period, and may
cause revenue and operating results to vary sigmitiy from period to period.

Due in part to the high ufvent cost associated with our systems, potentiatamers for our systems typically need to comigitiicant
time and resources to evaluate our technology lagid decision to purchase our instruments may ktadulimited by budgetary constraints
and several layers of internal review and approwvhich are beyond our control. In addition, the elbwand complexity of our products often
requires us to spend substantial time and effaistisg potential customers in evaluating our msients, including providing demonstrations
and benchmarking our products against other aveil@ichnologies. Even after initial approval by mqgpiate decision makers, the negotia
and documentation processes for a purchase camf#hy. As a result of these factors, our saletedyas varied widely and, in certain
instances has been longer than 12 months. The eaityphnd variability of our sales cycle has matdgifficult for us to accurately project
quarterly revenues, and we have frequently faibechéet our internal quarterly projections. Moregweg do not recognize revenue on sale
our systems until the system has been deliver#itetoustomer and our other revenue recognitiorra@ihave been met. This further
complicates our ability to project quarterly reveras we may have entered into a sale agreemenawitstomer for a system but cannot
predict when that customer will take delivery of gystem and when we will be able to recognizedlienue. We expect that our sales will
continue to fluctuate on a quarterly basis and dhatfinancial results for some periods may be Wwelwse projected by securities analysts.
Such fluctuations could have a material adversecefin our business and on the price of our comsimek.

We may rely on strategic partnerships for researcland development and commercialization purposes.

We have entered into and may continue to entersimédegic partnerships, including collaboratigamt ventures and alliances with
other participants in the life science, Ag-Bio andlecular diagnostics industries. For example Gb® we entered into a collaboration
agreement in molecular diagnostics and a co-marg@reement in next generation sequencing. Ifohioyr strategic partners were to
change their business strategies or developmenmitj®s, or encounter research and developmenaolest, they may no longer be willing or
able to participate in such strategic partnershipsh could have a material adverse effect on asirtess, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, we may not control thatstgic partnerships in which we participate. We mlap have certain obligations, including
some limited funding obligations or take or payigéfions, with regard to our strategic partnershigisit ventures and alliances. We may be
required to relinquish important rights, includiimgellectual property rights, and control over thevelopment of our product candidates,
assume product or other liabilities associated thithuse of our products in diagnostic and othetieations, agree to restrictions on the use
or applications of our products, or otherwise hgject to terms unfavorable to us.
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Under our collaboration agreements with Novartisdfiaes & Diagnostics, Inc., or Novartis V&D, oumpadilities in digital PCR are
being developed for potential in-vitro diagnostigmplications, with an initial focus on the develamhof an NIPD test for fetal aneuploidies.
These agreements provide Novartis V&D with an aptm exclusively license our technology in the mignfield of non-invasive testing for
fetal aneuploidies and the secondary field of muasive testing of genetic abnormality, diseaseasdition in a fetus or in a pregnant wor
(other than as tested in the primary field), Rhdajgping or carrier status in a pregnant womanthedjenetic carrier status of a prospective
mother and her male partner. Under these agreepsxuaispt with Novartis V&D, we cannot, directlyiarcollaboration with a third party,
use, develop or sell any products or servicesarptimary field or the secondary field, other tlianresearch applications in the secondary
field. The agreements contain technical feasibififiestones in 2010 and 2011 and may be termiratedovartis V&D at any time. At
Novartis V&D's option, these agreements can be extended targrass further research, development and commeatiain of our products
in the primary and secondary fields described apetéich could take several years or more to complEhe agreements provide that if a test
is commercialized, we would supply the requiredesys and chips for performance of such test.

Our agreements and efforts with Novartis V&D aré¢hieir early stages and are subject to numerouditbams, contingencies,
development challenges, milestones, royalty arehBe fees, indemnification obligations, terminatights, change of control and default
provisions and regulatory approvals. There candassurance that this collaboration will lead thtelogy, products or services, that such
technology, products or services will receive madazeptance, that we will realize any materiabraxe or other benefits from this
collaboration or that the benefits will exceed oosts.

If our facility becomes inoperable, we will be unale to continue manufacturing our products and as aesult, our business will be
harmed until we are able to secure a new facility.

We manufacture and assemble all of our productsdormercial sale at our facility in Singapore. Nbey manufacturing or assembly
facilities are currently available to us. Our fagiand the equipment we use to manufacture ouwtymis would be costly to replace and could
require substantial lead time to repair or repldte facility may be harmed or rendered inoperébleatural or man-made disasters,
including earthquakes, flooding and power outagmsch may render it difficult or impossible for tsperform our research, development
and manufacturing for some period of time. The ilitglio perform our research, development and nfiacturing activities, combined with
our limited inventory of reserve raw materials ananufactured supplies, may result in the loss efaraers or harm our reputation, and we
may be unable to reestablish relationships witlsehmustomers in the future. Although we possessanse for damage to our property and
the disruption of our business, this insurance matybe sufficient to cover all of our potentialdes and may not continue to be available
on acceptable terms, or at all.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may eed to raise additional funds in the future.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitgléncluding the funds we raised in our initiabfic offering, will be sufficient to
meet our anticipated cash requirements for at thashext 18 months. However, we may need to msibstantial additional capital to:

» expand the commercialization of our produ
» fund our operations; ar
o further our research and developm:

Our future funding requirements will depend on méastors, including:
* market acceptance of our produt
» the cost of our research and development actiy
» the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applmadi
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» the cost of defending, in litigation or otherwisay claims that we infringe third-party patentvimiate other intellectual property
rights;

» the cost and timing of regulatory clearances oreds, if any;

» the cost and timing of establishing additional satearketing and distribution capabilitit
» the cost and timing of establishing additional téchl support capabilitie:

» the effect of competing technological and markeettpments; an

» the extent to which we acquire or invest in bussessproducts and technologies, although we ciyreave no commitments or
agreements relating to any of these types of triioses.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to olddititional funds on acceptable terms, or at fiid raise additional funds by issuing
equity securities, our stockholders may experiglilcgion. Debt financing, if available, may involeevenants restricting our operations or
our ability to incur additional debt. Any debt atditional equity financing that we raise may contgrms that are not favorable to us or our
stockholders. If we raise additional funds throeghaboration and licensing arrangements with tpiadies, it may be necessary to relinquish
some rights to our technologies or our productgyrant licenses on terms that are not favorablestdf we are unable to raise adequate funds,
we may have to liquidate some or all of our assmtgelay, reduce the scope of or eliminate sonwl a@f our development programs.

If we do not have, or are not able to obtain, sigfit funds, we may have to delay development orrercialization of our products or
license to third parties the rights to commerc@&lizoducts or technologies that we would othensesk to commercialize. We also may have
to reduce marketing, customer support or otheruress devoted to our products or cease operattansof these factors could harm our
operating results.

To use our products and our BioMark system in parttular, customers typically need to purchase speciakd reagents. Any
interruption in the availability of these reagentsfor use in our products could limit our ability to market our products.

Our products and our BioMark system in particutaust be used in conjunction with one or more retmeesigned to produce or
facilitate the particular biological or chemicahotion desired by the user. Many of these reagerthighly specialized and available to the
user only from a single supplier or a limited numbksuppliers. Our customers typically purchass¢hreagents directly from the suppliers,
and we have no control over the supply of thoseeriads. In addition, our products are designed dokwvith these reagents as they are
currently formulated. We have no control of theniatation of these reagents, and the performanceioproducts might be adversely affec
if the formulation of these reagents was chandgeshé or more of these reagents were to becomeailable or were reformulated, our abil
to market and sell our products could be materiatigt adversely affected.

In addition, the use of a reagent for a particplacess may be covered by one or more patentsgetatthe reagent itself, the use of
reagent for the particular process, the performaifitieat process or the equipment required to perfihe process. Typically, reagent
suppliers, who are either the patent holders ar thehorized licensees, sell the reagents alotig avlicense or covenant not to sue with
respect to such patents. The license accompanyingatie of a reagent often purports to restricptirposes for which the reagent may be
used. If a patent holder or authorized licenseew@gassert against us or our customers thatdaede or covenant relating to a reagent
precluded its use with our systems, our abilitgeth and market our products could be materially adversely affected. For example, the
current applications of our BioMark system, whielpresented 44% of our product revenue in 2010 \ev@al-time polymerase chain
reaction, or PCR. Leading suppliers of reagent®foR reactions include Life Technologies and Ro%gpglied Science, who are our direct
competitors, and their licensees. These PCR resgeattypically sold pursuant to limited licenses o
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covenants not to sue with respect to patents hettddse companies. We do not have any contraaipply agreements for these PCR
reagents, and we cannot assure you that thesentsagél continue to be available to our custonfersuse with our systems, or that these
patent holders will not seek to enforce their petagainst us, our customers, or suppliers.

If we cannot provide quality technical support, wecould lose customers and our operating results caiisuffer.

The placement of our products at new customer, ghiesntroduction of our technology into our custrs’ existing systems and
ongoing customer support can be complex. Accorglingé need highly trained technical support persbriring technical support
personnel is very competitive in our industry do¢hte limited number of people available with tlee@ssary biochemistry background and
ability to understand our systems at a technicall€lTo effectively support potential new customansl the expanding needs of current
customers, we will need to substantially expandtecinnical support staff. If we are unable to atirirain or retain the number of highly
qualified technical services personnel that ouiinass needs, our business and prospects will suffer

We are dependent on single source suppliers for senof the components and materials used in our systs, and the loss of any of thes
suppliers could harm our business.

We rely on single source suppliers for certain congmts and materials used in our systems. Of #iagée source suppliers, the loss of
any of the following would require significant tinaed effort to locate and qualify an alternativarse of supply:

» The chips used in our microfluidic systems areitatted using a specialized polymer that is avaéldldm a limited number of
sources. In the past we have encountered quaitessthat have reduced our manufacturing yieléquired the use of additional
manufacturing processes. We do not have a longdentract with our current sole suppli

» The reader for our BioMark system requires spexadlihigh resolution camera lenses and other conmptigat are available fro
a limited number of source
Our reliance on these suppliers also subjects athter risks that could harm our business, inclgdire following:
» we may be subject to increased component c
e we may not be able to obtain adequate supply imely manner or on commercially reasonable tel

« our suppliers may make errors in manufacturing acamepts that could negatively affect the efficacypof systems or cause del
in shipment of our systems; a

» our suppliers may encounter financial hardshipglated to our demand for components, which couiiintheir ability to fulfill
our orders and meet our requireme

We have in the past experienced quality controlsamply problems with some of our suppliers, sucmanufacturing errors, and may
again experience problems in the future. We maybaatble to quickly establish additional or reptaeat suppliers, particularly for our sin
source components. Any interruption or delay inghpply of components or materials, or our inabtiit obtain components or materials fr
alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timalyner, could impair our ability to meet the demahdur customers and cause them to
cancel orders or switch to competitive products.

We may experience development or manufacturing prdems or delays that could limit the growth of our evenue or increase our
losses.

We have been manufacturing and assembling our ptedtusignificant commercial quantities since 208 we may encounter
unforeseen situations that would result in delayshortfalls in our production. In
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addition, our production processes and assembliiodstmay have to change to accommodate any sigmiffature expansion of our
manufacturing capacity. If we are unable to keepvith demand for our products, our revenue couléhiqgmaired, market acceptance for our
products could be adversely affected and our custemmight instead purchase our competitors’ pradu@tir inability to successfully
manufacture our products would have a material i@veffect on our operating results.

All of our commercial products are manufacturedwtfacility in Singapore. We began commercial prctébn of our chips in Singapc
in October 2006 and have transitioned the commiguoialuction of our microfluidic systems to Singapas well. Production of the
elastomeric block that is at the core of our cligps complex process requiring advanced clean rpsomhisticated equipment and strict
adherence to procedures. Any contamination of ldsncroom, equipment malfunction or failure toddtyi follow procedures can significant
reduce our yield in one or more batches. We havedpast experienced variations in yields duaith$actors. Such a drop in yield can
increase our cost to manufacture our chips or,dremsevere cases, require us to halt the manuéacfwur chips until the problem is
resolved. Identifying and resolving the cause dfap in yield can require substantial time and veses.

In addition, developing a chip for a new applicatinay require developing a specific production pescfor that type of chip. While all
of our chips are produced using the same basiepses, significant variations may be required suenadequate yield of any particular type
of chip. Developing such a process can be very tiamsuming, and any unexpected difficulty in dosmgcan delay the introduction of a
product.

Our shipments of products to customers are subjedb delays or cancellation due to work stoppages @lowdowns, piracy, damage to
shipping facilities caused by weather or terrorismand congestion due to inadequacy of shipping equipent and other causes.

Because all our products are manufactured at ailityain Singapore, we rely on shipping providéosdeliver our products to our
customers. To the extent that there are disruptomlays in shipping our products from Singapmreff-loading our products upon arriva
their destination due to labor disputes, tarifidorld Trade Organization-related disputes, pirgdwysical damage to shipping facilities or
equipment caused by severe weather or terrorigténts, congestion at shipping facilities, inadeguequipment to load, dock and offload
products or energy-related tie-ups or otherwisdooother reasons, product shipments to our custewill be delayed. Depending on the
severity of such consequences, this may have arsaleffect on our financial condition and resaftsperations.

If we are unable to recruit and retain key executies and scientists, we may be unable to achieve @oals.

Our performance is substantially dependent on éropmance of our senior management and key sfieatid technical personnel,
particularly Gajus V. Worthington, our Presidenti@hief Executive Officer. We do not maintain fixielm employment contracts with any
of our employees. The loss of the services of aagnbrer of our senior management or our scientifi@ohnical staff might significantly
delay or prevent the development of our productscbievement of other business objectives by divgernanagemenrd’attention to transitic
matters and identification of suitable replacemgifny, and could have a material adverse efiaabur business. We do not maintain
significant key man life insurance on any of oumpéoyees.

In addition, our research and product developmgatte could be delayed or curtailed if we are ueab attract, train and retain highly
skilled employees, particularly, senior scientestsl engineers. To expand our research and produetapment efforts, we need additional
people skilled in areas such as molecular andleelbiology, assay development and manufacturirggngetition for these people is intense.
Because of the complex and technical nature obgstem and the dynamic market in which we compate failure to attract and retain a
sufficient number of qualified employees could mialey harm our ability to develop and commercialiaur technology.
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Adverse conditions in the global economy and disrun of financial markets may significantly harm our revenue, profitability and
results of operations.

The global economy has been experiencing a sigmifieconomic downturn, and global credit and chpitrkets have experienced
substantial volatility and disruption. Volatilitynd disruption of financial markets could limit czustomers’ ability to obtain adequate
financing or credit to purchase and pay for oudpuis in a timely manner or to maintain operatiavisich could result in a decrease in sales
volume that could harm our results of operatiorenéal concerns about the fundamental soundnetsméstic and international economies
may also cause our customers to reduce their psesh&hanges in governmental banking, monetaryisecal policies to address liquidity
and increase credit availability may not be effextiSignificant government investment and allocatibresources to assist the economic
recovery of sectors which do not include our custammay reduce the resources available for goverhgrants and related funding for life
science, Ag-Bio and molecular diagnostics reseanthdevelopment. Continuation or further deteriorabf these financial and
macroeconomic conditions could significantly haran sales, profitability and results of operations.

We may be unable to manage our anticipated growthfiectively.

The rapid growth of our business has placed afsignt strain on our managerial, operational andricial resources and systems. We
have increased the number of our employees fromal D&cember 31, 2009 to 206 at December 31, 2Z0i@xecute our anticipated growth
successfully, we must continue to attract and mejailified personnel and manage and train theecifely. We must also upgrade our
internal business processes and capabilities tdecthe scalability that a growing business demands

We believe our commercial manufacturing facilitgdted in Singapore is sufficient to meet our shems manufacturing needs. The
current leases for our manufacturing facility im@ipore expire at various times from October 2@tdugh July 2013. In order to meet the
long-term demand for our microfluidic systems, vedidve that we will need to add to our existing mfacturing space in Singapore or move
all of our manufacturing facilities to a new loaatiin Singapore in 2012. Such a move will involigngficant expense in connection with the
establishment of new clean rooms, the movementrastallation of key manufacturing equipment and ifications to our manufacturing
process and we cannot assure you that such a mmyd wot delay or otherwise adversely affect ounuafacturing activities.

Further, our anticipated growth will place addi@bstrain on our suppliers and manufacturing faesi resulting in an increased need
for us to carefully monitor quality assurance. Aaijure by us to manage our growth effectively eblbbve an adverse effect on our ability to
achieve our development and commercialization goals

Demand for our technology could be reduced by legasocial and ethical concerns surrounding the usd genetic information and
biological materials.

Our products may be used to provide genetic inftionar analyze biological materials from humarggjaultural crops and other livir
organisms. The information obtained from our pradwould be used in a variety of applications, Whitay have underlying legal, social and
ethical concerns, including the genetic engineesingnodification of agricultural products, testifoy genetic predisposition for certain
medical conditions and stem cell research. Goventahauthorities could, for safety, social or otparposes, call for limits on or impose
regulations on the use of genetic testing or tleeaiertain biological materials. Such concerngawernmental restrictions could limit the
use of our products, which could have a materiaéesk effect on our business, financial conditind eesults of operations.

Our products, although not currently subject to regulation by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration orother regulatory agencies as
medical devices, could become subject to regulatién the future.

Our products are currently labeled and sold todgimhology and pharmaceutical companies, acadestituitions, and life sciences
laboratories for research purposes only, and ragrdiistic procedures. As a
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research only products, they and are not subjeggolation as medical devices by the U.S. FoodlRd) Administration, or FDA, or
comparable agencies of other countries. Howeverei€thange the labeling of our products in therfuto include diagnostic applications,
products or related applications could be subthé FDA's pre- and post-market regulations. B@maple, if we wish to label and market
our products for use in performing clinical diagtics we would first need to obtain FDA premarkietacance or approval. Obtaining FDA
clearance or approval can be expensive and uncegenerally takes several months to years to mbésid may require detailed and
comprehensive scientific and clinical data. Notai#tnding the expense, these efforts may nevertiieseDA approval or clearance. Even if
we were to obtain regulatory approval or clearaitaaay not be for the uses we believe are impoacommercially attractive.

Further, FDA may expand its jurisdiction over owogucts or the products of our customers, whicHadcoupose restrictions on our
ability to market and sell our products. For examplur customers may use our research use onlygiooh their own laboratory developed
tests, or LDTs, for clinical diagnostic use. FDAshastorically exercised enforcement discretionah enforcing the medical device
regulations against LDTs. However, the FDA coulsessjurisdiction over some or all LDTs, which miaypact our customers’ uses of our
products. A significant change in the way thatFiEA regulates our products or the LDTs that out@uers develop may require us to
change our business model in order to maintain damge with these laws. The FDA held a meetinguily 2010, during which it indicated
that it intends to reconsider its policy of enfarmnt discretion and to begin drafting a new ovéatsicamework for LDTs. If the FDA
imposes significant changes to the regulation of £Dor modifies its approach to our research usgtests which may be used by our
customers for clinical use, it could reduce oureraies or increase our costs and adversely affedfusiness, prospects, results of operations
or financial condition.

Finally, we may be required to proactively achiesenpliance with certain FDA regulations as parbaf contracts with customers or as
part of our collaborations with third parties. ladétion, we may voluntarily seek to conform our matturing operations to the FDA’s good
manufacturing practice regulations for medical desj known as the Quality System Regulation, or J3R QSR is a complex regulatory
scheme that governs the methods and documentati@micg the design, testing, control, manufacturlageling, quality assurance,
packaging, storage and shipping of medical deviodyrcts. The FDA enforces the QSR through periadennounced inspections of
registered manufacturing facilities. The failurda&e satisfactory corrective action in responsgnt@adverse QSR inspection could result in
enforcement actions, including a public warningeleta shutdown of manufacturing operations, a pebdecall, civil or criminal penalties or
other sanctions, which could in turn cause ourssafel business to suffer.

Our products could have unknown defects or errorswhich may give rise to claims against us and adveely affect market adoption of
our systems.

Our microfluidic systems utilize novel and compteghnology applied on a nanoliter scale and sustesys may develop or contain
undetected defects or errors. We cannot assuréghppunaterial performance problems, defects oremdll not arise, and as we increase the
density and integration of our microfluidic systentmese risks may increase. While we do not progiaess warranties that our microfluidic
systems will meet performance expectations or ée firom defects, we have done so in the past, gmeteto in the future in response to
customer concerns in order to preserve customatiorkhips and help foster continued adoption amdaf our systems. We typically do
provide warranties relating to other parts of oirrofluidic systems. The costs incurred in cornegtany defects or errors may be substantial
and could adversely affect our operating margins.

In manufacturing our products, we depend upon thindies for the supply of various components. Mafithese components require a
significant degree of technical expertise to pradutour suppliers fail to produce componentsgecification, or if the suppliers, or we, use
defective materials or workmanship in the manufdietuprocess, the reliability and performance af products will be compromised.
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If our products contain defects, we may experience:
» afailure to achieve market acceptance or exparwfionr product sale:
» loss of customer orders and delay in order fuliir
e damage to our brand reputatic
» increased cost of our warranty program due to procipair or replacemer
» product recalls or replacemen
» inability to attract new customet
» diversion of resources from our manufacturing seskarch and development departments into our sedejgartment; ar
» legal claims against us, including product liagititaims, which could be costly and time consumniimdefend and result in
substantial damage

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd negatively affect our business, financialdiban and results of operations.

We generate a substantial portion of our revenuesiernationally and are subject to various risks reating to such international
activities which could adversely affect our internéional sales and operating performance.

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, approximately 45%, 4&ftl, 48%, respectively, of our product revenue geaerated from sales to
customers located outside of the United Statesb®lieve that a significant percentage of our funereenue will come from international
sources as we expand our overseas operations selbpl@pportunities in additional international@seln addition, all of our commercial
products are manufactured in Singapore. Our intiemmal business may be adversely affected by cimgngtonomic, political and regulatory
conditions in foreign countries. Because the majaf our product sales are currently denominated.S. dollars, if the value of the U.S.
dollar increases relative to foreign currencies,moducts could become more costly to the intéonat consumer and therefore less
competitive in international markets, which couttéat our financial performance. In addition, ietkialue of the U.S. dollar decreases rele
to the Singapore dollar, it would become more gdstlJ.S. dollars for us to manufacture our produnotSingapore. Furthermore, fluctuatis
in exchange rates could reduce our revenue, phatigwvith respect to grant revenue under agreesenBingapore, and affect demand for
our products. Engaging in international businekgiiantly involves a number of other difficultiesdaisks, including:

* required compliance with existing and changing iffmeegulatory requirements and la

e export or import restriction:

» laws and business practices favoring local compga

» longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcagyeements and collecting receivables throughaiceioreign legal system
e political and economic instabilit

» potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs otastcharges, bureaucratic requirements and othae trarriers

» difficulties and costs of staffing and managingeign operations; an

« difficulties protecting or procuring intellectualqperty rights

If one or more of these risks occurs, it could regjus to dedicate significant resources to remedg,if we are unsuccessful in findin
solution, our financial results will suffer.
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We use hazardous chemicals and biological materiails our business. Any claims relating to improper landling, storage or disposal of
these materials could be time consuming and costly.

Our research and development and manufacturingepses involve the controlled use of hazardous mkeincluding flammables,
toxics, corrosives and biologics. Our operatiorasdpce hazardous biological and chemical waste ptedWe cannot eliminate the risk of
accidental contamination or discharge and any tastuinjury from these materials. In addition, auicrofluidic systems involve the use of
pressurized systems and may involve the use oftiaza materials, which could result in injury. Wayrbe sued for any injury or
contamination that results from our use or thehysthird parties of these materials. We do notenity maintain separate environmental
liability coverage and any such contamination ecHarge could result in significant cost to usenadties, damages and suspension of our
operations.

We will incur significant increased costs as a re$tuof operating as a public company, and our manageent will be required to devote
substantial time to new compliance initiatives.

We first operated as a public company in Febru@d12As a public company, we will incur significdegal, accounting and other
expenses that we did not incur as a private comgargddition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well @ nules subsequently implemented by
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the NEBlobal Market, have imposed various new requérts on public companies,
including requiring changes in corporate governgmegtices. Our management and other personnehegiti to devote a substantial amount
of time to these new compliance initiatives. Moregthese rules and regulations will increase egall and financial compliance costs and
will make some activities more time-consuming aastly. For example, we expect these new rules egdlations to make it more difficult
and more expensive for us to obtain director afidasfliability insurance and we may be requirednour substantial costs to maintain the
same or similar coverage.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracyand timing of our financial
reporting may be impaired, which could adversely &&ct our business and our stock price.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgé we maintain effective internal control ofieancial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. In particular, with respeour 2011 fiscal year, we must perform systeah process evaluation and testing of our
internal control over financial reporting to alloamanagement to report on the effectiveness of darnal control over financial reporting, as
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley @at. testing, or the subsequent testing by our iaddpnt registered public accounting
firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal cahiwver financial reporting that are deemed to lagemal weaknesses. Our compliance with
Section 404 will require that we incur substangietounting expense and expend significant managamenon compliance-related issues.
We currently do not have an internal audit groug ae will evaluate the need to hire additional actimg and financial staff with
appropriate public company experience and techaicadunting knowledge. Moreover, if we are not ableomply with the requirements of
Section 404 in a timely manner, or if we or ourdpdndent registered public accounting firm idesdifileficiencies in our internal control o
financial reporting that are deemed to be materedknesses, the market price of our stock coultireand we could be subject to sanctions
or investigations by the NASDAQ Global Market, Becurities and Exchange Commission or other regyl@uthorities, which would
require additional financial and management resssirc

Some of our programs are partially supported by gogrnment grants, which may be reduced, withdrawn, dayed or reclaimed.

We have received and may continue to receive fundgr research and economic development programigeduby the governments of
Singapore and the United States. Funding by thegergments may be significantly reduced or elirgdat the future for a number of
reasons. For example, some U.S. programs are subjegearly appropriations process in Congressil&ly, our grants from the Singapore
government are
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part of an official policy to develop a life scienindustry in Singapore; that policy could changéhe role of grants in it could be reduced or
eliminated at any time. Grant agreements curréntplace with the Singaporean government are sexpire in May 2011. In addition, we
may not receive funds under existing or future tgdnecause of budgeting constraints of the agetieyrastering the program. A restriction
on the government funding available to us woulduoedthe resources that we would be able to dewatzisting and future research and
development efforts. Such a reduction could ddiayintroduction of new products and hurt our coritipetposition.

Our agreements with the Singapore Economic DevedmpiBoard, or EDB, provide that our continued #lilifiy for incentive grant
payments from EDB is subject to our satisfactiomgfeed upon targets for increasing levels of rebeaevelopment and manufacturing
activity in Singapore, including the use of locahsdce providers, the hiring of personnel in Singap the incurrence of eligible expenses in
Singapore, our receipt of new equity investment@mndachievement of certain milestones relatingeiw product development or completion
of specific manufacturing process objectives. Thaggeements further provide EDB with the right éonédind repayment of a portion of past
grants in the event that we did not meet our ohibbga under the applicable agreements.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetifure taxable income may be subject to certain lintations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Reeebode, a corporation that undergoes an “ownedtapge” is subject to limitations
on its ability to utilize its pre-change net opargtiosses or NOLs to offset future taxable inco@ar existing NOLs may be subject to
limitations arising from previous ownership changesluding our initial public offering. If we undgo an ownership change, our ability to
utilize NOLs could be further limited by Section238f the Internal Revenue Code. Future changesristock ownership, some of which are
outside of our control, could result in an ownepsttiange under Section 382 of the Internal Rev€age. We may not be able to utilize a
material portion of the NOLs reflected on our baksheet and for this reason, we have fully reseagminst the value of our NOLs on our
balance sheet.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Our ability to protect our intellectual property an d proprietary technology through patents and othemrmeans is uncertain.

Our commercial success depends in part on outyahiliprotect our intellectual property and profarg technologies. We rely on patt
protection, where appropriate and available, as ageh combination of copyright, trade secret aadegmark laws, and nondisclosure,
confidentiality and other contractual restricticgagrotect our proprietary technology. However sthéegal means afford only limited
protection and may not adequately protect our sigihtpermit us to gain or keep any competitive athge. Our pending U.S. and foreign
patent applications may not issue as patents ormuogigsue in a form that will be sufficient to prot our proprietary technology and gain or
keep our competitive advantage. Any patents we bat&ned or do obtain may be subject to re-exatioinareissue, opposition or other
administrative proceeding, or may be challengddigation, and such challenges could result iretedmination that the patent is invalid or
unenforceable. In addition, competitors may be &blgesign alternative methods or devices thatdawdiingement of our patents. To the
extent our intellectual property, including licedsatellectual property, offers inadequate protagtior is found to be invalid or unenforcea
we are exposed to a greater risk of direct compatitf our intellectual property does not provigigequate protection against our competitors’
products, our competitive position could be advgraffected, as could our business. Both the papptication process and the process of
managing patent disputes can be time consumingepehsive. Furthermore, the laws of some foreigmttes may not protect our
intellectual property rights to the same exterd@she laws of the United States.

The patent positions of companies in the life soéeand AgBio industries can be highly uncertain and invateenplex legal and factu
questions for which important legal principles réamanresolved. No
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consistent policy regarding the breadth of claifimaged in such companies’ patents has emergedtwiddahe United States. The laws of
some non-U.S. countries do not protect intellegtuaperty rights to the same extent as the lavikefJnited States, and many companies
have encountered significant problems in protecéing defending such rights in foreign jurisdictiofke legal systems of certain countries,
particularly certain developing countries, do reotdr the enforcement of patents and other intelldgiroperty protection, particularly those
relating to biotechnology, which could make it @iffit for us to stop the infringement of our pagerroceedings to enforce our patent rights
in foreign jurisdictions could result in substahtiast and divert our efforts and attention frorhestaspects of our business. Changes in either
the patent laws or in interpretations of patentsi@mvthe United States or other countries may dshithe value of our intellectual property.

We cannot predict the breadth of claims that magllmeved or enforced in our patents or in thirdtpgratents. For example:

* We might not have been the first to make the ineestcovered by each of our pending patent appdics
* We might not have been the first to file patentliggtions for these invention

« Others may independently develop similar or altévegoroducts and technologies or duplicate angusfproducts and
technologies

» Itis possible that none of our pending patentiapfibns will result in issued patents, and evehély issue as patents, they may
not provide a basis for commercially viable proguct may not provide us with any competitive adagas, or may be challeng
and invalidated by third partie

* We may not develop additional proprietary produactd technologies that are patenta
» The patents of others may have an adverse effestiohusiness; ar

* We apply for patents covering our products andneldgies and uses thereof, as we deem approprateever, we may fail to
apply for patents on important products and teatmiek in a timely fashion or at a

In addition to pursuing patents on our technology take steps to protect our intellectual propertgt proprietary technology by
entering into confidentiality agreements and igtlial property assignment agreements with our @epk, consultants, corporate partners
and, when needed, our advisors. Such agreementaohég enforceable or may not provide meaningfolgztion for our trade secrets or
other proprietary information in the event of udearized use or disclosure or other breaches cagineements, and we may not be able to
prevent such unauthorized disclosure. Monitoringuthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do nnblw whether the steps we have taken to
prevent such disclosure are, or will be, adequbtee were to enforce a claim that a third partd fieegally obtained and was using our trade
secrets, it would be expensive and time consunaind,the outcome would be unpredictable. In addidonrts outside the United States may
be less willing to protect trade secrets.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enfore our patents and proprietary rights, to determinethe scope, coverage and validity
of others’ proprietary rights, or to defend againstthird party claims of intellectual property infrin gement that could require us to
spend significant time and money and could prevenis from selling our products or services or impacbur stock price.

Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce @iept and proprietary rights and/or to determirgesitope, coverage and validity of
others’ proprietary rights. Litigation on these teed has been prevalent in our industry and weabtpat this will continue. To determine the
priority of inventions, we may have to initiate gpalticipate in interference proceedings declagethb U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
that could result in substantial legal fees andasubstantially affect the scope of our patentgmtion. Also, our intellectual property may
subject to significant administrative and litigatiproceedings such as invalidity, unenforceabifityexamination and opposition proceedings
against our patents. The outcome of any litigationther proceeding is inherently uncertain andhtnigt be favorable to us, and we might
not be able to obtain
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licenses to technology that we require. Even ihdigenses are obtainable, they may not be availabh reasonable cost. We could therefore
incur substantial costs related to royalty paymétdicenses obtained from third parties, whichildonegatively affect our gross margins.
Further, we could encounter delays in product thidions, or interruptions in product sales, asdexeelop alternative methods or products.

In addition, if we resort to legal proceedings ndogce our intellectual property rights or to detére the validity, scope and coverage of
the intellectual property or other proprietary tigbf others, the proceedings could be burdensomegpensive, even if we were to prevail.

Our commercial success may depend in part on auinfdngement of the patents or proprietary rigbitshird parties. Numerous
significant intellectual property issues have bitggated, and will likely continue to be litigatedetween existing and new participants in the
PCR market and competitors may assert that oumgtednfringe their intellectual property rightsget of a business strategy to impede our
successful entry into those markets. Third pariay assert that we are employing their proprietaciinology without authorization. For
example, on June 4, 2008 we received a letter fkpplied Biosystems, Inc., now Life Technologies @anation, asserting that our BioMark
system for gene expression analysis infringes lb& Patent No. 6,814,934, or the ‘934 patent,iefreign counterparts in Europe and
Canada. The ‘934 patent is owned by Applied Bicayst, LLC. In response to this letter, we filed sigjainst Applied Biosystems and
Applera in federal district court in the Southeristiict of New York seeking declaratory judgmentnain-infringement and invalidity of the
‘934 patent. Applied Biosystems and Applera ansdewe complaint and asserted a counterclaim agassilleging infringement of th834
patent. Pursuant to a joint stipulation, the clagmd counterclaims were dismissed on January 11, 2Githout prejudice to the parties’
claims, which can be reasserted.

In addition, our competitors and others may haverga or may in the future obtain patents and cthim use of our products infringes
these patents. As we move into new markets andcapiphs for our products, incumbent participantsuich markets may assert their patents
and other proprietary rights against us as a mebsiewing our entry into such markets or as a rsdarextract substantial license and roy
payments from us.

Patent infringement suits can be expensive, lengtitydisruptive to business operations. We cowdrisubstantial costs and divert the
attention of our management and technical persanm@bsecuting or defending against any claimsg, may harm our reputation. There can
be no assurance that we will prevail in any stttated against us by third parties. Furthermogatips making claims against us may be able
to obtain injunctive or other relief, which coultbbk our ability to develop, commercialize and sbducts, and could result in the award of
substantial damages against us, including trebieadas and attorneys’ fees and costs in the evanivih are found to be a willful infringer of
third party patents.

In the event of a successful claim of infringemagdinst us, we may be required to obtain one oenitenses from third parties, which
we may not be able to obtain at a reasonable i€@stall. In addition, we could encounter delaggproduct introductions while we attempt to
develop alternative methods or products to avdidniging third-party patents or proprietary righBefense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain
any required licenses on favorable terms couldgmreus from commercializing our products, and thk of a prohibition on the sale of any
our products could adversely affect our abilitgtow and gain market acceptance for our products.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounsobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk tt
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatiom addition, during the course of this
kind of litigation, there could be public announ@ts of the results of hearings, motions or othirim proceedings or developments. If
securities analysts or investors perceive thesdtse® be negative, it could have a substantiaéegk effect on the price of our common st
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In addition, our agreements with some of our sigpplidistributors, customers and other entitieh wihom we do business may require
us to defend or indemnify these parties to thergtteey become involved in infringement claims agaus, including the claims described
above. We could also voluntarily agree to defenthdemnify third parties in instances where werartobligated to do so if we determine it
would be important to our business relationshipaie are required or agree to defend or indemnify af these third parties in connection
with any infringement claims, we could incur sigeeéint costs and expenses that could adverselytafedusiness, operating results, or
financial condition.

We engage in discussions regarding possible coniahdicensing and cross-licensing agreements thittd parties from time to time.
For example, we have engaged in such discussidhsGaliper Life Sciences regarding its microfluigiatent portfolio and we have engaged
in such discussions with Life Technologies regagdhme ‘934 patent and other patents owned by thépaincluding patents in the field of
digital PCR. There can be no assurance that tHesassions will lead to the execution of commerliéanse or cross-license agreements or
that such agreements will be on terms that arerédole to us. If these discussions are successéutould be obligated to pay license fees and
royalties to such third parties. If these discussido not lead to the execution of mutually acdgptagreements, one or more of the parties
involved in such discussions could resort to litigra to protect or enforce its patents and proprietights or determine the scope, coverage
and validity of the proprietary rights of othems.dddition, if we enter into cross-licensing agreats, there is no assurance that we will be
able to effectively compete against others whdieemsed under our patents.

We depend on certain technologies that are licenséd us. We do not control these technologies andafoss of our rights to them couls
prevent us from selling our products.

We rely on licenses in order to be able to useouarproprietary technologies that are materialutobwusiness, including our core
integrated fluidic circuit and multi-layer softHibgraphy technologies. We do not own the pateiatsuhderlie these licenses. Our rights to use
the technology we license are subject to the natjoti of, continuation of and compliance with thents of those licenses. In some cases, we
do not control the prosecution, maintenance, orgibf the patents to which we hold licenses, eréhforcement of these patents against third
parties. Some of our patents and patent applicati@re either acquired from another company whaieed those patents and patent
applications from yet another company, or are keghfrom a third party. Thus, these patents arehpapplications are not written by us or
our attorneys, and we did not have control overditaéting and prosecution. The former patent owa@id our licensors might not have given
the same attention to the drafting and prosecwutfdhese patents and applications as we would liawe had been the owners of the patents
and applications and had control over the draféind prosecution. We cannot be certain that draétimdjor prosecution of the licensed pat
and patent applications by the licensors have beerill be conducted in compliance with applicalalers and regulations or will result in
valid and enforceable patents and other intellégixaperty rights.

Our rights to use the technology we license argestibo the validity of the owner’s intellectualoprerty rights. Enforcement of our
licensed patents or defense or any claims assehvalidity of these patents is often subjecthte control or cooperation of our licensors.
Legal action could be initiated against the owrérthe intellectual property that we license. Evfeme are not a party to these legal actions,
an adverse outcome could harm our business bettaugght prevent these other companies or instgifrom continuing to license
intellectual property that we may need to operatebnisiness.

Certain of our licenses contain provisions thaiwalthe licensor to terminate the license upon sgemdnditions. Our rights under the
licenses are subject to our continued compliandle thie terms of the license, including the payntémbyalties due under the license.
Termination of these licenses could prevent us fnaanketing some or all of our products. Becausth®icomplexity of our products and the
patents we have licensed, determining the scopigedicense and related royalty obligation can iffecdlt and can lead to disputes between
us and the licensor. An unfavorable resolutionuafhsa dispute could lead to an increase in theltieggpayable pursuant to the license. If a
licensor believed we were not paying the royalties under the
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license or were otherwise not in compliance with tdrms of the license, the licensor might atteimpevoke the license. If such an attempt
were successful, we might be barred from produaimg selling some or all of our products.

We are subject to certain manufacturing restrictiors related to licensed technologies that were devpkd with the financial assistance
of U.S. governmental grants.

We are subject to certain U.S. government regulathecause we have licensed technologies thatdesedoped with U.S. government
grants. In accordance with these regulations, theseses provide that products embodying the teldyies are subject to domestic
manufacturing requirements. If this domestic mactufidng requirement is not met, the government agémat funded the relevant grant is
entitled to exercise specified rights, referredsd'march-in rights”, which if exercised would allche government agency to require the
licensors or us to grant a non-exclusive, partielglusive or exclusive license in any field of tise third party designated by such agency.
All of our microfluidic systems revenue is depentdgpon the availability of our chips, which incorpte technology developed with U.S.
government grants. As of December 2010, all ofammmercial products, including microfluidic systeems chips are manufactured at our
facility in Singapore. The federal regulations allthe funding government agency to grant, at tlq@est of the licensors of such technology,
a waiver of the domestic manufacturing requirem@éfdivers may be requested prior to any governmetification. We have assisted the
licensors of these technologies with the analysth®domestic manufacturing requirement, and, @edénber 2008, one of the licensors
applied for a waiver of the domestic manufactureguirement with respect to certain patents. Iy 2009, the funding government agency
granted the requested waiver of the domestic matwiag requirement for a three year period comrrgnm July 2009. If in the future it
were to be determined that we are in violatiorhef domestic manufacturing requirement and additieaaers of such requirement were
either not requested or not granted, then the gh®ernment could exercise its march-in rights.ddition, these licenses contain provisions
relating to compliance with this domestic manufacoiy requirement. If it were determined that we @oéin compliance with these provisic
and such non-compliance constituted a materialchrefithe licenses, the licenses could be termihd&#her the exercise of march-in rights
or the termination of one or more of our licensesld materially adversely affect our business, appens and financial condition.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claintbat we or our employees have wrongfully used or dclosed alleged trade secrets
of our employees’ former employers.

Many of our employees were previously employednatersities or other life science or ARje companies, including our competitors
potential competitors. Although no claims agairsate currently pending, we may be subject to cdmat these employees or we have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed tisat@ets or other proprietary information of theimier employers. Litigation may be
necessary to defend against these claims. If wenfdefending such claims, in addition to payingmatary damages, we may lose valuable
intellectual property rights or personnel. A lo$&ey research personnel or their work product ddidmper or prevent our ability to
commercialize certain potential products, whichld@everely harm our business. Even if we are ssfakin defending against these claims,
litigation could result in substantial costs andabdistraction to management.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We expect that our stock price will fluctuate sigrficantly, and holders may have difficulty selling heir shares.

Prior to our initial public offering, there had lmero public market for shares of our common st@uk stock is currently traded on the
NASDAQ Global Market, but we can provide no assuoeathat there will be active trading on that maxkeany other market in the future.
there is not active trading market or if the voluafiérading is limited, holders of our common staoky have difficulty selling their shares.
addition,
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the trading price of our common stock may be highdlatile and could be subject to wide fluctuati@msesponse to various factors, some of
which are beyond our control. These factors include

e actual or anticipated quarterly variation in owsuks of operations or the results of our competijt

e announcements by us or our competitors of new cawialg@roducts, significant contracts, commerc@htionships or capital
commitments

» issuance of new or changed securities an¢ reports or recommendations for our stc
» developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or other proprietary right
» commencement of, or our involvement in, litigati

» market conditions in the life science, -Bio and molecular diagnostics sectc

» failure to complete significant sale

« manufacturing disruptions that could occur if wer@vanable to successfully expand our productiapuincurrent or an alternative
facility;

e any future sales of our common stock or other stesiy
* any major change to the composition of our Boarthanagement; ar
» general economic conditions and slow or negatieevtr of our markets

The stock market in general, and market priceshersecurities of technolodyased companies like ours in particular, have ftiome to
time experienced volatility that often has beerelated to the operating performance of the undeglgompanies. A certain degree of stock
price volatility can be attributed to being a newlyblic company. These broad market and industigtdiations may adversely affect the
market price of our common stock, regardless ofoparating performance. In several recent situatiohere the market price of a stock has
been volatile, holders of that stock have instdugecurities class action litigation against thenpany that issued the stock. If any of our
stockholders were to bring a lawsuit against us disfense and disposition of the lawsuit coulddstlg and divert the time and attention of
our management and harm our operating results.

If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorale research about our business or cease to coverdusiness, our stock price and
trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock may relpant on the research and reports that equity relsemalysts publish about us and
our business. We do not have any control of théyatsaor the content and opinions included in thejrorts. The price of our stock could
decline if one or more equity research analystsrdpade our stock or issue other unfavorable comangior research. If one or more equity
research analysts ceases coverage of our compdaisaio publish reports on us regularly, demamddur stock could decrease, which in
turn could cause our stock price or trading volumeéecline.

Future sales of shares could cause our stock prite decline.

If stockholders holding shares of our common sfmaichased prior to our public offering sell, oricate an intention to sell, substantial
amounts of their common stock in the public matkettrading price of our common stock could declie of February 15, 2011 we had
outstanding a total of 19,938,754 shares of comstock of which only the 6,392,083 shares of comisiock sold in our public offering are
currently freely tradable, without restriction,thre public market. Each of our directors and oficand certain of our stockholders, has
entered into lock-up agreements with the underwateur initial public offering that restrict threability to sell or transfer their shares. The
lock-up agreements pertaining to our public offgrame in effect through August 8, 2011, althougkytmay be extended for up to an
additional 34 days under certain
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circumstances. Our underwriters, however, mayhéir tsole discretion, permit our officers, direstand other current stockholders who are
subject to the contractual lock-up to sell sharés po the expiration of the lock-up agreementieAthe lockup agreements expire, based
shares outstanding as of February 15, 2011, up &alditional 13,546,671 shares of common stockheileligible for sale in the public
market, 2,354,862 of which are held by directors executive officers and will be subject to volulmeitations under Rule 144 under the
Securities Act and various vesting agreementsdttitian, 2,151,288 shares of common stock thatsaable upon exercise of outstanding
options as of February 15, 2011 will become elwgitor sale in the public market to the extent p&ediby the provisions of various vesting
agreements, the lock-up agreements and Rules t4®nunder the Securities Act. If these additichares are sold, or if it is perceived that
they will be sold, in the public market, the tragliorice of our common stock could decline.

Our directors and executive officers will continueto have substantial control over and could limit yair ability to influence the outcome
of key transactions, including changes of control.

As of February 15, 2011, our current executiveceffs, directors and their affiliates beneficiallyreed or controlled approximately
14.82% of the outstanding shares of our commorkstccordingly, these executive officers, directarsl their affiliates, acting as a group,
can have substantial influence over the outconmemndorate actions requiring stockholder approvalluding the election of directors, any
merger, consolidation or sale of all or substalytiall of our assets or any other significant cogte transactions. These stockholders may
delay or prevent a change of control of us, evedéh a change of control would benefit our otheclkholders. The significant concentration
of stock ownership may adversely affect the traglinge of our common stock due to investors’ peticegpthat conflicts of interest may exist
or arise.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents ad under Delaware law could make an acquisition ofis, which may be beneficial
to our stockholders, more difficult and may preventattempts by our stockholders to replace or removeur current management and
limit the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws may have the effect of delaying or preveptirchange of control or changes in
our management, including provisions that:

» authorize our board of directors to issue, witHouther action by the stockholders, up to 10,000,8Bares of undesignated
preferred stock

» require that any action to be taken by our stoaki@ be effected at a duly called annual or spengating and not by written
consent

» specify that special meetings of our stockholdarsloe called only by our board of directors, thai@han of the board, the Chief
Executive Officer or the Presidel

» establish an advance notice procedure for stockh@ipprovals to be brought before an annual meefiogr stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for &acto our board of director

» establish that our board of directors is divide ithree classes, Class I, Class Il and Claswith each class serving staggered
three year term:

e provide that our directors may be removed onlyctuse

» provide that vacancies on our board of directorg befilled only by a majority of directors thenaifffice, even though less than a
quorum;

» specify that no stockholder is permitted to cunmeilaites at any election of directors; ¢
* require a sup-majority of votes to amend certain of the at-mentioned provisions
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These provisions may frustrate or prevent any aiteriny our stockholders to replace or remove oueotl management by making it
more difficult for stockholders to replace membefrour board of directors, which is responsibledppointing the members of our
management. In addition, because we are incorgbnatBelaware, we are governed by the provisionSetaftion 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stoakdlders owning in excess of 15% of our outstandioting stock to merge or combine with
us.

We have broad discretion in the use of the net preeds from our initial public offering and may not use them effectively.

We have broad discretion in the application ofrieeproceeds from our initial public offering aralitd spend the proceeds in ways that
do not improve our results of operations or enhdheevalue of our common stock. We intend to usenttt proceeds from our initial public
offering for sales and marketing activities, indhglexpansion of our sales force to support theoorggcommercialization of our products;
research and product development activities; foitifees improvements and the purchase of manufamjuand other equipment; and for
working capital and other general corporate purpodée may also use a portion of our net proceedsdaire and invest in complementary
products, technologies or businesses; howeveruwerntly have no agreements or commitments to cet@pny such transaction. We have
not allocated these net proceeds for any spedifipgses. We might not be able to yield a significaturn, if any, on any investment of these
net proceeds. Stockholders will not have the opmitst to influence our management’s decisions on tmuse the net proceeds, and our
failure to apply the funds effectively could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, delagiévelopment of our product candidates
cause the price of our common stock to decline.

We have never paid dividends on our capital stoclgnd we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends the foreseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on any of our ctaskeapital stock to date, have contractual retstns against paying cash dividends
and currently intend to retain our future earnit@fund the development and growth of our busin@ssa result, capital appreciation, if any,
of our common stock will be stockholders’ sole ssuof gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Facilities

We lease approximately 30,000 square feet of offite laboratory space at our headquarters in StanhFrancisco, California under a
lease that expires in April 2015, approximately0P®, square feet of manufacturing and office spacaiafacility in Singapore under leases
with varying expiration dates from October 201 lotilgh July 2013. In addition, we lease office spadearis, France, and Tokyo and Osaka,
Japan on a month-to-month basis. We believe tha¢xigting office, laboratory and manufacturingsmaogether with additional space and
facilities available on commercially reasonablerterwill be sufficient to meet our needs for astedhe next two years. We intend to use a
portion of the proceeds from our initial public@fihg for improvements to these facilities.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not currently engaged in any material lpgateedings.
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PART Il

ITEMS5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Our Common Stock; Dividends

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Globatket under the symbol “FLDM” on February 10, 20The sales price
information required by Section 201(a) of Regulat®K has been omitted as our common stock was noighydaded during any portion
the period described in Section 201(a).

We had approximately 280 stockholders of recordfdbruary 28, 2011 although we believe we haveerbeneficial owners. We
have never declared or paid dividends on our comsback and do not expect to pay dividends on oorrnon stock for the foreseeable
future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our @gs in the foreseeable future will be used fordperation and growth of our business.

Stock Performance Graph

The stock performance graph required by Sectioffedaff Regulation S-K has been omitted as our comstock was not publicly
traded during any portion of the period describe8éction 201(e)

Equity Compensation Plan I nformation

The following table summarizes the number of outdiiag options, warrants and rights granted to oopleyees, consultants, and
directors, as well as the number of shares of comstack remaining available for future issuancelarrour equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2010.

Reserved for
Future
Issuance
Number of Under Equity
Securities to Weighted Compensatior
be Issued Average
Upon Exercise Price Plans
Exercise of of Outstanding (Excluding
Outstanding Securities
Options and Options and Reflected in
Rights (a) Rights (b) Column(a))
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs
1999 Stock Option Plan (. 420,83! $ 3.5¢ —
2009 Equity Incentive Pla 1,354,76! $ 4.37 464,59!
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers — — —
Total 1,775,60. $ 4.1¢ 464,59!

(1) The 1999 Stock Option Plan was replaced by @@9 Equity Incentive Plan in April 2009. 666,123maining shares available for grant
under the 1999 Stock Option Plan were transfewwatd 2009 Equity Incentive Plan and the 1999 S@pkon Plan was terminated for
any new grants

Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Use of Proceeds

On February 9, 2011, our registration statement @88-170965) on Form S-1 was declared effectivefw IPO, pursuant to which we
registered the offering and sale of an aggrega63%2,083 shares of common stock, at a price 8f8flper share. Included in the above
amount is the underwritersverallotment of 833,750 shares of common stockchvbverallotment was exercised on February 14120por
the closing of the IPO, all shares of convertililef@rred stock outstanding automatically conveeéal 11,480,406 shares of common stock.
The offering, which closed on February 15, 201d, bt terminate until after the sale of all of 8f@res registered on the registration
statement. The managing underwriters were DeutBen& Securities Inc. and Piper Jaffray & Co.
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As a result of the offering, we received net praiseef approximately $80.3 million, which is compdsof gross proceeds from shares
we issued in the IPO of $86.3 million, offset bydenwriting discounts and commissions of $6.0 milllut before offering expenses. No
payments for such expenses were made directlydmeitly to (i) any of our officers or directors threir associates, (ii) any persons owning
10% or more of any class of our equity securitiegjii) any of our affiliates.

We anticipate that we will use the net proceedsftioe IPO for sales and marketing activities, idaig expansion of our sales force to
support the ongoing commercialization of our pradufor research and product development activif@sfacilities improvements and
purchase of manufacturing and other equipmentfandorking capital and other general corporategpses. We also used a portion of the
proceeds of our initial public offering to repaypapximately $5.0 million in principal plus accrugderest on promissory notes issued by
January 2011, of which, notes with an aggregatecjral amount of approximately $1.77 million werddhby entities affiliated with certain
of our directors, executive officers and holdersnafre than 5% of a class of our voting stock. We migo use a portion of our net proceec
acquire and invest in complementary products, teldyies or businesses; however, we currently havagneements or commitments to
complete any such transaction. We will have brdadrdtion in the way we use the net proceeds. IRgnaie of the net proceeds as described
above, we intend to invest the net proceeds insitivent grade securities. There has been no matbaabe in the planned use of proceeds
from our IPO from that described in the final prestus filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(bJebruary 10, 2011.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should bedrgaconjunction with the consolidated financialteiments and related notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We havevddrthe consolidated statement of operations datistal years ended December 31,
2010, December 31, 2009 and December 27, 2008arwblidated balance sheet data as of Decembef30,&hd 2009 from audited
consolidated financial statements included elsew/hrethis Form 10-K. The consolidated statemertparations data for the fiscal years
ended December 29, 2007 and December 31, 200harabhsolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb20@8, December 29, 2007 and
December 31, 2006 were derived from audited codatd financial statements that are not includeti;mForm 10-K. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accoedaith accounting principles generally acceptethaUnited States (“GAAP”).

Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 27 December 2¢ December 31
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Total revenue $ 33,56( $ 2541 $ 15,34 $ 7,27t $ 6,39¢
Loss from operation (14,577 (18,037 (29,547 (23,52¢) (21,667)
Net loss (16,909) (19,129 (29,499 (25,45)) (23,559
Net loss per share of common stock, basic anded (8.99 (11.02) (17.8%) (15.99 (15.2%)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat¢
Cash, cash equivalents and available for sale

securities $ 5,72¢ $ 14,60: $ 17,79 $ 40,36! $ 25,51¢
Working capital 2,36¢ 21,35¢ 20,70« 38,75¢ 23,93¢
Total asset 24,80: 32,15 32,35¢ 54,77¢ 36,49:
Total lon¢-term debt 14,70( 14,46 15,21 9,36z 12,83¢
Convertible promissory not¢ — — — 4,99 13,07:
Convertible preferred stoc 184,55( 183,84! 167,53t 162,08: 112,29!
Total stockholder’ deficit (189,16)) (173,619 (158,339 (130,33) (106,179
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should bel tegether with our consolidated financial statetseand the notes to those
statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-Ks @itscussion contains forward-looking statemeiaiselol on our current expectations,
assumptions, estimates and projections about Fjaidand our industry. These forward-looking statetm@nvolve risks and uncertainties.
Our actual results could differ materially from #®indicated in these forward-looking statementa essult of certain factors, as more fully
described in “Risk factors” in Item 1A of this Fort®-K, in this Item 7, and elsewhere in this FoidaKL We undertake no obligation to
update publicly any forward-looking statementsday reason, even if new information becomes avigilabother events occur in the future.

Overview

We develop, manufacture and market microfluidideys for growth markets in the life science andcadfural biotechnology, or Ag-
Bio, industries. Our proprietary microfluidic systs consist of instruments and consumables, inadudiips and reagents. These systems are
designed to significantly simplify experimental \flow, increase throughput and reduce costs, witibwviding the excellent data quality
demanded by customers. In addition, our propriet@eiinology enables genetic analysis that in mastances was previously impractical.
We actively market three microfluidic systems inihg eight different commercial chips to leadingphaceutical and biotechnology
companies, academic institutions, diagnostic laiooikes and Ag-Bio companies. We have sold over8@@ems to customers in over 20
countries worldwide.

Our total revenue grew from $15.3 million in 2008533.6 million in 2010. We have incurred signifitaet losses since our inception
in 1999 and as of December 31, 2010, our accuntutigécit was $199.3 million.

In 2003, we introduced our first product line, T@PAZ system for protein crystallization. In theufth quarter of 2006, we launched
our BioMark system for gene expression analysispgyging and digital PCR. In the third quarter 608, we launched our EP1 system for
SNP genotyping and digital PCR. In the third quaofe2009, we launched our Access Array systentdaget enrichment that is compatible
with all currently marketed next generation DNA seqcers. In the third quarter of 2010, we launah@dmulti-use chips for higkihroughput
genotyping. Our systems are based on one or mgue dhsigned for particular applications and inelsgecialized instrumentation and
software, as well as reagents for certain appboati

We distribute our microfluidic systems through direct sales force and support organizations lacigtdorth America, Europe and
Asia-Pacific and through distributors or sales &gémnseveral European, Latin American, Middle Easaind Asia-Pacific countries. Our
manufacturing operations are located in SingapOte.facility in Singapore manufactures our instratseand fabricates all of our chips for
commercial sale and some chips for our own resemmdhdevelopment purposes. Our South San Franfeisitity fabricates chips for our ov
research and development purposes.

Since 2002, we have received revenue from goverhgrants. Our most significant grant relationshés bheen with the Singapore
Economic Development Board, or EDB. The EDB, amagef the Government of Singapore, promotes rebeaevelopment and
manufacturing activities in Singapore and assodiataployment of Singapore nationals by providingeimtive grants to companies willing to
conduct operations in Singapore and satisfy theirespents of EDBS government programs. Under our agreements witB, & are eligibl
to receive incentive grant payments from EDB, pded we satisfy certain agreed upon targets. Oweagents with EDB provide for
incentive funding eligibility through May 2011. FmoJanuary 1, 2008 through December 31, 2010, wagrezed $4.3 million of grant
revenue from EDB.
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Fiscal Year Presentation

Our 2008 fiscal year was based on a 52- or 53-weakention and, accordingly, our 2008 fiscal yeders to the year ended on
December 27, 2008. During 2009, we adopted thendateyear as our fiscal year and, accordingly,20@9 and 2010 fiscal years refer to the
years ended on December 31, 2009 and Decembe®3Q, 2spectively

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgmentsand Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and theadlabtes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K agpgred in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hStates. The preparation of these consolidataddial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets, liabilities, revenues, costeapdnses and related disclosures. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on uarather assumptions that we believe to be reat®mnaler the circumstances. Changes in
accounting estimates may occur from period to geracordingly, actual results could differ signdintly from the estimates made by our
management. We evaluate our estimates and assmsptioan ongoing basis. To the extent that therenaterial differences between these
estimates and actual results, our future finarstetement presentation, financial condition, resodtoperations and cash flows will be
affected.

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies involve a greater degree of judgment andmexity than our other accounting
policies. Accordingly, these are the policies whdwe are the most critical to understanding araluating our consolidated financial
condition and results of operations. Our accounpiolicies are more fully described in Note 2 of tiedes to our audited consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie arrangements, research and development dentraitaboration agreements ¢
government grants. Our products consist of instntmand consumables, including chips and reagesigged to our microfluidic systems.
Product revenue includes services for instrumesttallation, training and customer support servivés.also have entered into collaboration,
license, and research and development contractearedreceived government grants to conduct relseant development activities.

Revenue is recognized when all of the followingezia are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangeenésts, delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered, the price to the lsifiged or determinable and collectibility is semably assured. The evaluation of these
revenue recognition criteria requires significargmagement judgment. For instance, we use judgroessess collectibility based on factors
such as the customer’s creditworthiness and pélsttion history, if applicable. If we determineatitollection is not reasonably assured,
revenue recognition is deferred until receipt ofrpant. We also use judgment to assess whethecaiprfixed or determinable including but
not limited to, reviewing contractual terms and ditions related to payment.

Some of our sales contracts, which include thosedio BioMark systems, involve the delivery or perhance of multiple products or
services within contractually binding arrangemeS8ignificant contract interpretation is sometimeguired to determine the appropriate
accounting, including whether the deliverables gj@etin a multiple element arrangement shouldreated as separate units of accountin
revenue recognition purposes, and, if so, howé¢laeted sales price should be allocated among #meegits, when to recognize revenue for
each element, and the period over which revenueldio® recognized. Revenue recognition for congragth multiple deliverables is based
on the individual units of accounting determineexast in the contract. A delivered element is cdeed a separate unit of accounting when
the delivered element has value to the customersiand-alone basis. Elements are considered todtamd-alone value when they are sold
separately or when the customer could resell thimeht on a stand-alone basis.
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We recognize revenue for delivered elements onlgrnwilue determine that the fair values of undeliveslednents are known. If the fair
value of an undelivered element cannot be objelgtidetermined, revenue will be deferred until &reents are delivered, or until fair value
can objectively be determined for any remainingalindred elements. We use judgment to evaluatehenghere is vendor specific objective
evidence, or VSOE, of fair value of the undeliveedgiments, determined by reference to stand-alales sf such elements.

For a multiple element arrangement that includeh bbips and instruments, we separate these elsnimatseparate units of account
as we consider these elements to have stand addne to the customer. We do not sell software stely;, however, we offer post-contract
software support services for certain of our instents that contain software that is essentialéo fanctionality. If the only undelivered
element is postontract software support services for which VS@E hot been established, the entire arrangemestdesation is recognizi
ratably over the service period. The correspondosjs of products sold under multiple element rereearrangements are recognized
consistent with the related revenue recognition.

During the six months ended June 28, 2008, we dichave VSOE of fair value for post-contract soft@aupport services. Therefore
revenue and the corresponding costs were defendegognized over the post-contract software stpgesiod.

Beginning in the third quarter of 2008, we estdtdis VSOE of fair value for post-contract softwanpport services and began
recognizing revenue for the fair value of the deded element of an arrangement upon installation.

Until the third quarter of 2009, installation wamnsidered to be essential to the functionalitywfBioMark instruments and,
accordingly, revenue recognition for these instrota®egan upon installation.

During the third quarter of 2009, we began shipmog BioMark instruments in a fully assembled aatibzated form and concluded
that installation was no longer essential to threfionality of these instruments. The installatipncess for our instruments may be perfori
by the customer or an independent third party. dfoee, we treat the instruments and installatioseggarate units of accounting. As a result,
beginning in the fourth quarter of 2009, instrumewvenue is recognized upon delivery, provided titla¢r applicable revenue recognition
criteria have been satisfied. Installation reveisuecognized when the installation service is clatep

Revenues from the sales of our products that arpard of multiple element arrangements are reasghivhen no significant
obligations remain undelivered and collection &sanably assured, which is generally when delitasyoccurred. Delivery occurs when
there is a transfer of title and risk of loss pagsethe customer.

Accruals for estimated warranty expenses are pealvidr at the time the associated revenue is rézednWe use judgment to estimate
these accruals and, if we were to experience arase in warranty claims or if costs of servicing products under warranty were greater
than our estimates, our cost of product revenuéddmeiadversely affected in future periods.

We have entered into collaboration and researctdamdlopment arrangements that generally provideitisup-front and periodic
milestone payments or fees based on agreed upsnfoattime incurred by our research staff. Folatmiration and research and development
agreements, up-front fees are generally recogruozedthe term of the agreement; milestone payneametgienerally recognized when the
milestones are achieved; and fees based on agpeedrates for time incurred by our research staffracognized as time is incurred on the
project.

Revenue from government grants relates to the @eftient of agreed upon milestones and expenditmessaecognized in the period
in which the related costs are incurred, provided the conditions under which the government grane awarded have been substantially
met and only perfunctory obligations remain
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outstanding. With respect to the EDB grants, weikgcincentive grant payments upon satisfactiograht conditions in amounts equal to a
portion of the qualifying expenses we incur in Sipgre. Qualifying expenses include salaries, owatheutsourcing and subcontracting
expenses, operating expenses and raw materialgagshExpenses not qualifying for the incentiveigpaogram include royalties paid. We
submit requests to EDB for incentive grant paymenta quarterly basis, and these requests arecsudjEDB'’s review and our satisfaction
of the grant conditions.

Changes in judgments and estimates regarding apiplicof these revenue recognition guidelines dsasechanges in facts and
circumstances could result in a change in the inesinamount of revenue recognized in future periods

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receivexichange for an award of equity instrumentsuiticlg stock options, based on-
grant date fair value of the award. The fair vadfieptions on the grant date is estimated usind@thek-Scholes option-pricing model, which
requires the use of certain subjective assumptiarisding expected term, volatility, risk-free inést rate and the fair value of our common
stock. These assumptions generally require sigmifijudgment.

The resulting costs, net of estimated forfeituegs,recognized over the period during which an eyg# is required to provide service
in exchange for the award, usually the vestingqueiVe amortize the fair value of stock-based camsaton on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service periods.

For performance-based stock options, we recoghimd-$ased compensation over the requisite sepgceds using the accelerated
attribution method.

We account for stock options issued to nonemplogééseir estimated fair value determined usingBleek-Scholes option-pricing
model. The fair value of the options granted toeroployees is remeasured as they vest, and thdimgscihange in value, if any, is
recognized as expense during the period the retemedces are rendered.

The expected volatility of our common stock was\d=t from the historical volatilities of severalnetated public companies within the
life science industry because we have little infation on the volatility of the price of our commstock since we had no trading history until
our initial public offering, or IPO, in February 20. When making the selections of our industry peenpanies to be used in the volatility
calculation, we also considered the stage of dgwedémt, size and financial leverage of potential garable companies. These historical
volatilities are weighted based on certain qualitafactors and combined to produce a single Mdlatactor. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at ittne of grant for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notah wiaturities approximately equal to each
grant’s expected life. We estimate the expecteskliof employee options using the simplified metasdhe midpoint of the expected time-to-
vest and the contractual term. For out of the maion grants, we estimate the expected livesthasehe midpoint of the expected time to
a liquidity event and the contractual term.

The fair value of each new employee option awargdasl estimated on the grant date for the periodsabesing the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Expected volatility 59.5% 59.1% 53.8%
Expected life 5.8 year 5.7 year 6.0 year
Risk-free interest rat 2.1% 2.0% 3.2%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
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If in the future we determine that another methohore reasonable, or if another method for calingdhese input assumptions is
prescribed by authoritative guidance, and, theegfsinould be used to estimate expected volatitigxpected life, the fair value calculated for
our stock options could change significantly. Highelatility and longer expected lives result ininorease to stock-based compensation
expense determined at the date of grant. Stockdbamapensation expense affects our cost of praguenue, research and development
expense, and selling, general and administratipemrse.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsabfsbur actual forfeitures and we will continuest@luate the appropriateness of the
forfeiture rate based on actual forfeiture expanggranalysis of employee turnover behavior andrddwtors. Quarterly changes in the
estimated forfeiture rate can have a significafgatfon reported stock-based compensation expasghe cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate for all expense amortization is recognizeth@period the forfeiture estimate is changed.rthased forfeiture rate is higher than the
previously estimated forfeiture rate, an adjustmgmtade that will result in a decrease to thekstzased compensation expense recognized ir
the consolidated financial statements. If a revisefkiture rate is lower than the previously estied forfeiture rate, an adjustment is made
that will result in an increase to the stock-basmthpensation expense recognized in the consolidizi@acial statements. The effect of
forfeiture adjustments was insignificant during 202009 and 2008. We will continue to use judgmertvaluating the expected term,
volatility and forfeiture rate related to our stelsised compensation.

Also required to compute the fair value calculatidroptions is the fair value of the underlying acoon stock. We have historically
granted stock options with exercise prices notleas the fair value of our common stock as deteechiat the date of grant by our Board of
Directors with input from management.

Until the completion of our initial public offerinip February 2011, there was no active market fmroommon stock and therefore, our
Board of Directors determined the estimated faln@af our common stock based on an analysis efagit metrics, including the following:

» the contemporaneous valuations of our common sig@n unrelated third part

» the prices of our convertible preferred stock goldutside investors in ari-length transaction:

« the rights, preferences and privileges of our caditle preferred stock relative to those of our coom stock;
» the rights of freestanding warrants and other simiistruments related to shares that are redeen
e our operating and financial performan

» our capital resources and financial conditi

» the hiring of key personne

e the introduction of new product

e our stage of developmer

» the fact that the option grants involve illiquiccaeties in a private compan

» therisks inherent in the development and expansfiaur products and services; ¢

» the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, sua an initial public offering or sale of our comgajiven prevailing market
conditions.

For all grants of stock options during the perimswhich financial statements are included in fiism 10-K, our board of directors
determined the fair value of our common stock basedn evaluation of the factors discussed abowé tie date of each grant, including a
contemporaneous unrelated third-party valuatioousfcommon stock.
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The unrelated third-party valuations were prepargidg the income or discounted cash flow approaastimate our aggregate
enterprise value at each valuation date. The incappeoach measures the value of a company asdbkerrvalue of its future economic
benefits by applying an appropriate risk-adjustisdalint rate to expected cash flows, based ondsted revenue and costs. We prepared a
financial forecast for each valuation date to bedus the computation of the enterprise valuelierincome approach. The financial forecasts
took into account our past experience and futupeetations. The risks associated with achievingegHerecasts were assessed in selectir
appropriate discount rate. There is inherent uaggit in these estimates.

In order to arrive at the estimated fair value wif common stock, the indicated enterprise valugunfcompany calculated at each
valuation date using the income approach was a#dda the shares of convertible preferred stocktha warrants to purchase these shares,
and shares of common stock and the options to peecthese shares using an option-pricing methogoldge option-pricing method treats
common stock and preferred stock as call optiontherotal equity value of a company, with exergigees based on the value thresholds at
which the allocation among the various holders cbmpany’s securities changes. Under this metth@dcommon stock has value only if the
funds available for distribution to stockholderseed the value of the liquidation preference atithe of a liquidity event, such as a strategic
sale, merger or initial public offering, assumihg enterprise has funds available to make a ligioidg@reference meaningful and collectable
by the holders of preferred stock. The common steckodeled as a call option on the underlying goualue at a predetermined exercise
price. In the model, the exercise price is based oomparison with the total equity value rathanthas in the case of a regular call option, a
comparison with a per share stock price. Thus, comstock is considered to be a call option withaént on the enterprise at an exercise
price equal to the remaining value immediatelyratfte preferred stock is liquidated. The optioreiog method uses the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model to price the call options. §model defines the securities’ fair values astions of the current fair value of a company
and uses assumptions such as the anticipated twhiagotential liquidity event, marketability, ¢ad capital and the estimated volatility of
the equity securities. The anticipated timing difjaidity event utilized in these valuations waséd on then-current plans and estimates of
our Board of Directors and management regardinguédity event. Estimates of the volatility of ostock were based on available informa
on the volatility of capital stock of comparablebialy traded companies. This approach is consistéh the methods outlined in the AICPA
Practice Guideyaluation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestissued as Compensatiofilso, the valuation firm considered the fact
that our stockholders could not freely trade ounown stock in the public markets until the completof our IPO in February 2011 and
expiration of applicable lock-up agreements. Thaneefthe estimated fair value of our common stdakaah grant date reflected a non-
marketability discount.

There is inherent uncertainty in these estimatesfame or the valuation firm had made differens@asptions than those described
above, the amount of our stock-based compensatjzense, net loss and net loss per share amourltsttae been significantly different.

Our board of directors obtained contemporaneousati@ns from an unrelated third-party valuatiomfiin connection with each of the
following grants, which it considered together wiitle other factors discussed above, to determiméaihvalue of our common stock on each
grant date. Our board of directors determinedravidiue of $4.08 per share of our common stoclgfants made on November 17, 2009. For
the grant of options on December 23, 2009 and Jar8 2010, our board determined a fair valuesh#$ per share of our common stock on
both such dates. The increase in fair value betWemrember 17, 2009 and the grants on December@® and January 28, 2010 related
primarily to the passage of time which meant thétrfe cash flows were discounted over a shortéoggemder the income approach. For the
grant of options on May 6, 2010, our board deteedia fair value of $3.15 per share of our commoaoksthowever, options were granted by
our board on May 6, 2010 at a price per share agf3ased on the board’s decision to maintain égualexercise price with the recipients
of grants on December 23, 2009. The decreaserindhie between January 28, 2010 and May 6, 20aerkto lower sales projections,
lower cash balances, an increase in the discoutdd& of marketability and a longer assumed ha@dgieriod. For the grant of options on
August 26, 2010, our Board determined a fair valu$3.43 per share of our common stock on the gtatg; however, again options were
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granted with an exercise price per share of $4I#AB.increase in fair value between May 6, 2010Aangust 26, 2010 related to an increas
our sales projections and a decrease in the diséoulack of marketability due to a shorter assdrhelding period.

In November 2009, we offered our eligible stocki@mptholders the opportunity to exchange eligibléays for new options with an
exercise price per share equal to the fair mar&ketevof our common stock on December 23, 2009ppraving the exchange offer, our board
of directors noted that the principal purpose af @quity compensation program is to attract angimgiersonnel required for the success of
our business and that a large number of optionelelsdptions to purchase shares of our common stittkexercise prices well above the
then-current fair market value of our common st@aid, as a result, our equity compensation progvasinot having the intended effect of
attracting and motivating personnel. Our boardigdalors concluded that the exchange offer woultbarage the continued service of valued
service providers critical to our continued succé€xgtions that were eligible to participate in tfer were those that were granted with an
exercise price greater than $4.08 per share andimexh outstanding and unexercised on December02®, 2he expiration date of the offer.
All employees (including officers), directors, acohsultants as of the commencement date of the, efége eligible to participate provided
they remained service providers through DecembgP@29. Approximately 801,000 options were exchanfgew options granted had
similar terms and conditions as the exchanged ogtiexcept that the exercise price per share afaheoptions was equal to the per share
value of our common stock on December 23, 20091afSand the new options were subject to an additithree months of vesting. The
exchange resulted in incremental stock based cosagien expense of $0.7 million of which $0.4 mitlievas recognized immediately on
December 23, 2009 and $0.3 million will be recogdinver the remaining vesting periods, which réng@ three months to four years from
December 23, 2009.

Certain of our stock options are granted to offiogith vesting acceleration features based upoatch&vement of certain performance
milestones. The timing of the attainment of thedlestones may affect the timing of expense recagmiince we recognize compensation
expense only for the portion of stock options trat expected to vest.

We recorded stock-based compensation of $1.6 mjl$@.1 million, and $2.0 million during 2010, 20@&d 2008, respectively. As of
December 31, 2010, we had $1.6 million of unrecpeghistock-based compensation costs, which are expecrbe recognized over an
average period of 1.9 years.

2011 Option Grants

In January 2011, we granted options to purchastahdf 437,404 shares of our common stock to anectbrs, executive officers and
employees. All of these grants had an exercise @fi$8.37 per share, which our board of directiztermined to be the fair value of our
common stock at the time of grant. The grants todinectors were standard annual director grantthis case for service during 2011. Each
director received an option to purchase 8,670 shafreur common stock. The grants to our execuiffieers featured performance based
vesting and represent the equity component of 60 Zompensation program for executive officerehEaxecutive officer received two
grants to purchase a total of 11,560 shares of@mmon stock. The remaining options to purchasgeh of 330,475 shares of our common
stock were granted to other employees of our com@ased on the difference between the exercise jpifi the options and $13.50, the price
of our initial public offering multiplied by the mober of shares granted, the current value of thiemgranted to each director was $44,477
and the current value of the option granted to eaxetutive officer was $59,303. Using this same@agh, the total current value of options
granted to all other employees in January 2011%4a85 million.

Our board’s determination of the fair value of sammon stock at the time of these grants was basedweighting of two possible
scenarios, a sale of our company and an initialipoffifering. Because of our need for additionakticial resources to support our ongoing
operations, the board believed we would likely neegursue one of these two options within the ié&xmonths.
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In analyzing the sale of our company scenarioptherd used two standard valuation techniques, diged cash flow analysis and
public company comparable analysis. Both of thggeaaches indicated an enterprise value for oupamy that was less than the enterprise
value implied by a per share value equal to theepof our initial public offering. In evaluatingehreasonableness of the values produced by
these methodologies the board noted that we haiviextan unsolicited acquisition offering in Dec&nB010 that included an initial
payment that was substantially lower than the vderived from these methodologies and a contingeyitnent that, if paid, would have
resulted in a price higher than the value produmethese methodologies. While the board declineattept the acquisition offer, the offer
did suggest that the values produced by these mielthgies were reflective of actual market condiioBecause the two methodologies
provided similar results, the board determined thatenterprise value was the average of the tweegaThe board allocated the portion of
the value that would be available to our stockhddie a sale of our company to our outstanding $&esl using the option pricing method
taking into account the impact of the significagtiidation preferences associated with our prefesteck. A discount for lack of
marketability was applied to the per share valuésdd using this method resulting in an estimatd\falue of $2.75 per share.

In determining our value in an initial public offieg scenario, the board chose to use a methodasitoithat used by our underwriters in
valuing our company. Using this approach, the beaalyzed the trading multiples of comparable putdimpanies with respect to forecasted
2011 and 2012 sales and applied those multiplesitéorecasted sales. The value produced by thalysis was adjusted for an IPO discount,
debt obligations and other factors. This methodplmgduced a per share value for our common stauakwas within the tentative range of
offering prices provided by our underwriters in rRiddcember 2010.

Our board then assigned probabilities to eachehilo scenarios and determined the fair value otommon stock based on an
average of the prices under the two scenarios weagdgior the probability of each scenario. As we hldady filed for an initial public
offering, the board considered that scenario tmbee likely than a sale of our company. Howeveg,libard noted that the market for initial
public offerings was inherently uncertain, that #hability and strength of the public equity marketld be easily diminished by
unforeseeable political and economic events, tiebffering could be delayed and possibly canceied that, in 2008, we had progressed
further towards an initial public offering but hadt been able to complete an offering. In addittbe,board determined that, despite our
efforts to complete a public offering, the prospdor a sale of our company were also significihts conclusion was based on nhumerous
factors including the previously received indicaaf interest in acquiring our company, the rigksociated with our public offering and our
financing needs. As a result, our board assigrwlability weighting of 60% to the initial publaffering scenario and 40% to the sale of
company scenario. As discussed above, under thpamnsale scenario, our common stock had an estihfiair value that is substantially
lower than the initial public offering price of $B8. As a result of the fair values determined uredeh scenario and the weighting assigned
to each scenario, the board determined the faireval our common stock to be $8.37 per share.

Following the completion of our IPO in February 20the fair value of options granted will be basedhe closing price of our
common stock on the date of grant as quoted oN&®DAQ Global Market.

Accounting for I ncome Taxes

We use the asset and liability method of accourftingncome taxes. Deferred tax assets and ligdsliare recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences betwe=firthncial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective
tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilitiesva@asured using enacted tax rates expected to pfalyable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to beseeed or settled. Significant management judgnmenrgdguired in determining our provision
for income taxes, our deferred tax assets anditiabiand any valuation allowance recorded againstdeferred tax assets. Our provision for
income taxes generally consists of tax expenséetta current period earnings. As part of the pssoof preparing our consolidated financial
statements, we continuously monitor the circumstanmpacting the expected realization of our defetax assets for each
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jurisdiction. We consider all available evidencesluding historical operating results in each jigsion, expectations and risks associt

with estimates of future taxable income and ongpngient and feasible tax planning strategies sessing the need for a valuation
allowance. To the extent a deferred tax asset ¢drenecognized a valuation allowance is estalfisbeeduce our deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realizéf have recorded a full valuation allowance ondrferred tax assets due to uncertainties
related to our ability to utilize our deferred t@ssets in the foreseeable future. These deferxeabtaets primarily consist of net operating loss
carryforwards and research and development tavitsrétie intend to maintain this valuation allowameil sufficient evidence exists to
support its reduction. We make estimates and juddsrebout our future taxable income that are basegssumptions that are consistent with
our plans and estimates. Should the actual amaiiffés from our estimates, the amount of our valragllowance could be materially
impacted. Changes in these estimates may ressifjmificant increases or decreases to our tax pi@viin a period in which such estimates
are changed which in turn would affect net income.

I nventory Valuation

We record adjustments to inventory for potentialkgess, obsolete, slow-moving or impaired goodsder to state inventory at its net
realizable value. The business environment in whieloperate is subject to rapid changes in teclgyahnd customer demand. We regularly
review inventory for excess and obsolete produstsa@mponents, taking into account product lifeleynd development plans, product
expiration and quality issues, historical expereeand our current inventory levels. If actual madanditions are less favorable than
anticipated, additional inventory adjustments ccagdrequired.

Warrants to Purchase Convertible Preferred Stock

We account for freestanding warrants to purchaaeestof our convertible preferred stock as liabsitbecause the warrants may
conditionally obligate us to transfer assets atespuint in the future. The warrants are subjecetoeasurement at each balance sheet date,
and any change in fair value is recognized as gpoomnt of other income (expense), net in the casesteld statements of operations. We
estimated the fair value of these warrants ateékpective balance sheet dates using the Black-&bption-pricing model.

Upon the completion of our initial public offerimg February 2011, a portion of our outstanding wats converted into warrants to
purchase common stock and will continue to be agisalifor as liabilities subject to re-measurememtaah reporting date. The remainder
either expired or were net exercised for sharesiotommon stock and the related liability wasassified to additional paid-in-capital.

Results of Operations
Revenue

We generate revenue from sales of our productabmriation agreements and government grants. @uaiupt revenue consists of sales
of instruments and related services, and consumaibleluding chips and reagents. We also have eshieto collaboration agreements,
research and development contracts and have relogoxernment grants to conduct research and dewelopactivities.
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The following table presents our revenue by sofoceach period presented (in thousands).

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008

Revenue

Instruments $20,70¢ $17,31¢ $10,477

Consumable 9,75¢ 6,281 2,887
Product revenu 30,46: 23,59¢ 13,36¢
Collaboration revenu 1,62¢ — 70
Grant revenu 1,47: 1,81: 1,91:

Total revenue $33,56( $25,41: $15,34;

The following table presents our product revenugdygraphy and as a percentage of total produehtevby geography based on the
billing address of our customers for each periasented (in thousands).

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
United State: $16,61¢ 55% $12,63( 54% $ 6,91z 52%
Europe 7,571 25% 4,88¢ 21% 3,172 24%
Japar 2,70C 9% 3,172 13% 1,64¢ 12%
Asia Pacific 2,80( 9% 2,16: 9% 1,431 11%
Other 766 2% 75C 3% 204 1%
Total $30,46:  10(% $23,59¢ 100% $13,36¢ 100%

Grant revenue is primarily generated in Singap@mlaboration revenue is primarily generated inlthéted States. As we expand our
business internationally, we expect our producénere from outside of the United States to increasa percentage of our total product
revenue.

Our customers include pharmaceutical and biotedgyotompanies, academic research institutionsndistic laboratories and Ag-Bio
companies worldwide. Total revenue from our fiveyst customers in each of the periods presentegrisged 19%, 20% and 32% of
revenue in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2010 aflscember 31, 2009

Total Revenue
Total revenue increased by $8.1 million, or 32%$38.6 million for 2010 as compared to $25.4 millfor 2009.

Product Revenue
Product revenue increased by $6.9 million, or 289430.5 million for 2010 as compared to $23.6 ignillfor 2009. Consumables
revenue increased by $3.5 million, or 55%, resglfiem our higher installed base of instrumentsl imstrument revenue increased by $3.4
million, or 20%. Our instrument sales volume insesd by 48%, primarily driven by our Access Arragtinment, which was launched in the
second half of 2009. Average instrument sellinggsiwere lower for 2010 compared to 2009 due teased sales of our Access Array
instrument which has a lower average selling prm@pared to our BioMark and EP1 instruments.

We expect unit sales of both instruments and coablas to continue to increase in future periods@sontinue our efforts to grow o
customer base and expand our geographic marketag®/eHowever, we expect
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the average selling prices of our instrumentsuotilate over time based on product mix. The reearthquake and tsunami in Japan and their
aftermath appears to have resulted in decreaseweio activity in Japan which may adversely affaat sales in Japan.

Collaboration Revenue

Collaboration revenue was $1.6 million for 201&Guléing from a fixed-fee research and developmgre@ment that we entered into in
May 2010. The arrangement provided for an up-ffeatof $750,000 that is being amortized over tiem tef the agreement, currently
projected to be approximately 15 months. The aearent also provides for milestone payments fod#tsign and development of product
prototypes, which payments have been and are eegpexbe recognized as we achieve each milestor2910, we achieved three milestones
and received three milestone payments totalingdditianal $1,250,000. We expect to receive addélanilestone payments if and when we
achieve additional milestones, as specified irajreement. In 2009, we did not have any researdldewelopment arrangements in place.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue consists of incentive grants fromegoment entities, primarily EDB. Grant revenue dased $0.3 million, or 19%, to
$1.5 million for 2010 compared to $1.8 million 2009. The decrease relates to a reduction in fctivider the EDB grant agreement as we
reached certain milestones. Under our incentivatgrgreements with EDB, eligible expenses incubneds in Singapore were $3.8 million
2010 and $3.7 million in 2009.

Our agreements with EDB provide that grants extdridais are subject to our operation of increak@ugls of research, development
and manufacturing in Singapore, including the udeaal service providers, the hiring and trainowfgpersonnel in Singapore, the incurrence
of research and development expenses in Singagaeipt of new investment in our company and theesement of certain agreed upon
milestones relating to the development of our potsluDevelopment and manufacturing milestones aelignclude completion of feasibility
studies and prototype development, establishmemtaoiufacturing lines, process automation and matwiag yield improvements for our
chips and related instruments. These agreemetttefysrovided EDB with the right to demand repaytmdra portion of past grants in the
event that we did not meet our obligations underapplicable agreements. Based on correspondetit&R@B, we believe we have satisfied
our obligations applicable to our EDB grant revetiwveugh December 31, 2010.

We expect total grant revenue for 2011 and futergéogds to decrease significantly compared to 2&lthe first of our EDB grant
agreements was completed during 2010 and the s&@@Bdyrant agreement will be completed in 2011 sTdecrease may be partially offset
by new grant revenue from the California InstitideRegenerative Medicine.

Cost of Product Revenue
The following table presents our cost of produgkraie and product margin for each period presgimatiousands).

Year-ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Cost of product revent $ 11,58: $ 11,48¢
Product margir 62% 51%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingsciosiurred in the production process, including porrent materials, assembly labor
and overhead; installation; warranty; service; padkaging and delivery costs. In addition, cogtrofduct revenue includes royalty costs for
licensed technologies included in our
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products, provisions for slow-moving and obsoleteentory and stock-based compensation expenses @&dated to collaboration and grant
revenue are included in research and developm@ense.

Cost of product revenue increased $0.1 milliorl.%y, to $11.6 million for 2010 from $11.5 millionrf@009 due to increased product
sales in 2010. Cost of product revenue as a pagertf related revenue decreased to 38% for 20hpaeed to 49% for 2009. This decrease
was primarily due to lower material costs for austiruments as we sourced more components fromVeaoalors in Asia. In addition, our
overhead costs increased more slowly than our tmseimcreased resulting in improved absorption,isnmioved chip yields resulted in low
costs for our chips. We expect the unit costs ofpmaducts to decline in future periods as a resfudtur ongoing efforts to improve our
manufacturing processes coupled with expectedasein production volumes and yields.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year-ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Research and developme $ 13,007 $ 12,31t
Selling, general and administrati 23,54¢ 19,64¢
Total operating expens $ 36,55: $ 31,96¢

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists primé&plgrsonnel costs, independent contractor cpeisptype and material expenses
and other allocated facilities and information tealogy expenses. We have made substantial invesdriveresearch and development since
our inception. Our research and development effat® focused primarily on the tasks required ttaece our technologies and to support
development and commercialization of new and engstiroducts and services.

Research and development expense increased $0ahiok 6%, to $13.0 million for 2010 compared®t2.3 million for 2009. The
increase relates primarily to increased compensatial personnel related costs of $0.6 million awdeased consumption of lab supplies and
consumables of $0.3 million to support our new picidievelopment, partially offset by a otie payment of $0.2 million awarded under
U.S. Government’s Therapeutic Discovery Project.iWlkeve that our continued investment in researchdevelopment is essential to our
long-term competitive position and expect thesesesps to increase in future periods.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense canpistnarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development,
finance, legal, human resources and general maragesas well as professional services, such as$ &gbaccounting services.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&3.9 million, or 20%, to $23.5 million for 20ldympared to $19.6 million for
2009. The increase was primarily due to increasegpensation costs and related expenses of $2.®miésulting from increased headcount
to support our business and revenue growth, inedeadvertising and promotional costs of $0.8 millio support our new product
introductions and to increase market awarenesseased legal and professional fees of $0.7 milkmom an increase in our provision for bad
debt expense of $0.2 million partially offset byvkr rent expense of $0.1 million resulting from oew lease on more favorable terms for
headquarters facility in South San Francisco, Galif. We expect selling, general and administeagixpense to increase in future periods as
we continue to grow our sales, technical
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support, marketing and administrative headcoumipstt increased product sales, broaden our custbaser and incur additional costs to
support our expanded global footprint and the disgrawth in our business. We also expect legatpaating and compliance costs to
increase as a result of our becoming a public compa

I nterest Expense, I nterest Income and Other 1 ncome and Expense, Net

We receive interest income from our cash and cgalvalents. Conversely, we incur interest expens four longterm debt, bank lin
of credit and convertible promissory notes andaimertization of debt discounts related to thesmsteThe following table presents these
items for each period presented (in thousands).

Year-ended
December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Interest expens $ (2,15¢) $ (2,876

Interest incomt 7 37
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjieferred

stock warrants, ne (44%) (135)

Other income, ne 35C 1,83:

Interest expense decreased $0.7 million, or 25%212 million for 2010 compared to $2.9 million 009 due to the interest incurred
on $10.7 million of convertible notes issued in Asg2009 that were converted into convertible pretkstock in November 2009 at which
time the entire $0.7 million discount on this delasts immediately recognized as interest expensaeThas no similar transaction or
recognition of expense in 2010. We expect intezgpense to decrease in 2011 as we begin repayrheut outstanding debt.

Interest income decreased by $30,000, or 82%, ,@0%7or 2010 from $37,000 in 2009 due to the desedn our cash balances during
2010. We expect interest income to increase in 281de invest a portion of the net proceeds fromiratial public offering.

Losses from changes in the fair value of prefestedk warrants increased $0.3 million to $0.4 willfor 2010 from $0.1 million for
2009 due to an increase in the warrant liabilify ¥alue. Upon completion of our IPO in FebruaryL2Qa portion of our outstanding prefer
stock warrants were converted into warrants tolpase common stock which remain subject to re-measemt at each financial reporting
date and will be accounted for as liabilities utité warrants are exercised or expire. The remaigitieer expired or were net exercised for
shares of our common stock and the related lighilds reclassified to additional paid-in-capital.

Other income (expense) decreased $1.5 million186,80 $0.4 million for 2010 from $1.8 million pramily due to income recognized
in 2009 from a sub-license arrangement, partidfiyed by favorable changes in foreign currency exde gains and losses.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2009 and #sber 27, 2008
The following table presents our revenue by sofoceach period presented (in thousands).

Year-ended
December 31 December 27
2009 2008

Revenue
Instruments $ 17,31¢ $ 10,477
Consumable 6,281 2,887
Product revenu 23,59¢ 13,36¢
Collaboration revenu — 70
Grant revenu: 1,81: 1,91¢
Total revenue $ 25,41 $ 15,34,
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Total Revenue
Total revenue increased by $10.1 million, or 668425.4 million for 2009 as compared to $15.4 willfor 2008.

Product Revenue

Product revenue increased by $10.2 million, or 7@423.6 million for 2009 as compared to $13.4ionlfor 2008. Instrument
revenue increased by $6.8 million, or 65% primadile to a $7.9 million increase in BioMark and Efstrument revenue, despite lower
average selling prices, partially offset by a $hillion decrease in Topaz instrument revenue. imsént sales volume increased by 173% due
primarily to sales of our BioMark instruments airdpart, to sales of our EP1 instruments, whichapeig the third quarter of 2008. In
addition, consumables revenue increased by $3lbmibr 118%, resulting from the higher installegse of instruments. Our deferred
product revenue balance decreased from $1.7 maliddecember 27, 2008 to $1.0 million at Decemtie2B09. The decrease was primarily
due to the recognition of revenue on previousheded sales beginning in the third quarter of 2008.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue decreased $0.1 million, or 5%, t8 #iillion for 2009 compared to $1.9 million for 2Z00The decrease related to a
$0.3 million reduction in activity for a grant agraent with the National Institutes of Health, oH\ivhich terminated in June 2008 and a
decrease of $0.2 million in EDB grants, partialffset by a new grant for $0.3 million entered imicApril 2009 with the California Institute
for Regenerative Medicine, or CIRM. EDB grant rewenvas $1.5 million during 2009, compared to $1ilion during 2008. Under our
incentive grant agreements with EDB, eligible exggmnincurred by us in Singapore were $3.7 millilo2009 and $3.7 million in 2008.

Cost of Product Revenue
The following table presents our cost of produgeraie and product margin for each period presgimatiousands).

Year-ended
December 31 December 27
2009 2008
Cost of product revent $ 11,48¢ $ 8,364
Product margir 51% 37%

Cost of product revenue increased $3.1 milliorB @, to $11.5 million for 2009 compared to $8.4liwil for 2008 primarily due to
increases in instrument sales related to our Bi&dViEaP1 and, to a lesser extent, our Access Arraiesys. Cost of product revenue as a
percentage of product revenue was 49% in 2009 mpa@d to 63% in 2008. The decrease was primauiytd lower material costs
especially for tooling, improved overhead absomfiem increased volumes and improved yields oncbips, product efficiencies resulting
from transitioning our instrument manufacturing @®ns from South San Francisco to Singapore reddced material costs as we sourced
more components from local vendors in Asia, pdytiaffset by increased provisions for slow movinglaexcess and obsolete inventory.
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Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year-ended
December 31 December 27
2009 2008
Research and developme $ 12,31t $ 14,01t
Selling, general and administrati 19,64¢ 22,51:
Total operating expens $ 31,96! $ 36,52¢

Research and Development

Research and development expense decreased $lionnait 12%, to $12.3 million for 2009 comparedbtb4.0 million for 2008. The
decrease primarily related to decrease in compiensedsts of $0.3 million due to a decrease inasgeand development headcount as we
transitioned certain of our engineering effort®tw facility in Singapore, a decrease in facilihdanformation technology allocations of
$0.4 million as our research and development omgdioin occupied less space in our South San Fiantagility following the transition of
certain activities to Singapore and a decreasensumption of supplies and consumables of $0.4amill

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense deett$2.9 million, or 13%, to $19.6 million for 2088mpared to $22.5 million for
2008. The decrease was primarily due to initiallioutffering related costs of $3.4 million recogedzin 2008 following the withdrawal of o
previous offering in September 2008, a decreaseidit and tax related fees of $0.7 million, a daseein consulting costs of $0.5 million and
a decrease in advertising and promotion costs @f §llion. The initial public offering related cissconsisted primarily of legal and
accounting services and had previously been cauthl The overall decrease was partially offseal$i.9 million increase in compensation
related costs associated with our increased heatlend an increase in stock-based compensatiomsepd $0.1 million.

I nterest Expense, I nterest Income and Other Income and Expense, Net

The following table presents our interest incomegriest expense, and other income and expensirrestch period presented (in
thousands):

Year-ended
December 31 December 27
2009 2008

Interest expens $ (2,876 $ (2,03)

Interest incom: 37 76€
Gain (loss) from changes in the fair value of catilake

preferred stock warrants, r (13%) 76¢

Other income, ne 1,83: 39:¢

Interest expense increased $0.8 million, or 42982t® million for 2009 compared to $2.1 million 2008 due to the interest expense
related to the issuance of $10.7 million in conéegtnotes in August 2009.

Interest income decreased by $0.7 million, or 9&9437,000 for 2009 compared to $0.8 million fo®80The decrease in interest
income reflects the decrease in our cash and cpshadents balances during 2009.

Gain (loss) from changes in the fair value of catilste preferred stock warrants decreased by $0l#bm or 118%, to a $0.1 million
loss for 2009 compared to a $0.8 million gain i®2@ue to changes in the fair value of our warliabiflity.
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Other income (expense) in 2009 increased $1.4anijlbr 366%, to $1.8 million in 2009 from $0.4 nwili in 2008 primarily due to
income recognized from our grant of a sub-licewseettain intellectual property in 2009.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

As of December 31, 2010, we had $5.7 million ofhcasd cash equivalents. As of December 31, 20X0yotking capital totaled $2.4
million. Subsequent to December 31, 2010, we cotaglan initial public offering of common stock whicesulted in net proceeds to us of
$80.3 million, net of underwriting discounts androuission but before offering expenses. In Decer@béf, we entered into a bank line of
credit agreement that is collateralized by our aot®receivable and provides us the ability toderup to $4.0 million, subject to certain
covenants and other restrictions.

Prior to our initial public offering, we funded oaperations principally through issuances of cotibler preferred stock, which provided
us with aggregate net proceeds of $184.6 milliémytach $20.0 million was provided by entities &#fted with EDB in the form of
convertible promissory notes that converted intoventible preferred stock and $10.7 million in atl@ans that were converted into preferred
stock. We also received significant funding in then of non-convertible loans that provided us vatigregate net proceeds of $26.6 million.
As of December 31, 2010, we had an accumulateditefi$199.3 million.

We have received funding in the form of grants frgovernment entities, the most significant of whigtve been associated with two
grant agreements with EDB that have helped sugbergstablishment and operation of our Singaporufaaturing, research and
development facilities.

Ouir first grant agreement with EDB was completeduly 2010. The maximum amount of grant revenudale to us under our
second grant agreement with EDB from December 310 2hrough May 31, 2011 is SG$1.0 million (appnoaiely US$0.8 million) althouc
we expect actual grant revenue to be significaotiyer. To maintain eligibility for grant paymentader our second grant agreement, we are
required to incur annual spending in Singaporet tdast SG$9.0 million (approximately US$6.5 mitljdor the 12 months ending May 31,
2011.

For this purpose, spending in Singapore includestead, salaries, outsourcing and subcontractipgreses, operating expenses and
royalties paid, with limited exceptions such as raaterials purchases. Expenditures that are ussatisfy the requirements of one grant
agreement are not eligible for satisfaction ofdtieer grant agreement. To qualify for payment urtdersecond grant agreement, expendit
must relate to the development of instrumentatarofir systems and not our chips.

Our second grant agreement requires that we engpli@ast 12 new research scientists and engine&imgapore by May 31, 2011,
which may only be satisfied by personnel employethé research and development of our instruménesddition, we are required to empl
at least 12 research scientists and engineersMayil31, 2013, which may be satisfied by persoengbloyed in the research and
development of either chips or instruments. As e€E&@nber 31, 2010, we employed 23 research scieatistengineers involved in the
research and development of our chips and 12 r&ssaientists and engineers involved in the reseand development of related
instrumentation in Singapore.

We cannot assure you that we will take all actie@tglired to remain eligible for grants under oureagnents with EDB and, in the ew
that we do not comply with such requirements, wlethtentionally or unintentionally, we may not ede further grants under such
agreements. In the event that we do not receivet guading from EDB in the future, we do not bekethat our liquidity would be materially
affected.
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We have entered into multiple convertible note pase agreements with Biomedical Sciences Investmemd Pte. Ltd., or BMSIF,
pursuant to which we issued convertible notes andived proceeds in the amount of $21.6 milliondlgh December 31, 2010. BMSIF is
wholly-owned by EDB Investments Pte. Ltd., whoseepaentity is EDB. Ultimately, each of these aettis controlled by the government of
Singapore. As of December 31, 2010, there wereutstanding principal and accrued interest balafmesur convertible note purchase
agreements with BMSIF as the final remaining noss wonverted into shares of our Series E conventitdferred stock in November 2009.

In March 2005, we entered into a loan and secagrgement with a lender under which we borrowed@®#8llion to be used for
general corporate purposes. The loan interestwasel 1.5% per annum and the maturity date was Beb8010. The loan was subject to
prepayment penalties if paid off prior to 2010Fkbruary 2008, this loan and security agreementaranded to provide us with an
additional credit line in the amount of $10.0 nailiithat we could draw upon until July 1, 2008 fengral corporate purposes. In June 2008,
we drew down the $10.0 million. Interest only payntsewere made monthly through the remainder of 2Gif18 monthly payments of
principal and interest in the amount of $0.4 millibeginning in January 2009, to be made througle 2011. The agreement also required a
final payment in the amount of $0.7 million in JW@11, which has been accreted as interest exjpeesehe term of the loan.

In March 2009, we combined and restructured the &ed security agreement discussed above. Thectsted loan and security
agreement had a final repayment date of March 12 20he interest rate under the loan was 13.5%upeum. Interest only payments were
made monthly through February 1, 2010. Commencimlylarch 1, 2010, we began making monthly paymeh$)d million for principal
and interest with an additional final payment ofi$&illion due in March 2012. The agreement alspieed payment of fees on March 1,
2012 in the amount of $0.2 million, which, alongiwihe $2.1 million final payment, were being atedeas interest expense over the term of
the loan. We were subject to a prepayment feedrathount of 1.5% of the outstanding principal antda&ing prepaid. In connection with t
execution of this loan and security agreement,ssaad a warrant to purchase 41,288 shares of &edesvertible preferred stock at $24.22
per share. The fair value of the warrant resultea debt discount that is being amortized to irsteegpense over the life of the agreement.

In June 2010, we amended the loan and securitgagmat discussed above. The restructured loan andityeagreement has a maturity
date of February 2013. The loan bears interess.&4 per annum with interest only payments due higrihrough February 2011.
Commencing in March 2011, we will begin making nidytpayments of $0.6 million for principal and irgst with an additional payment of
$2.1 million due in March 2012. The agreement atspiires payment of fees in March 2012 in the arhoti§0.2 million. The combined
additional payment and fees of $2.3 million arengeaccreted as interest expense through the matlaté of February 2013. We are subject
to a prepayment fee in the amount of 1.0% of thistanding principal amount being prepaid. In cotinaovith the execution of this loan a
security agreement, we issued to the lender a niaiwgpurchase 57,784 shares of Series E-1 coblepreferred stock at $12.11 per share.
The fair value of the warrant resulted in a debtdunt that is being amortized to interest expense the life of the agreement. In addition,
we amended warrants previously issued to this lebgeeducing the exercise price of all of theirxvaats to $12.11 per share and extending
the term of one warrant. As a result of the wareanendments, these warrants were revalued resittizug increase in the value of
$0.1 million which resulted in an additional deigabunt that will be amortized to interest expeoser the life of the agreement.

As of December 31, 2010, the outstanding principal accrued interest balance for this loan andrgg@greement was $14.7 million,
net of unamortized debt discounts of $0.2 million.

The loan and security agreement contains custootgnants that, among other things, required deliger both annual audited and
periodic unaudited financial statements by spettifiates and maintain collateral on company prenasdsestrict our ability, without the
consent of the lender, to incur additional deby, gi@idends or make certain other distributionspayments in respect of our capital stock,
engage in transactions
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with affiliates or engage in the sale, lease @rige of our assets outside of the ordinary courbasiness. As of December 31, 2010, we v
in compliance with all loan covenants.

In August 2009, we entered into a convertible Noid Warrant Purchase Agreement, or Note, with iegishvestors to provide us with
cash proceeds of $10.7 million. In connection wlith Note, we issued warrants to purchase 220,1a@slof Series E convertible preferred
stock at $24.22 per share. The fair value of therams resulted in a debt discount of $0.3 millibhe Note was scheduled to mature on
December 31, 2009, with interest accruing on thstanding principal amount for the first 60 days aate equal to 1% per month and at a
rate equal to 2% per month after the first 60 dagsppounded monthly. In November 2009, the notedrsldonverted the outstanding
principal amount and accrued interest totaling @Miillion into 455,525 shares of Series E convégtfireferred stock which were issued
upon the conversion at a price of $24.22 per share.

In July 2010, we offered holders of preferred staekrants with an exercise price over $12.11 paresthe opportunity to amend those
warrants to lower the exercise price to $12.11spare. The amended warrants would be exercisabfefées E-1 convertible preferred stock
and would receive one common share for each pegfesinare purchased, subject to the warrant heldgreement to immediately exercise
warrants in full and for cash. The offer expireddimgust 2010 with warrants to purchase 57,724 shafrereferred stock exercised. As a
result of this offer, we received gross proceed807 million and issued 57,724 shares of botheSeEi-1 convertible preferred stock and
common stock. The rights, preferences, and otherstef the Series E-1 convertible preferred stoekewdentical to those of our Series E
convertible preferred stock, except the liquidajweference of the Series E-1 convertible prefestedk was $12.11 per share.

The following table presents our cash flow sumnfaryeach period presented (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Cash flow summar
Net cash used in operating activit $(11,50¢) $(19,519) $(28,72()
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (1,339 (68¢) 6,001
Net cash provided by financing activiti 3,79i 16,93¢ 6,32¢
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva (8,879 (3,199 (16,287

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

We derive cash flows from operations primarily froash collected from the sale of our productsataltation and license agreements
and grants from certain government entities. Oshdbws from operating activities are also sigrdfitly influenced by our use of cash for
operating expenses to support the growth of ouinkgs. We have historically experienced negatigh ¢lmws from operating activities as we
have expanded our business and built our infrastrecdomestically and internationally and this neantinue in the future.

Net cash used in operating activities was $11.85aniburing 2010. Net cash used in operating aitisiprimarily consisted of our net
loss of $16.9 million, changes in our operatinge&sand liabilities in the amount of $1.9 milliorgn-cash expense items such as stock-basec
compensation of $1.6 million, depreciation and aimation of our property and equipment of $1.1 il non-cash income adjustment to the
fair value of convertible preferred stock warraoit$0.4 million, and amortization of debt discouatsl issuance cost of $0.4 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was $19.5aniuring 2009. Net cash used in operating aitisiprimarily consisted of our net
loss of $19.1 million, changes in our operatinge&sand liabilities in the amount of $2.7 milliergn-cash income from the licensing of
technology of $1.8 million, and non-cash incomeuatipent to the fair value of convertible preferséack warrants of $0.1 million, which
was partially offset by

65



Table of Contents

non-cash expense items such as stock-based cortiparafe$2.1 million, depreciation and amortizatiohour property and equipment of
$1.6 million and amortization of debt discounts &sliance cost of $0.3 million.

Net cash used in operating activities was $28.Haniburing 2008. Net cash used in operating atgisiprimarily consisted of a net loss
of $29.5 million, non-cash expense adjustment éofdlir value of convertible preferred stock warsamit $0.8 million, which was partially
offset by changes in our operating assets anditiabiin the amount of $2.5 million and non-casipense items such as stock-based
compensation of $2.0 million, depreciation and aimation of our property and equipment of $1.5 ioilland amortization of debt discounts
of $0.5 million.

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by I nvesting Activities

Historically, our primary investing activities hagensisted of capital expenditures for laboratargnufacturing and computer
equipment and software to support our expandingstfucture and work force; restricted cash reltdddased space and lending agreements
and purchases, sales and maturities of our aveifaiblisale securities. We expect to continue taaegpour manufacturing capability,
primarily in Singapore, and expect to incur additibcosts for capital expenditures related to tledfets in future periods.

We used $1.3 million of cash in investing activstaturing 2010 for purchases of capital equipmesufgport our infrastructure and
manufacturing operations of $1.5 million partiadffset by the release of $0.2 million from reseiticash for a sub-lease that expired and
from the new lease for our headquarters facilitpauth San Francisco, California.

We used $0.7 million of cash in investing activstaturing 2009 for purchases of capital equipmesufgport our infrastructure and
manufacturing operations of $0.8 million partialiifset by proceeds of $0.1 million from disposdigmperty and equipment.

We generated $6.0 million of cash from investingvéties during 2008 primarily from maturities oVailable for sale securities of $7.8
million, sales of available-for-sale securitiesh8t0 million, restricted cash of $0.6 million, whiwas partially offset by purchases of
available-for-sale securities of $4.5 million arapital expenditures of $0.9 million primarily topport our Singapore manufacturing facility.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Prior to our initial public offering, we funded oaperations principally through issuances of cotibler preferred stock and long term
debt.

We generated $3.8 million of cash from financingwiies during 2010 primarily from proceeds on dine of credit of $3.1 million and
proceeds from exercises of preferred stock warramisstock options of $0.7 million.

We generated $16.9 million of cash from financiotities during 2009 primarily from proceeds frahe issuance of convertible
promissory notes, net of issuance costs, of $1@lBmand proceeds from the issuance of convestjireferred stock, net of issuance cost
$7.4 million, partially offset by the repaymentlohg-term debt of $1.0 million.

We generated $6.3 million of cash from financingwties during 2008 primarily due to proceeds fronr amended loan and security
agreement of $10.0 million, partially offset by agments of our long-term debt of $3.9 million.

Capital Resources

At December 31, 2010, December 31, 2009, and Deeefih 2008 our working capital was $2.4 millio@1$ million and $20.7
million, respectively, including cash and cash eglénts of $5.7 million, $14.6 million

66



Table of Contents

and $17.8 million, respectively. In December 2046,entered into a bank line of credit agreemerntitheollateralized by our accounts
receivable and provides us the ability to drawaf4.0 million, subject to certain covenants argdrigtions. In January 2011, we raised

$4.8 million through the issuance of subordinateclised promissory notes and warrants to our egistiockholders. In February 2011, we
raised $80.3 million from our initial public offexy, net of underwriting discounts and commissiautshiefore offering expenses. Also in
February and March 2011, we repaid the $5.0 miliiopromissory notes issued by us in January 2B&fjinning in March 2011, we began
making principal payments on our long-term dehtpfeing the end of the interest-only period in Redmy 2011. Monthly payments increased
from $0.2 million to $0.6 million in March 2011. Bing 2010, 2009 and 2008, our capital expenditwee $1.5 million, $0.8 million, and
$0.9 million, respectively. We are estimating calpéxpenditures to be higher in 2011 primarily thee expansion of our manufacturing
capacity, research and development equipment desl damonstration and product support units toisemur global customer base.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalectading the net proceeds from our initial publiteang, will be sufficient to meet
our working capital and capital expenditure needlsaf least the next 18 months. However, we may heeaise additional capital to expand
the commercialization of our products, fund ourragiens and further our research and developmeivitees. Our future funding
requirements will depend on many factors, includimayket acceptance of our products, the cost ofesgarch and development activities,
the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applmagi, the cost of defending, in litigation or othissy any claims that we infringe third-party
patents or violate other intellectual property tighhe cost and timing of regulatory clearanceapmrovals, if any, the cost and timing of
establishing additional sales, marketing and digtion capabilities, the cost and timing of eswtlilig additional technical support
capabilities, the effect of competing technologiadl market developments and the extent to whichageire or invest in businesses,
products and technologies, although we currentyehl® commitments or agreements relating to arihexe types of transactions.

We may require additional funds in the future arelmay not be able to obtain such funds on acceptabhs, or at all. If we raise
additional funds by issuing equity securities, stackholders may experience dilution. Debt finagcihavailable, may involve covenants
restricting our operations or our ability to in@additional debt. Any debt or additional equity firténg that we raise may contain terms tha
not favorable to us or our stockholders. If weeaislditional funds through collaboration and licgegsrrangements with third parties, it may
be necessary to relinquish some rights to our w@olgies or our products, or grant licenses on tehasare not favorable to us. If we are
unable to raise adequate funds, we may have tmatpisome or all of our assets, or delay, redoeetope of or eliminate some or all of our
development programs. If we do not have, or areabl to obtain, sufficient funds, we may haveetag development or commercialization
of our products or license to third parties théntsgto commercialize products or technologies wWeatvould otherwise seek to commercialize.
We also may have to reduce marketing, customerastippother resources devoted to our product®ase operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Since our inception, we have not had any off-batasteet arrangements as defined in Item 303 (af)theecurities and Exchange
Commission’s Regulation S-K.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes our contractual obligati@s of December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less than :
Total Year 1-3 Years 5 \(3ears Thereafter
Long-term debi $14,88¢ $ 4,69¢ $10,19: $ — $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 3,90¢ 1,04« 1,74¢ 1,11€ —
Purchase obligatior 2,801 2,801 — — —
Total $21,59¢ $ 8,54 $11,93¢ $1,11¢ $ —

Our operating lease obligations relates to a l&&seur current headquarters and leases for offiaee for our foreign subsidiaries.
Purchase obligations consist of contractual andlledpinding commitments to purchase goods.

We have entered into several license and pateaeamwnts. Under these agreements, we pay annuadiceaintenance fees,
nonrefundable license issuance fees, and royalti@spercentage of net sales for the sale or suiskcof products using the licensed
technology. If we elect to maintain these licengeaments, we will pay aggregate annual fees & ®llion per year until 2027. Future
payments related to these license agreements loavean included in the contractual obligationdetaove as the period of time over wh
the future license payments will be required tartzale, and the amount of such payments are indetabiei

On March 7, 2003 we entered into a Master ClosiggeAment with Oculus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. andJthB Research Foundation, or
UAB, related to certain intellectual property ardhnology rights licensed by us from UAB. Pursuarthe agreement, we are obligated to
issue UAB shares of our common stock with a vatpeaéto $1.5 million upon the achievement of aaiertnilestone and based upon the fair
market value of our common stock at the time thiestone is achieved. We currently do not anticipatsieving this milestone in the
foreseeable future and do not anticipate issuiegdtshares.

Our manufacturing operations in Singapore, whiammenced in October 2005, have generated incentarg gayments from EDB for
our research, development and manufacturing agiiviSingapore. To remain eligible for future intiea grant payments, we are required to
maintain a significant and increasing manufactudnd research and development presence in Singdpoder our current grant agreements
with EDB, we expect our spending related to thesmigagreements to increase in order to maintaimaunufacturing facility in Singapore.
Future expenditures related to these grant agretsrhame not been included in the contractual obtiga table above as the amounts of fu
expenditures, if any, and the timing of when thely be incurred are still indeterminable.

In September 2010, we entered into a new leaseuioheadquarters in South San Francisco, Califofiilia new lease expires in April
2015 and includes a renewal option for an addititmae years. We received a $0.4 million leaserntive which will be recognized as a
reduction of rent expense on a straight-line bagis the term of the new lease.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information with respect to recent accounting ptommements is included in Note 1 of the notes tocomsolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magént our financial position due to adverse chanmgésancial market prices and rates.
Our market risk exposure is primarily a resultlatfuations in foreign currency exchange ratesiatefest rates. We do not hold or issue
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As we expand internationally our results of operadiand cash flows will become increasingly suleétuctuations due to changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Our revenue isrgéiy denominated in the local currency of thetcacting party. Historically, the
substantial majority of our revenue has been denatad in U.S. dollars. Our expenses are generattphinated in the currencies in which
our operations are located, which is primarilylie United States, with a portion of expenses imcliln Singapore where our manufacturing
facility is located. Our results of operations aagh flows are, therefore, subject to fluctuatidns to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates. Fluctuations in currency exchange ratesddoaiim our business in the future. The effect b®% adverse change in exchange rates on
foreign denominated cash, receivables and payakles December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 waalbave been material. To date,
we have not entered into any material foreign awayehedging contracts although we may do so irfutheae.

I nterest Rate Sensitivity

We had cash and cash equivalents of $5.7 milliodbexsember 31, 2010. These amounts were held phniarcash on deposit with
banks and money market funds, which are short-t€ash and cash equivalents are held for workingalgprposes and restricted cash
amounts are held as letters of credit for colldtenraa security agreement with a lender and farfaaility lease agreements. Due to the short-
term nature of these investments, we believe tieaiovnot have any material exposure to changdmifair value of our investment portfolio
as a result of changes in interest rates. Declimggerest rates, however, will reduce future stweent income. If overall interest rates had
decreased by 10% during the periods presentedntauest income would not have been materiallycaéfe.

As of December 31, 2010, the principal amount aflong-term debt outstanding was $14.7 million &melamount outstanding on our
bank line of credit was $3.1 million. In Februa®12, we repaid all outstanding borrowings underlimear of credit. The interest rates on our
long-term debt are fixed. If overall interest ratesl increased by 10% during the periods preseatednterest expense would not have been
materially affected.

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

We do not have material exposure to market risk wéspect to investments. We do not use derivéitiamcial instruments for
speculative or trading purposes, however, we mayptaspecific hedging strategies in the future.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Fluidigm Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Fluidigm Corporation as of DecembefB810 and December 31,
2009, and the related consolidated statementseshtipns, convertible preferred stock and stockisidieficit, and cash flows for each of
three fiscal years in the period ended Decembe2@10. Our audits also included the financial stegiet schedule listed in the Index at
Item 15. These financial statements and schedaltharresponsibility of the Company’s managemeunt.r®sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schdzhged on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ai afuthe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigboeting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesréxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theuss and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarggsignificant estimates made by managementg@aadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Fluidigm Corporation at December 31, 2010 and Ddmar31, 2009, and the consolidated results ofgesations and its cash flows for each
of the three fiscal years in the period ended Déeeri1, 2010, in conformity with U.S. generally epted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedufesn considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects, the information set fdtrein.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 25, 2011
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $467 $t@B at December 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009, respective
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Investment, at cos
Other noi-current assel
Total asset

LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKH OLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensation and related ben:
Other accrued liabilitie
Deferred revenue, current porti
Long-term debt, current portic
Line of credit
Convertible preferred stock warral
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portic
Deferred revenue, net of current port
Other nol-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Convertible preferred stock issuable in series0®D par value 11,269 shares authorized; 10,296
10,239 shares issued and outstanding as of Dece&thb2010 and December 31, 2009,
respectively
Stockholder’ deficit:
Common stock: $0.001 par value, 18,327 shares apditp 1,937 and 1,862 shares issued €
outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and Decembh&08®, respectivel
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Accumulated defici
Total stockholder deficit
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock astdckholder deficit

See accompanying notes.
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December 31

2010

$ 5,72

8,10(
4,89:
2,16¢
20,88:
2,32¢
1,34(

252

$ 24,80:

$ 3,15t
1,90«
3,37¢
1,33¢
4,561
3,12¢
1,052
18,51:
10,13¢
42¢
341

29,41¢

184,55(

2
10,93¢
(77
(199,32)
(189,16)
$ 24,80

December 31

2009

$ 14,60:

8,69
3,94t
1,24¢

28,48:
1,93(
1,34(

40C

$ 32,15

$ 2,22¢
1,343
2,18¢

75€&

61€
7,12¢
14,46
25¢

79

21,921

183,84!

2

9,30¢
(504)
(182,42Y)
(173,619
$ 32,15
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue
Product revenu
Collaboration revenu
Grant revenue (includes grant revenue from relptety of $1,104, $1,522 ai
$1,654 for the years ended December 31, 2010, Deeedi, 2009 and
December 27, 2008, respective
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Cost of product revent
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati
Total costs and expens
Loss from operation
Interest expense (includes related party intergstrese of $0, $ 367 and $417 for
years ended December 31, 2010, December 31, 2@Becember 27, 2008,
respectively’
(Loss) gain from changes in the fair value of catilste preferred stock warrants, 1
Interest incomt
Other income, ne
Loss before income taxi
(Provision for) / benefit from income tax
Net loss

Net loss per share of common stock, basic anded
Shares used in computing net loss per share of constock, basic and dilute

See accompanying notes.
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Year-Ended

December 31

2010

$ 30,46
1,62t

1,47:
33,56(

11,581
13,007
23,54
48,13
(14,579

(2,15¢)
(44F)
7

35¢

(16,819
(83)

$ (16,907
$ (899
1,89(

December 31

2009

$ 23,59¢

1,81
25,41

11,48¢
12,31¢
19,64¢
43,44¢
(18,03

(2,876)
(138)

37

1,83¢
(19,179

50

$ (19,129

$ (11.09)
1,73¢

December 27

2008

$ 13,36¢
70

1,91¢
15,34

8,36¢
14,01¢
22,51
44 89(
(29,547

(2,031)
76¢
76€
392

(29,646
147

$ (29,499
$  (17.8Y
1,65°
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

c ibl Accumulated
onvertible Additional Other Total

Preferred Stock Common Stock Comprehensive  Accumulated  Stockholders’
Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit Deficit
Balance as of December 30, 2( 9,35¢ $162,08. 163t $ 2 $ 3,60 $ (135) $(133,79) $(130,33)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of stock options for cash and for
vesting of stock options that were
exercised earl — — 61 — 18C — — 18C
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 2,022 — — 2,022

Repurchase of common stock in

exchange for payment of relatpdrty

note receivabli — — (20 — (290 — — (290
Issuance of Series E convertible

preferred stock upon conversion of

promissory notes at $21.80 per st 24¢ 5,41¢ — — — — — —
Issuance of Series C convertible

preferred stock at $13.20 per share

upon ne-share exercise of warrar 3 42 — — — — — —
Comprehensive los

Foreign currency translation

adjustmen — — — — — (439%) — (439)
Unrealized gain on available-for-
sale securitie — — — — — 12 — 12
Net loss — — — — — — (29,499 (29,499
Total comprehensive ot (29,920)
Balance as of December 27, 2( 9,61C $167,53¢ 1.67¢ $ 2 $ 551 $ (55€) $(163,29) $ (158,339
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Convertible -
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additonal Comgrtgﬁénsive Accumulated Stoc-ll;zt(;j}lders’
Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit Deficit
Balance as of December 27, 2( 9,61C $167,53¢ 1,67¢ $ 2 $ 551 $ (55€) $(163,29) $ (158,33
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options for cash
and for vesting of stock options that
were exercised ear — — 20 — 54 — — 54
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 2,111 — — 2,111
Issuance of common stock to licen: — — 29 — 11¢€ — — 11¢€
Issuance of common stock upon
conversion of preferred sto (137) (1,519 137 — 1,51z — — 1,51z
Issuance of Series E convertible
preferred stock for cash at $24.22
per share, net of issuance costs of
$90 31C 6,944 — — — — — —
Issuance of Series E convertible
preferred stock upon conversion ¢
promissory note at $24.22 per she
net of issuance costs of $1 45¢€ 10,87¢ — — — — — —
Comprehensive los
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen — — — — — 52 — 52
Net loss — — — — — — (19,129 (19,129
Total comprehensive ot (19,076
Balance as of December 31, 2( 10,23¢ $183,84! 186: $ 2 $ 930¢ $ (504 $(182,42) $ (173,619
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED ST OCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Convertible -
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additonal Comgrtgﬁtrensive Accumulated Stoc-ll;zt(;j}lders’
Paid-in
Shares Amount Shares  Amount Capital Loss Deficit Deficit
Balance as of December 31, 2( 10,23¢ $183,84! 1,862 $ 2 $ 9,30¢ $ (504 $(182,42) $ (173,619
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options for cash
and for vesting of stock options that
were exercised ear — — 18 — 42 — — 42
Stocl-based compensation expel — — — — 1,58¢ — — 1,58¢
Issuance of Series E-1 convertible
preferred stock in connection with
warrant amendment and related
exercise of convertible preferred
stock warrants, net of issuance costs
of $66 57 70t — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of convertible preferred
stock warrant: — — 57 — — — — —
Comprehensive los
Foreign currency translation
adjustmen — — — — — (274) — (274
Net loss — — — — — — (16,90:) (16,909
Total comprehensive ot (17,176
Balance as of December 31, 2( 10,29¢ $184,55( 1937 $ 2 $10,93¢ $ (77€) $(199,32) $(189,16)

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stock-based compensation expel
Loss (gain) from changes in the fair value of catilsée preferred stock warrants, r
Loss (gain) on sales of property and equipn
Amortization of debt discount and issuance «
Gain from sublicense of technolo
Changes in assets and liabiliti:
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payabl
Deferred revenu
Other liabilities

Net cash used in operating activit

Investing activities

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipr
Purchases of property and equipm

Purchases of availal-for-sale securitie

Sales of availab-for-sale securitie

Maturities of availabl-for-sale securitie
Reduction of restricted ca:

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissotgs)met of issuance co:

Proceeds from issuance of convertible preferreckstoet of issuance cos

Proceeds from exercise of convertible preferredistearrants and issuance of convertible prefertecks net of
issuance cos!

Proceeds from exercise of stock optit

Proceeds from line of crec

Proceeds from lor-term debt

Repayment of lor-term debt

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations onhcasd cash equivaler

Net decrease in cash and cash equiva

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe¢

Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for intere:

Conversion of convertible promissory notes and @diinterest into convertible preferred st

Preferred stock investment received in exchangeefdinology licens

Issuance of preferred stock warrants in conneatiidim lonc-term debi

Issuance of preferred stock warrants in conneatiidim convertible promissory nott

Extinguishment of convertible preferred stock watsaas part of preferred stock warrant exchangesandcise

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended

December 31

December 31

December 27

2010 2009 2008
$ (16,90:) $ (19,129 $ (29,499
1,14(¢ 1,63: 1,497
1,58¢ 2,111 2,02:
44F 135 (769)
(10) 97) 14
364 30¢ 47C
— (1,807 —
20¢ (3,999 (3,279
(961) 1,51( (20)
(1,019 91 1,102
932 (637) 13¢
74€ (707) (1,690
1,95¢ 1,07¢ 1,29¢
(11,509 (19,519 (28,720)
1C 111 =
(1,539 (799) (910)
_ — (4,519
— — 3,03:
— — 7,768
19€ — 625
(1,339 (68¢) 6,001
— 10,51( —
— 7,41( —
633 — =
39 53 18C
3,12¢ — —
— — 10,00(
= (1,039 (3,855
3,797 16,93¢ 6,32¢
165 68 11:
(8,879 (3,199 (16,287)
14,60: 17,79¢ 34,07
$ 5,72¢ $ 14,60: $ 17,79¢
$ 1,771 $ 1,94( $ 1,48:
$ — $ 10,87¢ $ 5,41¢
$ — $ 1,34( $ —_
$ 63 $ 76 $ 484
$ — $ 262 $ —
$ 72 $ — $ —
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2010

1. Description of Business

Fluidigm Corporation (the Company) was incorpordtethe state of California on May 19, 1999, to eoencialize microfluidic
technology initially developed at the Californisstitute of Technology. In July 2007, the Companyg waincorporated in Delaware. The
Company'’s headquarters are located in South Sarcist, California.

The Company develops, manufactures and marketsfiictic systems in the life science and agricudturiotechnology (Ag-Bio)
industries. The Company’s proprietary microfluidicstems consist of instruments and consumabldsding chips and reagents. The
Company’s microfluidic systems are designed to §fsnpxperimental workflow, increase throughputdoee costs, and provide quality data.
The Company markets systems and consumables fadealdarmaceutical and biotechnology companiesjeroé institutions, diagnostic
laboratories, and Ag-Bio companies.

Reverse Stock Split

Effective February 3, 2011, the Company’s stockbddapproved an amended and restated certificateaiporation effecting a 1 for
1.73 reverse stock split of the Company’s issuatanstanding shares of common stock and convenitdferred stock, and changed the par
value of the Company’s common and preferred stomk $0.0035 per share to $0.001 per share. Aledsund outstanding common stock,
convertible preferred stock, options to purchasaroon stock, warrants to purchase convertible predestock, and per share amounts
contained in the Company’s consolidated finanditiesnents have been retroactively adjusted toatetthés reverse stock split and par value
change for all periods presented.

Initial Public Offering

On February 9, 2011, the Company’s registratiotestant on Form 3-relating to an initial public offering, or IPOf ks common stoc
was declared effective by the Securities and Exgb@&@ommission, or SEC. The Company’s IPO closeBeawruary 15, 2011, at which time
the Company sold 6,392,083 shares of common stutkexeived cash proceeds of $80.3 million, netmaferwriting discounts and
commission, but before offering expenses. See Mote

The automatic conversion of the Company’s conviertiibeferred stock and the net exercise of cedatatanding convertible preferred
stock warrants which occurred upon the completioth® Company’s IPO in February 2011 are not rédlddén the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2010.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemeintise Company have been prepared in conformith WitS. generally accepted
accounting principles and include the accounthef@ompany and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Tbem@any has wholly-owned
subsidiaries in Singapore, the Netherlands, Jdpamce, and the United Kingdom. All subsidiaries;ept for Singapore, use their local
currency as their functional currency. The Singemubsidiary uses the U.S. dollar as its functicoalency. All intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
December 31, 2010

Fiscal Year

The Company’s 2008 fiscal year was based on a523-aveek convention and, therefore, the 2008 ffigear ended on December 27,
2008. During 2009, the Company adopted the caleyetaras its fiscal year and, accordingly, the 208%l year ended on December 31,
2009 and the 2010 fiscal year ended on Decembet(@D.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accardamith US generally accepted accounting principdeglires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amoeptsted in the consolidated financial statemendssmtompanying notes. The Company
bases its estimates on historical experience andoous other assumptions believed to be reasenafblich together form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of asmed liabilities. Actual results could differ maadly from these estimates and could have
a material adverse effect on the Company’s cona@iifinancial statements.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaried tiee the local currency as their functional curyeare translated into U.S. dollars at
exchange rates in effect on the balance sheetdtii¢he resulting translation adjustments recoritea separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive loss within stockholders’ defiocome and expense accounts are translateceeage exchange rates during the year.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid financiasiruments with maturities at the time of purchaisthree months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents may carfsisish on deposit with banks, money market fuodsimercial paper, corporate notes,
and notes from government-sponsored agencies.

Available-for-Sale Securities

Available-for-sale securities are comprised of cogte notes and notes from government-sponsorattiége Investments classified as
“available-for-sale” are recorded at estimated ¥aiue, as determined by quoted market rates grmtitcompanying consolidated balance
sheets, with any unrealized gains and losses epartstockholders’ deficit as a component of aadated other comprehensive loss.
Realized gains and losses and declines in thedhie of available-for-sale securities below tloeist that are deemed to be “other than
temporary” are reflected in interest income. Nch&tthan temporary” unrealized losses have beenried and realized gains and losses were
immaterial during the years presented. The coseofirities sold is based on the specific-identificemethod.

Restricted Cash

The Company had restricted cash balances of $6@08&256,000 as of December 31, 2010 and Dece®db@009, respectively.
Included in restricted cash are amounts that eslidize the Companyg’standby letters of credit issued under operddéiage agreements for
office facilities. Restricted cash is included ihe&r non-current assets in the consolidated balsineets.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
December 31, 2010

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of the Company’s financialriastents, including accounts receivable, restrictegh, and accounts payable,
approximated their fair values due to the shorigokeof time to maturity or repayment. As a basisdonsidering fair value, the Company
follows a three-tier value hierarchy, which priaés the inputs used in measuring fair value devis:

Level I: observable inputs such as quoted pricexiive markets;

Level II: inputs other than quoted prices in activarkets that are observable either directly oiréudly; and

Level llI: unobservable inputs in which there isléi or no market data, which requires the Compargevelop its own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use obsérvabrket data, when available, and to minimizeube of unobservable inputs

when determining fair value. The Company’s cashvedents are classified as Level | because theyalged using quoted market prices.
The Company’s convertible preferred stock warranésvalued using Level Il inputs.

Changes in the value of convertible preferred steakrants were as follows (in thousands):

Fair value as of December 27, 2( $ 141
Issuance: 34C
Change in fair valu 13t

Fair value as of December 31, 2C $ 61¢
Issuance: 63
Exercises (72
Change in fair valu 44k

Fair value as of December 31, 2C $1,052

Valuation of convertible preferred stock warrastsliscussed in Note 9.

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at netdawalue. The Company reviews its exposure to atsaeceivable and reserves
specific amounts if collectability is no longer seaably assured based on historical experienceeddfic customer collection issues. The
Company evaluates such reserves on a regulardrasbiadjusts its reserves as needed. At Decemb@030,and December 31, 2009, the
Company had reserves for accounts receivable of,$86 and $103,000, respectively

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @m@mpany to credit risk consist of cash, cash edeiis, available-for-sale securities,
and accounts receivable. The Company maintains cash equivalents, and available-for-sale seesniiith major financial institutions. The
Company’s cash, cash equivalents, and availabtedtar securities may consist of deposits held athks, commercial paper, money market
funds, and other highly liquid investments that naaifimes exceed federally insured limits. The Camypperforms periodic evaluations of its
investments and the relative credit standing adelfenancial institutions and limits the amountoddit exposure with any one institution.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
December 31, 2010

The Company generally does not require collateralipport credit sales. To reduce credit risk @Gbenpany performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. No single customgrasented more than 10% of total revenues for 20t02009. Revenue from one customer
was 11% of total revenues for 2008.

The Company'’s products include components thatamently procured from a single source or a lichiteimber of sources. The
Company believes that other vendors would be abfgdvide similar components; however, the qualifin of such vendors may require
start-up time. In order to mitigate any adverseaoip from a disruption of supply, the Company aptesnio maintain an adequate supply of
critical limited-source components.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (wlaipproximates actual cost on a first-in, first-owthod) or market. Inventories include
raw materials, work-iprocess, and finished goods that may also be useddearch and development; such items are exgppevizen they atr
designated for use in research and developmentisityos, when required, for slow-moving, excessl absolete inventories are recorded to
reduce inventory values from cost to their estimatet realizable values, based on product lifeegyaévelopment plans, product expiration,
and quality issues.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold impnomets, are stated at cost less accumulated defweciahich is calculated using
the straight-line method over the estimated udefe$ of the assets, which range from three to yiwars. Leasehold improvements are
amortized using the straight-line method over stereated useful lives of the assets or the remgitérm of the lease, whichever is shorter.

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets facatdrs of possible impairment when events or chang circumstances indicate the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recover#lday indicator of impairment exists, the Compasgesses the recoverability of the
affected long-lived assets by determining whetherdarrying value of such assets can be recoviredgh undiscounted future operating
cash flows. If impairment is indicated, the Compamgasures the future discounted cash flows assdoiith the use of the asset and adjusts
the value of the asset accordingly. The Companydidecognize any impairment of long lived as$etsany of the periods presented herein.

Investment

The Company has a minority equity investment imiaapely-held company that is accounted for untierdost method of accounting.
Under the cost method of accounting, investmemsarried at cost and are adjusted only for othentemporary declines in value. No such
declines have been identified through Decembe310.

Reserve for Product Warranties

The Company generally provides a one-year warrantys instruments. The Company reviews its exposuestimated warranty
expense associated with instrument sales and isttablan accrual based on historical product failates and actual warranty costs incurred.
This expense is recorded as a component of cgebdfict revenue in the consolidated statementpefations. Warranty accruals and
expenses were not significant for any period preskn
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
December 31, 2010

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from sales of itupts, research and development contracts, coliibaragreements and
government grants. The Company’s products consisstruments and consumables, including chipsraadents, related to its microfluidic
systems. Product revenue includes services faument installation, training, and customer suppgertvices. The Company has also entered
into collaboration, and research and developmemiracts and has received government grants to comesearch and development activit

Revenue is recognized when all of the followingezia are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangeenésts, delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered, the price to the lisifiged or determinable and collectability is semably assured. The Company assesses
collectability based on factors such as the cust@neeeditworthiness and past collection histofypplicable. If collection is not reasonably
assured, revenue recognition is deferred untiliptod payment. The Company also assesses whethrizeais fixed or determinable by,
among other things, reviewing contractual terms @mtlitions related to payment. Delivery occurs mitteere is a transfer of title and risk of
loss passes to the customer.

Product Revenue

Certain of the Company’s sales contracts involeedélivery of multiple products and services witbomtractually binding
arrangements. Significant judgment is sometimesired to determine the appropriate accounting fiehsarrangements, including whether
the deliverables specified in a multiple elementgement should be treated as separate uniteofiaiing for revenue recognition purposes
and, if so, how the related sales price shouldlbeaed among the elements, when to recognizentevéor each element, and the period «
which revenue should be recognized. The Company dotsell software separately; however, the Compéfiers post-contract software
support services for certain of its instrumentstaiming software that is more than incidental te fhnctionality of the instruments. If an
arrangement includes chips and instruments, thep@ognseparates chip revenues from software rethlakrables.

During the third quarter of 2009, the Company begfapping instruments in fully assembled and catibd form and concluded that
installation was no longer essential to their fiorality. As a result, beginning in the fourth quesrof 2009, the Company began recognizing
instrument revenues upon delivery assuming allratpelicable revenue recognition criteria have bestisfied. Previously, instrument
revenue was recognized upon installation assuniiregheer applicable revenue recognition criterizddeen satisfied.

During the third quarter of 2008, the Company dgghbd fair value for post-contract software suppelated to its instruments. As a
result, beginning in the third quarter of 2008, @@mpany recognized revenue for the fair valudefihstruments upon installation.
Previously, revenue from instruments was deferretiracognized ratably over the post-contract suggemiod. The corresponding costs of
products related to multiple element revenue aearents are recognized consistent with the relaeeinue recognition.

The Company evaluates whether a delivered elensntdlue on a stand-alone basis prior to delivetiieremaining elements by
determining whether separate sales of such undetivelements exist or whether the undelivered aeitsrare essential to the functionality of
the delivered elements. The Company recognizesitevior delivered elements only when the fair valokundelivered elements are known.
The Company evaluates whether there is vendorfépebiective evidence, or VSOE, of fair value bétundelivered elements, determined
by reference to stand-alone sales of such itentiselfair value of any undelivered element reldatehstruments and software included in a
multiple element arrangement cannot be objectively
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
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determined, revenue will be deferred until all ederts are delivered, or until fair value can objeslii be determined for any remaining
undelivered elements.

The Company'’s products are sold without the righteturn. Accruals are provided for estimated watygexpenses at the time the
associated revenue is recognized. Amounts recéivadvance of when revenue recognition criterianae¢ are classified as deferred revenue
in the consolidated balance sheets.

Collaboration Revenue

The Company has entered into collaboration andarekeand development agreements with third paitiekjding government entities
that generally provide the Company with up-frontl @eriodic milestone fees or fees based on agrped-tates for time incurred by the
Company'’s research staff. Upfront fees are generatiognized over the term of the agreement; nuilesfees are generally recognized when
the milestones are achieved; and fees based oadagpen rates for time incurred by the Companyseaech staff are recognized as time is
incurred. The Company evaluates whether theseganents contain multiple units of accounting byleating whether delivered elements
have value on a stand-alone basis and whetherithelgective and reliable evidence of fair valdi¢he undelivered items. During 2010 and
2008, the Company concluded that these arrangeroensssted of a single unit of accounting, namedgearch and development services.
Accordingly, the Company recognizes fees receivetkusuch arrangements over the period servicgzeafermed. Costs associated with
research and development agreements are includedearch and development expenses in the consalid@atements of operations. During
2009, there were no such arrangements.

Grant Revenue

The Company receives grants from various governahentities for research and related activitiesar® provide the Company with
incentive payments for certain types of researchdmvelopment activities performed over a contra@btudefined period. Grant revenue is
recognized in the period during which the relatests are incurred, provided that the conditionseanchich the grants were provided have
been met and the Company has only perfunctory atidigs outstanding. Amounts received in advanagewdnue recognition are classified as
deferred revenue in the consolidated balance shgests associated with grants are included irarekeand development expenses in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs incurred for produgtrsients are included within cost of product revemuthe consolidated statements of
operations.

Research and Development

The Company records research and development eepénthe period incurred. Research and developme@nses consist of
personnel costs, independent contractor costtype and materials expenses, allocated faciltiesinformation technology expenses and
related overhead expenses.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurhedCompany incurred advertising costs of $514,80@7,000 and $1,117,000
during 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability meth@ttount for income taxes, whereby deferred incared reflect the impact of
temporary differences for items recognized for fficial reporting purposes over different periodsitfaa income tax purposes. Valuation
allowances are provided when the expected realizati deferred tax assets does not meet a “moetyltkan not” criterion.

The Company recognizes the financial statementesfigf a tax position when it is more likely thast,rbased on the technical merits,
that the position will be sustained upon examimatiny interest and penalties related to unceteirpositions will be reflected in income
(provision)/benefit.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock options issued fg@raes based on the fair value of the award. Tdw@any recognizes stock-based
compensation expense on a straight-line basistheeiequisite service periods. For performabased stock options, the Company recogi
stock-based compensation expense over the regsisiteee period using the accelerated attributiethod.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss aner @tbmprehensive loss. Other comprehensive lossistsrof unrealized gains and
losses on the Company’s available-for-sale seesrand foreign currency translation adjustmentgalTammprehensive loss for all periods
presented has been disclosed in the consolidatzhsnts of convertible preferred stock and stolckdne’ deficit.

Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

Freestanding warrants to purchase the Companyigectible preferred stock are valued at fair valod elassified as liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets and are carried aifiaie because the warrants may conditionally abdighe Company to transfer assets at
some point in the future. Subsequent to Decembe?@l0 and upon completion of the Company’s IPGehruary 2011, all such warrants
were converted to common stock or converted to comstock warrants (see Note 9).

Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

The Company’s basic net loss per share of comnumk $$ calculated by dividing net loss by the weédghaverage number of shares of
common stock outstanding for the period. The weidtgverage number of shares of common stock usealdolate the Company’s basic net
loss per share of common stock excludes sharesaubjrepurchase rights related to stock optibaswere exercised prior to vesting, as
such shares are not deemed to be issued for agogynirposes until the related stock options v@stited net loss per share of common s
is computed by dividing net loss by the weightedrage number of potential common shares outstaridirthe period as determined using
the treasury-stock method. For purposes of thisutation, convertible preferred stock, options tmghase common stock, common stock
subject to repurchase, warrants to purchase cableepreferred stock, and shares of convertiblégpred stock subject to conversion of the
Company’s convertible promissory notes are coneitlén be potential common shares but have beendedifrom the calculation of diluted
net loss per share of common stock, as their eiffeati-dilutive for all periods presented.
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The following potential common shares were excluldech the computation of diluted net loss per staireommon stock for the
periods presented because including them would bage anti-dilutive (in thousands).

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Convertible preferred stoc 10,29¢ 10,23¢ 9,61(
Options to purchase common stc 1,77¢ 1,541 1,321
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred s 387 387 12t

The table above excludes any amounts related tsalleeof common shares (see Note 1), the conveo$iconvertible preferred stock
(see Note 10), and the conversion of convertibédgored stock warrants (see Note 9) upon completidhe Company’s IPO in February
2011.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables

In September 2009, the FASB ratified authoritaticeounting guidance regarding revenue recognitoafrangements with multiple
deliverables. The guidance allows the use of managés best estimate of selling price for indivilaements of an arrangement when
vendor specific objective evidence, or thpdrty evidence is unavailable. The guidance algaires arrangement consideration to be alloc
at the inception of the arrangement to all delilsgs using the relative-selling-price method anhielates the use of the residual method of
allocation. The guidance is effective for annuaiqus beginning January 1, 2011, with early adeppiermitted. The adoption of this stand
is not expected to have a material impact on thmgamy’s consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Arrangements with Software Elements

In October 2009, the FASB ratified authoritative@anting guidance that modifies the scope of tlisvswme revenue recognition
guidance to exclude tangible products that corttath software and non-software components thatifumtogether to deliver the product’s
essential functionality. The guidance is effecfimeannual periods beginning January 1, 2011, edétHy adoption permitted. This guidance
must be adopted in the same period an entity adloptamended guidance for revenue arrangementswiiltiple deliverables guidance
described in the preceding paragraph. The adopfitinis standard is not expected to have a matienact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Milestone Method of Revenue Recognition

In March 2010, the FASB ratified the milestone noetlof revenue recognition. Under this new standancentity can recognize
contingent consideration earned from the achievémiea substantive milestone in its entirety in pregiod in which the milestone is achiev
A milestone is defined as an event (i) that cary ®el achieved based in whole or in part on eitherentity’s performance or on the
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromehtty’s performance (ii) for which there is sub#ive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wikdtgeved and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the entity. The
milestone method of revenue recognition is effecfor fiscal years beginning on or after June T8,(and early adoption is permitted. The
adoption of this standard is not expected to havagerial impact on the Company’s consolidatedrioia statements.
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3. License, Development, Collaboration, and Grant Agrements
Collaboration Agreement

Under a collaboration agreement to develop a nedymt, the Company received an up-front paymes760,000 in May 2010. The
up-front payment is being recognized on a straligietbasis over a period of fifteen months. Thisegagnent provides for milestone payments
for the design and development of product protatypéese product prototypes were not previouslgdgpeed by the Company and the
achievement of these and future milestones wasriaicat the time the Company entered into theexrgent. Accordingly, milestone
revenues have been and are expected to be recdgiizhe Company achieves each milestone. The Gonaghieved three milestones and
received milestone payments totaling $1,250,0@Dit0.

License Agreements

In November 2009, the Company entered into an ageaeto grant a sub-license to certain intellecfwaperty previously licensed by
the Company from a third party (Licensor). As cdesation, the Company received shares of the selndiee’s preferred stock (Investment),
with an estimated fair value of $1,676,000. Theebiment is accounted for under the cost methodafumting. The Company based its
estimate of the fair value of the investment oragety of factors including the sale of similar seties by the sub-licensee, with appropriate
consideration taken for differences in liquidatpmeference of the securities and the sub-licensegsial structure, and the Company’s
expectations about the performance and future tipesaof the sub-licensee.

Concurrently, the sub-licensee purchased 310,08feshof the Company’s convertible Series E corlerpreferred stock (Series E
stock) for cash of $24.22 per share for total gasiceeds of $7,500,000, which represented a prerofu$d66,000 over the then fair value of
the Company’s Series E stock. The fair value ofGbenpanys Series E stock was determined based on compaakke of such shares. Si
the Company’s Series E stock was sold as parnaidltiple element arrangement for which the fairueadf the sub-license was not known,
the value of the Company’s preferred stock andréiee of the Investment were determined to be thstmeliable measures of fair value for
the exchanged assets. As a result, during thetfaurarter of 2009 the Company recognized othemirecof $2,142,000 representing the fair
value of the Investment and the premium on the cfatlee Series E stock.

Pursuant to the Comparsyagreement with the Licensor, the Company traresi€20% of its Investment to the Licensor and réedrthe
estimated fair value of the transferred share$385,000 as other expense. At December 31, 201Q@0®] the carrying value of the
Investment was $1,340,000.

In March 2003, the Company entered into a licegseament to obtain an exclusive worldwide licermecertain technology regarding
nanovolume crystallization arrays. The Company nraits sole discretion, cancel the license agregmdth 30-days notice; otherwise, the
license terminates at the end of the life of tie lieensed patent to expire. Under the termsisfagreement, the Company is obligated to
issue up to $2,100,000 worth of shares of the Calyipa&ommon or convertible preferred stock if thenfpbany achieves certain milestones.
As a result of achieving one of these milestonesdl2006, the Company issued 35,389 shares oéSEriconvertible preferred stock valued
at $16.95 per share for an aggregate value of 807 net of issuance costs, which was recognizedsesarch and development expense. The
milestones required to issue the remaining $1,8Wdd shares of the convertible preferred stockuhaer this agreement have not been
achieved as of December 31, 2010.
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During 2003, the Company also entered into a sépaggearch sponsorship agreement under whichahgany agreed to pay a total
of $900,000 over five years in 20 quarterly instedhts of $45,000 each to sponsor certain rese@hgse quarterly payments were recorded
as research and development expenses. As of Dec@nh2008, the entire $900,000 has been paidteddreement terminated in fiscal
2008 following payment of the final installment.

In December 2003, the Company entered into a l&agseement to obtain a nonexclusive worldwidenbesfor certain technology
regarding submicroliter protein crystallization.eT@ompany may, in its sole discretion, cancel tireement with 30-days notice; otherwise,
the license terminates at the end of the life efltst licensed patent to expire. Pursuant to gheesment, the Company made payments for
nonrefundable license fees, each in the amourn2®d $00, in January 2006 and January 2007. Alssuamt to this agreement, the Company
began making quarterly payments in the amount 6f(§ID starting in the first quarter of 2007. Thgsearterly payments, which have been
made through December 31, 2010 and which are stgethicontinue until the agreement is terminatedd increase in future periods if the
Company meets certain sales volumes. The nonrefilmtiaense fee and quarterly payments were redoadeesearch and development
expense.

Grants
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine

In April 2009, the Company was awarded a grant ftbenCalifornia Institute for Regenerative Medigioe CIRM, in the amount of
$750,000 to be earned over a two-year period. Uthdegrant, the Company designs and develops fgreanicrofluidic systems for use in
stem cell research. This grant provides for quigrfgayments in the amount of $97,000 during thet fpear beginning on April 1, 2009 and
quarterly payments of $90,000 during the second. yigge grant revenue is recognized as the relasehrch and development services are
performed and costs associated with this grant wesregnized as research and development expenisg dlue period incurred. During 2010
and 2009, the Company recognized grant revenu8@8,$00 and $291,000, respectively, related toaieement. In the first quarter of
2011, CIRM notified the Company that it intendptovide an additional $1.9 million grant over thextthree years to further advance the
Company’s research in this area.

National | nstitutes of Health

In June 2006, the Company was awarded a goverrgnant from the National Institutes of Health (Nlid)the amount of $1,048,000
be earned over a twgear period. Under this grant, the Company perfarnesearch and development activities to desigffraction capable
screening chip. This grant provided for quartedynbursement of the eligible research and developexpenses including salaries,
equipment, scientific consumables, and certaimltparty costs. Revenue related to amounts receinddr this grant was recognized as the
related services were performed and costs assdaiatte this grant were reported as research andldpment expense in the period incurred.
The Company recognized revenue of $258,000 dui®@@® 2inder this grant, which terminated in June 2008

Singapore Economic Development Board

In October 2005, the Company entered into a letgeeement providing for up to SG$10.0 million (apgpmately US$7.7 million using
the December 31, 2010 exchange rate) in grants thensSingapore Economic Development Board (EDB§ giants were payable for the
period August 1, 2005 through July 31, 2010 in emtion with the establishment and operation bydidum Singapore, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of
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the Company, of a research, development and manufag center for chips in Singapore. In Januar§&dluidigm Singapore and EDB
entered into a supplement to the October 2005 laggeeement. This supplement was entered intosi@tera process whereby Fluidigm
Singapore and EDB would agree on new quarterly [dpweent targets at the start of each year. Graythpats were calculated as a portior
qualifying expenses incurred in Singapore relatimgalaries, overhead, outsourcing and subcomigetipenses, operating expenses and raw
material purchases. In July 2010, Fluidigm Singesubmitted its final progress report and evidesicchievement of its development
targets under the letter agreement. In October 2080Company received confirmation from EDB tHabhits obligations under the letter
agreement had been met and, in October 2010, sxté#/final grant payment.

In February 2007, Fluidigm Singapore entered inse@ond letter agreement with EDB which providedufmto an additional SG$3.7
million (approximately US$2.9 million using the Dmmber 31, 2010 exchange rate) in grants. The tandonditions of this letter
agreement are substantially the same as the Oc26bérletter agreement with the exception of tae sff the potential grant, the term of the
agreement, and the specific levels of researcteldpment, and manufacturing activities requiredhntain eligibility for such grants. The
primary focus of this letter agreement is the ongalevelopment and manufacture in Singapore odiceitstrumentation. This letter
agreement applies to research, development, andfardnaring activity by Fluidigm Singapore in Singae from June 1, 2006 through
May 31, 2011.

Fluidigm Singapore’s continued eligibility for sughants is subject to its compliance with the fadlog conditions: increasing levels of
research; its development and manufacturing agtimiSingapore, including employment of specifiednbers of research scientists and
engineers; its incurrence of specified levels sEarch and development expenses in Singaporetweotirse of each calendar year; its u
local service providers; its manufacture in Singepaf the products developed in Singapore; andcdtéevement of certain targets relating to
new product development or completion of specifanufacturing process objectives. These requiregldenf research, development, and
manufacturing activity in Singapore and the asdediincreases from one year to the next are that i@fsnegotiations between the parties
are generally consistent with the Company’s busisémitegy for its Singapore operations. All owhgrsights in the intellectual property
developed by Fluidigm in Singapore remain with &igin Singapore, and no such rights are convey&Di® under the agreements.

These agreements further provided EDB with thetrigllemand repayment of a portion of past grantké event the Company did not
meet its obligations under the agreements. Basewwaspondence with EDB, the Company believesitinas fulfilled its obligations under
the grants and it will, therefore, not have to sepay of the grant proceeds received through Deeeidb, 2010.

The Company recognized revenue of approximately@1.000, $1,522,000 and $1,654,000 related to E@Btg during 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively. As of December 31, 20102ewember 31, 2009, the Company had deferred reveinapproximately $62,000 and
$144,000, respectively, related to incentive paymér equipment expenditures, which is being rexed ratably over the estimated useful
life of the equipment of four years. As of DecemBg&r 2010 and December 31, 2009, the Company hamhiats receivable from EDB of
approximately $65,000 and $666,000, respectively.
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4. Balance Sheet Dat:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The following are summaries of cash and cash etgrit&(in thousands):

Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair
Cost Gain Loss Value
As of December 31, 201
Money market fund 32 — — 32
Cash 5,691 — — 5,691
$ 5,72 $ — $ — $ 5,72%
As of December 31, 200
Money market fund $ 9,92¢ $ — $ — $ 9,92¢
Notes from governme-sponsored agenci 2,28¢ — — 2,28¢
Cash 2,39( — — 2,39(
$14,60: $ — $ — $14,60:
Inventories
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)of:
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Raw Materials $ 2,401 $ 1,944
Work-in-process 357 121
Finished Good 2,13t 1,88(
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followimgtkiousands):
December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Computer equipment and softw: $ 1,60¢ $ 1,517
Laboratory and manufacturing equipm 9,78( 8,82(
Leasehold improvemen 723 61€
Office furniture and fixture 427 37¢
12,53t 11,32¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (10,627 (9,779
Constructiorin-progress 42C 377
Property and equipment, r $ 2,32¢ $ 1,93
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5. Long-Term Debt

In November 2002, the Company entered into a mastirity agreement with a lender under which tom@any had drawn down
$3,584,000 for the purchase of equipment. In Felpra@08, the Company paid the outstanding prindsdénce of this borrowing plus
accrued interest and a $41,000 prepayment fedtlarsent of this debt.

Under the terms of a loan agreement entered inidairch 2005 and amended in August 2006, the Companmpwed $13,000,000 for
general corporate purposes (the 2005 Agreement) 20R5 Agreement was secured by the assets ofaimp&hy, excluding intellectual
property but including any proceeds from the séli@tellectual property, bore interest at 9.75% @enum and was originally scheduled to
mature in March 2010. In connection with the 20@Feement, the Company issued warrants to the léngrirchase 61,342 shares of Series
D convertible preferred stock at $16.95 per shsee (Note 9). The $104,000 fair value of the wasragsulted in a debt discount that is being
amortized over the life of the borrowing.

In February 2008, the Company amended the 2005efvggat to provide the Company with an additional, 20,000 of borrowing
availability for general corporate purposes (the@B8mendment). The $10,000,000 of additional abditg under the 2008 Amendment
carried interest at 11.5% per annum and was ofllgineheduled to mature in June 2011. In conneatith the 2008 Amendment, the
Company issued warrants to purchase 49,545 shiResies E convertible preferred stock at $24.22spare (see Note 9) to the lender. The
$484,000 fair value of the warrants resulted irebtdliscount that is being amortized over thediféhe borrowing.

In March 2009, amounts outstanding under the 20§®&ment and the 2008 Amendment were combinedrardded (the 2009
Agreement) so as to extend the final repaymenttdatéarch 1, 2012 and to provide for an interesdy geeriod from March 2009 through
February 2010. At the time of the 2009 Agreemdrd,dombined principal balance outstanding undetwiodoans was $14,557,000.
Amounts outstanding under the 2009 Agreement bdegdst at 13.5% per annum. At the end of theéstesnly period, the Company was
scheduled to begin making monthly principal anériest payments of $612,000 with an additional fpetment of $2,263,000. The additic
final payment of $2,263,000 is being accreted ustiegeffective interest method as interest expemseigh the amended maturity date of
March 1, 2012. In connection with the 2009 Agreemtiie Company issued a warrant to purchase 4kR88&s of Series E convertible
preferred stock at $24.22 per share (see Note thetender. The fair value of the warrant resuited $76,000 discount that is being
amortized over the life of the borrowing.

In June 2010, the Company amended the 2009 Agreagther2010 Amendment). The 2010 Amendment extetitkednaturity date of
the existing agreement to February 2013. Borrowmgstanding under the 2010 Amendment continue&s mterest at 13.5% per annum
with interest only payments due monthly throughrigalby 2011. Commencing in March 2011, the Compaitiyowgin making monthly
payments of $612,000 for principal and intereshwlite additional payment of $2,263,000 due in M&@h2. The additional payment is be
accreted as interest expense using the effectigeest method through the extended maturity dateebfuary 2013. The 2010 Amendment is
being accounted for as a modification as the terfitke 2010 Amendment were not substantially défiferfrom the terms of the 2009
Agreement. The 2010 Amendment requires a prepayfeerdf 1.0% of the outstanding principal amouribgerepaid. In connection with
the 2010 Amendment, the Company issued a new waogurchase 57,784 shares of Series E-1 coniegieferred stock at $12.11 per
share. The fair value of this warrant resultedddiional debt discount of $63,000, which is bedmgortized as interest expense over the life
of the borrowing. In addition, the Company reduttes
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exercise price of all of the warrants previousbuisd to the lender to $12.11 per share and extehdedrm of one of the warrants. As a
result, these warrants were revalued resultinglditeonal debt discount of $62,000 that is beingdimed over the expected life of the
borrowing.

Scheduled principal payments under the Companyg-term debt obligations as of December 31, 20&(arfollows (in thousands):

Years ending December &

2011 $ 4,69¢
2012 8,97:
2013 1,21¢
Total principal payments due in future peric 14,88¢
Less debt discout (189
Net lon¢-term debt $14,70(

As of December 31, 2010, the Company was in compdéiavith all loan covenants.

6. Line of Credit

In December 2010, the Company entered into a kiaalof credit agreement (Line of Credit) that idlateralized by the Company’s
accounts receivable and provides the Company Wélability to borrow up to $4.0 million, subjectdertain covenants and other restrictions.
The term of the Line of Credit is two years anldaars interest at the greater of (i) 5.50% ottli§) prime rate, as defined in the Line of Cre
plus 2.25% per year. As of December 31, 2010, thstanding balance on the Line of Credit was $30d@% In February 2011, the Company
repaid all outstanding borrowings under the Lin€oddit.

7. Commitments and Contingencie:
Operating Leases

The Company leases its headquarters in South $aatiBco, California, under a noncancelable leaseeagent that expires in April
2015. The agreement includes a renewal optionpiteatides the Company with the ability to extend ldeese term for an additional three
years. Upon entering into this agreement in Sepéera®10, the Company received a $360,000 leasatimegpayment that is beir
recognized as a reduction of rent expense on igistsine basis over the term of the lease. The gamy also leases office and manufacturing
space under noncancelable leases in Singaporevaritbus expiration dates through July 2013. The gamy’s other operating leases are for
office space in Japan and France and are on a simmtionth basis.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelgambng leases as of December 31, 2010 are asvio(in thousands):

Years ending December 2

2011 $1,04¢
2012 91C
2013 83¢
2014 83t
2015 281
Total minimum payment $3,90¢
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The Company’s lease payments are expensed origh$tine basis over the life of the lease. Remtglense under operating leases for
2010, 2009 and 2008 totaled $1,854,000, $1,91560d051,580,000, respectively.

Indemnifications

From time to time, the Company has entered intenmadification provisions under certain of its agreems in the ordinary course of
business, typically with business partners, custepsnd suppliers. Pursuant to these agreemeat§dmpany may indemnify, hold harmle
and agree to reimburse the indemnified parties casa-by-case basis for losses suffered or inclaydble indemnified parties in connection
with any patent or other intellectual property infement claim by any third party with respecttsogroducts. The term of these
indemnification provisions is generally perpetuahfi the time of the execution of the agreement. Magimum potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to makeruhdse indemnification provisions is typically fiotited to a specific amount. In
addition, the Company has entered into indemnificaagreements with its officers and directors. Toenpany has not incurred material
costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims relabethése indemnification provisions. As of Decem®kr2010, the Company had no accrued
liabilities for these indemnification provisions.

8. Convertible Promissory Notes
Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement

In August 2009, the Company entered into a coriertiote and Warrant Purchase Agreement (Notes)itgiexisting investors to
provide the Company with cash proceeds of $10,&87, connection with the issuance of the Notes,Gompany issued warrants to
purchase 220,176 shares of Series E convertibferped stock at $24.22 per share (see Note 9),hwtaisulted in a $262,000 debt discount.
The Notes were scheduled to mature on Decemb&0B®, with interest accruing on the outstandinggpal amount for the first 60 days at
1% per month and at 2% per month after the firsl®gs, compounded monthly. The Notes’ outstandiiripal and accrued interest were
convertible into preferred stock upon the occureesica qualified financing transaction or at théi@pof a majority of investors, as definec
the agreement.

In November 2009, the Note holders agreed to carlreroutstanding principal and accrued intere$tldf,033,000 into 455,525 shares
of Series E convertible preferred stock, at whigtetthe Company recognized $366,000 of interestiesg related to the Notes and
immediately expensed the remaining debt discoulainisa of $262,000.

BMSIF Convertible Notes

During 2007, the Company borrowed $5,000,000 uadezxisting convertible note purchase agreemeiht tivé Biomedical Sciences
Investment Fund Pte Ltd (BMSIF). BMSIF is wholly n@d by EDB Investments Pte. Ltd., whose parentyeistEDB. Ultimately, each of
these entities is controlled by the governmentin§&pore. In May 2008, BMSIF elected to convertphiacipal and accrued interest
outstanding under the convertible notes of $5,4101jAto 248,380 shares of Series E convertiblegpredl stock at $21.80 per share.

The BMSIF note that was converted into Series Evedible preferred stock had a conversion pric21f.80 per share which was a
discount to the estimated fair value of $24.224bare for the Series E convertible preferred stidke time of the borrowing. The intrinsic
value of the embedded beneficial conversion opdissociated with the borrowing under the arrangemvastmeasured as the difference
between the conversion
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price and the fair value of Series E convertiblef@red stock on the commitment date and the iagudiebt discount was being amortized to
interest expense over the contractual term of #i. dJpon conversion of the note to convertibldgrred stock, the remaining unamortized
debt discount of $280,000 was immediately recoghaeinterest expense.

9. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purchase sfatesonvertible preferred stock at various tirsexe 2001 of which 386,698
warrants with a fair value of approximately $1,@80) remained outstanding at December 31, 2010.aMarto purchase the Company’s
convertible preferred stock are recognized atfalue and classified as liabilities in the consaiétl balance sheets because the warrants ma
conditionally obligate the Company to transfer &sat some point in the future. Subsequent to Deeer®1, 2010 and upon completion of
Company’s IPO in February 2011, approximately 10@,6f outstanding warrants to purchase converpbd¢erred stock expired and the
related liability was reclassified to additionalgyin-capital. Approximately 210,000 of the outsirg warrants converted into warrants to
purchase common stock and will continue to be aaiemlifor as liabilities subject to re-measurement.

During 2010, the Company offered holders of conbktpreferred stock warrants with exercise prigesater than $12.11 per share an
opportunity to amend their eligible warrants by &img the exercise price of the warrants to $1pdrishare. The amended warrants would
be exercisable for shares of new Series E-1 cableegreferred stock and would receive an equallvemof shares of the Company’s
common stock for each warrant exercised, subjettte¢avarrant holder’s agreement to immediately @gerthe warrants in full and for cash.
The offer expired on August 16, 2010. Warrantsupase 57,724 shares of Series E-1 convertibferped stock at $24.22 were amended
for which the Company received proceeds of $699d0Dissued 57,724 shares of Series E-1 convepibferred stock and 57,724 shares of
common stock.

In January 2011, the Company entered into a Nalé/#arrant Purchase Agreement (the Note Agreemadtit)axisting stockholders,
including certain of the Company’s officers, unddrich the Company issued subordinated secured psamyi notes with an aggregate
principal balance of $5,000,000. In connection wfith Note Agreement, the Company issued warrardasdaire a total of 103,182 shares of
Series E-1 convertible preferred stock with an eiserprice of $0.02 per share. See Note 16.

The fair values of outstanding convertible prefdrseock warrants were estimated using the Blacle®shoptionpricing model with th
following weighted-average assumptions at the drechoh of the following fiscal years:

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Expected volatility 61.% 68.1% 54.2%
Expected life (equals the remaining contractuahje 4.3 year 7.3 year 4.4 year
Risk-free interest rat 1.€% 3.1% 1.2%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
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10. Convertible Preferred Stock

At December 31, 2010, the Company had approximdi|296,000 shares of convertible preferred stat&tanding in various series
that are classified outside permanent equity siedemption is beyond the control of the Companyeurmeértain circumstances. Subsequel
December 31, 2010 and upon completion of the CogipdRO in February 2011, all outstanding sharesasfvertible preferred stock
converted by their terms into approximately 11,880,shares of common stock with the related cagryadue of approximately
$184,550,000 reclassified to common stock and hdit paid-in capital.

The following table summarizes information relatedhe convertible preferred stock prior to coni@rsnto common stock (in
thousands):

December 31, 2010

Liquidation

Shares Shared Issued Net
Authorized and Outstanding Proceeds Preference:
Series A 45( 38C $ 2,51¢ $ 2,53(
Series B 1,067 1,061 11,41: 11,43¢
Series C 2,78¢ 2,67( 41,517 41,71(
Series C 2,30¢ 2,18( 36,61 36,96¢
Series E 4,51( 3,94¢ 91,78¢ 95,60
Series I-1 36¢ 57 70E 69¢
11,48¢ 10,29¢ $184,55( $188,94!

Each share of convertible preferred stock convartedcommon stock based upon a conversion ratmefshare of common stock for
each share of convertible preferred stock regasdiéthe series, except for Series E convertibddgored stock which converted at a rate of
approximately 1.3 shares of common stock for e&elnesof Series E convertible preferred stock.

Dividends

No dividends on the convertible preferred stockenbgen declared or paid from inception throughctireversion of the preferred stock
into common stock and common stock warrants.

11. Stock-Based Compensation
2009 Equity Incentive Plan

On April 30, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directadopted the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 20@8&)Runder which incentive
stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stogkr@giation rights, restricted stock and restrictxntk units may be granted to Company
employees, officers, directors, and consultants.

Incentive stock options and nonstatutory stockasgtigranted under the 2009 Plan expire no latertdrayears from the date of grant.
The exercise price of each option granted to agisaint shall be at least 110% of the fair valu¢haf underlying common stock on the date of
grant if, on the grant date, the participant owoslsrepresenting more than 10% of the voting pouiall classes of the Company’s capital
stock; otherwise, the exercise price shall beatl&00% of the fair value of the underlying comrstock on the date of grant. The estimated
fair value of the underlying common stock shalddetermined by the Board of Directors until
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such time as the Company’s common stock is listedrty established stock exchange or national magstém. Generally, outstanding
options vest at a rate of 25% on the first annagref the option grant date and ratably each mowmér the remaining 36 month period. The
Company may grant options with different vestingrs from time to time.

The exercise price of any stock appreciation ridtall be determined by the Board of Directors billthve no less than 100% of the
estimated fair value of the underlying common stockhe date of grant. The stock appreciation sigixpire upon the date determined by the
Board of Directors but no later than ten years fthmdate of grant.

Restricted stock may have certain terms and camditset by the Board of Directors. The Company hdglll the shares of restricted
stock until the restrictions on such shares hazpseld.

The Board of Directors sets the terms, conditiangl restrictions related to the grant of restricteatk units, including the number of
restricted stock units to grant. The Board of Diveg also sets vesting criteria and depending erefftient the criteria are met, the Board of
Directors will determine the number of restrictédck units to be paid out.

The Company has no outstanding stock appreciaiibist restricted stock or restricted stock unig®BDecember 31, 2010.

1999 Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 1999 Stock Option Plan (the 1999)Rdapired in 2009. Options granted or shares issmelér the 1999 Plan that were
outstanding on the date the 2009 Plan became igHagill remain subject to the terms of the 199arR|

As of December 31, 2010, the 2009 Plan had a ®6th|826,031 shares of common stock authorizedsfurance.
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Activity under the 2009 Plan and the 1999 Plarsifodlows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Qutstanding Options

Shares Available Number of Weighted-Average
Exercise Price
for Grant Shares per Share
Balance as of December 30, 2( 19¢ 1,23¢ $ 4.7¢
Additional shares authorize 33C —
Options grante: (460) 46( 18.1¢
Options exercise — (52 3.34
Options cancele 31¢ (319 4.5C
Balance as of December 27, 2( 387 1,32¢ 9.5¢
Additional shares authorize 57¢ —
Options granted (1 (1,119 1,11¢ 4.3¢
Options exercise — (20 2.32
Options canceled (: 881 (881 12.7:
Balance as of December 31, 2( 727 1,541 4.1C
Options grante: (370 37C 4.4t
Options exercise — (18) 2.11
Options cancele 117 (119 4.24
Balance as of December 31, 2( 474 1,77¢ 4.1¢

(1) The number of options granted and canceled in 28€@des options granted and canceled in connettitinthe Exchange (see beloy

Options exercised as reflected in the table abackide options that were exercised prior to vestirttese exercised but unvested sf
generally vest over a four-year period and areexilip a repurchase option held by the Companyeadtiginal exercise price and are not
deemed to be issued until those shares vest. A¢bieer 31, 2010 and 2009, the balance of optionsisee prior to vesting was immaterial.

The Company determines stock-based compensati@msgpsing the Black-Scholes option-pricing moddlthe following weighted-
average assumptions (excluding options grantednme&ction with the Exchange discussed below):

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Expected volatility 59.2% 59.1% 53.8%
Expected life 5.8 year 5.7 year 6.0 year
Risk-free interest rat 2.1% 2.4% 3.2%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weightec-average fair value of options gran $  3.4¢ $ 2.3z $ 98¢

Expected volatility is derived from the historisalatilities of several unrelated public companigthin the life sciences industry. Each
company’s historical volatility is weighted baseadeertain qualitative factors and combined to poeda single volatility factor used by the
Company. The risiree interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasaid gurve in effect at the time of grant for zeoupon U.S. Treasury not
with maturities approximately equal to the optioeigpected life. Given the limited history to acdeha estimate expected lives
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of options granted to the various employee grotisCompany used the “simplified” method. The “dlifigd” method is calculated as the
average of the time-to-vesting and the contradiigabf the options. For the expected lives of ops not at-thenoney, as used in determini
the incremental value of modified options (seeuis@on of Exchange below), the lattice model wasluBorfeitures were estimated based on
an analysis of actual forfeitures, and the Compaenjodically evaluates the adequacy of its forfeittate based on actual forfeiture
experience, analysis of employee turnover, andrdétoeors. The impact of a forfeiture rate adjustiris recognized in full in the period of
adjustment, and if the actual number of futureditufres differs from that estimated by the Compaing,Company may be required to record
adjustments to stock-based compensation experigtuile periods. Adjustments to forfeiture ratesénawt had a significant impact on any of
the periods presented herein. Each of these inpsthjective and generally requires significaaigjment by the Company.

The Company grants stock options at exercise prioetess than the estimated fair value of the Camyg{s common stock at the date of
grant. In the absence of an active market foratarmon stock, the Company’s Board of Directors ai@dicontemporaneous valuations from
an unrelated third-party valuation firm to determthe estimated fair value of common stock baseahosnalysis of relevant metrics such as
the price of the most recent convertible prefestedk sales to outside investors, the rights, peefees, and privileges of the convertible
preferred stock, the Company’s operating and firperformance, the hiring of key personnel, thteaduction of new products, the lack of
marketability of the common stock and additionatdas relating to the Company’s business.

Additional information regarding the Company’s #t@ptions outstanding and exercisable as of DeceBhe?010 is summarized in
the following table:

Options Outstanding

Weighted-
Average

Remaining

Number of Contractual
Exercise Price Per Share Shares Life Options Exercisable

(In Thousands; (In Years) (In Thousands)

$1.82 111 2.1 111
$2.42 25 3.2 25
$3.39 25% 4.2 25%
$4.08 272 8.¢ 14€
$4.45 1,08: 9.1 797
$5.03-$21.99 32 6.€ 30
1,77¢ 7.8 1,362

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2010 hagighted-average remaining contractual life of #drg, a weightedverage exerci:
price per share of $4.12, and an aggregate intriradue of $3,406,000.
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Options outstanding that have vested or are exgéoteest as of December 31, 2010 are summarizéglaws:

Weighted-Average Weighted-Average Aggregate

Number of Exercise Price Remaining Intrinsic

shares per Share Contractual Life Value(2)
(In Thousands; (In Years) (In Thousands;
Vested 1,215 $ 4.04 7.2 $ 3,10
Expected to ves 513 4,51 9.2 1,17¢

Total vested and expected 1

vest 1,73( 4.1¢ 7.8 $ 4,27¢

(2) The aggregate intrinsic value was calculatethaglifference between the exercise price of it®ons and the fair value of the
Compan's common stock of $8.37 per share as of Decemh&®D.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgr2010, 2009 and 2008 was $116,000, $42,000 a&i6, 330, respectively.

In December 2009, the Company completed an offextthange (the Exchange) 801,000 employee stoabknspthat were issued under
the Company’s 1999 Plan. Options with exerciseggsrimnging from $5.03 to $21.99 per share wereangdd on a one-for-one basis for new
options with a lower exercise price of $4.45 parshthe estimated fair value of common stock erdite of the Exchange as determined by
the Company’s Board of Directors. Options grantespant to the Exchange have a new vesting penatdias determined by adding 3
months to the original vesting date of each exchdraption. The Exchange resulted in a modificatiost totaling $645,000 of which
$353,000 was recognized in the year ended DeceBih@009 with $292,000 being amortized over the rawaining vesting periods. These
vesting periods range from three months to foursyéam the date of the Exchange.

There were no stock-based compensation tax benefitgnized during 2010, 2009 or 2008. Capital#tedkbased compensation co
were insignificant during 2010, 2009 and 2008.

As of December 31, 2010, there was $1,596,000taf tmrecognized compensation cost related to dbasled compensation
arrangements which is expected to be recognizedasvaverage period of 1.9 years.

In February and April 2008, the Company granted 33 performance-based awards (the 2008 performemaeds) to certain
executives. These awards vest over an approximfaetyyear period based on continuing service aetevgubject to accelerated vesting if
specified corporate and departmental performaneésgeere met for the fiscal year ended Decembe@U8. Based upon achievement of
departmental performance goals, the vesting ofad ¢ 34,846 such shares was accelerated. In M2068, the Compensation Committee of
the Board of Directors accelerated the vesting83?20 options based upon the achievement of cappeaformance goals. Stock-based
compensation expense for these performance-basedsg recognized as expense over the requigiterpgnce periods using an
accelerated attribution method. The Company reeegh$66,000, $309,000 and $505,000 of stock-bam@gpensation expense during 2010,
2009 and 2008, respectively, relating to these 2@9&rmance awards.

In November 2009, the Company granted 89,017 padoce-based awards (the 2009 performance awardsjtton executives with
performance conditions substantially similar to 2008 performance awards. Based on achievemempafrtinental goals, a total of 25,723
shares were accelerated in December 2009. Based on
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achievement of corporate goals, the vesting ofa t 27,150 shares was accelerated in Decemit¥. Zthhe Company recognized $32,000
and $181,000 of stock-based compensation expemsgyd@010 and 2009, respectively, relating to th23@9 performance awards.

12. Income Taxes

The Company'’s net loss before income taxes islasi® (in thousands):

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Domestic $(18,547) $(21,73%) $(29,52()
International 1,724 2,551 (12¢)
Net loss before income tax $(16,819) $(19,179 $(29,64¢)

Significant components of the Company’s (provisior) / benefit from income taxes are as followstfiousands):

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Current
Federal $— $ 68 $ 55
State (20 5) —
Foreign (73 (13) 92
Total (provision for) / benefit from income tax $ (83 $ 50 $147

Reconciliation of income taxes at the statutorg tatthe (provision for) benefit from income taxesorded in the statements of
operations is as follows:

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008
Tax benefit at federal statutory re 34.(% 34.(% 34.(%
Foreign (0.9 4.4 0.2
Change in valuation allowan (34.]) (38.5) (34.0
Other, ne’ — A4 0.3
Effective tax rate (0.5% 0.2% 0.5%
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities are as follows at (in gends):

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 69,00¢ $ 64,67¢
Reserves and accru: 1,451 601
Depreciation and amortizatic 51¢ 52€
Tax credit carryforward 5,96¢ 5,34:
Stock based compensati 1,197 96¢
Total deferred tax asse 78,14( 72,11¢
Valuation allowanct (78,140 (72,119
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —

The Company evaluates a number of factors to dé@terthe realizability of its deferred tax assetsc&ynition of deferred tax assets is
appropriate when realization of these assets i® filaly than not. Assessing the realizability efefred tax assets is dependent upon several
factors including historical financial results. TBempany has incurred losses since its incepticepraingly, the net deferred tax assets have
been fully offset by a valuation allowance. Theuadion allowance increased by $6,025,000, $6,819a0@ $12,489,000 during 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company had net dpgrhtss carryforwards for federal income tax pwgmof $183,974,939, which
expire in the years 2019 through 2030, and fedesslarch and development tax credits of $4,053)¥B&h expire in the years 2019 through
2030. As of December 31, 2010, the Company hadperating loss carryforwards for California stateame tax purposes of $138,173,189,
which expire in the years 2014 through 2030, stedearch and development tax credits of $4,391\86ith do not expire, and California
manufacturer’s investment credit of $127,000, whaghires beginning in 2012. In addition, the Comphas approximately $23,201,956 in
other state net operating loss carryovers whicle vavious expiration dates from 2011 through 2@30of December 31, 2010, the Company
had foreign net operating loss carryforwards ofl§&,624. A significant portion of the foreign netenating losses relates to activity in Japan
with a seven year carryforward period which begmexpire in 2015.

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwaedsd credits may be subject to a substantial adimightion due to the ownership
change limitations provided by the Internal Reve@oee of 1986, as amended and similar state pomssiThe annual limitation may result
in the expiration of net operating losses and tsduifore utilization. If an ownership change hesuored, the utilization of net operation loss
and credit carryforwards could be significantly weed.

The Company has not provided for U.S. federal aatk sSncome taxes on all of the non-U.S. subsiegatndistributed earnings as of
December 31, 2010, because such earnings are éde¢adbe indefinitely reinvested. Upon distributmfithose earnings in the form of
dividends or otherwise, the Company would be suligeapplicable U.S. federal and state income tadesdlistributed earnings of the
Company'’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to appresefy $55,992 at December 31, 2010.
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Uncertain Tax Positions

The aggregate changes in the balance of the Corigpgmss unrecognized tax benefits during 2010928t 2008 were as follows (in
thousands):

December 29, 20C $1,92:7
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current perio 1,46
Decreases in balances related to tax positionstdidgng prior perioc (130

December 28, 20C 3,257
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current perio 1,512
Decreases in balances related to tax positions tdigng prior perioc (18

December 31, 200 4,751
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing a prior perios 5
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current perio 87:¢
Decreases in balances related to tax positions tdigng prior perioc (839

December 31, 201 $4,79¢

Accrued interest and penalties related to unre@egiiax benefits are included in income tax (prionigbenefit and were immaterial.

As of December 31, 2010, the total amount of urgataed tax benefits that, if recognized, would eiftae company’s effective tax rate
are not material. The Company does not anticigegteits existing unrecognized tax benefits willnéfigantly increase or decrease within the
next 12 months.

The Company files income tax returns in the Uni¢akes, various states, and certain foreign juiiggis. As a result of net operating
loss carryforwards, all of the Company’s tax yeaes subject to federal, state and foreign tax ematian.

13. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan that stiputateseligible employees can elect to contributehoplan, subject to certain
limitations, up to the lesser of 60% of eligiblerq@ensation or the maximum amount allowed by the [R®& Company has not made
contributions to this plan since its inception.

14. Relatec-Party Transactions

As discussed in Note 8, the Company had a conlertitite purchase agreement with BMSIF pursuantiiciwthe Company issued
convertible notes and received proceeds of $5.0omiln 2007. Principal and interest on this notsveonverted into shares of Series E
convertible preferred stock in 2008.

BMSIF and its related companies held 1,557,648eshaf the Company’s convertible preferred stockfd3ecember 31, 2010, which
constitutes 11% of the outstanding shares of thafgamy on a fully diluted basis. In addition, then@any’s manufacturing operations in
Singapore, which commenced in October 2005, haga bapported by grants from EDB, which provide iritee payments for research,
development, and manufacturing activity in Singapay the Company. These agreements are discuss&xdears.
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Dr. Stephen Quake, who is a professor of bioengingat Stanford University, is one of the Companfgunding stockholders and held
384,290 shares of the Company’s common stock Beoémber 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009. Dr. Qesxkes as a consultant to the
Company and is a member of the Company’s ScierAificisory Board. The Company paid consulting fee$31,700, $108,000 and
$117,000 to Dr. Quake during 2010, 2009 and 20&8hectively, and accrued amounts payable to DrkQredated to these payments were
$17,000 and $8,000 as of December 31, 2010 andnikere31, 2009, respectively.

The Company’s general counsel was a member of fifawhose services are utilized by the Company.April 1, 2008, the
Company’s general counsel resigned his positiomfsach law firm. Amounts paid to the law firm fargices and patent fees were $180,000
for the period from January 1 through April 1, 2008

The following table represents the related partafi@es and transactions included in the Compargrisaidated balance sheets and
consolidated statements of operations (in thougands

December 31 December 31
2010 2009

Balance Shee

Accounts receivabl $ 65 $ 66€

Deferred revenue, current porti 59 112

Deferred revenue, net of current port 3 32

Fiscal Year
2010 2009 2008

Statement of Operations
Grant revenus $1,10¢4 $1,52: $1,65¢4
Research and developmt 10C 10C 10C
Selling, general and administrati — — 72¢
Interest expens — 367 417

15. Information About Geographic Areas
The Company determined that it has a single reppgegment and operating unit structure, whicheésdtevelopment, manufacturing,
and commercialization of microfluidic systems foe fife science and Ag-Bio industries.

The following table represents the Company’s prodexenue by geography based on the billing addrefee Company’s customers
for each year presented (in thousands):

Year-Ended
December 31 December 31 December 27
2010 2009 2008
United State: $ 16,61¢ $ 12,63( $ 6,917
Europe 7,571 4,88t 3,17:
Japar 2,70(C 3,172 1,64¢
Asia Pacific 2,80( 2,162 1,431
Other 76€ 75C 204
Total $ 30,46: $ 23,59¢ $ 13,36¢
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The Company’s grant revenue is primarily gener@ieingapore and collaboration revenue is primagéyerated in the United States.

The following table represents long-lived assetgéggraphic area (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2010 2009
United State: $ 1,02¢ $ 922
Singapore 1,28¢ 1,00t
Europe 15 —
Japar — 3
Total $ 2,328 $ 1,93

16. Subsequent Event:
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

In January 2011, the Company amended and restat€eitificate of Incorporation. The amendment esgiatement increased the total
number of shares of stock authorized for issuarara £8,470,639 to 29,595,999, consisting of angase in the number of shares of comi
stock authorized from 16,909,116 to 18,327,000addcrease in the number of shares of convertiefeped stock authorized from
11,561,523 to 11,268,999. The amendment also desmie¢he conversion price of the Series E converpbéferred stock from $24.22 to
$18.63 per share. As a result, the Company wibmé@ deemed dividend of approximately $9,900,@0@flect the fair value of the
additional shares of common stock to be issuedrasudt of the change in conversion price of theeSeE convertible preferred stock. The
deemed dividend will be recognized in the firstigaiaof 2011 and will increase the net loss alldedab common stockholders in the
calculation of basic and diluted net loss per comsivare.

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement

In January 2011, the Company entered into a Nalé/éarrant Purchase Agreement (the Note Agreemadtit)axisting stockholders,
including certain of the Company’s officers, unddrich the Company issued subordinated secured psamyi notes (the Notes) with an
aggregate principal balance of $5,000,000 and hganmierest at 8% per year. The Compargbligations under the Notes were secured b
assets of the Company, excluding intellectual priypand were subordinated to senior indebtednesedoan agreement entered into in
March 2005, as amended (see Note 5) and the LiQeaufit. Notes issued under the Note Agreementmradton the earliest to occur of the
closing of the next financing in which the Compassued and sold shares of capital stock of at B2&{000,000, a change of control as
defined in the Note Agreement, or January 6, 284 rhaturity date). In connection with the Note égment, the Company issued warrants
to acquire a total of 103,182 shares of SeriescBrlertible preferred stock with an exercise pat80.02 per share. The warrants expired on
the earlier of January 6, 2021, an acquisitionedgdd in the Note Agreement, or immediately ptmthe closing of a firm commitment
underwritten IPO. As a result of completing its IRGFebruary 2011, the warrants were net exerdizetl03,182 shares of the Company’s
common stock and the Company repaid all principdliaterest outstanding under these Notes in Feparad March 2011.
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17. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Selected quarterly results of operations for treryended December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as foliowsousands, except for per

share amounts):

2010
Total revenue
Net loss

Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi

2009
Total revenue
Net loss

Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi

104

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$6,71¢ $ 8,02 $ 8,46¢ $10,35¢
$(5,625  $(4,819)  $(3,38)  $(3,079
$(302) $@5) $@7H $ (159

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 3,997 $ 6,22z $ 7,56¢ $ 7,628
$(6,850  $(4,98)  $(3,870  $(3,42%
$ (4.09) $ (2.9¢) $ (2.19) $ (1.85)
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clrécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeraluated the effectiveness of
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.0. The term “disclosure controls and procesitiras defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1884mended, or the Exchange Act, means contrdlsther procedures of a company
that are designed to ensure that information requio be disclosed by a company in the reportsitffisgs or submits under the Exchange .
is recorded, processed, summarized and reportéuinwie time periods specified in the SEC’s rided forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controlglgarocedures designed to ensure that informatiquired to be disclosed by a company in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exade Act is accumulated and communicated to thgpaogis management, including its
principal executive and principal financial offiseas appropriate to allow timely decisions regaydiequired disclosure. Management
recognizes that any controls and procedures, ntentatw well designed and operated, can providg mdsonable assurance of achieving
their objectives and management necessarily apdiggdgment in evaluating the cost-benefit ralaship of possible controls and
procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disodosontrols and procedures as of December 31, 20k@hief Executive Officer and Chi
Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date,disclosure controls and procedures were effecti the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting

The SEC, as required by Section 404 of the Sarb@mésy Act, adopted rules requiring every comparat files reports with the SEC
include a management report on such company’snakeontrol over financial reporting in its annu@port. In addition, our independent
registered public accounting firm must attest toiaternal control over financial reporting. Thisport on Form 10« does not include a repi
of management’s assessment regarding internalatanter financial reporting or an attestation reépdrour independent registered public
accounting firm due to a transition period estdidisby SEC rules applicable to newly public companManagement will be required to
provide an assessment of the effectiveness ofnbeimial control over financial reporting as of Deter 31, 2011 and we expect that our
independent registered public accounting firm Wélrequired to attest that our internal controlrdir@ncial reporting is effective as of
December 31, 2012.

We believe we will have adequate resources andréspgeboth internal and external, in place to nikese requirements. However,
there is no guarantee that our efforts will resulhanagement’s ability to conclude, or our indegmn registered public accounting firm to
attest, that our internal control over financiglaging is effective as of the applicable dates.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin
There were no changes in our internal control éwancial reporting that occurred during the yeaded December 31, 2010 that have

materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived goetated, are designed to provide a reasonabledbain absolute, level of assura
that the objectives of the control system are fetther, the design of a control
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system must reflect the fact that there are regotwostraints, and the benefits of controls musidmsidered relative to their costs. Becau:
the inherent limitations in all control systems,ev@luation of controls can provide absolute asmeadhat all control issues and instances of

fraud, if any, have been detected. Because ofitierént limitations in any control system, misstetats due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Executive Officers and Directors
Our executive officers and directors, and theirsag®ed positions as of March 15, 2011 are as skt falow:

Name Age Position

Gajus V. Worthingtor 41  President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Vikram Jog 54  Chief Financial Office

Fredric Walde| 53  Chief Business Office

Robert C. Jone 56  Executive Vice President, Research and Developi

William M. Smith 59 Vice President, Legal Affairs, General Counsel Sedretary

Mai Chan (Grace) Yow 52  Vice President, Worldwide Manufacturing and Mangdbirector of Fluidigm Singapore
Pte. Ltd.

Samuel Colella(2)(3 71  Director

Patrick Jones(1 66  Director

Kenneth Nussbacher(1)( 58 Director

Raymond J. Whitaker(1)(: 63  Director

John A. Young(1 78  Director

(1) Member of the Audit Committe
(2) Member of the Compensation Commit
(3) Member of the Nominating and Governance Comm

Executive Officers

Gajus V. Worthingtoiis a Co-Founder of Fluidigm and has served as msitent and Chief Executive Officer and a Diresioce our
inception in June 1999. From May 1994 to April 1988. Worthington held various staff and managenpatitions at Actel Corporation, a
public semiconductor corporation. Mr. Worthingt@teived a B.S. in Physics and an M.S. in Electicajineering from Stanford Universit

Vikram Joghas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincerlraty 2008. From April 2005 to February 2008, Mrg $erved as Chief
Financial Officer for XDx, Inc., a molecular diaggtits company. From March 2003 to April 2005, Mig dvas a Vice President of Applera
Corporation, a life science company that is now phtife Technologies, Inc., and Vice Presidentafance for its related businesses, Celera
Genomics and Celera Diagnostics. From April 200M&vch 2003, Mr. Jog was Vice President of FinaioceCelera Diagnostics and
Corporate Controller of Applera Corporation. MrgJeceived a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Détiversity and an M.B.A. from
Temple University. Mr. Jog is a member of the Aroani Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Fredric Walderhas served as our Chief Business Officer since R0dy). From August 1992 to April 2010 he serveddriaus senior
executive positions at Thermo Fisher Scientifilgkratory equipment and supplies manufacturehiéticg as Senior Vice President,
Customer Excellence from November 2006 to April@@ihd Division President, Thermo Electron Corporafrom January 2000 to
November 2006. Mr. Walder holds a B.S. in Chemifioyn the University of Massachuse!

Robert C. Jonebas served as our Executive Vice President, Rdsaaitt Development since August 2005. From Augu8418
July 2005, Mr. Jones held various managerial asdaieh and development positions at
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Applied Biosystems, a laboratory equipment and Beppnanufacturer that was a division of Applerag@woation, including: Senior Vice
President Research and Development from April 2004ugust 2005, Vice President and General Manbdermatics Division from 1998 1
2001, and Vice President PCR Business Unit fron#169.998. Mr. Jones received a BSEE in Electigajineering and an MSEE in
Computer Engineering from the University of Washamgy

William M. Smithhas served as our Vice President, Legal Affairs@aderal Counsel as well as our Secretary since2089 and
served as a Director from May 2000 to April 2008. Bmith served as an associate and then as &pattthe law firm of Townsend and
Townsend and Crew, LLP from 1985 through April 2008. Smith received a J.D. and an M.P.A. from theversity of Southern California
and a B.A. in Biology from the University of Califtia, San Diego.

Mai Chan (Grace) Yowas served as our Vice President, Worldwide Marnufamy, and Managing Director, Fluidigm Singapote.P
Ltd., our Singapore subsidiary, since March 2006nJune 2005 to March 2006, Ms. Yow served as faéManager of Fluidigm
Singapore Pte. Ltd. From August 2004 to May 2005, ¥ow served as Vice President Engineering (AfsiaKulicke and Soffa, a public
semiconductor equipment manufacturer. From Mard@1L16 July 2004, Ms. Yow served as Director, Assigrilperations, Plant Facilities
and EHS, for National Semiconductor Singapore naigenductor fabrication subsidiary of National Seamiductor Corporation. Ms. Yow
received a B.E. in Electronic Engineering from @utdniversity, a Certificate in Management Studi@sn the Singapore Institute of
Management and a Diploma in Electrical Engineefingh Singapore Polytechnic.

Board of Directors

Samuel Colelldas served as a member and Chairman of our boalideafors since July 2000. Mr. Colella is a manggiirector of
Versant Ventures, a healthcare venture capital fienco-founded in 1999, and has been a generalgoat Institutional Venture Partners
since 1984. Mr. Colella is currently a member @& kiward of directors of Alexza Pharmaceuticals,, IB&@nomic Health, Inc. and Jazz
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and served on the boardeftdirs of Solta Medical, Inc. from 1997 to 200d &ymyx Technology, Inc. from 1997 to
2007. Mr. Colella received a B.S. in business argireeering from the University of Pittsburgh and\aiB.A. from Stanford University. We
believe that Mr. Colella’s qualifications to serwe our board and as Chairman include his broadrstateding of the life science industry and
his extensive experience working with emerging gevand public companies, including prior servisel@airman of boards of directors.

Patrick Jonedas served as a member of our board of directocg $larch 2011. Mr. Jones has been a private iovssice March
2001. He currently sits on the boards of Epocratgspvider of clinical solutions to healthcarefpssionals and interactive services to the
healthcare industry; Novell, Inc., an enterprideaistructure software provider; Lattice Semicondu@orporation, a fabless semiconductor
company; and Openwave Systems, a telecom infrasteusoftware provider. From June 1998 to March120dr. Jones was the Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Gemplu®tnational S.A. (how GEMALTO N.V.), a provider e6lutions empowered by smart
cards. Prior to Gemplus, from March 1992 to Jur@B8l8e was vice president and corporate contratlémtel Corp., a producer of
microchips, computing and communications produetgr to that, Mr. Jones served as Chief Finar@ificer of LSI Logic, a semiconductor
company. We believe that Mr. Jones’ qualificatitmserve on our board include his significant ficiahand accounting expertise and
international business experience.

Kenneth J. Nussbachbas served as a member of our board of directoce siuly 2003. From 2000 to 2009, Mr. Nussbachmeseas
an Affymetrix Fellow, a non-executive employee piosi, at Affymetrix, Inc., a biotechnology compamrom 1995 to 2000, Mr. Nussbacher
was Executive Vice President of Affymetrix, Incdafinom 1995 to 1997, he was also Chief Financidio®f of Affymetrix. Prior to joining
Affymetrix, Mr. Nussbacher was Executive Vice Pdesit for business and legal affairs of Affymax Talogies N.V. Mr. Nussbacher also
served on the board of directors of Symyx Techngldgc. from 1995 to 2008 and
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XenoPort, Inc. from 2000 to 2009. He received a. Bi¥hysics from Cooper Union and a J.D. from Dukeversity. We believe that

Mr. Nussbacher’s qualifications to serve on ourrdoaclude his understanding of the genomic researarket and his experience as a chief
financial officer, a board member with other puldind private companies and as an executive redperisi business, financial, intellectual
property and other legal matters.

Raymond J. Whitakdras served as a member of our board of directocg $december 2008. He has been a general paritmes,its
inception in January 2000, of EuclidSR PartnerB, La venture capital firm that focuses on lifeaces and information technology
companies. From January 1997 to July 2003, he dexs&/ice President of S.R. One, the venture dapitasidiary of GlaxoSmithKline. Prior
to that, for over fifteen years, he had held seatporate and business development positions @hklime Beecham (USA), Recordati SpA
(Italy) and Laboratoires Delagrange (France). Betw#997 and 2008, he served on the boards of sixture backed companies, includ
Avalon Pharmaceuticals, Hypnion, Kosan Bioscienbamory Pharmaceuticals, Rib-X Pharmaceuticalsu8egm and Xenogen, and five
companies in the UK. Dr. Whitaker received a Plinthiochemistry and an M.B.A from the National Ueiisity of Ireland. We believe that
Mr. Whitaker’s qualifications to serve on our Boamdlude his experience working with life scien@mpanies both as an executive and an
investor.

Gajus V. Worthingtoiis a Co-Founder of Fluidigm and has served as msitkent and Chief Executive Officer and a Diresioce our
inception in June 1999. From May 1994 to April 1988. Worthington held various staff and managenpatitions at Actel Corporation, a
public semiconductor corporation. We believe that Wiorthington’s qualifications to serve on our ebaf directors include his
understanding of our business, operations anceglyat

John A. Youn@as served as a member of our board of directoce $ilarch 2001. Mr. Young retired as President@nieéf Executive
Officer of Hewlett-Packard Company, a diversifiddotronics manufacturer, in October 1992, wherédm served as President and Chief
Executive Officer since 1978. Mr. Young served asractor of Affymetrix, Inc. from 1992 until 201&,ermillion, Inc., a molecular
diagnostics company, from 1994 to 2008, and iseriily a director of Nanosys, Inc., a nanotechnologypany. Mr. Young received a B.S.
in Electrical Engineering from Oregon State Uniuwgrand an M.B.A. from Stanford University. We lmle that Mr. Young’s qualifications
to serve on our board include his extensive managésxperience.

There are no family relationships among any ofditectors or executive officers.

Board Composition

Our board of directors is currently composed ofresembers and is divided into three staggered dasfsgirectors. At each annual
meeting of stockholders, a class of directors lgllelected for a three-year term to succeed the séams whose terms are then expiring. The
terms of the directors will expire upon the elegtand qualification of successor directors at thewal Meeting of Stockholders to be held
during the years 2011 for the Class | directorda2for the Class Il directors and 2013 for the €ldlsdirectors.

e Our Class | directors are Raymond J. Whitaker aatddk Jones
e Our Class Il directors are John Young and Kennetksache!
e Our Class Il directors are Samuel Colella and &ajlorthington

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provitiat the number of our directors shall be fixewhfrtime to time by a resolution of 1
majority of our board of directors. Each officenass at the discretion of the board of directord laolds office until his successor is duly
elected and qualified or until his or her earliesignation or removal.
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Audit Committee

Our Audit Committee currently consists of Patrickids, Kenneth Nussbacher, John Young and Raymoritaik&h Our Board of
Directors has determined that Mr. Jones is an aaditmittee financial expert and that he meetseheirements for independence under the
current requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Procedures by which stockholders may recommend nomeées to our Board of Directors

On December 1, 2010, our board approved the Nomgnand Governance Committee Policies and ProcedareDirector Candidates
which became effective upon our initial public ofifey and provided the procedures by which stockéaslanay recommend nominees to our
board.

Requirements for stockholder recommendations of a candidate to our Board

Our nominating and governance committee will coasir@commendations for candidates to our boardretirs from stockholders of
the Company by stockholders that have held, fétgast twelve months prior to the date of submissibtihe recommendation, at least 1% of
our outstanding common stock. A stockholder thatrds to recommend a candidate for consideratiaiégommittee as a potential
candidate for director must direct the recommendaiti writing to us at our principal executive ¢ffs in South San Francisco, California
(Attention: William Smith, Vice President, Legalfairs and General Counsel) and must include thdidate’s name, home and business
contact information, detailed biographical datéevant qualifications, a signed letter from thedidate confirming willingness to serve,
information regarding any relationships betweendduedidate and the Company and evidence of themaemding stockholder’s ownership
of Company stock, and any other information regliebe disclosed about the candidate if proxieewe be solicited to elect the candidate
as a director pursuant to Regulation 14 of the Brge Act. Our nominating and governance commitidleeansider the recommendation but
will not be obligated to take any further actionghwespect to the recommendation.

Requirements for stockholder nominations to be brought before an annual meeting

Separately, our bylaws contain specific requiremgotverning the processes and procedures for situlekis who wish to formally
nominate a candidate and ensure that he or shwrigated and eligible for election at an annualtingeof stockholders. Generally,
nominations for the election of directors may balmby stockholders who have timely delivered wnitbetice to us at our principal execut
offices in South San Francisco, California (AttentiWilliam Smith, Vice President, Legal Affairs@@eneral Counsel) in compliance with
the advance notice provisions included in our bglaBuch notice must contain specified informationocerning the nominees such as the
nomineeshame, age, home and business contact informatimgigal occupation or employment, the class anailmer of shares beneficial
owned by the nominee and any derivative positia@id br beneficially held by the nominee, whethey hadging transactions have been
entered into by the nominee or on his or her beldirmation regarding any arrangements or undadihgs between the nominee and the
stockholder nominating the nominee or any othesques relating to the nomination, a written statenbgrthe nominee acknowledging that
the nominee will owe a fiduciary duty to the Compamd the stockholders if elected, and any othermation required to be disclosed ab
the nominee if proxies were to be solicited to elee nominee as a director pursuant to Reguldtibaf the Exchange Act. For a stockholder
recommendation to be considered by our nominatirthggvernance committee as a potential candidate ahnual meeting, written notice
nominations must be received on or before the deaéthr receipt of stockholder proposals for sudeting. In the event a stockholder
decides to nominate a candidate for director afiditsoproxies for such candidate, the stockhold#rneed to follow the rules set forth by 1
SEC and in our bylaws.

Except as may be required by rules promulgatedh®ySEC, it is the current position of the committest there are no specific
qualifications that must be met by any candidatéHe board, nor are there specific qualities dissthat are necessary for any candidate for
the board to possess. These procedures may beiedoglifany time as may be determined by the coraeitt
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In evaluating the suitability of the candidate® dommittee considers relevant factors, includamgong other things, issues of chara
integrity, judgment, independence, expertise, ditgof experience, length of service, other commeitts and the like. The committee
considers the diversity of the candidates and tzedbased on factors such as business backgrodnekaerience and potential contributi
to the board. The committee attempts to ensuretieaboard is constituted by individuals from tlie $cience and agricultural biotechnology
industries and others with financial and accounérgerience in order to bring diverse business rspee to the board. The committee
evaluates all of these factors and considers ewtiidual candidate in the context of the curresricgived needs of the board of directors as a
whole.

Our board of directors has the final authority @tetmining the selection of director candidatesnfamination to our board.

Code of Ethics and Employee Conduct

In December 2010, we adopted a code of ethics ampdogee conduct that is applicable to all of ouptoyees, officers and directors
effective upon completion of our initial public efing. This code may be found on our website at:
http://investors.fluidigm.com/documentdisplay.cfnotidbment|D=8292

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41&@Rjuires our executive officers and directorsl persons who own more than 10%
of a registered class of our equity securitiediléareports of ownership on Forms 3, 4 and 5 whith SEC. Officers, directors and greater than
10% stockholders are required to furnish us withies of all Forms 3, 4 and 5 they file.

Based solely on our review of the copies of sucmfwe have received and written representatiamm frertain reporting persons that
they filed all required reports, we believe thaidlour officers, directors and greater than 1Q&elsholders complied with all Section 16(a)
filing requirements applicable to them with respectransactions during 2010.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Overview

We seek to have a compensation program that supapdeam ethic among our management, fairly renexdsutives for corporate and
individual performance and provides incentivesdwecutives to meet or exceed our short and lomg ¢grals. The primary components of
compensation program are base salary, an annualtime bonus plan, and option awards. In additiesprovide our executive officers with
severance and change of control benefits and tiypézdth and other benefits that are available galyeto all salaried employees.
Historically, our compensation committee has hadgjpal responsibility for evaluating executive goemsation, and either the compensation
committee or the independent members of our bofditectors were responsible for final approvah& our public offering in February
2011, our compensation committee has had princgsglonsibility for approving executive compensafmiowing consultations with our
independent directors. In addition, to comply withle 16b3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we expgity incentive for executiy
officers to be approved, on recommendation of tragensation committee, by a committee of our dimscivho qualify as “non-employee
directors” pursuant to the rule.

For 2010, our named executive officers were:
*  Gajus Worthington, President and Chief ExecutivBo@f,
e Vikram Jog, Chief Financial Office
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Fredric Walder, Chief Business Offic
William Smith, Vice President, Legal Affairs and i@&eal Counsel, an
Robert Jones, Executive Vice President, Reseamtibanelopment

Objectives and Principles of Our Executive Compensation

The primary goal of our executive compensation m@ogis to ensure that we hire and retain talenteldexperienced executives who
motivated to achieve or exceed our short-term and-term corporate goals. As a starting point, e#else that it is critical that our executive
officers work together as a team and look beyorghdeental lines to achieve overall corporate goatlser than focusing exclusively on
individual departmental objectives. Our compensafibilosophy is team oriented as our success israEmt on what our management team
can accomplish together. Therefore, we seek toigeawur named executive officers with comparablele of base salary, bonuses and
annual equity awards that are based largely orathampany performance.

In determining the form and amount of compensap@yable to our named executive officers, we ardegliby the following objectives
and principles:

Team oriented approach to establishing compensadgioels. Our team oriented approach is demonstrated bfatiteéhat the
salaries of our executive officers are very simi&hile the compensation level of Mr. Worthingtay Chief Executive Officer,
or CEOQ, is marginally higher than our other exaubfficers, it is based on our compensation pbijiy of providing our named
executive officers with comparable levels of congagion, rather than on levels reported in markatests of other companies in
the life science industnr

Compensation should relate directly to performaand incentive compensation should constitute aifsigmt portion of total
compensation\We strongly believe that executive compensatioukhbe directly linked to our performance. Our camgation
program is designed so that a significant portibthe potential compensation of all of our execetbfficers is contingent on the
achievement of our business objectives. In rewarggrformance, we seek to reward both short angl term performance. We
expect our executive leadership to manage our comnga that we achieve our annual goals while atémee time positioning us
to achieve our longer term strategic objectivesrsterm elements of compensation include anndahgeeviews, stock option
awards and incentive bonuses that are tied cldsedghieving our corporate goals and, to a lesdeng on achieving
departmental performance objectives. Long term etemof compensation have historically been limitedtock options with
multi-year vesting designed to retain executived @ign their long term interests with those of setackholders. We also grant
stock options with performance related vesting twerclosely align the options awards with perforoea

Align compensation decisions with internal considiens rather than industry benchmarWe believe that hiring and retaining
well performing executives is important to our oimgpsuccess. While we have at times reviewed gépenaailable surveys on
executive compensation to confirm that our compeémsalecisions do not result in compensation letteds are dramatically
different from other companies in our industry, deenpensation committee has not in the past ateshtptbenchmark our
executive compensation against any particular eslar salary surveys. While occasional review ofketasurveys is considered
helpful, the compensation committee has histogiqalthced substantially greater weight on intermedsiderations than on position-
specific pay differences found in the marl

Except as described below, neither the board ettbrs nor the compensation committee has adoptetbamal or informal policies or
guidelines for allocating compensation between egshnon-cash compensation, among different fofm®ie-cash compensation or with
respect to long and short term performance. Theraehation of our board of directors or compensatommittee as to the appropriate use
and weight of each component of executive companmsi subjective, based on their view of the ielatmportance of each
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component in meeting our overall objectives andof@crelevant to the individual executive. Histatlg, our board of directors has focused
significantly on the affordability of our compenisat arrangements. As a result, when weighting foofnsompensation, our board of direct
and the compensation committee have historicaliggrd greater emphasis on non-cash equity incecoivgensation together with base
salary.

In the future, we may periodically engage the smwiof a compensation consultant to assist ugtiheualigning our compensation
philosophy with our corporate objectives. In additiin order to attract and retain key executivesmay be required to modify individual
executive compensation levels to remain competitivke market for such positions.

Compensation Process and Compensation Committee

From January through May 2010, the compensatiomutiee consisted of Messrs. Colella, Nussbachemictael Hunkapiller, who
was formerly a member of our board of directorgeAMr. Hunkapiller’'s resignation from the boarde tcompensation committee was
restructured to consist of Messrs. Colella and @keait, each of whom is an independent director utigerules of The NASDAQ Stock
Market LLC but is not a “non-employee director” faurposes of Rule 16b-3 under the Securities Exgindet of 1934, as amended.

The compensation committee is responsible for ewg our compensation structure and goals andithahl compensation levels.
Depending on the authority granted to it by thertad directors, the compensation committee eidipgaroves specific compensation
decisions or makes recommendations to our boatdit@dtors for consideration and approval by theepehdent members of the board. The
compensation committee makes its compensation neemdations based on input from Mr. Worthington thedjudgment of its members
based on their tenure and experience in our ingluiBlre compensation committee has the respongilfditformulating, evaluating and
recommending to our board of directors the comp@saf our executive officers. Our annual comp¢iosareview process is initiated by
Mr. Worthington who performs a review of the penfiance of each executive officer in the prior yaat makes proposals regarding the
elements of compensation, corporate and indivigoals and compensation levels for our executiviea including himself.

Mr. Worthington’s proposals for compensation stowef goals and individual compensation levels ypeeally based on discussions with and
directions from members of the compensation conemitt

Compensation levels and mix for Mr. Worthingtony @hief Executive Officer, are determined by thenpensation committee basec
the committee’s assessment of our overall corpgrat®rmance and Mr. Worthington’s contributiorthat performance. While
Mr. Worthington provides input on his compensatioa.does not participate in compensation commdtdmard deliberations regarding his
own compensation. As it does for other memberaiofaecutive team, the compensation committee wiétes Mr. Worthington'’s
compensation based on achievement of corporatdepartmental objectives, his individual performarased compensation levels of other
members of our executive team, rather than attemgpd tie Mr. Worthington’s compensation to a sfie@ercentile of CEO compensation
reported in market compensation surveys.

Subject to any limitations or guidelines that mayadaopted by our board of directors in the futtire,compensation committee has the
authority to approve the grant of stock optionstock purchase rights to individuals eligible fack grants, including officers and directors.
The compensation committee met three times dur@ig 2

The compensation committee has the authority uitsleharter to engage the services of outside atyjisompensation experts and
others for assistance and has sole authority tooapphe terms of any such engagement. The comp@emsammittee did not engage any
such advisors in 2010 nor did it rely on any congagion surveys.
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Corporate and Departmental Performance Goals

2010 Corporate GoalsOur 2010 corporate goals were proposed by Mr.thifagton and revised and approved by our compeorsati
committee. These goals were developed in Janudr), 20hd our operating plan at that time assumedixtbavould not engage in any
significant fundraising activities during 2010. TA@10 corporate goals were (i) ending 2010 wittnfiion of available cash; (ii) releasing
the FC1 thermal cycler in the second quarter, satggthe FR48.48 Dynamic Array chip in the secoundrter, entering into a non-invasive
pre-natal diagnostic collaboration by the secorakigu, releasing a BioMark system with a high tigtmout thermal cycler in the third quarter,
and having a peer-reviewed article published ipexsic field by the third quarter; (iii) increagjrour identified sales opportunities to
specified levels for each of our three actively keéed microfluidic systems, (iv) achieving a ratfo64% for cost of product sales divided by
total revenue for 2010, and (v) profitability fdret fourth quarter. The compensation committee betiattaining the 2010 corporate goals
would take a high level of executive performandee Tommittee did not assign weights to these gehén they were approved but has
reserved the authority to assign weights to theranadetermining bonuses and performance stock opésting.

2010 Departmental GoalsThe compensation committee did not define spedéipartmental goals in 2010 as it felt that thpomte
goals were broad and challenging enough that itsuéficient that each department focus on achiettioge goals. As such, the compensation
committee decided to determine the departmentapoment of bonuses based on the extent to which@eamtutive’s performance
contributed to achieving or not achieving the coape goals.

2011 Corporate GoalsOur 2011 corporate goals were proposed by Mr.tiiftgton and approved by our compensation commifthae
2011 goals are: (i) achieving a specified levgbmmiduct revenue, (ii) achieving a specified levigjimnt and collaboration revenue,
(iii) achieving specified levels of total revenuedach quarter, (iv) achieving specified productgime in each quarter, and (v) achieving a
specified cost structure for the corporation ashalesby the 40 quarter of 2011. The compensationncitt®e believes that these goals would
be achievable with a high level of executive paerfance. The compensation committee decided to giele ef the product revenue and
quarterly total revenue goals twice the weighthesrion-revenue goals, and the grant and collaborativenue goal half of the weight of the
non-revenue goals. The compensation committeensethe discretion to alter these weightings whettiinately determines bonuses.

2011 Departmental Goald~or 2011, the compensation committee determinedongét departmental goals. Instead, certain elesvedn
executive compensation will be based on performanetuations of each executive officer.

Elements of Executive Compensation

Our executive compensation program consists of fimain elements: base salary, an annual incentimadplan, option awards and
change of control arrangements. The following désaussion of each element.

Base Salary

Our compensation committee and board of directave ldeveloped our compensation policy with the \iest our company and its
stockholders would be best served if compensatidicips focused on creating a team ethic amongegacutive officers. A central element
this policy is that a team ethic will be best suped if all executive officers received approximatiie same salary, with Mr. Worthington
receiving a somewhat higher base salary to refftecsubstantial additional responsibility he ha€haef Executive Officer.

In January 2010, the compensation committee re\de2@89 base salaries in light of general marketlitmms in the San Francisco Bay
Area life science industry and our financial coiwgtit The compensation committee concluded that@oanconditions locally and nationally
had stabilized during 2009 and were
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improving but were not yet robust. The compensatmmmittee also concluded that hiring in the lié&egace industry in the San Francisco
Bay Area had increased somewhat and that thergrgaser competition for executive talent. The conga¢éion committee’s assessment of
general market conditions in the life science induysnd the life science industry in the San FisawBay Area in particular, was based on
the experience of the committee members who weteaemactively involved in venture capital invegtin such industry and area. The
compensation committee did not rely on any fornmmhpensation survey data in making its assessment.

As our executive officers had forgone raises in®@0Be compensation committee felt that modesesais between 2% and 4% for 2(
were appropriate to keep our executive salariepetitive. Where each executive fell in this rangeswased on the executive’s performance
in 2009 including achievement of departmental goEte compensation committee approved the folloveiage salaries for 2010: Gajus
Worthington, $303,644, an increase of 3%; Vikram, %289,120, an increase of 4%; Robert Jones, $281an increase of 2%; and William
Smith, $286,624, an increase of 4%.

In May 2010, we hired Fredric Walder to be our €Riasiness Officer with an annual salary of $290,8ich is similar to the salaries
of our other named executive officers. In additiongrder to induce him to relocate to Californiarh Wisconsin, we agreed to reimburse up
to $105,000 of relocation expenses and reimburib,artax gross up, the costs of his commuting fiimconsin to California prior to his
relocation.

In March 2011, the compensation committee reviemgdexecutives’ base salaries using the same metbgpdemployed in 2010. The
compensation committee concluded that significamtetition remained for executive talent in ourustly, but that overall wage levels for
executives at life science companies in the Sandiseo Bay Area had increased only slightly du2@4.0. The compensation committee
therefore decided to increase the base salariesrafxecutives between 2% and 5% with the exaceméage being determined based on «
executive’s success in executing his or her departah responsibilities during 2010 or, in the caSk¥ir. Worthington, based on his
leadership and management performance. The bas@sdbr our named executive officers for 2011asdollows: Gajus Worthington,
$318,826 an increase of 5%; Vikram Jog, $303,5@6nerease of 5%; Robert Jones, $288,140, an isereb2.5%; William Smith, $300,9¢
an increase of 5%; and Frederic Walder, $296, 75 heaease of 2.3%. Mr. Walder received a pro-rpatentage increase to reflect the fact
that he was employed by us for only part of 2010.

Incentive Bonus Plan

For 2010, the compensation committee and the bafaddectors established a bonus structure fonathed executive officers that
provided for performance bonuses of up to 35% eklsalary for each officer. 80% of the performammeus was payable based upon our
reaching our corporate goals described above,f@temaining 20% was payable to each executivedt@séhe attainment of the
departmental goal described above. Payment of peafiace bonuses was allocated among corporate gadtohental goals in this manner in
recognition of our compensation philosophy in white compensation committee sought to incentiviazetive officers to look beyond th:
departmental goals and work with other executifie@fs to achieve our overall corporate goals. &htre bonus of 35% of salary was
payable to an executive only if all of the corpergbals and all of his departmental goals werénattia If a particular corporate or department
goal was only partially attained, then the compgasaommittee would determine in its discretionetiter all, part, or none of the portion of
the bonus tied to that goal would be awarded; pledithat, no bonus was payable with respect to@ocate goal where performance was
than 80% of the targeted level. The 80% requiremerst set so that executives would receive a bonlysfor high levels of performance. T
weighting of the corporate goals was not pre-deiteethas the compensation committee wished to rétaimbility to adjust the bonus
payments based on an analysis of how attainmefailore to attain each particular goal impactedTi®e compensation committee also
retained the discretion to change the bonus streieind increase or decrease the bonus payment &svamuih considered appropriate.
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Achievement of Corporate Goals in 2016 March 2011, the compensation committee revieagdperformance in 2010 and
determined that two of our five goals had beeryfaikt, two had been partially met and one had aehbmet. Specifically it concluded that:

() We had fully met our cash goal as we ended 2010 mvdre than $5 million of cas

(il We had partially met our product developmeoals as we had released all three of the spe@fieducts, but two were late, and
had entered into a non-invasive pre-natal diagoestiaboration in the second quarter, but hadasbteved publication of a peer-
reviewed article. Because taken together we hadcemigphificant product development progress, thepmmation committee
decided to award 75% of the bonus tied to achiemimithis goal.

(iii) We had partially met our sale opportunitiesafjas the specified level of sales opportunitiesanattained for two out of the three
systems. The compensation committee decided toda®@6 of the bonus tied to achievement of this g

(iv) We had fully met our goal of achieving a ratio @b6 for cost of product sales divided by total raxefor 2010
(v) We had failed to meet the goal of profitabilitytire fourth quartel

The compensation committee decided to give eathese goals equal weight as each goal represesigdificant element necessary
for the company’s success. Applying the percentaipevement of each goals to this weighting ofgbals, the compensation committee
determined that our goals had been 67% met whitteit rounded up to 70%. As a result each execoffieer was entitled to receive a
bonus equal to 20% of their base salary for attaimrof the corporate goals.

Achievement of Department Goals in 20The compensation committee also considered thiexament of 2010 departmental
performance goals in March 2010. It determined #iflagxecutives had performed equally well in sutipg the attainment of our corporate
goals and that as the corporate goals had beeroB@ifed, it was appropriate to consider the depantal goals for all departments to be
70% obtained. As a result, each executive officas entitled to receive a bonus equal to 5% of hieo base salary for attainment of the
departmental goals.

We intend for the bonus plan to provide a signifigaortion of an executive’s potential compensatiors designed to help ensure that
executives are focused on our near-term performandeon working together to achieve key corporajeatives. We expect that corporate
goals will be reviewed each year and adjustedfteatechanges in our stage of development, competiosition and corporate objectives.
discussed above, the compensation committee artzbtirel of directors retain the discretion to aw@thpensation absent attainment of a
relevant performance goal and to reduce the siza @fward following attainment of a relevant parfance goal, and exercised that discre
for 2010. We believe that maintaining this flexiyilis helpful in ensuring that executives are appiately compensated for their performa
and are neither rewarded nor penalized as a r@sultusual circumstances not foreseeable at thetti goals were developed.

In 2011, the compensation committee adopted anuixedonus plan that creates a structure for mecative bonuses from year to
year, while allowing the compensation committeadopt specific programs each year (‘Executive Bonus Planélsewhere in this Iltem 1.
Our 2011 bonus program will be similar to our 2@t6gram. As in 2010, executive officers will begddle for a bonus of up to 35% of their
base salary and 80% of that bonus will be baseattamment of our 2011 corporate goals. The remgi@0% of the bonus will be awarded
based on a performance evaluation of each execoftiieer conducted by the compensation committed wiput from our chief executive
officer. Our compensation committee retains théautly to provide for cash incentive awards undar @ash incentive plans in excess of the
target base salary percentages if it determinesopppte in its discretion. The compensation corteritalso retains the authority to reduce or
eliminate awards or provide for partial paymergéfformance goals are only partially met. The camspdon committee may determine the
amount of any reduction on the basis of such fadcsrit deems relevant and is not required to paigely establish any weighting with
respect to the factors it considers.

116



Table of Contents

Option Awards

We grant options to new executives upon the comeraerat of their employment and on an annual basisider making additional
grants to existing executives based on our oveoafiorate performance, individual performance &mdeixecutiveséxisting option grants ai
equity holdings. In addition, on an annual basiswake option grants to our executive officers tiate provisions for accelerated vesting if
corporate or departmental goals are achieved an, 2811, on the basis of a performance evaluatiéa believe that option awards are an
effective means of aligning the interests of exisestand stockholders, rewarding executives foramhieving success over the long term and
providing executives an incentive to remain with us

For 2010, the compensation committee approved gvfmpnance based option grants to each of our ¢xecofficers—one based on
attainment of our 2010 corporate goals and onecbasattainment of the executige2010 departmental goals. Though these awardbd®n
discussed in January 2010, they were not formafiyptgd until January 2011. Each executive was aabath option to purchase 5,780 shares
related to the achievement of departmental goalsaaroption to purchase 5,780 shares relatedamatént of corporate goals. While the
number of shares subject to each grant was fixedoptions were considered performance based betaeisesting schedule associated with
each grant was tied to achievement of corporatiepartmental goals for 2010. The compensation ctiea's selection of an aggregate grant
of 11,560 shares was based on the committee’sndigtation that such number of shares would provigammgful compensation to our
executive officers and meaningful incentive to aghithe corporate and departmental goals. The ctteaxdid not rely on compensation
surveys or other third party sources in arrivinghig number.

» For the first option grant, 25% of the shares stutifje@ the grant would vest on April 1, 2011 and8tiMof the shares would vest
each month thereafter; provided, that a perceraht®e option equal to the percentage of corpagatds that were achieved wo
become fully vested as of December 31, 2010. Thlou2010, because the committee determined thataf08ar corporate goals
had been achieved, 70% of the performance optelated to the attainment of corporate goals vestiedtive as of December 3
2010. 25% of the remaining 30% of such performat@ns will vest on April 1, 2011 and 1/48th oétlemaining unvested
shares will vest each month thereaf

» For the second option grant, all of the sharesestiltp the option would vest on April 1, 2014, pdmd that a percentage of the
option equal to the percentage of the executivefadmental goals that were achieved would becatheviested effective as of
December 31, 2010. Thus, for each executive offi@86 the shares subject to the option became vest&kcember 31, 2010 &
the remaining shares will vest on April 1, 20

We believe that these performance related optiantgmprovide an additional incentive for executiteeachieve corporate and
departmental goals for each year while also progidhem a form of compensation that is appropgdieked to our long term success.

In connection with the commencement of his emplaytméth us, we granted Fredric Walder an optiopuochase 115,606 shares of
our common stock. The compensation committee détedrthat this amount would ensure that a signifigertion of Mr. Walder’s
compensation was tied to the value of our equitytarprovide him a potential ownership interest thas comparable to the potential
ownership interests of the other named executifiean$, other than Mr. Worthington, who is one of eo-founders.

The compensation committee is evaluating whethgrdat our executives performance related optiamtgrfor 2011.

Employment and Severance Agreements

We have entered into Employment and Severance Agrets with each of our named executive officers pnavide for specified
payments and benefits if the officer's employmsrerminated without cause, or if the
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officer’'s employment is terminated without causdasrgood reason within 12 months following a chaog control. The terms of these
agreements are described under “Potential Payrapots Termination or Change of Control.” We adoptesse arrangements because we
recognize that we will from time to time considee fpossibility of an acquisition by another compangther change of control transaction
and that such consideration can be a distractiaut@xecutive officers and can cause such offiteconsider alternative employment
opportunities. Accordingly, our board of directemncluded that it is in the best interests of mmpany and its stockholders to provide
executives with certain severance benefits upanitettion of employment without cause or for gooasen following a change of control.
Our board determined to provide such executivel egrtain severance benefits upon their terminaifa@mployment without cause outside
of the change of control context in order to prevexecutives with enhanced financial security aeeéntive to remain with our company. In
addition, we believe that providing for accelerataf options if an officer is terminated followirrgchange of control transaction aligns the
executive officer’s interest more closely with thaxf other stockholders when evaluating the traimacather than putting the officer at risk
of losing the benefits of those equity incentives.

In determining the amount of cash payments, benediverage and acceleration of vesting to be pealid officers upon termination
prior to a change of control or within 12 monthdwing a change of control, our Board considetwel following factors:

» the expected time required for an officer to fimnparable employment following a termination e

» feedback received from potential candidates faceffpositions at our company as to the level gésgnce payments and benefits
they would require to leave other employment ara goir company

* in the context of a change of control, the amoudimesting acceleration that would align the offisénterests more closely with
the interests of stockholders when consideringtarial change of control transaction; ¢

» the period of time following a change of controtidg which management positions are evaluated abpst to a heightened risk
of elimination.

In addition, all outstanding options granted to employees will become fully vested upon a charfgmotrol if the options are not
assumed by the acquiring company.

Other Benefits

Executive officers are eligible to participate Ihad our employee benefit plans, such as medibahtal, vision, group life, disability,
accidental death and dismemberment insurance, @andi0d (k) plan, in each case on the same basighas @mployees, subject to applicable
law. We also provide vacation and other paid hgkda all employees, including our executive offg;avhich we believe are comparable to
those provided at peer companies.

Accounting and Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@&mended, or the Code, places a limit of $10@0000n the amount of
compensation that we may deduct as a business xpeany year with respect to our Chief Execu@ffcer and certain of our highly paid
executive officers. We can, however, preserve trtudtibility of certain performance-based compeangeah excess of $1,000,000 if the
conditions of Code Section 162(m) are met. Undetiegble tax guidance for newly-public companié® teduction limitation generally will
not apply to compensation paid pursuant to any pfaagreement that existed before the company begarlicly held. In addition,
compensation provided by newly-public companiesufgh the first stockholder meeting to elect directafter the close of the third calendar
year following the year in which the initial publafering occurs, or earlier upon the occurrenceestain events (e.g., a material modificat
of the
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plan or agreement under which the compensatioraistgd), will not be included for purposes of thed€ Section 162(m) limit provided the
arrangement was adequately described in the praspesiating to our initial public offering. Accargjly, we believe that deductibility of all
income recognized by executives pursuant to eqaitgpensation granted by us through the expiratidheoreliance period, will not be
limited by Code Section 162(m). While the compeiosatommittee cannot predict how the deductibliityit may impact our compensation
program in future years, the compensation committesds to maintain an approach to executive corsgaéon that strongly links pay to
performance. While the compensation committee basdopted a formal policy regarding tax dedudtipidf compensation paid to our
executive officers, the compensation committeenittiéeto consider tax deductibility under Section(h§2as a factor in compensation
decisions.

Code Section 409A imposes additional taxes on icentan-qualified deferred compensation arrangemiatisdo not comply with its
requirements. These requirements regulate an thdiVs election to defer compensation and the iddiai’s selection of the timing and form
of distribution of the deferred compensation. C8eetion 409A generally also provides that distiing of deferred compensation only can
be made on or following the occurrence of certaings (i.e., the individual's separation from seevia predetermined date, a change in
control, or the individual’s death or disabilityjor certain executives, Code Section 409A requirassuch individual's distribution
commence no earlier than six (6) months after siffiber’'s separation from service. We have and wdlhtinue to endeavor to structure our
compensation arrangements to comply with Code @edi)9A so as to avoid the adverse tax consequassesiated therewith.

Compensation Committee Report

The following report of the Compensation Commisieall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” diled” with the SEC or to be
incorporated by reference into any other filingFwidigm Corporation under the Securities Act o83%r the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, except to the extent that we specificallpriporate it by reference into a document filed urtthese Acts.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdubs Compensation Discussion and Analysis st &vove with Fluidigm’s
management. Based on its review and those diseissglte Compensation Committee recommended todhedBof Directors that the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be includexiimi2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in ourxgrstatement for our 2011 annual
meeting.

Compensation Committee

Samuel D. Colella
Raymond Whitake
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Executive Compensation

The following table presents information concerning total compensation of our Chief Executive &fi Chief Financial Officer and
our three other most highly compensated officerinduthe last fiscal year who were serving as etteewfficers at the end of 2010 (the

“Named Executive Officers”) for services renderedis in all capacities in 2009 and 2010:

Summary Compensation Table

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Other

Salary Option Awards Compensatior Compensatior

Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($)(1) ($)(2) ($)

Gajus V. Worthingtor 201c¢ 303,64 — 75,911 —
President and Chief Executive Offic 200¢ 294,84( 203,94¢ 59,40; —

Vikram Jog 201( 289,12( — 72,28( —
Chief Financial Officel 200¢ 278,00( 246,34( 66,72( —

Robert C. Jone 201C 281,11. — 70,27¢ —
Executive Vice President Research and 200¢ 275,60( 133,22: 51,67¢ —
Developmen

William M. Smith 201( 286,62 — 71,65¢ —
Vice President, Legal Affairs, 200¢ 275,60( 190,87! 64,21 —
and General Couns

Fredric Walde! 201C 166,75( 194,00( 44,95(

Chief Business Office

32,0743)

Total
(%)
379,55!
558,19(

361,40(
591,06(

351,39(
460,49¢

358,28(
530,59(

437,77:

(1) Amounts represent the aggregate fair marketevaf options granted in the year indicated torthmed executive officer calculated in
accordance with FASB ASC 718 without regard toneated forfeitures. For options granted in connectiith our repricing, only the
incremental value of the grant is included. SeeeNdx of the notes to our audited consolidated firstatements for a discussion of

assumptions made in determining the grant datevédire and compensation expense of our stock ap
(2) The amounts in this column for 2009 and 20J0esent total performance-based bonuses earnsérdce rendered during fiscal 2009

and 2010, respectively, under our incentive boras.g-or a description of our 2010 bonus plan, ggesee “Incentive Bonus Plan”

under“ Compensation Discussion and Anal” above.

(3) Represents amounts paid to Mr. Walder to reisdhim for the cost of commuting to Californiagprio his relocation, including a tax

gross up
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards
The following table presents information concerngmgnts of plan-based awards to each of the Nameduive Officers during 2010.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

Estimated
Payouts All Option
Under Awards: Exercise ol Grant Date
Non-Equity Number of Base Price Fair Value of
Incentive Plan Securities of Option Stock and
Awards Underlying Awards Option
Name Grant Date Target ($)(3) Options (#) ($/Sh)(1) Awards($)(2)
Gajus V. Worthingtor 12/2/201( 106,27! — — —
Vikram Jog 12/2/201( 101,19: — — —
Robert C. Jone 12/2/201( 98,38¢ — — —
William M. Smith 12/2/201( 100,31¢ — — —
Fredric Walder 8/26/201( 115,60¢
_ 4.4t 194,00(
12/2/201( 58,36! — — —

(1) Our shares of common stock were not publidgéd during 2010. The exercise price of all optiwas the fair value of a share of our
common stock on the date of grant as determingaad faith by our board of directol

(2) Amounts represent the grant date fair valuthefstock options, calculated in accordance witiEBAASC Topic 718 without regard to
estimated forfeitures, or, in the case of grantderas part of our repricing, amounts represeninitremental fair value of the stock
options granted calculated in accordance with FASE Topic 718. See note 10 of the notes to ourtaddionsolidated financial
statements for a discussion of assumptions madetermining the grant date fair value or incremidfiaia value of our stock option

(3) Amounts in this column represent the maximunoanh payable to each of our Named Executive Offigemsuant to our 2010 bonus
plan for attainment of 2010 corporate and departaigoals. The grant date listed for these amountise table above corresponds to
the date on which our compensation committee gefrtiximum amount payable to each of our Named EixecOfficers pursuant to
our 2010 bonus plan and confirmed the 2010 corp@at departmental goals to be used in the firtafaénation of such bonus
amounts
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table presents certain informatiomecerning equity awards held by the Named Exec@iffecers at December 31, 2010.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

Option Awards

Number of

Securities
Underlying Number of
Unexercisec Securities
Underlying
Options (#) Unexercised Option Exercise
Exercisable Options (#) Option
Name 1) Unexercisabl¢ Price ($) Expiration Date
Gajus V. Worthingtotr 33,03((2) 0 3.3¢ 01/17/201!
25,59¢3) 0 4.4t 05/08/201
8,257(5) 0 4.0¢ 11/17/201
8,257(5) 0 4.0¢ 11/17/201!
11,56((15) 0 4.4¢ 4/23/201¢
11,56((23) 0 4.4F 4/23/201¢
2,601(6) 3,174(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/201!
4,76¢(7) 1,011(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/201
4,065(25) 10,94¢(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/201
Vikram Jog 82,57¢(8) 0 4.4¢ 2/6/201¢
8,257%(9) 0 4.4t 2/6/201¢
8,25%(10) 0 4.4t 2/6/201¢
5,78((6) 0 4.0¢ 11/17/200!
4,7647) 1,013(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/200'
Robert C. Jone 66,06((11) 0 3.3¢ 08/03/201!
13,21:(12) 0 4.4¢ 05/07/201
8,257(13) 0 4.4F 4/23/201¢
8,257(24) 0 4.4F 4/23/201¢
6,605(14) 0 4.4F 4/23/201¢
11,56((15) 0 4.4t 4/23/201¢
1,15€(6) 4,6244) 4.0¢ 11/17/201
4,76¢(7) 1,011(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/201
William M. Smith 6,44((16) 0 1.82 12/04/201.
28,90(17) 0 1.8z 7/15/201.
7,431(18) 0 2.4z 4/18/201-
16,515(19) 0 3.3¢ 01/17/201!
16,515(20) 0 4.4F 08/14/201
12,14%21) 0 4.4¢ 05/07/201
7,34422) 0 4.4¢ 05/07/201
11,56((15) 0 4.4t 4/23/201¢
11,56((23) 0 4.4t 4/23/201¢
8,25%(13) 0 4.4t 4/23/201¢
8,257(24) 0 4.4F 4/23/201¢
5,20%(6) 57¢(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/201!
4,7647) 1,011(4) 4.0¢ 11/17/201!
Fredric Walde! 0(26) 115,604(4) 4.4t 8/25/202!

(1) Unless otherwise noted, all option grants may ler@sed pursuant to a restricted stock purchasseawgnt prior to vesting; any sha
purchased prior to vesting are subject to a rifinépurchase in our favor in the event the indialdceases to provide services to us for
any reason which right lapses in accordance wihvésting schedule of the optic
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()
(3)
(4)
()
(6)
(7)

(8)
(9)

(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)

(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)

(18)
(19)

(20)

These options were granted on January 18, a0@%ested over 4 years. 20% of the shares subjéue stock option vested one year
after grant, 1.667% of the shares vested at theEadch monthly period during the subsequent yaat,2.5% of the shares vested at
the end of each monthly period thereaf

This option was originally granted on May 80Z0and was re-granted on December 23, 2009 asfpaut option re-pricing. 12,436 of
the shares subject to this grant were vested esgfant date, 11,560 shares vested as of Febtu&310, and 533 shares vest each
month thereaftel

This option may not be exercised prior to vest

These options were granted on November 17, .20399 shares subject to the options were vested the date of grant and 68 shares
vest each month on after December 1, 2

These options were granted on November 17, 200%angderformance related options tied to achieveéwie?009 departmental gos
The remaining unvested shares subject to thesésgralhvest on December 31, 201

These options were granted on November 17, 200%re performance related grants tied to achiemeof 2009 corporate goals.
6,100 of the unvested shares vested on Decemb&0089, 563 shares vested on April 1, 2010 and 46eshvest at the end of each
month thereaftel

This option was originally granted on Febru@r2008 and was re-granted on December 23, 20p8rasf our option rericing. 3,52¢
of the shares subject to the grants were vestefira-grant date, and 1,720 shares vest each month oaf@mndlanuary 7, 201

This option was originally granted on Febru@r2008 and was re-granted on December 23, 20parasf our option resricing. 5,21!
of the shares subject to the grants were vestefirasgrant date, 97 shares vest each month omféedJanuary 1, 2010 until March 1,
2012, and 171 shares will vest each month on aed Blfarch 1, 2012

This option was originally granted on Februdy2008 and was re-granted on December 23, 20p8rasf our option repricing. 5,26:
of the shares subject to this grant were vested eesgrant date, 2,477 shares will vest on DecerBihe2011 and 171 shares will vest
each month thereafte

This option was granted on August 3, 2005w@sted over 4 years. Twenty-five percent of theeshaested one year after grant and
2.083% of the shares vested each month there

This option was granted on May 8, 2007 and reagranted on December 23, 2009 as part of ouwrope-pricing. 825 shares subject
to this grant were vested as of th-grant date, 11,560 shares vested as of Febru@&g1D, and 275 shares vest each month there
This option was originally granted on April,2Z008 and was re-granted on December 23, 2008rasfpour option re-pricing. 6,089
of the shares subject to the grant were vestefl @sgrant date, 1,651 shares vest as of Decenth&¥(3.1, and 172 shares will vest
each month thereafte

This option was originally granted on April,Z008 and was re-granted on December 23, 2008rasfoour option re-pricing. 6,192
of the shares subject to the grant were vestefl i@-grant date, and 136 shares vest each month orfendanuary 22, 201!

These options were originally granted on Ap8| 2008 and were re-granted on December 23, 20@@rt of our option re-pricing.
None of the shares subject to the grants weredestef r-grant date, 10,838 shares vest as of Decembe031, and 241 shares v
each month thereafte

These stock options were granted on December 4, 208 vest over 4 years at the rate of 2.083%e§ktares per mont

These stock options were granted on July 16, 26@3/asted over 4 years at the rate of 2.083% ofltlaees per mont

These stock options were granted on April 19, 2@@dl vested over 4 years at the rate of 2.083%eosfllares per mont

These stock options were granted on Janugr2b and vested over 4 years. 20% of the shat®sd to the stock option vested one
year after grant. 1.667% of the shares vested macith during the subsequent year and 2.5% of theeshvested each mor

thereafter

This option was originally granted on AuguSt 2006 and was re-granted on December 23, 2008rasf our option re-pricing.
14,656 of the shares subject to the grant wereedest of re- grant date, 412 shares vest each mardahd after January 1, 2010 until
March 1, 2010, and 343 shares vest each monthaafser March 1, 201(
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(21) This option was originally granted on May 807 and was re-granted on December 23, 2009 asfpaut option re-pricing. None of
the shares subject to the grant were vested a&sgfant date, 11,343 shares vested February 1, 268253 shares vest each month
thereafter

(22) This option was originally granted on May 807 and was re-granted on December 23, 2009 asfpaut option re-pricing. 6,884 of
the shares subject to the grant were vested &-grant date, and 153 shares vest each month onftendanuary 22, 201!

(23) This option was originally granted on April,2Z008 and was re-granted on December 23, 2008rasfpour option re-pricing. 10,836
of the shares subject to the grant were vested r@-grant date, and 241 shares vest each month onftendanuary 22, 201!

(24) These options were originally granted on Ap8| 2008 and were re-granted on December 23, 20@@wrt of our option re-pricing.
5,215 of the shares subject to the grants weredest of re-grant date, 97 shares vest each marghdafter January 1, 2010 until
March 1, 2012, and 171 shares vest each monthaafger March 1, 201:

(25) 25% of the shares subject to this option vedilovember 17, 2010 and 1/48th of the shares sttnjehe option vest every month
thereafter

(26) 25% of the shares subject to this option vest oguati25, 2011 and 1/48th of the shares vest eventhrthereaftel

Repricing of Outstanding Stock Options

In November 2009, we offered eligible holders of siock options, including our executive officeralall our employees, the
opportunity to exchange certain outstanding optfonsiew options with an exercise price equal ®ftir value of our common stock on
December 23, 2009, the date on which this exchaffgeended. Options eligible for exchange includédptions with an exercise price
greater than $4.08 per share that remained oufstaadd unexercised on December 23, 2009. We dietednthat the fair market value of ¢
stock on December 23, 2009 was $4.45. The newrapissued in this exchange were exercisable fosdh@e number of shares as the old
options and were subject to the same terms andtomrg] except that the vesting period for the raptions was extended by three months.
Approximately 800,578 options were exchanged inolg®63,658 held by our directors and executivecefs. We made this exchange offer
because many of the outstanding options held byoyioyees had exercise prices significantly alibedair value of our common stock,
and we believed that such options provided litileentive to employees. Our executive officers vesriitled to participate in the exchange
offer on the same basis as other employees bewausgend for options to be an important form aféntive compensation for our executive
officers.

Executive Bonus Plan

On March 22, 2011, the compensation committee oboard of directors adopted the Fluidigm CorparatExecutive Bonus Plan, or
bonus plan, to provide cash incentive payouts lecsed employees of Fluidigm, including our exeeaaitbfficers. We currently expect to
establish an annual cash incentive program un@gbdhus plan, with payment of awards being detexthivased all or in part on achievenr
of performance objectives established by the cosgutan committee in its discretion. Under this stowe, each of our fiscal years would
constitute a new performance period under the bplars

124



Table of Contents

Under the terms of our bonus plan, any of the failhg factors may be used as a performance objective

» attainment of research and development ¢ bookings » business divestitures and acquisitions
milestones
» cash flow » cash positior e contract awards or backlc
e customer renewals e customer retention rates from an » earnings (which may include earnings
acquired company, business, unit or before interest and taxes, earnings
division before taxes, and net earnin
» earnings per sha * expense: * Qgross margir
» growth in stockholder value relative to the « internal rate of return * market share
moving average of the S&P 500 Index or
another inde:
* netincome * net profit * netsale:
* new product developme e new product invention or innovatic e number of customel
» operating cash floy e operating expenst e operating incom:
» operating margi » overhead or other expense reduc » product defect measur
» product release timeline » productivity o profit
* return on asse!  return on capite * return on equit
* return on investmer * return on sale * revenue
* revenue growtl » sales result » sales growtt
e stock price » time to marke  total stockholder retur
» working capital » departmental performan » sales pipelint
» publicity or publication goals » individual objectives such as peer .
reviews or other subjective or objecti
criteria

As determined by the compensation committee, pedioce goals may be based on generally acceptedrdowp principles, or GAAP,
or non-GAAP results. Any actual results may be stéjd by the compensation committee for one-tinmaster unbudgeted or unexpected
items when determining whether performance goale baen meet. Goals may be evaluated on the Wasiyy dactors the committee
determines relevant and may be on an individuslsidinal, business unit, or company-wide basisfdPerance goals may differ from
participant to participant under the bonus planfaoeh award to award. In addition, our compensatiommittee may adjust the bonus pool
established under the plan and any actual awards made under the plan, which may be at, belowbove targets established under the
plan. Based on such factors as it may deem relgtrmtommittee may provide for partial paymentaofet awards under the plan if
performance goals are partially met.

The preceding description of the bonus plan isifiedlin its entirety by reference to the full teotthe Fluidigm Corporation Executive
Bonus Plan, which is attached as Exhibit 10.25there

Employment Agreements and Offer Letters

Fredric Walder. We are party to an offer letter dated May 3, 201ith Fredric Walder, our Chief Business OfficAs Chief Business
Officer, Mr. Walder is responsible for overseeifiggtobal marketing activities, developing our ghdisales strategy, and managing our
corporate brand and positioning. Under this oféttelr, we employ Mr. Walder on an at-will basis fior specified term and agree to pay him
an annual base salary of $290,000, which contitmbe his base salary. We have also agreed todedwm with up to $105,000 in
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relocation benefits and to reimburse, with a taosgrup, his commuting costs prior to relocatiorrsRant to the offer letter, we granted hin

option to purchase 115,606 shares of our commark stdh an exercise price of $4.45, per sharefdirevalue of our common stock on the

date of grant. 1/4 of the shares subject to thasitgvest one year after the date of his commenceafi@mployment with us and 1/48 of the
shares vest at the end of each month thereaftggcub Mr. Walder’s continued employment with agach applicable vesting date.

Mr. Walder is also eligible to participate in oweeutive bonus plan and receive the same bengfits termination or change of control as

our other executive officers.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change of Control

We have entered into employment and severanceragrés with Gajus V. Worthington, William M. SmitRpbert C. Jones, Vikram
Jog and Fredric Walder, which require us to makerants if the named executive officer's employmeith us is terminated in certain
circumstances.

Pursuant to our employment and severance agreemihtsur named executive officers, a “change oftoal” is defined as the
occurrence of the following events:

e any “person,” as such term is used in Sections)la&{d 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@&4amended, is or becomes
the “beneficial owner,” as such term is definedRime 13d-3 under said Act, directly or indirecif,our securities representing
50% or more of the total voting power representedir then outstanding voting securiti

* achange in the composition of our board occurwithin a two-year period, as a result of which fewean a majority of our
directors are “incumbent directors,” which terndéfined as either (i) our directors as of the ekeoulate of the relevant
agreement or (ii) directors who are elected, orinated for election, to our board with the affirimatvotes of at least a majority
of the incumbent directors at the time of sucht@ecor nomination (but will not include an individl whose election or
nomination is in connection with an actual or theead proxy contest relating to the election of ditectors);

» the date of the consummation of our merger or dafetton with any other corporation that has beppraved by the our
stockholders, other than a merger or consoliddtiahwould result in our voting securities outstagdmmediately prior thereto
continuing to represent (either by remaining oundiiag or by being converted into voting securitiéshe surviving entity) more
than 50% of the total voting power represented doyvoting securities or such surviving entity oateting immediately after such
merger or consolidation, or our stockholders appraylan of our complete liquidation;

» the date of the consummation of the sale or disiposby us of all or substantially all of our ass:

Pursuant to our employment and severance agreemihtsur named executive officers, “cause” is defl as:
e an act of dishonesty in connection with a namea@xee office’s responsibilities as an employ

» aconviction of, or plea of nolo contendere toelarfiy or any crime involving fraud, embezzlemenanoy other act of moral
turpitude;

* gross misconduc

* an unauthorized use or disclosure of any of ouprietary information or of any other party to whtwa or she owes an obligation
of nondisclosure as a result of his or her relatidm with us;

« awillful breach of any obligations under any waittagreement or covenant with us

« anamed executive officercontinued failure to perform his or her employtrauties after he or she has received a writtenahe
of performance from us and has failed to cure suwhperformance to our satisfaction within 10 busirdegs after receiving sut
notice.
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Pursuant to our employment and severance agreemghtSajus V. Worthington, William M. Smith, RolieE. Jones, Vikram Jog and
Fredric Walder, “good reason” means the occurreficme or more of the following events effectedheiit the named executive officer’s
prior consent, provided that he or she terminai@shher employment within one year thereafter:

» the assignment to the named executive officer gfduties or a reduction of the named executiveceffs duties, either of which
significantly reduces his or her responsibilitipmvided that the continuance of his or her resjuilitees at the subsidiary or
divisional level following a change of control, mat than at the parent, combined or surviving camgpavel following such
change of control shall not be deen®good reasc” within the meaning of this claus

* a material reduction of the named executive of' s base salar
» the relocation of the named executive officer fa@lity or a location greater than 50 miles from ar her present locatio
e amaterial breach by us of any material provisibthe employment and severance agreen

However, no act or omission by us shall constitgtend reason” if we fully cure that act or omissiwithin 30 days of receiving notice
from the named executive officer.

The employment and severance agreements provitlimttiee event the named executive officer's emplent is terminated by us or
our successor without “cause” prior to a “changeaftrol” or after 12 months following a “changeawintrol” and the named executive
officer executes a standard release of claims ugttthe named executive officer is entitled to regdn addition to such officer’'s salary
payable through the date of termination of emplaynaad any other benefits earned and owed thrcdugkate of termination, the following
cash payments:

* an amount, payable in accordance with our customayyoll practices, equal to six months of the ndmeecutive officer's base
salary in effect immediately prior to the time efrhination; anc

* reimbursement of costs and expenses incurred bgxbeutive officer and his or her eligible dependdar coverage under group
health plans, policies or arrangements sponsoragigr a period of up to six months, provided thath coverage is timely
elected under COBRA or similar applicable statéusta

The employment and severance agreements furtheidprthat in the event the named executive officernployment is terminated
(i) by us or our successor without “cause” and imitt?2 months following a “change of control” or)(iy the executive officer for “good
reason” and within 12 months following a “changecoftrol”, and in each case the named executivearfeéxecutes a standard release of
claims with us, the executive officer is entitledréceive, in addition to such officer’s salary able through the date of termination of
employment and any other benefits earned and ofweddh the date of termination, the following caslyments and benefits:

e an amount, payable in a lump sum, equal to thetgred (i) six months of the named executive offisdase salary in effect
immediately prior to the change in control or §iix months of the named executive’s officer’s bsalary in effect immediately
prior to the time of terminatior

» all outstanding unvested stock options, equity apiption rights or similar equity awards then heydhe named executive officer
as of the date of termination will immediately vaatl become exercisable as to all shares undemyiolg options

» any shares of restricted stock, restricted stodls @md similar equity awards then held by the réieeecutive officer will
immediately vest and any of our rights of repurehaisreacquisition with respect to such shareslap$e as to all shares; &
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» reimbursement of costs and expenses incurred bgxbeutive officer and his or her eligible dependdar coverage under group
health plans, policies or arrangements sponsoraggr a period of up to six months, provided thath coverage is timely
elected under COBRA or similar applicable statéusta

The following table describes the payments and fitsrtbat each of our named executive officers widug entitled to receive pursuant
to the employment and severance agreements, asstimineach of the following triggers occurred ied@mber 31, 2010: (i) their
employment was terminated without “cause” prioot@fter 12 months following a “change of contratid (ii) their employment was
terminated without “cause” or by them for “goodgea” within 12 months following a “change of cortro

Employment Terminated without

Cause Prior to or After 12 Months Employment Terminated within 12 Months
Following Change of Control Following Change of Control(1)
Health Care
Severance Health Care Equity Severance
Payments Benefits Acceleration Payments Benefits
Name and Principal Position ($)(2) ($)(3) ($)4) %)@ ($)(3)
Gajus V. Worthingtor 147,42( 12,327 265,20 147,42( 12,327
President and Chief Executive Offic
Vikram Jog 139,00( 12,325 318,25 139,00 12,325
Chief Financial Office
Robert C. Jone 137,80( 12,32% 195,23: 137,80( 12,325

Executive Vice President,
Research and Developme

William M. Smith 137,80( 10,73% 167,60t 132,50( 10,737
Vice President, Legal Affairs
and General Couns

Fredric Walde! 145,00 12,323 1,046,24! 145,00 12,323
Chief Business Office

(1) Includes involuntary termination other than for saudeath or disability, and voluntary terminatignthe employee for good reas:

(2) The amounts shown in this column are equal to girthrs of the named executive offi's base salary as of December 31, 2

(3) The amounts shown in this column are equahéocbst of covering the named executive officer lisdbr her eligible dependents
coverage under our benefit plans for a periodxofredinths, assuming that such coverage is timeltedeunder COBRA

(4) The amounts shown in this column are equahéospread value between (i) the unvested porti@il outstanding stock options, equity
appreciation rights or similar equity awards hejdte named executive officer on December 31, 201(ii) the offering price of our
common stock in our initial public offering of $B8. per share

In addition to the benefits described above, o@2Bquity Incentive Plan and 1999 Stock Option Rieovide for full acceleration of
outstanding options in the event of a change ofrobof our company where the successor compang doeassume our outstanding options
and other awards in connection with such acquisitiansaction. We estimate the value of this béfafieach named executive officer to be
equal to the amount listed above in the columnléb¥Equity Acceleration.”
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Director Compensation

The following table sets forth information concergicompensation paid or accrued for services rexlder us by members of our board
of directors for 2010. The table excludes Mr. Waortjton, who is a named executive officer, and ditineceive any compensation from us in
his role as a director in 2010.

Fees Earnel

Option

or Paid in Awards Total

Cash ($) ®)@) ®)
Lawrence Chin(2 8,33: 20,85( 29,18:
Samuel D. Colell: 33,30( 20,85( 54,15(
Michael Hunkapiller(3 3,33: 20,85( 24,18:
Patrick Jones(4 — — —
Jeremy Loh (5 833 — 833
Kenneth J. Nussbach 20,00( 20,85( 40,85(
Raymond J. Whitake 10,00( 20,85( 30,85(
John A. Younc 10,00¢( 20,40( 30,40(

(1) Amounts represent the aggregate grant datedhie of the stock or option award calculateddooadance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board Accounting Standards Codificatiopid 718, Stock Compensation, as amended, witlemard to estimated
forfeitures, or, with respect to re-priced optiothe incremental fair value as computed in accardavith FASB ASC Topic 718. See
Note 10 of the notes to our audited consolidatedrftial statements for a discussion of valuatieumptions made in determining t
grant date fair value and compensation expensaragtock options

(2) Resigned from the board of director on Novemb&04,0.

(3) Resigned from the board of director on May 6, 2(

(4) Joined the board of directors on March 11, 2(

(5) Joined the board of directors on November 30, 20iDresigned on March 10, 20:

The aggregate number of shares subject to stoadnspbutstanding at December 31, 2010 for eachemoployee director is as follows:

Aggregate Number of Stocl

Options Outstanding as of

Name December 31, 2010
Lawrence Chir 6,50z
Samuel D. Colell: 8,67(

Michael Hunkapillel —
Patrick Jone —

Jeremy Lok —

Kenneth J. Nussbach 41,70(
Raymond J. Whitake 8,67(
John A. Younc 8,67(

Pre-Initial Public Offering Director Compensation

Our board of directors adopted a compensation yp&dicnonemployee directors on January 28, 2010 providimgfoannual retainer
$10,000 for each non-employee director’s servica aember of the board and a separate $10,000 ldeadarship retainer for service as
chairman of the board or a committee of the boffettve as of January 1, 2009. The policy alsosated that each non-employee director
was to be automatically granted a stock optionuieipase 8,670 shares of our common stock each $@el. stock option grants vest 112

per month, subject to such non-employee directmiginued service on the board, such that thetgvdibe fully vested on the first
anniversary of the vesting commencement date. Tineses were made to each non-employee directdannary 28, 2010.
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Current Director Compensation

Effective as of our initial public offering, non-@hoyee directors receives an annual retainer ofGRED In addition, non-employee
directors receive an annual retainer of $10,00@éalit committee service, $7,000 for compensat@mrittee service and $5,000 for
nominating and governance committee service. Thé@mlan of the board is paid an additional annualimer of $10,000. The chairman of
audit committee is paid an additional annual retaof $5,000. The chairman of the compensation citt@enis paid an additional annual
retainer of $3,500. The chairman of the nominatind governance committee is paid an additional @metainer of $2,500.

Our outside director equity compensation policy wdspted by our board of directors on DecembeQ&0. The policy is intended to
formalize the granting of equity compensation to men-employee directors under the 2011 Equityritige Plan. Non-employee directors
may receive all types of awards under the 2011t ducentive Plan, including discretionary awards covered by the policy, except for
incentive stock options. The policy provides fotaamatic and nondiscretionary grants of nonstatustogk options subject to the terms and
conditions of the policy and the 2011 Equity IncemtPlan.

Under the policy, we will automatically grant artiop to purchase 30,000 shares of our common stoaekyone who becomes a non-
employee director on the date such person firsbines a non-employee director. An employee diregtar subsequently ceases to be an
employee, but remains a director, will not recesueh an initial award.

In addition, each non-employee director will becamiatically granted an annual stock option to pusehE2,000 shares of our common
stock on the date of each annual meeting beginminipe date of the first annual meeting that isl lalleast six months after such non-
employee director received his or her initial award

The exercise price of all stock options grantedpant to the policy will be equal to or greatemtlttze fair market value of our common
stock on the date of grant. The term of all stogtiams will be 10 years. Subject to the adjustnmnvisions of the 2011 Equity Incentive
Plan, initial awards will vest as to 25% of the ®sasubject to such awards on each anniversaheafdte of grant, provided such non-
employee director continues to serve as a dir¢btough each such date. Subject to the adjustmerisons of the 2011 Equity Incentive
Plan, the annual awards will vest on the date @it annual meeting of our stockholders held #ifie date of grant, provided such non-
employee director continues to serve as a dir¢btough such date.

The administrator of the 2011 Equity Incentive Rlarts discretion may change or otherwise revimeterms of awards granted under
the outside director equity compensation policy.

In the event of a “change of control,” as define@ur 2011 Equity Incentive Plan, with respectw@als granted under the 2011 Equity
Incentive Plan to non-employee directors, the pidint non-employee director will fully vest in ahdve the right to exercise awards as to all
shares underlying such award regardless of perfmcmgoals, vesting criteria or other conditions.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

None of the members of our compensation committee was, during 2010, an officer or employee af@mpany. None of our
executive officers currently serves, or in the pyasir has served, as a member of the board oftdisear compensation committee of any
entity that has one or more executive officersisgron our board of directors or compensation cotte®i
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to the beneficial ownership of our coon stock as of February 15, 2011
by:
» each stockholder known by us to beneficially owrrerthan five percent of our outstanding sharesofroon stock
» each of our current director
» each of our named executive officers; i
» all of our current directors and executive officassa groug

We have determined beneficial ownership in accardamith SEC rules. Except as indicated by the fots below, we believe, based
on the information furnished to us, that the pessamd entities named in the table below have satiagy and investment power with respec
all shares of common stock that they beneficialiyrpsubject to applicable community property laws.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 19/8388&hares of common stock outstanding as of Fepfita 2011. In computing the
number of shares of common stock beneficially owlmed stockholder and the percentage ownershipadfstockholder, we deemed to be
outstanding all shares of common stock subjecptimns, warrants or other convertible securitiesl fy that stockholder or entity that are
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 dafyBebruary 15, 2011. We did not deem these slmrissanding, however, for the purpose
of computing the percentage ownership of any astekholder. Beneficial ownership representing thas one percent is denoted with an

Uk N

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of eacéfiogad owner listed in the table below is c/o Eligim Corporation, 7000 Shoreline
Court, Suite 100, South San Francisco, Califordia8d.

Shares Shares Total Shares
Beneficially Underlying Beneficially Percent of Shares

Name of Beneficial Owner Owned Options Owned Beneficially Ownec
5% Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with the Singapore governmei 1,799,51. 0 1,799,51. 9.05%
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Funds(: 1,452,34. 0 1,452,34. 7.2E%
Entities affiliated with Versant Funds( 1,050,941 0 1,050,941 5.27%
Directors and Named Executive Officers
Gajus V. Worthington(4 375,16( 118,35t 493,51¢ 2.4€%
Samuel D. Colella(t 1,059,18 10,11¢ 1,069,30: 5.3€%
Vikram Jog(6) 2,062 118,74. 120,80: *
Robert C. Jones(: 0 128,97t 128,97t *
Patrick S. Jones(¢ 0 0 0 *
Kenneth Nussbacher( 0 43,14 43,14¢ *
William M. Smith(10) 49,54t 153,99 203,53¢ 1.01%
Fredric Waldel 0 4,61¢ 4,61¢ *
Raymond J. Whitaker(1: 868,90¢ 10,11¢ 879,02: 4.41%
John Young(12 0 14,45( 14,45( *
All directors and executive officers as group (Etsons) (13 2,354,86: 705,20t 3,060,06! 14.82%

(*) Less than one percel
(1) Consists of 1,671,486 shares held of recorBibynedical Sciences Investment Fund Pte Ltd andOZBBshares held of record by
Singapore Bi-Innovations Pte Ltd. EDB Investments Pte Ltd, orBEDvestments
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()

(3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)
(8)

is the parent entity of Biomedical Sciences Investhiund Pte Ltd and Singapore Bimovations Pte Ltd. The Economic Developrr
Board of Singapore, or EDB, is the parent entitfEBB Investments. EDB is a Singapore governmerityederemy Loh was a member
of our Board of Directors and a Vice President éistments), San Francisco Center for EDB Investnietatd.td, Singapore. Dr. Loh
who resigned from our board on March 10, 2011,ldists beneficial ownership of these shares, exiefite extent of his pecuniary
interest in such shares. EDB Investments, EDB hadbingapore government may be deemed to havedshatieg and dispositive
power over the shares owned beneficially and afnby Biomedical Sciences Investment Fund Ptealnidl Singapore Bio-Innovations
Pte Ltd. The address associated with entitiesatfill with EDB is 250, North Bridge Road, #20-02ffRes City Tower, Singapore
179101,

Consists of 112,608 shares held of record bglfy Contrafund: Fidelity Advisor New Insights iy, 1,027,338 shares held of record
by Fidelity Contrafund: Fidelity Contrafund and 3326 shares held of record by Variable Insuranceldrts Fund II: Contrafund
Portfolio. Each of these entities is a registeragstment fund (each, a “Fund”) advised by Fidéiifgnagement & Research Company
(“FMR Co."), a registered investment adviser unither Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended.address of FMR Co., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of FMR LLC is 82 Devonsh8&eet, Boston Massachusetts 02109. Edward Csdald, FMR LLC,
through its control of FMR Co., and each Fund hasgy to dispose of the securities owned by suctdFdirither FMR LLC nor
Edward C. Johnson 3d, Chairman of FMR LLC, has polger to vote or direct the voting of the sharesed directly by each Fund,
which power resides with each Fund’s Board of Te@est Each Fund is an affiliate of a brokealer. Each Fund purchased the secui
in the ordinary course of business and, at the tifrtee purchase of the securities, no Fund hadagngements or understandings,
directly or indirectly, with any person to distrileuthe securities. No Fund intends to sell, transfesign, pledge or hypothecate or
otherwise enter into any hedging, short sale, dérig, put or call transaction that would resulthe effective economic disposition of
the securities through an affiliated brc-dealer.

Consists of 961,349 shares held of record byg&fg Venture Capital I, L.P., 17,696 shares hélgoord by Versant Affiliates FundA;
L.P., 51,878 shares held of record by Versant iatéls Fund I-B, L.P. and 20,017 shares held ofrceby Versant Side Fund I, L.P.
Voting and investment power over the shares dirdald by Versant Venture Capital I, L.P., VersAfftliates Fund I-A, L.P., Versant
Affiliates Fund I-B, L.P., and Versant Side Fund.IP. is held by Versant Ventures |, LLC, theires@eneral Partner. Samuel D.
Colella, a member of our Board of Directors is anlsiging Member of Versant Ventures |, LLC but hecldisns beneficial ownership of
these shares, except to the extent of his pecumtasest in such shares. The individual ManagirenMers of Versant Ventures |, LLC
are Brian G. Atwood, Samuel D. Colella, Ross Afelawilliam J. Link, Barbara N. Lubash, Donald Bildiér, and Rebecca B.
Robertson, all of whom share voting and dispositioetrol. Each respective individual General Parthisclaims beneficial ownership
of these shares, except to the extent of theirmiacpinterest in such shares. The address ofritiges affiliated with Versant Ventures
is 3000 Sand Hill Road, Building Four, Suite 21emb Park, CA 9402t

Consists of 375,160 shares held of record bus&/orthington and Jami A. Worthington as TTEEShaf Worthington Family Trust
dtd 3-6-07 and options to purchase 118,356 shdesnamon stock that are exercisable within 60 d#ysebruary 15, 2011, of which
106,796 shares are vested as of April 16, 2

Consists of the shares described in Note (8yaland 8,247 shares held by the Colella FamilgiTaf which Mr. Colella is a trustee
and options to purchase 10,115 shares of commahk kld by Samuel D. Colella that are exercisabithiw60 days of February 15,
2011, of which 10,115 shares will be vested asmilA6, 2011. Samuel D. Colella disclaims beneficiwnership of the shares held by
Versant Venture Capital I. L.P., Versant Affiliatesnd 1-A L.P., Versant Affiliates Fund 1-B, L.Bnd Versant Side Fund I, L.P., as
described in Note (8) above, except to the extEhtsopecuniary interest therei

Consists of 2,062 shares held by the VikramRradima Jog Family Trust U/A DATED 6/23/2009 ofiaiMr. Jog is a trustee and
options to purchase 118,741 shares of common sihatkare exercisable within 60 days of February208,1, of which 91,894 shares
will be vested as of April 16, 201

Consists of options to purchase 128,976 shafresmmon stock that are exercisable within 60 deysebruary 15, 2011, of which
113,760 shares will be vested as of April 16, 2(

No shares are beneficially owne
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(9) Consists of options to purchase 43,145 sharesmframn stock that are exercisable within 60 daysedfriary 15, 2011, of which 43,1
shares will be vested as of April 16, 20

(10) Consists of 49,545 shares held of record byiakfi M. Smith and options to purchase 153,994 ehaf common stock, that are
exercisable within 60 days of February 15, 201 Wwloith 138,525 will be vested as of April 16, 20

(11) Consists of 434,454 shares held of recordimli#SR Partners, L.P. and 434,454 shares heldaafrd by EuclidSR Biotechnology
Partners, L.P. Mr. Whitaker, a member of our BaarBirectors shares voting and investment poweh Witaham D.S. Anderson,
Milton J. Pappas and Stephen K. Reidy, each of wamrGeneral Partners of EuclidSR Associates, thE.General Partner of
EuclidSR Partners and EuclidSR Biotechnology Assesi, L.P., the General Partner of EuclidSR Biatetdgy Partners. Each General
Partner of EuclidSR Associates, L.P. and Euclid$®e8hnology Associates, L.P. disclaims benefici@hership of the shares excep
the extent of their pecuniary interest therein. atldress of the entities affiliated with EuclidSRsAciates, L.P. and EuclidSR
Biotechnology Associates, L.P. is 45 Rockefellexrzal Suite 1410, New York, NY 10111. Also considteptions to purchase 10,115
shares of common stock that are exercisable w@idays of February 15, 2011, of which 10,115 shaii#t be vested as of April 16,
2011, held by Raymond J. Whitaker. Raymond J. hitdisclaims beneficial ownership of the shardd bg EuclidSR Partners, L.P
and EuclidSR Biotechnology Partners, L.P., excephé extent of his pecuniary interest ther

(12) Consists of options to purchase 14,450 sharesmoframn stock that are exercisable within 60 daysedfriary 15, 2011, of which 14,4
will be vested as of April 16, 201

(13) Includes 705,206 shares of our common stock iseugtibn exercise of options exercisable within 6@sddter February 15, 201

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

In addition to the director and executive compensaarrangements discussed above in Iltem 11 “Ekex@ompensation”, we have
been a party to the following transactions sinceuday 1, 2010, in which the amount involved exceeafewill exceed $120,000, and in wh
any director, executive officer or holder of mdnar 5% of any class of our voting stock, or any fenof the immediate family of or entiti
affiliated with any of them, had or will have a raal interest.

2011 Note Financing

In January 2011, we sold subordinated secured gemmi notes, or the 2011 Notes, to certain of &istiag investors for an aggregate
purchase price of $5.0 million. The 2011 Notes aednterest at a rate of 8% per year and all unpaittipal, accrued interest and any other
amounts payable under the 2011 Notes are due aathlpaon the earliest to occur of: (i) the closoighe next transaction or series of
transactions pursuant to which we issue and satkesof our capital stock with the principal pumpos$ raising capital for aggregate gross
proceeds of at least $25,000,000; (ii) the closihg change of control of our company; (iii) Jaryuéy 2012, or (iv) when, upon the
occurrence and during the continuance of an evies¢fault, such amounts are declared due and paysithe holders of a majority of the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of the 20dtes. The notes are secured by substantiallyf allibassets excluding intellectual
property. We repaid the 2011 Notes with a portibthe proceeds from our initial public offering.

Each investor who purchased a 2011 Note also redeiwvarrant to purchase a number of shares denes E-1 convertible preferred
stock equal to the quotient obtained by dividingd%% of the principal amount of the 2011 Note pased by such investor by (y) $12.11,
which warrants are currently exercisable for rightpurchase an aggregate of 103,182 shares @&angs Et convertible preferred stock a
purchase price per share of $0.02.
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In connection with these sales, we granted thestove certain registration rights with respectte shares issuable upon exercise of the
warrants.

The table below sets forth (i) the principal amooh2011 Notes purchased by each of our direceomscutive officers, holders of more
than 5% of any class of our voting securities, oy member of the immediate family of or any ensitidfiliated with any of the foregoing
persons, and (ii) the number of shares of our S&ié& convertible preferred stock that were isseialpbn the exercise of warrants issued in
connection with the purchase of our 2011 Notes.

Number of Shares of
Series E4 Preferred Stock
Issuable upon
Exercise of Warrant(s)

Principal Amount of Issued in connection with
Purchaser 2011 Note(s) Purchase 2011 Notes
Colella Family Trust U/D/T dated September 21, 1

@4 $ 400,00( 8,25]
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Funds(: 533,62! 11,01¢
Entities affiliated with Lehman Brothers Holdinds¢.

3) 310,15: 6,40z
Entities affiliated with Versant Ventures(1)( 400,00( 8,25¢
Vikram and Pratima Jog Family Trust u/a dated

6/23/2009(5; 100,00( 2,064
Worthington Family Trust UAD 03/06/07(! 25,00( 51t
Total $ 1,768,77! 36,50¢

(1) Samuel D. Colella, a member of our Board okbiors and a managing director of Versant Ventisrascotrustee of the Colella Fami
Trust U/D/T dated September 21, 19

(2) Consists of a 2011 Note in the principal ammfr$41,275 and a related warrant currently exalgesfor 852 shares issued to Fidelity
Contrafund: Fidelity Advisor New Insights Fund, @12 Note in the principal amount of $376,568 amdlated warrant currently
exercisable for 7,773 shares issued to Fidelityt@fund: Fidelity Contrafund, and a 2011 Note ia grincipal amount of $115,782 and
a related warrant currently exercisable for 2,3%4rss issued to Variable Insurance Products Fur@btitrafund Portfolio, which
entities are aggregated for purposes of reportiagesownership information and collectively hold 6%more of our capital stoc

(3) Consists of a 2011 Note in the principal ammfr#77,538 and a related warrant currently exatdesfor 1,600 shares issued to Lehman
Brothers Healthcare Venture Capital L.P., a 2011eNvthe principal amount of $17,341 and a relatadrant currently exercisable for
357 shares issued to Lehman Brothers Offshore &ahip Account 2000/2001, L.P., a 2011 Note inghecipal amount of $148,409
and a related warrant currently exercisable fo63 §hares issued to Lehman Brothers P.A., LLC,za®@11 Note in the principal
amount of $66,865 and a related warrant currenttyasable for 1,380 shares issued to Lehman BratRartnership Account
2001/2001, L.P., which entities are aggregateghtmposes of reporting our share ownership inforomeéind collectively hold 5% or
more of our capital stocl

(4) Consists of a 2011 Note in the principal ammfr$8,000 and a related warrant currently exebtéséor 164 shares issued to Versant
Affiliates Fund 1-A, L.P., a 2011 Note in the pripal amount of $16,800 and a related warrant ctigrexxercisable for 346 shares
issued to Versant Affiliates Fund 1-B, L.P., a 20dte in the principal amount of $7,200 and a ezlatarrant currently exercisable for
148 shares issued to Versant Side Fund I, L.Padiil 1 Note in the principal amount of $368,000 amelated warrant currently
exercisable for 7,596 shares issued to VersantWe@apital I, L.P., which entities are aggregdtegurposes of reporting our share
ownership information and collectively hold 5% ooma of our capital stock. Samuel D. Colella, a ngamg director of Versant
Ventures, is a member of our Board of Direct
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(5) Vikram and Pratima Jog Family Trust u/a dated &@G9 is controlled by Vikram Jog, our Chief Finacfficer.
(6) Worthington Family Trust UAD 03/06/07 is contenl by Gajus V. Worthington, our President andeEliixecutive Officer and a
member of our Board of Directol

Adjustment of Series E Conversion Price

In early December 2010, we engaged in discussiathstiae holders of our preferred stock to remowveréquirement in our fifth
amended and restated certificate incorporationshates issued in our initial public offering mbstissued at a price of at least $34.453 per
share in order to cause the automatic conversiamiobutstanding preferred stock into common stbtladdition, holders of our Series E
preferred stock were entitled to an adjustmeniéorate of conversion of such stock into commonksio the event that shares were sold in a
public offering at a price per share of less tha4.$2 per share. Based on our expected offerirg pour board concluded that this minimum
price requirement and Series E preferred stock emion rate adjustment could prevent, or at led@tencertainty to our initial public
offering. In an effort to reduce this uncertaintyg proposed to amend our certificate of incorporato remove the $34.453 minimum
threshold for automatic conversion, adjust thee3eli conversion price from $24.22 to $18.632 te g¢ine holders of our Series E preferred
stock some, but not all, of their expected conwersate adjustment, and waive any further adjustrokthe Series E conversion rate in
connection with our initial public offering. As agult of this adjustment, upon a conversion ofe&3el preferred stock to common stock, each
holder of Series E preferred stock was entitleceteive 1.30 shares of common stock for each siféBeries E preferred stock. Our sixth
amended and restated certificate of incorporativimg effect to these changes was approved by thaehs of our common stock and
preferred stock on January 6, 2011.
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The table below sets forth the additional numbeshafres of common stock issued or issuable toioegtdrs, executive officers, holde

of more than 5% of any class of our voting seaesitor any member of the immediate family of or aniities affiliated with any of the
foregoing persons, as a result of the adjustmetitea@onversion rate of the Series E preferreckstbioe table also sets out the value of the
additional shares of common stock at the initiddljmuoffering price of $13.50.

Shares of
Common Stock
Issuable upon
Conversion Before

Adjustment of

Shares of
Common Stock
Issuable upon
Conversion After

Adjustment of

Additional
Shares of
Common Stock
Issuable upon
Conversion After

Adjustment of

Value of
Additional Shares

of Common Stoc}
Issuable upon

Conversion After
Adjustment of

Series E Series E Series E Series E
Holder Conversion Rate Conversion Rate Conversion Rate Conversion Rate
Entities affiliated with Alloy Funds(1 55,54+ 72,20¢ 16,66¢ $ 224,97¢
Bruce Burrows(2 106,53: 138,49¢ 31,96¢ $ 431,52¢
Entities affiliated with EuclidSR Funds( 91,26¢ 118,64¢ 27,38: $ 369,65
Biomedical Sciences Investment Fund Pte Ltd
4) 839,82 1,091,81! 251,99: $ 3,401,87
Entities affiliated with InterWest Funds( 37,51 48,77( 11,25 $ 151,97(
Entities affiliated with Lehman Brothers
Holdings, Inc.(6] 68,82 89,47" 20,64¢ $ 278,74
SMALLCAP World Fund, Inc.(7 773,47( 1,005,55: 232,08 $ 3,133,09
Entities affiliated with Versant Ventures( 108,85: 141,51. 32,65¢ $ 440,89
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Funds(¢ 1,085,78: 1,411,57! 325,79: $ 4,398,19
Total 3,167,61. 4,118,05: 950,44( $ 12,830,94

1)

()

(3)

(4)

()
(6)

Consists of 728 shares of our Series E Prefe3teck held of record by Alloy Partners 2002, L F.,043 shares of our Series E

Preferred Stock held of record by Alloy Venture®20L.P.; and 27,773 shares of our Series E Pegfe3tock held of record by Alloy
Ventures 2005, L.P. Michael Hunkapiller, an affdiaf Alloy Ventures, served a member of our Baatr®irectors until May 6, 201(
Consists of 93,060 shares of our Series E RegfeStock and a warrant to purchase 13,471 slodag Series E Preferred Stock. Bruce
Burrows is a holder of 5% or more of our capitakckt He served as a member of our Board of Diredimm January 3, 2000 to
January 15, 200¢

Consists of 36,461 shares of our Series E RegfeStock and a warrant to purchase 9,172 shfms Geries E Preferred Stock held of
record by EuclidSR Biotechnology Partners, L.Pd 86,461 shares of our Series E Preferred Stoclaavatrant to purchase 9,172
shares of our Series E Preferred Stock held ofrdelop EuclidSR Partners, L.P. Raymond Whitakerafditiate of Euclid SR Partners,

a member of our Board of Directo

Consists of 806,088 shares of our Series EeRaxf Stock and a warrant to purchase 33,736 shamg Series E Preferred Stock.
Biomedical Sciences Investment Fund Pte Ltd islderamf 5% or more of our capital stock. Jeremy Lah affiliate of Biomedical
Sciences Investment Fund Pte Ltd was previouslgmiber of our Board of Director

Consists of 1,712 shares of our Series E Rerfe3tock held of record by Interwest Investors, VIP. and 35,801 shares of our Series E
Preferred Stock held of record by Interwest Pastvdl, L.P. These affiliated entities collectiveipld 5% or more of our capital stoc
Consists of 13,748 shares of our Series E RegfeStock and a warrant to purchase 3,457 shfms Geries E Preferred Stock held of
record by Lehman Brothers Healthcare Venture ChpiR; 3,075 shares of our Series E Preferredkaand a warrant to purchase 773
shares of our Series E Preferred Stock he
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(7)
(8)

(9)

record by Lehman Brothers Offshore Partnership Anoc@000/2001, L.P.; 26,317 shares of our SeriPseferred Stock and a warrant
to purchase 6,691 shares of our Series E Pref8tmak held of record by Lehman Brothers P.A. LL@¢ 41,856 shares of our Series E
Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchase 2,982slof our Series E Preferred Stock held of rebgrdehman Brothers Partnership
Account 2000/2001, L.P. These affiliated entitiefectively hold 5% or more of our capital sto

Consists of 757,073 shares of our Series EeRaf Stock and a warrant to purchase 16,397 shamg Series E Preferred Stock.
SMALLCAP World Fund, Inc. is a holder of 5% or markour capital stock

Consists of 1,589 shares of our Series E Refe3tock and a warrant to purchase 369 sharegr@eries E Preferred Stock held of
record by Versant Affiliates Fund 1-A, L.P.; 3,988ares of our Series E Preferred Stock and a waogmurchase 1,090 shares of our
Series E Preferred Stock held of record by Veradfiltates Fund 1-B, L.P.; 1,610 shares of our 8srE Preferred Stock and a warrant
to purchase 419 shares of our Series E Preferpak &eld of record by Versant Side Fund I, L.Pd @8,684 shares of our Series E
Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchase 20,1&@slof our Series E Preferred Stock held of rebgrdersant Venture Capital I, L.
Samuel D. Colella, an affiliate of Versant Ventyrissa member of our Board of Directo

Consists of 83,193 shares of our Series E RegfeStock held of record by Fidelity Contrafunddiity Advisor New Insights Fund;
759,006 shares of our Series E Preferred Stockdfelketord by Fidelity Contrafund: Fidelity Contuaid; and 238,421 shares of our
Series E Preferred Stock and a warrant to purchd$8 shares of our Series E Preferred Stock Hekecord by Variable Insurance
Products Fund II: Contrafund Portfolio. These &fféd entities collectively hold 5% or more of @mapital stock

Warrant Repricing
In August 2010, we allowed the holders of outstagdgireferred stock warrants with exercise pricesgr than $12.11 per share to

amend such warrants to provide that (i) the exengigce of such warrants would be $12.11 per shagde(ii) such warrants would be
exercisable for (a) a number of shares of an atam series of our preferred stock equal to thalmer of shares of the preferred stock
issuable upon exercise of the non-repriced warramis(b) an equivalent number of shares of our comstock, subject to such holder’s
agreement to exercise the amended warrants imregdiatfull and for cash.

The table below sets forth the participation inWarrant Repricing by our directors, executive adfs and 5% stockholders and their

affiliates.
Number of
Number of shares of
shares of new common stocl
preferred stock
issued in
issued in connection
Number of connection with Warrant
shares of with Warrant
Purchasers Warrants Repriced Repricing Repricing
Entities affiliated with Alloy Funds(1 13,971 13,971 13,971
Entities affiliated with Fidelity Funds(: 18,24( 18,24( 18,24(
Entities affiliated with InterWest Funds( 14,14 14,14: 14,14:
Total 46,63( 46,63( 46,63(
(1) Consists of 183 shares issued to Alloy PartBee?, L.P., 6,805 shares issued to Alloy Vent@@®@32, L.P. and 6,989 shares issued to

()
(3)

Alloy Ventures 2005, L.F

Consists of 1,801 shares issued to Fidelityt@adunnd: Fidelity Advisor New Insights Fund and 483 shares issued to Fidelity
Contrafund: Fidelity Contrafunt

Consists of 646 shares issued to InterWest Investbr L.P. and 13,497 shares issued to InterWastniers VIl, L.P.
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Related Party Transaction Policy

We have adopted a formal policy that our executifieers, directors, holders of more than 5% of alass of our voting securities, and
any member of the immediate family of and any gréffiliated with any of the foregoing persons, am# permitted to enter into a related
party transaction with us without the prior conseindur audit committee, or other independent mambéour board in the case it is
inappropriate for our audit committee to reviewlstransaction due to a conflict of interest. Anguest for us to enter into a transaction with
an executive officer, director, principal stockheidor any of their immediate family members oiliates, in which the amount involved
exceeds $120,000 must first be presented to out eummittee for review, consideration and approlbpproving or rejecting any such
proposal, our audit committee is to consider theviant facts and circumstances available and deeetedant to the audit committee,
including, but not limited to, whether the tran$actis on terms no less favorable than terms gdgereailable to an unaffiliated third party
under the same or similar circumstances and thenegf the related party’s interest in the tranisactAll of the transactions described above
were entered into prior to the adoption of thisrent policy.

Director I ndependence

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Mar Under the rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market Lli@dependent
directors must comprise a majority of a listed camys board of directors within a specified peraddhe closing of its initial offering. In
addition, the rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market Lk€juire that, subject to specified exceptions, eaember of a listed company’s audit,
compensation, and nominating and corporate govemeommmittees be independent. Audit committee mesnibest also satisfy the
independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 urtterSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendedetJ)the rules of The NASDAQ Stock
Market LLC, a director will qualify as an “indepesnt director” only if, the company’s board of dires affirmatively determines that the
person does not have a relationship that wouldfare with the exercise of independent judgmengairrying out the responsibilities of a
director.

In order to be considered to be independent fopgmes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit commdfeelisted company may not,
other than in his or her capacity as a membereftidit committee, the board of directors or amgoboard committee: (1) accept, directl
indirectly, any consulting, advisory or other comgatory fee from the listed company or any of itissidiaries; or (2) be an affiliated person
of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.

Our board of directors recently undertook a reviguis composition, the composition of its comnetteand the independence of each
director. Based upon information requested from@nodtided by each director concerning his or hekbeound, employment and affiliatior
including family relationships, our board of dirert has determined that none of Dr. Whitaker ordvie<Colella, Nussbacher, Jones and
Young, representing five of our six directors, haglationship that would interfere with the exeecof independent judgment in carrying out
the responsibilities of a director and that eacthe$e directors is “independets that term is defined under the rules of The NAQC5tock
Market LLC. In making this determination, our boarfddirectors considered the relationships thaheam-employee director has with our
company and all other facts and circumstances oardbof directors deemed relevant in determinirggr imdependence, including the
beneficial ownership of our capital stock by eaoh4employee director.

Audit CommitteeUntil March 2011, the members of our audit comreitteere Kenneth Nussbacher, Raymond Whitaker and Joh
Young. Mr. Nussbacher was our audit committee ohmair. Effective as of March 11, 2011, the audit cdtte® was reconstituted to consis
Patrick Jones (Chairman), Kenneth Nussbacher, ¥Yoling and Raymond Whitaker. Our board of directas concluded that the
composition of our audit committee meets the resmeénts for independence under the current requirenoé The NASDAQ Stock Market
LLC and SEC rules and regulations. We believe tthefunctioning of our audit committee complieshntite applicable requirements of The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC and SEC rules and regulasi

Compensation Committedhe members of our compensation committee arau€b@olella and Raymond Whitaker. Mr. Colella ie th
chairman of our compensation committee. Our bo&directors has determined
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that each member of our compensation committegispendent within the meaning of the independegttiir guidelines of The NASDAQ
Stock Market LLC. We believe that the compositidmor compensation committee meets the requirenfentadependence under, and the
functioning of our compensation committee compliéth, any applicable requirements of The NASDAQcktMarket LLC.

Nominating and Governance Committéehe members of our nominating and governance dtaserare Samuel Colella, Kenneth
Nussbacher and John Young. Mr. Colella is our natiig and governance committee chairman. Our bofgitectors has determined tt
each member of our nominating and governance cdewrig independent within the meaning of the indepat director guidelines of The
NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors s&decErnst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) to be the Company'sdependent registered
public accounting firm for the year ended Decen81er2010.

Audit Fees

The following table sets forth the aggregate feesfidit services provided by E&Y for the yearseth®ecember 31, 2010 and
December 31, 2009:

2010 2009
Audit fees (1) $1,256,00! $663,00(
Audit-related fee: 3,00( 16,80(

Total fees $1,259,00! $679,80(

(1) Audit Fees consist of fees billed or to bedullby E&Y for professional services rendered fer &ludit of the Company’annual financi
statements for 2010 and 2009. Fees for 2010 atdode fees associated with the Com('s initial public offering.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Servicederformed by Independent Registered Public Accountig Firm

The Audit Committee’s policy is to pre-approvealidit and permissible non-audit services providgthl independent accountants.
These services may include audit services, auldita@ services, tax services and other services Atldit Committee generally pre-approves
particular services or categories of services ocase-by-case basis. The independent registereit pugisbunting firm and management are
required to periodically report to the Audit Comted regarding the extent of services provided byindependent registered public
accounting firm in accordance with these pre-appispand the fees for the services performed te. dat

All of the services of E&Y for 2010 and 2009 debed above were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements See“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” in Part Il, Item 8 of this Form -K.
2. Financial Statement scheduleSee" Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Account and Rese” in this section of this Form -K.

3.  Exhibits. The exhibits set forth below are filed herewithaoe incorporated by reference to exhibits previpfiktd with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commissi

140



Table of Contents

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNT AND RE SERVE

Year ended December 31, 20
Accounts receivable allowan:

Year ended December 31, 20!
Accounts receivable allowan:

Year ended December 27, 20!
Accounts receivable allowan:

In thousands

Balance at Additions/ Balance a
Beginning of Charged tc End of
Period Expense Deductions Period
$ 10z $ 364 $ — $ 467
$ — $ 10z $ — $ 10z
$ — $ — $ — $ —
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Exhibit

Number

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2%

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.67

4.6A

4.6B

4.6C

4.6D

4.6E

4.7

EXHIBITS

Description

Incorporated

by Reference

Incorporated From Exhibit
by Reference
From Form Number

Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incaxpon of Fluidigm
Corporation filed on February 15, 20:

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporatiffactive as of
February 9, 2011

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm Cogbion.

Series E Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement datexdlB, 2006 by and
among the registrant and the purchasers of thetragt's preferred stock
set forth therein, as amend:

Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of PreferreckStbthe registrant
dated as of August 25, 20(

Series E Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dateember 16, 2009
and among the registrant and the purchasers oétistrant’s preferred
stock set forth thereir

Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agre¢metveen thi
registrant and certain holders of the registian#ipital stock named there
including amendments No. 1, No. 2 and Nc

Loan and Security Agreement No. 4561 between thistrant and
Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. dated March22®5, including
amendments No. 1 through No.

Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Purchase Wasaed to
Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. effective Juae2010

Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Purchase Wasaed to
Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. effective Juae2010

Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Purchase Wasaed to
Lighthouse Capital Partners V, L.P. effective Juae2010

Preferred Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Liglsth@apital Partners V,
L.P. effective June 14, 201

Negative Pledge Agreement by and between the ragtsind Lighthous
Capital Partners V, L.P. dated March 29, 2(

Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated Januafifé among th
registrant and the investors named thet

142

Filed herewit!

Filed herewitl
S-1/A 4.1
S-1 4.2
S-1 4.3
S-1 4.4
S-1 4.5
S-1 4.€
S-1 4.6A
S-1 4.6E
S-1 4.6C
S-1 4.6D
S-1 4.6E
S-1/A 4.7

Date Filed

2/7/11

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

1/7/11
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Exhibit
Number

4.8

10.1

10.2#
10.2A#
10.3#
10.3A%#
10.4#
10.4A%#
10.5t

10.5A%

10.6t

10.6AT

10.7t

10.8t

10.9%

10.10t

10.10A1

10.11

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number
Business Financing Agreement between the registrahBridge Bank, S-1/A 4.8
National Association, dated as of December 16, 2
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regig and its directors S-1/A 10.1
and officers
1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as amer S-1 10.z
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Optiam S-1 10.2A
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded. S-1 10.:
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Incertiaa. S 10.3A
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registre S-1/A 10.4
Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Incemtiaa. S-1/A 10.4A
Second Amended and Restated License Agreementblyetween S-1 10.t
California Institute of Technology and the registraffective as of May 1,
2004.
First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007S&zond Amended and S-1 10.5A
Restated License Agreement by and between Califonsiitute of
Technology and the registrant effective as of MagQD4.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of Harvard S-1 10.€
College and the registrant effective as of Octdlier2000
First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreemeativieen President S-1 10.6A
and Fellows of Harvard College and the registréfiecéve as of October 1
2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of Harvard S-1 10.7
College and the registrant effective as of Octdiier2000
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of Harvard S-1 10.¢
College and the registrant effective as of Octdlier2000
Letter Agreement between President and Fellowsastétd College and tt S-1 10.¢
registrant dated December 22, 20
Patent License Agreement by and between Gyros ARlanregistrant dat S-1 10.2(
January 9, 200!
Amendment No. 1 dated January 9, 2005 to Pateenhkie Agreement by S-1 10.10A

and between Gyros AB and the registrant dated Ja®2003.
Reserved
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Date Filed

1/28/11

1/28/11

12/3/1(
12/3/1(
12/3/1(
12/3/1(
1/28/11
1/28/11
12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(
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Exhibit
Number

10.12t

10.12A1

10.13t

10.14#

10.15

10.16

10.17#
10.18#
10.19

10.20

10.21t

10.22t

10.23t

10.24

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjegpion for S-1 10.1z
Incentives Under the Research Incentive SchemE&danpanies (RISC)
dated March 27, 2008 (originally dated October(Q3), by and between
Singapore Economic Development Board and Fluidigmg&pore Pte. Ltc
Supplement, dated January 11, 2006, to Letter Agee¢ Relating to S-1 10.12A
Application for Incentives under the Research Iti#enScheme for
Companies (RISC), dated October 7, 2005 betweegaore Economic
Development Board and Fluidigm Singapore Pte.
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjegpion for S-1 10.1:
Incentives Under the Research Incentive SchemE&danpanies (RISC)
dated March 27, 2008 (originally dated February2ll)7), by and between
Singapore Economic Development Board and Fluidigmg&pore Pte. Ltc
Form of Employment and Severance Agreement bettreeregistrant and S-1 10.1¢
each of its executive officer
Employee Loan Agreement by and between the regisared Gajus V. S-1 10.1¢
Worthington dated January 20, 20
Stock Repurchase Agreement by and between thenagiand Gajus V. S-1 10.1¢€
Worthington dated April 10, 200
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2( S-1 10.17
Offer Letter to Fredric Walder dated May 3, 20 S-1 10.1¢
Lease Agreement between ARE - San Francisco NbLC7and the S-1/A 10.1¢
registrant, dated September 14, 2010, as amengeerSeer 22, 201(
Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore éetwJTC Corporation S-1 10.2(
and the registrant dated July 27, 2005, as amefdgdst 12, 2008 and
May 31, 2010
Collaboration and Option Agreement by and betweewnaxtis Vaccines & S-1/A 10.21
Diagnostics, Inc. and the registrant dated May201.0, including all
exhibits thereto
Form of License Agreement by and between Novaréiscihes & S-1/A 10.22
Diagnostics, Inc. and the registra
Quality Agreement for Development of In-Vitro Diaagtic Devices by and S-1/A 10.2:
between Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics, Inc. draregistrant dated
May 14, 2010
Co-Promotion Agreement, by and between 454 LifeiSms and the S-1/A 10.2¢

registrant dated May 20, 201
144

Date Filed

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(

12/3/1(
12/3/1(
1/7/11

12/3/1(

1/18/11

1/18/11

1/18/11

1/18/11
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Exhibit
Number

10.25¢
211
23.1
24.1

31.1

31.2

32.1~

32.2~

—+ %

Description

Executive Bonus Plai
Subsidiaries of the registral
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagihis Form 10-
K).
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of Chief
Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 2002 of Chief
Financial Officer.

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of Chief
Executive Officer

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 2002 of Chief
Financial Officer.

Incorporated
by Reference
From Form

Filed herewitl

Filed herewitl
Filed herewitl

Filed herewit!

Filed herewit!

Filed herewitl

Filed herewit!

Filed herewitl

Incorporated
by Reference

From Exhibit

Number Date Filed

Management contracts or compensation plans orgeraants in which directors or executive officers eligible to participate
Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@man order granted by the Securities and Exoh&@wammission for confidential
treatment

~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Management'’s
Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Repgytamd Certification of Disclosure in Exchange AetiBdic Reports, the certificatio
furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are dmkto accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deefffiled” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act. Such certificatialbnot be deemed to be incorporated by referanteany filings under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to titerd that the registrant specifically incorporatédsy reference
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmly authorized.

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Dated: March 25, 2011 By: /sl GajusV. W ORTHINGTON

Gajus V. Worthington
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pembose signature appears below constitutes anargpajus V.
Worthington and Vikram Jog, jointly and severa#g, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact agdnts, with full power of substitution
and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or h@me, place and stead, in any and all capacitiesgn this Form 10-K, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto, and other documentsanreection therewith, with the Securities and Exgfga8ommission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authida do and perform each and every act and thengisite or necessary to be done in and
about the premises hereby ratifying and confirndlighat said attorneys-in-fact and agents, oohitheir substitute or substitutes, may
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of
the registrant in the capacities and on the datisated.

Signature Title. Date
/sl GAJusV. W ORTHINGTON President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal March 25, 2011
Gajus V. Worthington Executive Officer,
/sl VIKRAM JOG Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 25, 2011
Vikram Jog Accounting Officer)
/s|  SAMUEL C OLELLA Chairman of the Board of Directors March 25, 2011

Samuel Colella

/s/  KENNETHN USSBACHER Director March 25, 2011
Kenneth Nussbacher

/s  RAYMOND W HITAKER Director March 25, 2011
Raymond Whitaker

/s/  JOHNA.Y OUNG Director March 25, 2011
John A. Young

/s/  PATRICK S. JONES Director March 25, 2011

Patrick S. Jones
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit by Reference From Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
3.1 Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incapon of Fluidigm Filed herewit!
Corporation filed on February 15, 20
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corpora#iffactive as of Filed herewitl
February 9, 201
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm Cogpion S-1/A 4.1 2/7/11
4.2t Series E Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated1lB, 2006 by and among S-1 4.2 12/3/1(
the registrant and the purchasers of the registrpntferred stock set forth
therein, as amende
4.3 Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of PreferreckStbthe registrant dated as S-1 4.3 12/3/1(
of August 25, 200¢
4.4 Series E Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement daiedrber 16, 2009 by and S-1 4.4 12/3/1(

among the registrant and the purchasers of thetragt’s preferred stock set
forth therein.

4.5 Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agre¢inefveen the registra S-1 4.5 12/3/1(
and certain holders of the registrant’s capitatisteamed therein, including
amendments No. 1, No. 2 and No

4.6t Loan and Security Agreement No. 4561 between thistrant and Lighthouse S-1 4.6 12/3/1(
Capital Partners V, L.P. dated March 29, 2005 uditlg amendments No. 1
through No. 8

4.6A Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Purchase Wessaed to Lighthouse S-1 4.6A 12/3/1(
Capital Partners V, L.P. effective June 14, 2(

4.6B Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Purchase Wassaed to Lighthouse S-1 4.6B 12/3/1(
Capital Partners V, L.P. effective June 14, 2(

4.6C Amended and Restated Preferred Stock Purchase Wassaed to Lighthouse S-1 4.6C 12/3/1(
Capital Partners V, L.P. effective June 14, 2(

4.6D Preferred Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Ligistn@apital Partners V, L.P. S-1 4.6D 12/3/1(
effective June 14, 201

4.6E Negative Pledge Agreement by and between the ragtsind Lighthous S-1 4.6E 12/3/1(
Capital Partners V, L.P. dated March 29, 2(

4.7 Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement dated Januafif among th S-1/A 4.7 1/7/11

registrant and the investors named thel
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10.5At

10.6%

10.6AT

10.7t

10.8%
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10.10t

10.10A1

10.11

Description
Business Financing Agreement between the registrachBridge Bank,

National Association, dated as of December 16, 2

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regig and its directors
and officers

1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as amer
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Optiam
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded.
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Inceftiaa.
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registre

Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Inceftiaa.

Second Amended and Restated License Agreementblpetween California
Institute of Technology and the registrant effeetas of May 1, 200

First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007Séxzond Amended and
Restated License Agreement by and between Calidnstitute of
Technology and the registrant effective as of MagQD4.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of Harvard
College and the registrant effective as of Octdligr2000

First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreemeativeen President and
Fellows of Harvard College and the registrant dffecas of October 15,
2000.

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of Harvard
College and the registrant effective as of Octdiier2000

Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresideshFafiows of Harvard
College and the registrant effective as of Octdligr2000

Letter Agreement between President and Fellowsan¥étd College and the
registrant dated December 22, 20

Patent License Agreement by and between Gyros ARlanregistrant dated
January 9, 200!

Amendment No. 1 dated January 9, 2005 to Pateenhkie Agreement by and
between Gyros AB and the registrant dated Janua29@s.

Reserved
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Incorporated by Reference

by Reference From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
S-1/A 4.8 1/28/11
S-1/A 10.1 1/28/11
S-1 10.2 12/3/1(
S-1 10.2A 12/3/1(
S-1 10.3 12/3/1(
S-1 10.3A 12/3/1(
S-1/A 104 1/28/11
S-1/A 10.4A 1/28/11
S-1 10.5 12/3/1(
S-1 10.5A 12/3/1(
S-1 10.6 12/3/1(
S-1 10.6A 12/3/1(
S-1 10.7 12/3/1(
S-1 10.8 12/3/1(
S-1 10.9 12/3/1(
S-1 10.10 12/3/1(
S-1 10.10A 12/3/1(
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10.12t

10.12A1

10.13t

10.14#

10.15

10.16

10.17#
10.18#
10.19

10.20

10.21t

10.22t

10.23t

10.24

10.25#

Description
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjegpion for

Incentives Under the Research Incentive Schem€danpanies (RISC) dated
March 27, 2008 (originally dated October 7, 20®y)and between Singapc
Economic Development Board and Fluidigm Singapdee BRd.

Supplement, dated January 11, 2006, to Letter Agee¢ Relating to
Application for Incentives under the Research Iti#enScheme for
Companies (RISC), dated October 7, 2005 betweeagaBore Economic
Development Board and Fluidigm Singapore Pte.

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement Regardindjegpion for

Incentives Under the Research Incentive Schem€danpanies (RISC) dated
March 27, 2008 (originally dated February 12, 20®y)and between
Singapore Economic Development Board and Fluidigmg&pore Pte. Ltc

Form of Employment and Severance Agreement bettreeregistrant and
each of its executive officer

Employee Loan Agreement by and between the regisarad Gajus V.
Worthington dated January 20, 20

Stock Repurchase Agreement by and between thenagiand Gajus V.
Worthington dated April 10, 200

Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2(
Offer Letter to Fredric Walder dated May 3, 20

Lease Agreement between ARE - San Francisco NbLC7and the
registrant, dated September 14, 2010, as amengedrSeer 22, 201(

Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore &etwJTC Corporation a
the registrant dated July 27, 2005, as amended #tug 2008 and May 31,
2010.

Collaboration and Option Agreement by and betweewaXtis Vaccines &
Diagnostics, Inc. and the registrant dated May2D1,0, including all exhibits
thereto.

Form of License Agreement by and between Novaréiscihes &
Diagnostics, Inc. and the registra

Quality Agreement for Development of In-Vitro Diaagtic Devices by and
between Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics, Inc. draregistrant dated
May 14, 2010

Co-Promotion Agreement, by and between 454 LifeSms and the
registrant dated May 20, 201

Executive Bonus Pla
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Filed herewitt

Incorporated by Reference

by Reference From Exhibit
From Form Number Date Filed
S-1 10.12 12/3/1(
S-1 10.12A 12/3/1(
S-1 10.13 12/3/1(
S-1 10.14 12/3/1(
S-1 10.15 12/3/1(
S-1 10.16 12/3/1(
S-1 10.17 12/3/1(
S-1 10.18 12/3/1(
S-1/A 10.19 1/7/11
S-1 10.20 12/3/1(
S-1/A 10.21 1/18/11
S-1/A 10.22 1/18/11
S-1/A 10.23 1/18/11
S-1/A 10.24 1/18/11



Table of Contents

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit by Reference From Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
21.1 Subsidiaries of the registra Filed herewit!
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing Filed herewit!
24.1 Power of Attorney (contained in the signature piagghis Form 10- Filed herewit!
K)
31.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Filed herewit!
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley B2002 of Chief
Executive Officel
31.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Filed herewitl
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of Chief
Financial Officer
32.1~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Filed herewitl
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 2002 of Chief
Executive Officel
32.2~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Filed herewit!
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 of Chief
Financial Officer
#  Management contracts or compensation plans orgeraents in which directors or executive officers eligible to participate
T Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@man order granted by the Securities and Exoh&@wammission for confidential

treatment

~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Management’s
Reports on Internal Control Over Financial Repgrimd Certification of Disclosure in Exchange AetiBdic Reports, the certificatio
furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are dmkto accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deefffiled” for purposes of
Section 18 of the Exchange Act. Such certificatinilsnot be deemed to be incorporated by referenteeany filings under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to titerg that the registrant specifically incorporétdsy reference
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Exhibit 3.1
EIGHTH AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF
FLUIDIGM CORPORATION
Fluidigm Corporation, a corporation organized ardteng under the laws of the State of Delaware (t€orporation "), certifies that:

A. The name of the Corporation is Fluidigm Corpmnat The Corporation was originally incorporatedianthe same name, and its
original Certificate of Incorporation was filed Withe Secretary of State of the State of Delawark®larch 29, 2007.

B. This Eighth Amended and Restated Certificattnobrporation (this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiorn’) was
duly adopted in accordance with Sections 242 ada24he General Corporation Law of the State ofaldare, and has been duly approved
by the written consent of the stockholders of tleepBration in accordance with Section 228 of thae&al Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware.

C. The text of the Seventh Amended and RestatetifiCate of Incorporation is amended and restateetd as set forth in Exhibit A
attached hereto.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Fluidigm Corporation has cauded Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpanao be signed by
Gajus V. Worthington, a duly authorized officertbé Corporation, on February 15, 2011.

/sl Gajus V. Worthington
Gajus V. Worthingtot
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT A
ARTICLE |

The name of the corporation is Fluidigm Corporafitre “ Corporation ).

ARTICLE II

The address of the Corporation’s registered offidhe State of Delaware is 1209 Orange Streey, @itVilmington, County of New
Castle, Delaware 19801. The name of its registagedht at such address is The Corporation Trust @oynp

ARTICLE Il

The nature of the business or purposes to be ctedioc promoted by the Corporation is to engagainlawful act or activity for
which corporations may be organized under the DalavGeneral Corporation Law DGCL ").

ARTICLE IV

Section 1. This Corporation is authorized to issu® classes of stock, to be designated, respegti@@mmon Stock and Preferred
Stock. The total number of shares of stock thatibmporation shall have authority to issue is twadred ten million (210,000,000) shares
which two hundred million (200,000,000) shares@oenmon Stock, $0.001 par value, and ten million@Q0,000) shares are Preferred
Stock, $0.001 par value.

Section 2. Each share of Common Stock shall ertiiéholder thereof to one (1) vote on any matibrstted to a vote at a meeting of
stockholders.

Section 3. The Preferred Stock may be issued fimm to time in one or more series pursuant to aluéisn or resolutions providing f
such issue duly adopted by the Board of Directauthrity to do so being hereby expressly vesteétierBoard of Directors). The Board of
Directors is further authorized, subject to limiat prescribed by law, to fix by resolution oragksions the designations, powers, preferel
and rights, and the qualifications, limitationsrestrictions thereof, of any wholly unissued sea€PBreferred Stock, including, without
limitation, authority to fix by resolution or restions the dividend rights, dividend rate, convamsiights, voting rights, rights and terms of
redemption (including sinking fund provisions), eeaption price or prices, and liquidation preferenckany such series, and the number of
shares constituting any such series and the de&igrthereof, or any of the foregoing. The Boardirectors is further authorized to increase
(but not above the total number of authorized shafeéhe class) or decrease (but not below the rumibshares of any such series then
outstanding) the number of shares of any seriesaptimber of which was fixed by it, subsequent ®itisuance of shares of such series then
outstanding, subject to the powers, preferencesights, and the qualifications, limitations andtrietions thereof stated in this Amended
Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the regotuof the Board of Directors originally fixing éhnumber of shares of such series. If the
number of
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shares of any series is so decreased, then th@@tgn shall take all such steps as are necessaguse the shares constituting such
decrease to resume the status which they hadtprtbe adoption of the resolution originally fixitige number of shares of such series.

Section 4. Except as otherwise required by lawdérs of Common Stock shall not be entitled to woteany amendment to this
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatindyding any certificate of designation filed witkspect to any series of Preferred Stock)
that relates solely to the terms of one or morstanting series of Preferred Stock if the holdésuch affected series are entitled, either
separately or together as a class with the holufesae or more other such series, to vote thergdaw or pursuant to this Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including aertificate of designation filed with respectaioy series of Preferred Stock).

ARTICLE V

Section 1. The number of directors that constitthesentire Board of Directors of the Corporatibalsbe determined in the manner set
forth in the Bylaws of the Corporation. At each aahmeeting of stockholders, directors of the Ceaion shall be elected to hold office u
the expiration of the term for which they are edelcand until their successors have been duly elestd qualified or until their earlier
resignation or removal; except that if any suchtmgeshall not be so held, such election shall {aleee at a stockholders’ meeting called and
held in accordance with the DGCL.

Section 2. From and after the effectiveness of Alnended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiea directors of the Corporation
(other than any who may be elected by holders efdPred Stock under specified circumstances) $leatlivided into three classes as nearly
equal in size as is practicable, hereby design@tass |, Class Il and Class Ill. Directors alre@tpffice shall be assigned to each class at the
time such classification becomes effective in agance with a resolution or resolutions adoptedheyBoard of Directors. At the first annual
meeting of stockholders following the date herdod term of office of the Class | directors shajpiee and Class | directors shall be elected
for a full term of three years. At the second ahmueeting of stockholders following the date hereéloé term of office of the Class Il direct
shall expire and Class Il directors shall be ekkébe a full term of three years. At the third amhmeeting of stockholders following the date
hereof, the term of office of the Class Il direstghall expire and Class Il directors shall kextdd for a full term of three years. At each
succeeding annual meeting of stockholders, direaball be elected for a full term of three yearsucceed the directors of the class whose
terms expire at such annual meeting. If the nurobdirectors is changed, any newly created dirstlips or decrease in directorships sha
so apportioned hereafter among the classes aske atlaclasses as nearly equal in number as idipadde, provided thaino decrease in the
number of directors constituting the Board of Diogs shall shorten the term of any incumbent dinect

ARTICLE VI

Section 1. Any director or the entire Board of Biggs may be removed from office at any time, mly dor cause, and only by the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least a migjoof
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the voting power of the issued and outstandingtabgiock of the Corporation entitled to vote ie #lection of directors.

Section 2. Except as otherwise provided for ordikg or pursuant to the provisions of Article IVréef in relation to the rights of the
holders of Preferred Stock to elect directors usgeexcified circumstances, newly created directpsstesulting from any increase in the
number of directors, created in accordance wittBylaws of the Corporation, and any vacancies erBbard of Directors resulting from
death, resignation, disqualification, removal drestcause shall be filled only by the affirmativ@esof a majority of the remaining directors
then in office, even though less than a quorunhefBoard of Directors, or by a sole remaining dvecand not by the stockholders. A person
so elected by the Board of Directors to fill a vaoaor newly created directorship shall hold offigtil the next election of the class for wr
such director shall have been chosen until hissoishiccessor shall have been duly elected andigqdalor until such director’s earlier death,
resignation or removal. No decrease in the numbdirectors constituting the Board of Directors lsshorten the term of any incumbent
director.

ARTICLE VII
Section 1. The Corporation is to have perpetuaterce.

Section 2. The business and affairs of the Cormvatall be managed by or under the directiomefBoard of Directors. In addition
the powers and authority expressly conferred upemtby statute or by this Amended and RestatedfiCat¢ of Incorporation or the Bylaws
of the Corporation, the directors are hereby empedéo exercise all such powers and do all suchaud things as may be exercised or done
by the Corporation.

Section 3. In furtherance and not in limitatiortted powers conferred by statute, the Board of Darsds expressly authorized to adopt,
alter, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corponafidhe affirmative vote of at least a majority bé&tBoard of Directors then in office shall
required in order for the Board of Directors to ptdl@mend, alter or repeal the Corporation’s Bylalvse Corporation’s Bylaws may also be
adopted, amended, altered or repealed by the situtkis of the Corporation. Notwithstanding the abov any other provision of this
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioa,Bylaws of the Corporation may not be amendiekreal or repealed except in
accordance with Article XI of the Bylaws. No Byldwreafter legally adopted, amended, altered orategdeshall invalidate any prior act of
the directors or officers of the Corporation thatwd have been valid if such Bylaw had not beerpseth amended, altered or repealed.

Section 4. The election of directors need not bevbiten ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporatéhall so provide.
Section 5. No stockholder will be permitted to cuate votes at any election of directors.
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ARTICLE VIl

Section 1. Any action required or permitted to &keh by the stockholders of the Corporation mustffected at a duly called annual or
special meeting of stockholders of the Corporatind may not be effected by any consent in writipglch stockholders.

Section 2. Special meetings of stockholders ofdbgoration may be called only by the Chairpersithe Board of Directors, the Ch
Executive Officer, the President or the Board afebiors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted mmajority of the Board of Directors, and
any power of stockholders to call a special meetihstockholders is specifically denied. Only sbetsiness shall be considered at a special
meeting of stockholders as shall have been statdtinotice for such meeting.

Section 3. Advance notice of stockholder nominatifior the election of directors and of businessedrought by stockholders before
any meeting of the stockholders of the Corporasioall be given in the manner and to the extentidealin the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE IX

Section 1. To the fullest extent permitted by tHe@@). as the same exists or as may hereafter be addram time to time, a director
the Corporation shall not be personally liableh® Corporation or its stockholders for monetary dges for breach of fiduciary duty as a
director. If the DGCL is amended to authorize cogp® action further eliminating or limiting the genal liability of directors, then the
liability of a director of the Corporation shall béminated or limited to the fullest extent permit by the DGCL, as so amended.

Section 2. The Corporation shall indemnify, to finéest extent permitted by applicable law, anyedtor or officer of the Corporation
who was or is a party or is threatened to be mauty to any threatened, pending or completeaacsuit or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal, administrative or investigative (a_“ Pesding”) by reason of the fact that he or she is or wasextdir, officer, employee or agent
the Corporation or is or was serving at the requé#te Corporation as a director, officer, emplye agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other entesgrincluding service with respect to employee fiepkans, against expenses (including
attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts ipes@ttlement actually and reasonably incurredumgh person in connection with any such
Proceeding. The Corporation shall be required demmnify a person in connection with a Proceediitgpbed by such person only if the
Proceeding was authorized by the Board of Directors

Section 3. The Corporation shall have the powéndemnify, to the extent permitted by applicable,lany employee or agent of the
Corporation who was or is a party or is threateiodok made a party to any Proceeding by reasdmedtt that he or she is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of the Corporation asrisvas serving at the request of the Corporattoa director, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint ventunesttior other enterprise, including service wittpezs to employee benefit plans, against
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgmentgsfiand amounts paid in settlement actually arsbresbly incurred by such person in
connection with any such Proceeding.
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Section 4. Neither any amendment nor repeal ofSaution of this Article IX, nor the adoption of apgovision of this Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the Bylayishe Corporation inconsistent with this Artidk, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of
this Article IX in respect of any matter occurrirag,any cause of action, suit, claim or proceediogruing or arising or that, but for this
Article 1X, would accrue or arise, prior to suchemment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistentipiav.

ARTICLE X

Meetings of stockholders may be held within or m&of the State of Delaware, as the Bylaws mayigde The books of the
Corporation may be kept (subject to any provisiontained in the statutes) outside of the Stateedd®are at such place or places as may be
designated from time to time by the Board of Dioestor in the Bylaws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE Xl

The Corporation reserves the right to amend oraleqo@y provision contained in this Amended and &est Certificate of Incorporation
in the manner prescribed by the laws of the Sthietaware and all rights conferred upon stockhaldge granted subject to this reservation;
provided, however, that notwithstanding any other provision of tAimended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioarty provision of
law that might otherwise permit a lesser vote ovot, the Board of Directors acting pursuant tesolution adopted by a majority of the
Board of Directors and the affirmative vote of gisix and two-thirds percent (66 3%b) of the then outstanding voting securities of the
Corporation, voting together as a single clasd] bkarequired for the amendment, repeal or modifn of the provisions of Section 3 of
Article IV, Section 2 of Article V, Article VI, Seawmn 5 of Article VII, Article VIII or Article Xl of this Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation.
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

ARTICLE | — CORPORATE OFFICES

1.1 REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of Fluidigm Corporation shadl fixed in the corporation’s certificate of inporation. References in these bylaws
to the certificate of incorporation shall mean tieetificate of incorporation of the corporation,aasended from time to time, including the
terms of any certificate of designations of anyeseof Preferred Stock.

1.2 OTHER OFFICES

The corporatiors board of directors may at any time establishradffices at any place or places where the corpmras qualified to dc
business.

ARTICLE I — MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS

2.1 PLACE OF MEETINGS

Meetings of stockholders shall be held at any pladthin or outside the State of Delaware, desigddly the board of directors. The
board of directors may, in its sole discretionedetine that a meeting of stockholders shall ndidid at any place, but may instead be held
solely by means of remote communication as autbdri® Section 211(a)(2) of the General Corpordtiaw of the State of Delaware (the “
DGCL "). In the absence of any such designation or detetion, stockholders’ meetings shall be helchatdorporation’s principal
executive office.

2.2 ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of stockholders shall be heldumh date, at such time, and at such place (jfwitkin or without the State of
Delaware as shall be designated from time to tignthb board of directors and stated in the corjpamét notice of the meeting. At the annual
meeting, directors shall be elected and any otheygy business may be transacted.

2.3 SPECIAL MEETING

(i) A special meeting of the stockholders, othemtlthose required by statute, may be called atimmg/only by (A) the board of
directors, (B) the chairperson of the board of dimes, (C) the chief executive officer or (D) thegident (in the absence of a chief executive
officer). A special meeting of the stockholders may be called by any other person or persons.bbaed of directors may cancel, postpone
or reschedule any previously scheduled specialingeat any time, before or after the notice fortsateeting has been sent to the
stockholders



(i) The notice of a special meeting shall inclubde purpose for which the meeting is called. Onigtsbusiness shall be conducted
at a special meeting of stockholders as shall baea brought before the meeting by or at the deaif the board of directors, the
chairperson of the board of directors, the chigfceive officer or the president (in the absenca olfief executive officer). Nothing contair
in this Section 2.3(ii) shall be construed as lingjt fixing or affecting the time when a meetingstéckholders called by action of the boar:
directors may be held.

2.4 ADVANCE NOTICE PROCEDURES

(i) Advance Notice of Stockholder Busindgsan annual meeting of the stockholders, only due$iness shall be conducted as
shall have been properly brought before the meelingye properly brought before an annual meebuoginess must be brought: (A) pursuant
to the corporation’s proxy materials with respecstich meeting, (B) by or at the direction of tlharda of directors, or (C) by a stockholder of
the corporation who (1) is a stockholder of recairthe time of the giving of the notice requiredtbhis Section 2.4(i) and on the record date
for the determination of stockholders entitled tdevat the annual meeting and (2) has timely cadph proper written form with the notice
procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(i). Initidd, for business to be properly brought befaneaanual meeting by a stockholder, such
business must be a proper matter for stockholderrapursuant to these bylaws and applicable laxeept for proposals properly made in
accordance with Rule 14a-8 under the SecuritiesExetiange Act of 1934, and the rules and regulatibareunder (as so amended and
inclusive of such rules and regulations), and idetliin the notice of meeting given by or at thection of the board of directors, for the
avoidance of doubt, clause (C) above shall be xbkisive means for a stockholder to bring busiresere an annual meeting of
stockholders.

(&) To comply with clause (C) of Section 2.4(i) aepa stockholder’s notice must set forth all infation required under
this Section 2.4(i) and must be timely receivedh®ysecretary of the corporation. To be timelytoglsholder’s notice must be received by the
secretary at the principal executive offices oftbeporation not later than the 45th day nor eattian the 75th day before the one-year
anniversary of the date on which the corporaticst fnailed its proxy materials or a notice of aahility of proxy materials (whichever is
earlier) for the preceding year’s annual meetprgyided, however, that in the event that no annual meeting was imetlde previous year or
if the date of the annual meeting is advanced bsertitan 30 days prior to or delayed by more thad®@ after the one-year anniversary of
the date of the previous year’s annual meeting), tfeg notice by the stockholder to be timely, iishbe so received by the secretary not
earlier than the close of business on the 120thpday to such annual meeting and not later thanctbse of business on the later of (i) the
90th day prior to such annual meeting, or (ii) tdweth day following the day on which Public Annoanent (as defined below) of the date of
such annual meeting is first made. In no event stmgl adjournment or postponement of an annualingget the announcement thereof
commence a new time period for the giving of aldtotder’s notice as described in this Section X&)i “ Public Announcement” shall
mean disclosure in a press release reported bydieJones News Service, Associated Press or a gafipanational news service or in a
document publicly filed by the corporation with t8ecurities and Exchange Commission pursuant tbd®et3, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any succtssa@to (the 1934 Act”).

(b) To be in proper written form, a stockholder&tioe to the secretary must set forth as to eadtemaf business the
stockholder intends to bring before the annual inge{1) a brief description of the business intethéb be brought before the annual meeting
and the reasons for conducting such business aintmgal meeting, (2) the name and address, asfipgar on the corporation’s books, of the
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stockholder proposing such business and any SttadthAssociated Person (as defined below), (3xthes and number of shares of the
corporation that are held of record or are beradficowned by the stockholder or any Stockholdesdtsated Person and any derivative
positions held or beneficially held by the stocldealor any Stockholder Associated Person, (4) vetethd the extent to which any hedging
or other transaction or series of transactionsbeas entered into by or on behalf of such stocldrabd any Stockholder Associated Person
with respect to any securities of the corporataond a description of any other agreement, arrangearainderstanding (including any short
position or any borrowing or lending of sharesg #ffect or intent of which is to mitigate loss ¢o,to manage the risk or benefit from share
price changes for, or to increase or decreasedtiegvpower of, such stockholder or any Stockholesociated Person with respect to any
securities of the corporation, (5) any materia¢iast of the stockholder or a Stockholder Assodi&erson in such business, and (6) a
statement whether either such stockholder or aogk@blder Associated Person will deliver a proxatesinent and form of proxy to holders of
at least the percentage of the corporation’s vathmeyes required under applicable law to carnptidposal (such information provided and
statements made as required by clauses (1) thi@)ga “Business Solicitation Statemenit). In addition, to be in proper written form, a
stockholder’s notice to the secretary must be sipphted not later than ten days following the r@écate for notice of the meeting to
disclose the information contained in clauses (@) @) above as of the record date for notice efrtieeting. For purposes of this Section 2.4,
a “ Stockholder Associated Persoi of any stockholder shall mean (i) any person mallihg, directly or indirectly, or acting in concdewith,
such stockholder, (ii) any beneficial owner of eisaof stock of the corporation owned of recordaenddicially by such stockholder and on
whose behalf the proposal or nomination, as the o@sy be, is being made, or (iii) any person cdiimigy controlled by or under common
control with such person referred to in the precgdilauses (i) and (ii).

(c) Without exception, no business shall be coretliet any annual meeting except in accordancethétiprovisions set
forth in this Section 2.4(i) and, if applicable,cBen 2.4(ii). In addition, business proposed tdbaught by a stockholder may not be brought
before the annual meeting if such stockholder $tagkholder Associated Person, as applicable, t@agiBen contrary to the representations
made in the Business Solicitation Statement applicto such business or if the Business SolicitaBtatement applicable to such business
contains an untrue statement of a material faonuts to state a material fact necessary to maketitements therein not misleading. The
chairperson of the annual meeting shall, if theésfacarrant, determine and declare at the annuatimgethat business was not properly
brought before the annual meeting and in accordetitbethe provisions of this Section 2.4(i), anfcthie chairperson should so determine, he
or she shall so declare at the annual meetingathasuch business not properly brought before thei@ meeting shall not be conducted.

(i) Advance Notice of Director Nominations at Annuakeltifegs.Notwithstanding anything in these bylaws to thetcamy, only
persons who are nominated in accordance with theegiures set forth in this Section 2.4(ii) shalkbgible for election or re-election as
directors at an annual meeting of stockholders. iNations of persons for election or re-electiothi® board of directors of the corporation
shall be made at an annual meeting of stockholoidgs(A) by or at the direction of the board ofatitors or (B) by a stockholder of the
corporation who (1) was a stockholder of recorthattime of the giving of the notice required bist8ection 2.4(ii) and on the record date
the determination of stockholders entitled to \attthe annual meeting and (2) has complied witmtitece procedures set forth in this
Section 2.4(ii). In addition to any other appli@béquirements, for a nomination to be made bpekbblder, the stockholder must have gi
timely notice thereof in proper written form to thecretary of the corporation.
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(a) To comply with clause (B) of Section 2.4(ii)oale, a nomination to be made by a stockholder setstorth all
information required under this Section 2.4(ii) andst be received by the secretary of the corpmratt the principal executive offices of the
corporation at the time set forth in, and in aceo with, the final three sentences of Sectio(i)2ad above.

(b) To be in proper written form, such stockholderbtice to the secretary must set forth:

(1) as to each person (atminee”) whom the stockholder proposes to nominate fectébn or re-election as a
director: (A) the name, age, business addressemidence address of the nominee, (B) the princpalipation or employment of the
nominee, (C) the class and number of shares afdioration that are held of record or are beraficowned by the nominee and any
derivative positions held or beneficially held lme thominee, (D) whether and the extent to whichtedging or other transaction or series of
transactions has been entered into by or on beh#ie nominee with respect to any securities efadbrporation, and a description of any
other agreement, arrangement or understandingufiimg any short position or any borrowing or leridof shares), the effect or intent of
which is to mitigate loss to, or to manage the askenefit of share price changes for, or to iasecor decrease the voting power of the
nominee, (E) a description of all arrangementsmatenstandings between the stockholder and eachneenaind any other person or persons
(naming such person or persons) pursuant to whigmominations are to be made by the stockholBgr (vritten statement executed by the
nominee acknowledging that as a director of thpaa@tion, the nominee will owe a fiduciary duty endelaware law with respect to the
corporation and its stockholders, and (G) any oitifermation relating to the nominee that wouldrequired to be disclosed about such
nominee if proxies were being solicited for thecétn or re-election of the nominee as a direatothat is otherwise required, in each case
pursuant to Regulation 14A under the 1934 Act (idieig without limitation the nominee’s written cems to being named in the proxy
statement, if any, as a nominee and to servingdaeetor if elected or re-elected, as the case begyand

(2) as to such stockholder giving notice, (A) thiormation required to be provided pursuant to sfsu(2) through
(5) of Section 2.4(i)(b) above, and the supplemefgrenced in the second sentence of Section @¥ébove (except that the references to
“business” in such clauses shall instead refeotinations of directors for purposes of this paapby, and (B) a statement whether either
such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Perdtb@liver a proxy statement and form of proxyholders of a number of the
corporation’s voting shares reasonably believedumh stockholder or Stockholder Associated Persdie hecessary to elect or re-elect such
nominee(s) (such information provided and statemeradde as required by clauses (A) and (B) aboV&@ninee Solicitation Statement).

(c) At the request of the board of directors, aagspn nominated by a stockholder for election egleetion as a director
must furnish to the secretary of the corporatiortifat information required to be set forth in #teckholder’s notice of nomination of such
person as a director as of a date subsequent tatheon which the notice of such person’s nomimatvas given and (2) such other
information as may reasonably be required by thiparation to determine the eligibility of such posfed nominee to serve as an independent
director or audit committee financial expert of ttmporation under applicable law, securities ergearule or regulation, or any publicly-
disclosed corporate governance guideline or coremitharter of the corporation and (3) that couldhbgerial to a reasonable stockholder’s
understanding of the independence, or lack theaéafich nominee; in the absence of the furnisbirguch information if requested, such
stockholder’'s nomination shall not be consideregrper form pursuant to this Section 2.4(ii).
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(d) Without exception, no person shall be eligifoleelection or re-election as a director of thepowation at an annual
meeting of stockholders unless nominated in accmelavith the provisions set forth in this Sectiof(i). In addition, a nominee shall not be
eligible for election or re-election if a stockheldr Stockholder Associated Person, as applicédites action contrary to the representations
made in the Nominee Solicitation Statement apple&bsuch nominee or if the Nominee Solicitatigat&ment applicable to such nominee
contains an untrue statement of a material faonuts to state a material fact necessary to maketitements therein not misleading. The
chairperson of the annual meeting shall, if theésfacarrant, determine and declare at the annuatimgethat a nomination was not made in
accordance with the provisions prescribed by tigmvs, and if the chairperson should so deterntiagyr she shall so declare at the annual
meeting, and the defective nomination shall beegjarded.

(iii) Advance Notice of Director Nominations foregjal Meetings.

(a) For a special meeting of stockholders at whlicbctors are to be elected or re-elected, nominatof persons for
election or re-election to the board of directdralsbe made only (1) by or at the direction of blward of directors or (2) by any stockholder
of the corporation who (A) is a stockholder of netat the time of the giving of the notice requil®dthis Section 2.4(iii) and on the record
date for the determination of stockholders entittedote at the special meeting and (B) delivetimmely written notice of the nomination to
the secretary of the corporation that includedrf@rmation set forth in Sections 2.4(ii)(b) ang(@) above. To be timely, such notice must be
received by the secretary at the principal exeeutifices of the corporation not later than theselof business on the later of the 90th day
prior to such special meeting or the tenth dayofeihg the day on which Public Announcement is finstde of the date of the special meeting
and of the nominees proposed by the board of dire¢d be elected or re-elected at such meetimzerdon shall not be eligible for election or
re-election as a director at a special meetingssrtlee person is nominated (i) by or at the dioactif the board of directors or (ii) by a
stockholder in accordance with the notice proceslae forth in this Section 2.4(iii). In additiamnominee shall not be eligible for election or
re-election if a stockholder or Stockholder AsstaziaPerson, as applicable, takes action contrattyetoepresentations made in the Nominee
Solicitation Statement applicable to such nominei¢ the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicatolesuch nominee contains an untrue
statement of a material fact or omits to state terrad fact necessary to make the statements thacgimisleading.

(b) The chairperson of the special meeting shathe facts warrant, determine and declare at thetimg that a nomination
or business was not made in accordance with theedtoes prescribed by these bylaws, and if theméraion should so determine, he or she
shall so declare at the meeting, and the defentiveination or business shall be disregarded.

(iv) Other Requirements and Righlis.addition to the foregoing provisions of this Sew 2.4, a stockholder must also comply v
all applicable requirements of state law and ofitB84 Act and the rules and regulations thereundtérrespect to the matters set forth in this
Section 2.4. Nothing in this Section 2.4 shall kerded to affect any rights of:

(a) a stockholder to request inclusion of proposathe corporation’s proxy statement pursuantiteR 4a-8 (or any
successor provision) under the 1934 Act; or

(b) the corporation to omit a proposal from thepowation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14ar&fly successor
provision) under the 1934 Act.
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2.5 NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Whenever stockholders are required or permitteédke any action at a meeting, a written noticéhefrheeting shall be given which
shall state the place, if any, date and hour ofiiketing, the means of remote communications, f by which stockholders and proxy
holders may be deemed to be present in personaadtsuch meeting, the record date for determithie stockholders entitled to vote at
meeting, if such date is different from the recdade for determining stockholders entitled to ret€ the meeting, and, in the case of a sp
meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the imgét called. Except as otherwise provided in@&CL, the certificate of incorporation
these bylaws, the written notice of any meetingtotkholders shall be given not less than 10 naertttan 60 days before the date of the
meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote ahsueeting as of the record date for determiningstbekholders entitled to notice of the
meeting.

2.6 QUORUM

The holders of a majority of the stock issued am$tanding and entitled to vote, present in pesaepresented by proxy, shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of busirésdl meetings of the stockholders. Where a sgpatote by a class or series or classes or
series is required, a majority of the outstandimgres of such class or series or classes or spressent in person or represented by proxy,
shall constitute a quorum entitled to take actigiinwespect to that vote on that matter, excemithsrwise provided by law, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws

If a quorum is not present or represented at amgtinge of the stockholders, then either (i) the ghetison of the meeting, or (ii) the
stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, preseperson or represented by proxy, shall hawegpdo adjourn the meeting from time to
time, without notice other than announcement antketing, until a quorum is present or represemteduch adjourned meeting at which a
guorum is present or represented, any businesdmapnsacted that might have been transactee atdleting as originally noticed.

2.7 ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

When a meeting is adjourned to another time oreplanless these bylaws otherwise require, notiee net be given of the adjourned
meeting if the time, place, if any, thereof, ane theans of remote communications, if any, by whictkholders and proxy holders may be
deemed to be present in person and vote at suohradd meeting are announced at the meeting ahwihécadjournment is taken. At the
adjourned meeting, the corporation may transactalsiness which might have been transacted atrih@a meeting. If the adjournment is
for more than 30 days, a notice of the adjournedtimg shall be given to each stockholder of re@ntitled to vote at the meeting. If after the
adjournment a new record date for stockholdergledtio vote is fixed for the adjourned meeting Hoard of directors shall fix a new record
date for notice of such adjourned meeting in acaocd with Section 213(a) of the DGCL and Sectidd 2f these bylaws, and shall give
notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockhalfieecord entitled to vote at such adjourned nmeedis of the record date fixed for notice
such adjourned meeting.

2.8 CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders! steiérmine the order of business and the proceatutee meeting, including such
regulation of the manner of voting and the conaiidiusiness. The chairperson of any meeting okstolders shall be designated by the
board of directors; in the absence of such desigmate chairperson of the board, if any, the thiecutive officer (in the absence of the
chairperson) or the president (in

-6-



the absence of the chairperson of the board anchileé executive officer), or in their absence atlyer executive officer of the corporation,
shall serve as chairperson of the stockholder mgeti

2.9 VOTING

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meetingtotkholders shall be determined in accordande thé provisions of Section 2.11 of
these bylaws, subject to Section 217 (relatingatting rights of fiduciaries, pledgors and joint aavs of stock) and Section 218 (relating to
voting trusts and other voting agreements) of tiCD.

Except as may be otherwise provided in the ceatifi®f incorporation or these bylaws, each stoadraghall be entitled to one vote for
each share of capital stock held by such stockinolde

Except as otherwise required by law, the certiéaatincorporation or these bylaws, in all matiitser than the election of directors,
affirmative vote of a majority of the voting powefrthe shares present in person or representedasy pt the meeting and entitled to vote on
the subject matter shall be the act of the stoaldrsl Except as otherwise required by law, theficatie of incorporation or these bylaws,
directors shall be elected by a plurality of théivg power of the shares present in person or sepited by proxy at the meeting and entitled
to vote on the election of directors. Where a ssparote by a class or series or classes or geniequired, in all matters other than the
election of directors, the affirmative vote of timajority of shares of such class or series or elass series present in person or represent
proxy at the meeting shall be the act of such daseries or classes or series, except as ottepriwided by law, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws.

2.10 STOCKHOLDER ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUA MEETING

Subject to the rights of the holders of the shafemny series of Preferred Stock or any other adéissock or series thereof that have
been expressly granted the right to take actiowtiigen consent, any action required or permitete taken by the stockholders of the
corporation must be effected at a duly called ahauapecial meeting of stockholders of the corgforaand may not be effected by any
consent in writing by such stockholders.

2.11 RECORD DATES

In order that the corporation may determine theldtolders entitled to notice of any meeting of ktadders or any adjournment there
the board of directors may fix a record date, whigtord date shall not precede the date upon vithihesolution fixing the record date is
adopted by the board of directors and which redaité shall not be more than 60 nor less than 16 efore the date of such meeting. If the
board of directors so fixes a date, such date shsil be the record date for determining the stoleldrs entitled to vote at such meeting un
the board of directors determines, at the timixéd such record date, that a later date on orééfe date of the meeting shall be the date for
making such determination.

If no record date is fixed by the board of direstdhe record date for determining stockholdergledtto notice of and to vote at a
meeting of stockholders shall be at the close efrff@ss on the day next preceding the day on wiotihenis given, or, if notice is waived, at
the close of business on the day next precedindalien which the meeting is held.
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A determination of stockholders of record entitledhotice of or to vote at a meeting of stockhaddgnall apply to any adjournment of
the meetingprovided, howevethat the board of directors may fix a new recorttdar determination of stockholders entitled téevat the
adjourned meeting, and in such case shall alsasfithe record date for stockholders entitled tecaaif such adjourned meeting the same or
an earlier date as that fixed for determinatiostotkholders entitled to vote in accordance withghovisions of Section 213 of the DGCL
and this Section 2.11 at the adjourned meeting.

In order that the corporation may determine theldtolders entitled to receive payment of any dimdier other distribution or allotme
of any rights or the stockholders entitled to eissr@any rights in respect of any change, convermsia@xchange of stock, or for the purpose of
any other lawful action, the board of directors rfigya record date, which record date shall notpde the date upon which the resolution
fixing the record date is adopted, and which recat shall be not more than 60 days prior to swtion. If no record date is fixed, the
record date for determining stockholders for amghgourpose shall be at the close of business odah®n which the board of directors
adopts the resolution relating thereto.

2.12 PROXIES

Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meetingadkholders may authorize another person or persoast for such stockholder by
proxy authorized by an instrument in writing ordyransmission permitted by law filed in accordawé the procedure established for the
meeting, but no such proxy shall be voted or aufmuh after three years from its date, unless tbrypprovides for a longer period. The
revocability of a proxy that states on its face ih irrevocable shall be governed by the primris of Section 212 of the DGCL. A written
proxy may be in the form of a telegram, cablegramgther means of electronic transmission which &&th or is submitted with information
from which it can be determined that the telegreatlegram, or other means of electronic transmissias authorized by the person.

2.13 LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS ENTITLED TO VOTE

The officer who has charge of the stock ledgehefdorporation shall prepare and make, at leagy® before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of the stockholdatitled to vote at the meetingrovided, howeveif the record date for determining the
stockholders entitled to vote is less than 10 deefere the meeting date, the list shall reflectdtoekholders entitled to vote as of the tenth
day before the meeting date. The stockholderliiali ®e arranged in alphabetical order and shovatitess of each stockholder and the
number of shares registered in the name of eacktsttder. The corporation shall not be requirethtdude electronic mail addresses or other
electronic contact information on such list. Sushshall be open to the examination of any stotdkrofor any purpose germane to the
meeting for a period of at least 10 days priohieeting (i) on a reasonably accessible electmetwork, provided that the information
required to gain access to such list is provideth wie notice of the meeting, or (ii) during ordindusiness hours, at the corporation’s
principal place of business. In the event thatcthiporation determines to make the list availalol@o electronic network, the corporation r
take reasonable steps to ensure that such infamigtavailable only to stockholders of the corgiora If the meeting is to be held at a place,
then the list shall be produced and kept at the &md place of the meeting during the whole tineedbf, and may be examined by any
stockholder who is present. If the meeting is tdelel solely by means of remote communication, therlist shall also be open to the
examination of any stockholder during the wholetiof the meeting on a reasonably accessible eféctnetwork, and the information
required to access such list shall be provided thighnotice of the meeting. Such list shall prestivefy determine the identity of the
stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting aediimber of shares held by each of them.
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2.14 INSPECTORS OF ELECTION

Before any meeting of stockholders, the board edfadors shall appoint an inspector or inspectoredtion to act at the meeting or its
adjournment. The number of inspectors shall beeeitine (1) or three (3). If any person appointethgigector fails to appear or fails or
refuses to act, then the chairperson of the meatisngg and upon the request of any stockholderstoekholder’'s proxy shall, appoint a
person to fill that vacancy.

Each inspector, before entering upon the dischaftis or her duties, shall take and sign an caxecute faithfully the duties of
inspector with strict impartiality and accordingtte best of his or her ability. The inspectorrmpectors so appointed and designated shall
(i) ascertain the number of shares of capital stddke corporation outstanding and the voting poefeeach share, (ii) determine the share
capital stock of the corporation represented anibeting and the validity of proxies and balloii$), ¢ount all votes and ballots, (iv) determi
and retain for a reasonable period a record oflifgosition of any challenges made to any detertioindy the inspectors, and (v) certify
their determination of the number of shares of tedsitock of the corporation represented at thetimgand such inspector or inspectors’
count of all votes and ballots.

In determining the validity and counting of proxessd ballots cast at any meeting of stockholdeth@torporation, the inspector or
inspectors may consider such information as is fithby applicable law. If there are three (3)piastors of election, the decision, act or
certificate of a majority is effective in all resyig as the decision, act or certificate of all.

ARTICLE Il — DIRECTORS

3.1 POWERS

The business and affairs of the corporation shatlanaged by or under the direction of the boadirettors, except as may be
otherwise provided in the DGCL or the certificaténzorporation.

3.2 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors shall consist of one or nmesnbers, each of whom shall be a natural persolest the certificate of
incorporation fixes the number of directors, thenter of directors shall be determined from timértee solely by resolution of the board of
directors. No reduction of the authorized numbedicgctors shall have the effect of removing amgctior before that director’s term of office
expires.

3.3 ELECTION, QUALIFICATION AND TERM OF OFFICE OF IRECTORS

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of these bylaash director, including a director elected todilacancy, shall hold office until the
expiration of the term for which elected and ustith director’s successor is elected and qualdffaghtil such director’s earlier death,
resignation or removal. Directors need not be siolders unless so required by the certificate obiporation or these bylaws. The certific
of incorporation or these bylaws may prescribe othelifications for directors.
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3.4 RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES

Any director may resign at any time upon noticeegivn writing or by electronic transmission to tt@poration;jprovided, howevey
that if such notice is given by electronic transsitia, such electronic transmission must eithefas#t or be submitted with information from
which it can be determined that the electronicdmaission was authorized by the director. A resignais effective when the resignation is
delivered unless the resignation specifies a Effective date or an effective date determined uperhappening of an event or events.
Acceptance of such resignation shall not be necgssanake it effective. A resignation which is ditroned upon the director failing to
receive a specified vote for reelection as a darectay provide that it is irrevocable. Unless otiee provided in the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, when one or moreadiars resign from the board of directors, effexav a future date, a majority of the
directors then in office, including those who haweeresigned, shall have power to fill such vacasrcyacancies, the vote thereon to take e
when such resignation or resignations shall beceffieetive.

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate ofoirporation or these bylaws, vacancies and newlgtetedirectorships resulting from
any increase in the authorized number of directtested by all of the stockholders having the rightote as a single class shall be filled ¢
by a majority of the directors then in office, atlyh less than a quorum, or by a sole remainiregttir. If the directors are divided into
classes, a person so elected by the directorsrhafice to fill a vacancy or newly created direxghip shall hold office until the next election
of the class for which such director shall havenbelosen and until his or her successor shall haee duly elected and qualified.

If, at the time of filling any vacancy or any newdseated directorship, the directors then in oftioastitute less than a majority of the
whole board of directors (as constituted immedyjapelor to any such increase), the Court of Chanaoealy, upon application of any
stockholder or stockholders holding at least 10%hefvoting stock at the time outstanding havirgright to vote for such directors,
summarily order an election to be held to fill @uch vacancies or newly created directorships ceplace the directors chosen by the
directors then in office as aforesaid, which etatthall be governed by the provisions of Sectibh @ the DGCL as far as applicable.

3.5 PLACE OF MEETINGS; MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE
The board of directors may hold meetings, both lergand special, either within or outside the StdtBelaware.

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificatenabrporation or these bylaws, members of the boadirectors, or any committee
designated by the board of directors, may partieipaa meeting of the board of directors, or anymittee, by means of conference
telephone or other communications equipment by sieédwhich all persons participating in the meetiag hear each other, and such
participation in a meeting shall constitute preseincperson at the meeting.

3.6 REGULAR MEETINGS

Regular meetings of the board of directors maydid tithout notice at such time and at such placshall from time to time be
determined by the board of directors.
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3.7 SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE

Special meetings of the board of directors for pmgpose or purposes may be called at any timeéyghhirperson of the board of
directors, the chief executive officer, the prestgéhe secretary or a majority of the authorizathber of directors, at such times and plact
he or she or they shall designate.

Notice of the time and place of special meetingdl die:
(i) delivered personally by hand, by courier ortblephone;
(i) sent by United States first-class mail, postagepaid;
(iii) sent by facsimile; or
(iv) sent by electronic mail,

directed to each director at that direcsomddress, telephone number, facsimile numberectrehic mail address, as the case may be, as
on the corporation’s records.

If the notice is (i) delivered personally by habg,courier or by telephone, (ii) sent by facsingte(iii) sent by electronic mail, it shall |
delivered or sent at least 24 hours before the ¢ifitee holding of the meeting. If the notice isisby United States mail, it shall be deposited
in the United States mail at least four days befioetime of the holding of the meeting. Any oratine may be communicated to the director.
The notice need not specify the place of the mgdifrthe meeting is to be held at the corporatgorincipal executive office) nor the purpt
of the meeting.

3.8 QUORUM; VOTING

At all meetings of the board of directors, a majodf the total authorized number of directors Ebahstitute a quorum for the
transaction of business. If a quorum is not preaéany meeting of the board of directors, thendihectors present thereat may adjourn the
meeting from time to time, without notice otherrirennouncement at the meeting, until a quorumeasegmnt. A meeting at which a quorum is
initially present may continue to transact businessvithstanding the withdrawal of directors, ifyaaction taken is approved by at least a
majority of the required quorum for that meeting.

The vote of a majority of the directors preseramat meeting at which a quorum is present shalhbeatt of the board of directors,
except as may be otherwise specifically providedtayute, the certificate of incorporation or thbgkaws.

If the certificate of incorporation provides thateoor more directors shall have more or less tmenvote per director on any matter,
every reference in these bylaws to a majority bepproportion of the directors shall refer to garity or other proportion of the votes of the
directors.

3.9 BOARD ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEENG

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificatenabrporation or these bylaws, any action requiregesmitted to be taken at any meet
of the board of directors, or of any committee ¢#odér may be taken without
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a meeting if all members of the board of directmrsommittee, as the case may be, consent theretdting or by electronic transmission
and the writing or writings or electronic transnmgsor transmissions are filed with the minutepafceedings of the board of directors or
committee. Such filing shall be in paper form g tminutes are maintained in paper form and shaith lsdectronic form if the minutes are
maintained in electronic form.

3.10 FEES AND COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificatenabrporation or these bylaws, the board of direcsébrall have the authority to fix the
compensation of directors.

3.11 REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
A director may be removed from office by the stomlkiers of the corporation only for cause.

No reduction of the authorized number of directirall have the effect of removing any director ptathe expiration of such directsr’
term of office.

ARTICLE IV — COMMITTEES

4.1 COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors may designate one or momantittees, each committee to consist of one or rabthe directors of the
corporation. The board of directors may designatear more directors as alternate members of amyritiee, who may replace any absent
or disqualified member at any meeting of the cortewitin the absence or disqualification of a menaber committee, the member or
members thereof present at any meeting and natalifed from voting, whether or not such membenmmbers constitute a quorum, may
unanimously appoint another member of the boandirettors to act at the meeting in the place ofsugh absent or disqualified member.
Any such committee, to the extent provided in #ofution of the board of directors or in theselmd, shall have and may exercise all the
powers and authority of the board of directorshim inanagement of the business and affairs of ttporation, and may authorize the seal of
the corporation to be affixed to all papers thaymeguire it; but no such committee shall havegbeer or authority to (i) approve or adopt,
or recommend to the stockholders, any action otené&bther than the election or removal of diregt@xpressly required by the DGCL to be
submitted to stockholders for approval, or (ii) pd@mend or repeal any bylaw of the corporation.

4.2 COMMITTEE MINUTES
Each committee shall keep regular minutes of itetings and report the same to the board of dirsesttien required.

4.3 MEETINGS AND ACTION OF COMMITTEES
Meetings and actions of committees shall be gowkhye and held and taken in accordance with, tbeigions of:
(i) Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetingtelgphone);
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(ii) Section 3.6 (regular meetings);

(iiif) Section 3.7 (special meetings; notice);

(iv) Section 3.8 (quorum; voting);

(v) Section 3.9 (action without a meeting); and
(vi) Section 7.5 (waiver of notice)

with such changes in the context of those bylanwerasecessary to substitute the committee amdatabers for the board of directors and its
membersHowever:

(i) the time of regular meetings of committees rhaydetermined by resolution of the committee;
(i) special meetings of committees may also béeddby resolution of the committee; and

(iii) notice of special meetings of committees sh#do be given to all alternate members, who diale the right to attend all
meetings of the committee. The board of directoay adopt rules for the government of any commitigeinconsistent with the provisions
these bylaws.

Any provision in the certificate of incorporationopiding that one or more directors shall have nwrkess than one vote per director
any matter shall apply to voting in any committes@bcommittee, unless otherwise provided in thifiate of incorporation or these
bylaws.

4.4 SUBCOMMITTEES

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate ofoirporation, these bylaws or the resolutions ofitbard of directors designating the
committee, a committee may create one or more snbitees, each subcommittee to consist of one e members of the committee, and
delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the poardsauthority of the committee.

ARTICLE V — OFFICERS

5.1 OFFICERS

The officers of the corporation shall be a presider a secretary. The corporation may also havhealiscretion of the board of
directors, a chairperson of the board of directargice chairperson of the board of directors, iafaxecutive officer, a chief financial officer
or treasurer, one or more vice presidents, onease r@assistant vice presidents, one or more assis¢@surers, one or more assistant
secretaries, and any such other officers as mappeinted in accordance with the provisions oféh®daws. Any number of offices may be
held by the same person.
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5.2 APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS

The board of directors shall appoint the officerthe corporation, except such officers as maygdpoated in accordance with the
provisions of Section 5.3 of these bylaws, suljethe rights, if any, of an officer under any qant of employment. A vacancy in any office
because of death, resignation, removal, disquatifia or any other cause shall be filled in the n&rprescribed in this Section 5 for the
regular election to such office.

5.3 SUBORDINATE OFFICERS

The board of directors may appoint, or empowerctiief executive officer or, in the absence of athixecutive officer, the president,
to appoint, such other officers and agents as tisebss of the corporation may require. Each ofi sdficers and agents shall hold office for
such period, have such authority, and perform sluties as are provided in these bylaws or as thedbaf directors may from time to time
determine.

5.4 REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

Subject to the rights, if any, of an officer undery contract of employment, any officer may be reed either with or without cause,
an affirmative vote of the majority of the boarddifectors at any regular or special meeting oftthard of directors or, except in the case of
an officer chosen by the board of directors, by affiger upon whom such power of removal may befeord by the board of directors.

Any officer may resign at any time by giving writter electronic notice to the corporatigmovided, howeverthat if such notice is
given by electronic transmission, such electroraaogmission must either set forth or be submittéd information from which it can be
determined that the electronic transmission walsaizied by the officer. Any resignation shall taéect at the date of the receipt of that
notice or at any later time specified in that netidnless otherwise specified in the notice ofgeaiion, the acceptance of the resignation
not be necessary to make it effective. Any resignas without prejudice to the rights, if any,tbe corporation under any contract to which
the officer is a party.

5.5 VACANCIES IN OFFICES
Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corpavatshall be filled by the board of directors omagvided in Section 5.3.

5.6 REPRESENTATION OF SHARES OF OTHER CORPORATIONS

The chairperson of the board of directors, theigezd, any vice president, the treasurer, the smgrer assistant secretary of this
corporation, or any other person authorized bybtwrd of directors or the president or a vice pier, is authorized to vote, represent, and
exercise on behalf of this corporation all rightsident to any and all shares of any other corpmrair corporations standing in the name of
this corporation. The authority granted herein rbayexercised either by such person directly orryyather person authorized to do so by
proxy or power of attorney duly executed by suctspe having the authority.
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5.7 AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

All officers of the corporation shall respectivéigive such authority and perform such duties imthaagement of the business of the
corporation as may be designated from time to tisnéhe board of directors and, to the extent ngirevided, as generally pertain to their
respective offices, subject to the control of thard of directors.

5.8 THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

The chairperson of the board shall have the poamtsduties customarily and usually associated thighoffice of the chairperson of the
board. The chairperson of the board shall predideegtings of the stockholders and of the boamirefctors.

5.9 THE VICE CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

The vice chairperson of the board shall have thveeps and duties customarily and usually associattdthe office of the vice
chairperson of the board. In the case of absendesability of the chairperson of the board, theevthairperson of the board shall perform the
duties and exercise the powers of the chairperftmedoard.

5.10 THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chief executive officer shall have, subjedti® supervision, direction and control of the boafrdirectors, ultimate authority for
decisions relating to the supervision, directiod aranagement of the affairs and the business afdtporation customarily and usually
associated with the position of chief executiveceif, including, without limitation, all powers regsary to direct and control the
organizational and reporting relationships withia torporation. If at any time the office of theatperson and vice chairperson of the board
shall not be filled, or in the event of the tempgrabsence or disability of the chairperson oftibard and the vice chairperson of the board,
the chief executive officer shall perform the dsiténd exercise the powers of the chairperson didlaed unless otherwise determined by the
board of directors.

5.11 THE PRESIDENT

The president shall have, subject to the supervislivection and control of the board of directdh& general powers and duties of
supervision, direction and management of the affaid business of the corporation customarily auglly associated with the position of
president. The president shall have such powergparfdrm such duties as may from time to time [s#ga®d to him or her by the board of
directors, the chairperson of the board or thefahiecutive officer. In the event of the absencédisability of the chief executive officer, the
president shall perform the duties and exercis@tiveers of the chief executive officer unless othise determined by the board of directors.

5.12 THE VICE PRESIDENTS AND ASSISTANT VICE PRESINES

Each vice president and assistant vice presidetitistive such powers and perform such duties asfroaytime to time be assigned to
him or her by the board of directors, the chairpersf the board, the chief executive officer or pinesident.
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5.13 THE SECRETARY AND ASSISTANT SECRETARIES

(i) The secretary shall attend meetings of the éboddirectors and meetings of the stockholdersrandrd all votes and minutes
all such proceedings in a book or books kept feahquurpose. The secretary shall have all suchdugbwers and duties as are customarily
and usually associated with the position of secyaiaas may from time to time be assigned to hirhey by the board of directors, the
chairperson of the board, the chief executive effir the president.

(if) Each assistant secretary shall have such poesd perform such duties as may from time to timeassigned to him or her by
the board of directors, the chairperson of the thoidue chief executive officer, the president @ secretary. In the event of the absence,
inability or refusal to act of the secretary, tlssiatant secretary (or if there shall be more thraa) the assistant secretaries in the order
determined by the board of directors) shall perftiienduties and exercise the powers of the segretar

5.14 THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND ASSISTANT TREABURERS

() The chief financial officer shall be the treasuof the corporation. The chief financial officgrall have custody of the
corporation’s funds and securities, shall be resitba for maintaining the corporation’s accountiegords and statements, shall keep full and
accurate accounts of receipts and disbursemebisoiks belonging to the corporation, and shall diposause to be deposited moneys or
other valuable effects in the name and to the tofdhe corporation in such depositories as magldsgnated by the board of directors. The
chief financial officer shall also maintain adequegcords of all assets, liabilities and transastiof the corporation and shall assure that
adequate audits thereof are currently and regufadgte. The chief financial officer shall have aitls further powers and duties as are
customarily and usually associated with the pasitbchief financial officer, or as may from timetime be assigned to him or her by the
board of directors, the chairperson, the chief attee officer or the president.

(i) Each assistant treasurer shall have such pased perform such duties as may from time to timassigned to him or her by
the board of directors, the chief executive offitke president or the chief financial officertie event of the absence, inability or refusal to
act of the chief financial officer, the assistaetsurer (or if there shall be more than one, siséstant treasurers in the order determined b
board of directors) shall perform the duties anereise the powers of the chief financial officer.

ARTICLE VI — STOCK

6.1 STOCK CERTIFICATES; PARTLY PAID SHARES

The shares of the corporation shall be represéntexrtificates, provided that the board of direstmay provide by resolution or
resolutions that some or all of any or all classeseries of its stock shall be uncertificated shaAny such resolution shall not apply to sh
represented by a certificate until such certifidgatsurrendered to the corporation. Every holdestotk represented by certificates shall be
entitled to have a certificate signed by, or inlaene of the corporation by the chairperson obiterd of directors or vice-chairperson of the
board of directors, or the president or a viceipge, and by the treasurer or an assistant tregsurthe secretary or an assistant secretary of
the corporation representing the number of shagistered in certificate form. Any or all of thgsatures on the certificate may be a
facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agentegiistrar who has signed or whose facsimile sigedtas been placed upon a certificate has
ceased to be
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such officer, transfer agent or registrar beforehstertificate is issued, it may be issued by thparation with the same effect as if such
person were such officer, transfer agent or regisit the date of issue. The corporation shalhagt power to issue a certificate in bearer
form.

The corporation may issue the whole or any paitsafhares as partly paid and subject to calllierremainder of the consideration tc
paid therefor. Upon the face or back of each staxkificate issued to represent any such partlg-phares, or upon the books and records of
the corporation in the case of uncertificated pautid shares, the total amount of the considaratidoe paid therefor and the amount paid
thereon shall be stated. Upon the declaration pidaridend on fully-paid shares, the corporatioalstieclare a dividend upon partly-paid
shares of the same class, but only upon the ba#ie percentage of the consideration actually gagtdeon.

6.2 SPECIAL DESIGNATION ON CERTIFICATES

If the corporation is authorized to issue more tbae class of stock or more than one series otksg, then the powers, the
designations, the preferences, and the relativéicipating, optional or other special rights othaclass of stock or series thereof and the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of supheferences and/or rights shall be set forth indiusummarized on the face or back of the
certificate that the corporation shall issue taespnt such class or series of stqmiovided, howeverthat, except as otherwise provided in
Section 202 of the DGCL, in lieu of the foregoirgjuirements there may be set forth on the faceck bf the certificate that the corporation
shall issue to represent such class or serie®dk,sh statement that the corporation will furnigthout charge to each stockholder who so
requests the powers, designations, preferencesetative, participating, optional or other specights of each class of stock or series thereof
and the qualifications, limitations or restrictiomfssuch preferences and/or rights. Within a reabtmtime after the issuance or transfer of
uncertificated stock, the corporation shall sentheoregistered owner thereof a written notice aiming the information required to be set
forth or stated on certificates pursuant to thiisa 6.2 or Sections 156, 202(a) or 218(a) ofDI@&CL or with respect to this section 6.2 a
statement that the corporation will furnish withabirge to each stockholder who so requests thenspdesignations, preferences and
relative, participating, optional or other specights of each class of stock or series thereofthadjualifications, limitations or restrictions of
such preferences and/or rights. Except as othemyigeessly provided by law, the rights and obligagi of the holders of uncertificated stock
and the rights and obligations of the holders ofifieates representing stock of the same classsaniés shall be identical.

6.3 LOST, STOLEN OR DESTROYED CERTIFICATES

Except as provided in this Section 6.3, no newifazates for shares shall be issued to replacesgipusly issued certificate unless the
latter is surrendered to the corporation and céeatelt the same time. The corporation may issusnaaertificate of stock or uncertificated
shares in the place of any certificate theretofesaed by it, alleged to have been lost, stoletestroyed, and the corporation may require the
owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificatesuch owner’s legal representative, to givecttigoration a bond sufficient to indemnify it
against any claim that may be made against it cowat of the alleged loss, theft or destructiommf such certificate or the issuance of such
new certificate or uncertificated shares.

6.4 DIVIDENDS

The board of directors, subject to any restrictiomstained in the certificate of incorporation pphcable law, may declare and pay
dividends upon the shares of the corporation’stahgiock. Dividends may
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be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of thparation’s capital stock, subject to the provisi@f the certificate of incorporation.

The board of directors may set apart out of amheffunds of the corporation available for dividerdreserve or reserves for any prc
purpose and may abolish any such reserve. Suclvgesshall include but not be limited to equaliiiigdends, repairing or maintaining any
property of the corporation, and meeting contingesc

6.5 TRANSFER OF STOCK

Transfers of record of shares of stock of the caipon shall be made only upon its books by theléa thereof, in person or by an
attorney duly authorized, and, if such stock igifteated, upon the surrender of a certificate exttificates for a like number of shares, prop
endorsed or accompanied by proper evidence of ssiteg assignation or authority to transfagvided, howevethat such succession,
assignment or authority to transfer is not prokithiby the certificate of incorporation, these bydaapplicable law or contract.

6.6 STOCK TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

The corporation shall have power to enter into peidorm any agreement with any number of stockhsldéany one or more classes
stock of the corporation to restrict the transfesttares of stock of the corporation of any oneore classes owned by such stockholders in
any manner not prohibited by the DGCL.

6.7 REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS
The corporation:

(i) shall be entitled to recognize the exclusiyghtiof a person registered on its books as the pefghares to receive dividends
and to vote as such owner;

(i) shall be entitled to hold liable for calls andsessments the person registered on its bodke as/ner of shares; and

(iii) shall not be bound to recognize any equitaii®ther claim to or interest in such share orehan the part of another person,
whether or not it shall have express or other edtiereof, except as otherwise provided by the EvRelaware.

ARTICLE VII — MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE AND WAIVER

7.1 NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Notice of any meeting of stockholders, if mailesigiven when deposited in the United States masdtage prepaid, directed to the
stockholder at such stockholder’s address as gaqspon the corporatigiecords. An affidavit of the secretary or ansiasit secretary of tt
corporation or of the transfer agent or other agéttie corporation that the notice has been gshall, in the absence of fraud, jméma facie
evidence of the facts stated therein.
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7.2 NOTICE BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

Without limiting the manner by which notice othes@imay be given effectively to stockholders purstathe DGCL, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, any notice to stotdtérs given by the corporation under any provisibthe DGCL, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws shall be effectivgiven by a form of electronic transmission conedrib by the stockholder to whom the
notice is given. Any such consent shall be revaealplthe stockholder by written notice to the coation. Any such consent shall be deemed
revoked if:

(i) the corporation is unable to deliver by elentmtransmission two consecutive notices givenhgydorporation in accordance
with such consent; and

(i) such inability becomes known to the secret@ran assistant secretary of the corporation tingdransfer agent, or other
person responsible for the giving of notice.

However, the inadvertent failure to treat such ilitgtas a revocation shall not invalidate any niregr other action.

Any notice given pursuant to the preceding paragsiall be deemed given:
0] if by facsimile telecommunication, when directecatoumber at which the stockholder has consentegttve notice
(i) if by electronic mail, when directed to an electcomail address at which the stockholder has cdeseio receive notice

(iii)  if by a posting on an electronic network tdlger with separate notice to the stockholder ohspecific posting, upon the
later of (A) such posting and (B) the giving of Blgeparate notice; al

(iv)  if by any other form of electronic transmission,emdirected to the stockhold:

An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant dacyeor of the transfer agent or other agent ofcibiporation that the notice has been
given by a form of electronic transmission shalltie absence of fraud, pema facieevidence of the facts stated therein.

An “ electronic transmission” means any form of communication, not directly iinag the physical transmission of paper, that @s
a record that may be retained, retrieved, and wedeby a recipient thereof, and that may be diyeetproduced in paper form by such a
recipient through an automated process.

7.3 NOTICE TO STOCKHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

Except as otherwise prohibited under the DGCL, axitHimiting the manner by which notice otherwisaynbe given effectively to
stockholders, any notice to stockholders givenhgydorporation under the provisions of the DGCE, ¢brtificate of incorporation or these
bylaws shall be effective if given by a single tait notice to stockholders who share an addressigented to by the stockholders at that
address to whom such notice is given. Any suchamnshall be revocable by the stockholder by writietice to the corporation. Any
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stockholder who fails to object in writing to therporation, within 60 days of having been giventteri notice by the corporation of its
intention to send the single notice, shall be dektadhave consented to receiving such single writiatice.

7.4 NOTICE TO PERSON WITH WHOM COMMUNICATION IS UNAWFUL

Whenever notice is required to be given, undeiXL, the certificate of incorporation or theseadws, to any person with whom
communication is unlawful, the giving of such netio such person shall not be required and thexdélshno duty to apply to any
governmental authority or agency for a licenseaynpt to give such notice to such person. Any actipmeeting which shall be taken or h
without notice to any such person with whom comroation is unlawful shall have the same force areceéfs if such notice had been duly
given. In the event that the action taken by thpa@tion is such as to require the filing of atifieate under the DGCL, the certificate shall
state, if such is the fact and if notice is requjidat notice was given to all persons entitlecetteive notice except such persons with whom
communication is unlawful.

7.5 WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever notice is required to be given to stodltéud, directors or other persons under any pravisidhe DGCL, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, a written waivegngid by the person entitled to notice, or a wabyeelectronic transmission by the person
entitled to notice, whether before or after theetiof the event for which notice is to be given lishea deemed equivalent to notice. Attenda
of a person at a meeting shall constitute a waf@otice of such meeting, except when the persiemads a meeting for the express purpose
of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, te tlansaction of any business because the mestmaf iawfully called or convened. Neither
the business to be transacted at, nor the purgpaeyregular or special meeting of the stockhalde the board of directors, as the case may
be, need be specified in any written waiver ofe®tir any waiver by electronic transmission unssequired by the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws.

ARTICLE VIII — INDEMNIFICATION

8.1 INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN TIRD PARTY PROCEEDINGS

Subject to the other provisions of this Article Nthe corporation shall indemnify, to the fullesttent permitted by the DGCL, as now
or hereinafter in effect, any person who was @ jgrty or is threatened to be made a party tdtmeatened, pending or completed action,
suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, adnsinative or investigative (aProceeding”) (other than an action by or in the right of the
corporation) by reason of the fact that such persam was a director of the corporation or anagffiof the corporation, or while a director of
the corporation or officer of the corporation iswas serving at the request of the corporationdiseator, officer, employee or agent of
another corporation, partnership, joint ventunestiior other enterprise, against expenses (induaitorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonablyred by such person in connection with suctc@®eding if such person acted in good
faith and in a manner such person reasonably leglitw be in or not opposed to the best interestiseo€orporation, and, with respect to any
criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonahlise&#o believe such person’s conduct was unlawhé. termination of any Proceeding by
judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upgies ofnolo contenderer its equivalent, shall not, of itself, createraqumption that the
person did not act in good faith and in a manndckvluch person reasonably believed to be in opppbsed to the best interests of the
corporation,
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and, with respect to any criminal action or proéeggdhad reasonable cause to believe that sucbmersonduct was unlawful.

8.2 INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN AGONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORATION

Subject to the other provisions of this Article Nthe corporation shall indemnify, to the fullesttent permitted by the DGCL, as now
or hereinafter in effect, any person who was @ jgrty or is threatened to be made a party tdtmeatened, pending or completed action or
suit by or in the right of the corporation to proe@ judgment in its favor by reason of the faat guch person is or was a director or office
the corporation, or while a director or officertbé corporation is or was serving at the requetit@torporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partmgrghint venture, trust or other enterprise age@genses (including attorneys’ fees)
actually and reasonably incurred by such persaommection with the defense or settlement of swtivraor suit if such person acted in good
faith and in a manner such person reasonably legliey be in or not opposed to the best interestiseoforporation; except that no
indemnification shall be made in respect of anyntJassue or matter as to which such person slaai lbeen adjudged to be liable to the
corporation unless and only to the extent thatQbert of Chancery or the court in which such actiosuit was brought shall determine upon
application that, despite the adjudication of ligpbut in view of all the circumstances of theseasuch person is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such expenses which tlear€of Chancery or such other court shall deenp@ro

8.3 SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

To the extent that a present or former directasfbicer of the corporation has been successfuhemterits or otherwise in defense of
any action, suit or proceeding described in Sed@idrnor Section 8.2, or in defense of any claimiésor matter therein, such person shall be
indemnified against expenses (including attornésss) actually and reasonably incurred by suchgpeirs connection therewith.

8.4 INDEMNIFICATION OF OTHERS

Subject to the other provisions of this Article Mithe corporation shall have power to indemnify@mployees and its agents to the
extent not prohibited by the DGCL or other appliedaw. The board of directors shall have the powwetelegate the determination of
whether employees or agents shall be indemnifietith person or persons as the board of determines.

8.5 ADVANCED PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

Expenses (including attorneyfg’es) incurred by an officer or director of thepmmation in defending any Proceeding shall be pgithe
corporation in advance of the final dispositiorsath Proceeding upon receipt of a written requnestefor (together with documentation
reasonably evidencing such expenses) and an ukithgrtay or on behalf of the person to repay suchwamts if it shall ultimately be
determined that the person is not entitled to dermnified under this Article VIII or the DGCL. Suetkkpenses (including attorneys’ fees)
incurred by former directors and officers or otherployees and agents may be so paid upon such &ansonditions, if any, as the
corporation deems reasonably appropriate and sbalbject to the corporation’s expense guidelifiks.right to advancement of expenses
shall not apply to any claim for which indemnityeiscluded pursuant to these bylaws, but shall atgpny Proceeding referenced in
Section 8.6(ii) or 8.6(iii) prior to a determinatithat the person is not entitled to be indemnibigdhe corporation.
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8.6 LIMITATION ON INDEMNIFICATION

Subject to the requirements in Section 8.3 andIBEL, the corporation shall not be obligated toeimohify any person pursuant to this
Article VIII in connection with any Proceeding (any part of any Proceeding):

(i) for which payment has actually been made torobehalf of such person under any statute, inseranlicy, indemnity
provision, vote or otherwise, except with respeciity excess beyond the amount paid,;

(i) for an accounting or disgorgement of profiteguant to Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, or simleovisions of federal, state or
local statutory law or common law, if such persehéld liable therefor (including pursuant to asftlement arrangements);

(iii) for any reimbursement of the corporation luck person of any bonus or other incentive-basetjoity-based compensation
or of any profits realized by such person fromgshke of securities of the corporation, as requimeshch case under the 1934 Act (including
any such reimbursements that arise from an acemyungistatement of the corporation pursuant to &e&04 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act’), or the payment to the corporation of profits agsirom the purchase and sale by such person ofites
in violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxle)Aif such person is held liable therefor (inéhglpursuant to any settlement
arrangements);

(iv) initiated by such person against the corporatr its directors, officers, employees, agentstber indemnitees, unless (a) the
board of directors authorized the Proceeding (er¢hevant part of the Proceeding) prior to itsiation, (b) the corporation provides the
indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuamthe powers vested in the corporation under apipléclaw, (c) otherwise required to be made
under Section 8.7 or (d) otherwise required by iapple law; or

(v) if prohibited by applicable lawgrovided, howeverthat if any provision or provisions of this AfcVIll shall be held to be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable for any reasoratgoever: (1) the validity, legality and enforcdipdf the remaining provisions of this
Article VIII (including, without limitation, each grtion of any paragraph or clause containing amhgrovision held to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, that is not itself held to be indaliegal or unenforceable) shall not in any waydifected or impaired thereby; and (2) to the
fullest extent possible, the provisions of thisiélg VIl (including, without limitation, each sugbortion of any paragraph or clause contai
any such provision held to be invalid, illegal sremnforceable) shall be construed so as to giveteffethe intent manifested by the provision
held invalid, illegal or unenforcebable.

8.7 DETERMINATION; CLAIM

If a claim for indemnification or advancement operses under this Article VIII is not paid in fullthin 90 days after receipt by the
corporation of the written request therefor, theralant shall be entitled to an adjudication by artof competent jurisdiction of his or her
entitlement to such indemnification or advancentdr@xpenses. The corporation shall indemnify sumisgn against any and all expenses
are incurred by such person in connection withaation for indemnification or advancement of exmesnfsom the corporation under this
Article VIII, to the extent such person is succabksf such action, and to the extent not prohibligdaw. In any such suit, the corporation
shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by ldwaye the burden of proving that the claimant isemtitled to the requested indemnification or
advancement of expenses.
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8.8 NON-EXCLUSIVITY OF RIGHTS

The indemnification and advancement of expensedged by, or granted pursuant to, this Article \8Hall not be deemed exclusive of
any other rights to which those seeking indemniiiicaor advancement of expenses may be entitleénthe certificate of incorporation or
any statute, bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholdedisinterested directors or otherwise, bothoaaction in such person'’s official capacity
and as to action in another capacity while holdingh office. The corporation is specifically auiked to enter into individual contracts with
any or all of its directors, officers, employeesagents respecting indemnification and advancewiegipenses, to the fullest extent not
prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law.

8.9 INSURANCE

The corporation may purchase and maintain insurandegehalf of any person who is or was a diredfficer, employee or agent of the
corporation, or is or was serving at the requeshefcorporation as a director, officer, employeagent of another corporation, partnership,
joint venture, trust or other enterprise againgtlability asserted against such person and imzlilry such person in any such capacity
arising out of such persanstatus as such, whether or not the corporatianditave the power to indemnify such person againsh liability
under the provisions of the DGCL.

8.10 SURVIVAL

The rights to indemnification and advancement gfegrses conferred by this Article VIII shall contnas to a person who has ceased to
be a director, officer, employee or agent and shate to the benefit of the heirs, executors ashdiaistrators of such a person.

8.11 EFFECT OF REPEAL OR MODIFICATION

Any amendment, alteration or repeal of this Arti¢ldl shall not adversely affect any right or protien hereunder of any person in
respect of any act or omission occurring prioruchsamendment, alteration or repeal.

8.12 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Article VIII, references te thcorporation ” shall include, in addition to the resulting corption, any constituent
corporation (including any constituent of a consitt) absorbed in a consolidation or merger whfdts separate existence had continued,
would have had power and authority to indemnifyditectors, officers, employees or agents, sodahgtperson who is or was a director,
officer, employee or agent of such constituent coafion, or is or was serving at the request ohaanstituent corporation as a director,
officer, employee or agent of another corporatparfnership, joint venture, trust or other entesgrishall stand in the same position under the
provisions of this Article VIII with respect to thiesulting or surviving corporation as such pensould have with respect to such constituent
corporation if its separate existence had continBed purposes of this Article VIII, references‘tother enterprises” shall include employe
benefit plans; references tdifies” shall include any excise taxes assessed on amp@righ respect to an employee benefit plan; and
references to Serving at the request of the corporatiori shall include any service as a director, offieanployee or agent of the
corporation which imposes duties on, or involvawises by, such director, officer, employee or dageith respect to an employee benefit
plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a pengho acted in good faith and in a manner suckgmereasonably believed to be in the
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interest of the participants and beneficiariesroémployee benefit plan shall be deemed to hawalasta manner fiot opposed to the best
interests of the corporation” as referred to in this Article VIII.

ARTICLE IX — GENERAL MATTERS

9.1 EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMERST

Except as otherwise provided by law, the certifioaitincorporation or these bylaws, the board téators may authorize any officer or
officers, or agent or agents, to enter into anytrean or execute any document or instrument imgimae of and on behalf of the corporation;
such authority may be general or confined to speitistances. Unless so authorized or ratifiedhgylioard of directors or within the agency
power of an officer, no officer, agent or emplogball have any power or authority to bind the coaion by any contract or engagement or
to pledge its credit or to render it liable for gnyrpose or for any amount.

9.2 FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixgdrésolution of the board of directors and may banged by the board of directors.

9.3 SEAL

The corporation may adopt a corporate seal, wiielll e adopted and which may be altered by thedoofdirectors. The corporation
may use the corporate seal by causing it or arfalesthereof to be impressed or affixed or in attyeo manner reproduced.

9.4 CONSTRUCTION; DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, the gemeoaisions, rules of construction, and definitiamshe DGCL shall govern the
construction of these bylaws. Without limiting thenerality of this provision, the singular numbmesliides the plural, the plural number
includes the singular, and the terrmpérson” includes both an entity and a natural person.

ARTICLE X — AMENDMENTS

These bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealia Isyockholders entitled to votaovided, howeverthat the affirmative vote of
the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the total vofdogver of outstanding voting securities, votingdthgr as a single class, shall be required for
the stockholders of the corporation to alter, amaniépeal, or adopt any bylaw inconsistent witle, following provisions of these bylaws:
Article 1, Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.4 and 3.11 of Alti lll, Article VIII and this Article X (including without limitation, any such Article or
Section as renumbered as a result of any amendaitargtion, change, repeal, or adoption of angioBylaw). The board of directors shall
also have the power to adopt, amend or repeal lsylmevided, howeverthat a bylaw amendment adopted by stockholdeishngpecifies
the votes that shall be necessary for the eledti@irectors shall not be further amended or regbaly the board of directors.
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Exhibit 10.25
FLUIDIGM CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE BONUS PLAN
Adopted: March 22, 2011

1. Purposes of the PlaiThe Plan is intended to increase shareholdeeahd the success of the Company by motivating &yepls to
(a) perform to the best of their abilities, and g§bhieve the Company’s objectives.

2. Definitions.

(a) “ Affiliate " means any corporation or other entity (includihgt not limited to, partnerships and joint vensi)reontrolled by
the Company.

(b) “ Actual Award” means as to any Performance Period, the actumlch(if any) payable to a Participant for the Perfance
Period, subject to the Committee’s authority urslection 3(d) to modify the award.

(c) “ Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

(d) “ Bonus Pool' means the pool of funds available for distributioParticipants. Subject to the terms of the Pla@,Committe:
establishes the Bonus Pool for each Performanded?er

(e) “ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amtkiiteference to a specific section of the Codegulation
thereunder will include such section or regulatamy valid regulation promulgated thereunder, anda@mparable provision of any future
legislation or regulation amending, supplementinguperseding such section or regulation.

(f) “ Committee” means the Compensation Committee or a sub-comenittereof appointed by the Compensation Committee
pursuant to Section 5.

(9) “ Company’ means Fluidigm Corporation, a Delaware corporgtar any successor thereto.

(h) “ Disability ” means a permanent and total disability determineatcordance with uniform and nondiscriminatagnslards
adopted by the Committee from time to time.

() “ Employee” means any executive, officer, or key employe¢éhef Company or of an Affiliate, whether such indival is so
employed at the time the Plan is adopted or becamesnployed subsequent to the adoption of the Plan

(j) “ Participant” means as to any Performance Period, an Employeehas been selected by the Committee for partioipén
the Plan for that Performance Peri



(k) “ Performance Perioimeans the period of time for the measuremenhefaerformance criteria that must be met to recaive
Actual Award, as determined by the Committee irs@ke discretion. A Performance Period may be @iiohto one or more shorter periods
for example, but not by way of limitation, the Coiittee desires to measure some performance crigenl2 months and other criteria over
3 months.

() “ Plan” means this Executive Incentive Compensation Peseaforth in this instrument and as hereaftemaiaé from time t
time.

(m) “ Target Award’ means the target award, at 100% performance aeimient, payable under the Plan to a Participarthior
Performance Period, as determined by the Comniitteecordance with Section 3(b).

(n) “ Termination of Servicé means a cessation of the employee-employer oslsliip between an Employee and the Company ol
an Affiliate for any reason, including, but not ¥y of limitation, a termination by resignationsdnarge, death, Disability, retirement, or the
disaffiliation of an Affiliate, but excluding anysh termination where there is a simultaneous régmgent by the Company or an Affiliate.

3. Selection of Participants and Determination wfa#ds.

(a) Selection of ParticipantsThe Committee, in its sole discretion, will seéldee Employees who will be Participants for any
Performance Period. Participation in the Plan idésole discretion of the Committee, on a Peréorce Period by Performance Period basis.
Accordingly, an Employee who is a Participant fajizen Performance Period in no way is guaranteexssured of being selected for
participation in any subsequent Performance Pexideeriods.

(b) Determination of Target AwardS'The Committee, in its sole discretion, will edisiiba Target Award for each Participant,
which generally will be a percentage of a Partiotfsaaverage annual base salary for the PerformBeded.

(c) Bonus Pool Each Performance Period, the Committee, in is discretion, will establish a Bonus Pool, whigopmay be
established before, during or after the applic@@gormance Period. Actual Awards will be paid frtira Bonus Pool.

(d) Discretion to Modify Awards Notwithstanding any contrary provision of therRlthe Committee may, in its sole discretion
and at any time, (i) increase, reduce or elimimaBarticipant’s Actual Award, and/or (ii) increasequce or eliminate the amount allocated to
the Bonus Pool. The Actual Award may be below,rathtmve the Target Award, in the Committee’s disore The Committee may provide
for partial payment of Target Award if the performea goals are partially met. The Committee mayrdetee the amount of any reduction on
the basis of such factors as it deems relevantypéihdot be required to establish any allocationm@ighting with respect to the factors it
considers.

(e) Discretion to Determine CriteridNotwithstanding any contrary provision of theRlthe Committee will, in its sole discretion,
determine the performance goals applicable to
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any Target Award which requirement may includehwitt limitation, (i) attainment of research and @lepment milestones, (ii) bookings,
(iii) business divestitures and acquisitions, @ash flow, (v) cash position, (vi) contract awaod$backlog, (vii) customer renewals,

(viii) customer retention rates from an acquirechpany, business unit or division, (ix) earnings ightmay include earnings before interest
and taxes, earnings before taxes and net earnixygarnings per Share, (xi) expenses, (xii) groasgin, (xiii) growth in stockholder value
relative to the moving average of the S&P 500 Indea&nother index, (xiv) internal rate of retuny) market share, (xvi) net income,

(xvii) net profit, (xviii) net sales, (xix) new pduct development, (xx) new product invention orawation, (xxi) number of customers,

(xxii) operating cash flow, (xxiii) operating expss, (xxiv) operating income, (xxv) operating margkxvi) overhead or other expense
reduction, (xxvii) product defect measures, (x}viifoduct release timelines, (xxix) productivityxx) profit, (xxxi) return on assets,

(xxxii) return on capital, (xxxiii) return on eqgyit(xxxiv) return on investment, (xxxv) return oales, (xxxvi) revenue, (xxxvii) revenue
growth, (xxxviii) sales results, (xxxix) sales gribnv(xl) stock price, (xli) time to market, (xliiptal stockholder return, (xliii) working capital,
(xliv) departmental performance, (xlv) sales pipeli(xlvi) publicity or publication goals, and indiual objectives such as peer reviews or
other subjective or objective criteria. As deteratrby the Committee, the performance goals mayabedon GAAP or Non-GAAP results
and any actual results may be adjusted by the Ctimenfor one-time items or unbudgeted or unexpeitéaas when determining whether the
performance goals have been met. The goals may beedasis of any factors the Committee deternmelesant, and may be on an
individual, divisional, business unit or Companydeibasis. The performance goals may differ frontiépant to Participant and from award
to award. Failure to meet the goals will resuldiifailure to earn the Target Award, except as pleyiin Section 3(d).

4. Payment of Awards

(a) Right to Receive PaymenEach Actual Award will be paid solely from thengeal assets of the Company. Nothing in this Plan
will be construed to create a trust or to estaldisbvidence any Participant’s claim of any rigtites than as an unsecured general creditor
with respect to any payment to which he or she beagntitled.

(b) Timing of Payment Payment of each Actual Award shall be made as as@racticable after the end of the Performance
Period during which the Actual Award was earned aitelr the Actual Award is approved by the Comneitteut in no event later than the
fifteenth (15t ) day of the third (8 ) month of thiscal Year following the date the Participant’s#al Award has been earned and is no
longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeituoaless otherwise determined by the Committee radifsant must be employed by the
Company or any Affiliate on the date Actual Awastde paid to receive a payment under the Plan.

It is the intent that this Plan comply with the uegments of Code Section 409A so that none op#henents to be provided
hereunder will be subject to the additional tax@sgd under Code Section 409A, and any ambiguigesitwill be interpreted to so comply.

(c) Form of PaymentEach Actual Award will be paid in cash (or itaia@lent) in a single lump sum.
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(d) Payment in the Event of Death or Disability a Participant dies or becomes Disabled piahe payment of an Actual Award
earned by him or her prior to death or Disability & prior Performance Period, the Actual Award b paid to his or her estate or to the
Participant, as the case may be, subject to then@ber’s discretion to reduce or eliminate any Attward otherwise payable.

5. Plan Administration

(a) Committee is the Administratoifhe Plan will be administered by the Committelee Tommittee will consist of not less than
two (2) members of the Board. The Compensation Citteenmay designate a sub-committee to adminikePtan.

(b) Committee Authority It will be the duty of the Committee to administiee Plan in accordance with the Plan’s provisidree
Committee will have all powers and discretion neaeg or appropriate to administer the Plan anatdrol its operation, including, but not
limited to, the power to (i) determine which Empéeg will be granted awards, (ii) prescribe the seamd conditions of awards, (iii) interpret
the Plan and the awards, (iv) adopt such procedurdsubplans as are necessary or appropriatertot garticipation in the Plan by
Employees who are foreign nationals or employedidatof the United States, (v) adopt rules foratiministration, interpretation and
application of the Plan as are consistent therewitd (vi) interpret, amend or revoke any suchstule

(c) Decisions Binding All determinations and decisions made by the Cdtes the Board, and any delegate of the Committee
pursuant to the provisions of the Plan will be fimanclusive, and binding on all persons, and lallgiven the maximum deference permitted
by law.

(d) Delegation by CommitteeThe Committee, in its sole discretion and on gecims and conditions as it may provide, may
delegate all or part of its authority and powerdernthe Plan to one or more directors and/or afficé the Company.

(e) Indemnification Each person who is or will have been a membér@fCommittee will be indemnified and held harmlegs
the Company against and from (i) any loss, caaijlity, or expense that may be imposed upon aaeably incurred by him or her in
connection with or resulting from any claim, actisnit, or proceeding to which he or she may bartypr in which he or she may be
involved by reason of any action taken or failwett under the Plan or any award, and (ii) froyamd all amounts paid by him or her in
settlement thereof, with the Company’s approvapaid by him or her in satisfaction of any judgminany such claim, action, suit, or
proceeding against him or her, provided he or sHaive the Company an opportunity, at its own erpe, to handle and defend the same
before he or she undertakes to handle and defemdhis or her own behalf. The foregoing rightradémnification will not be exclusive of
any other rights of indemnification to which suarsons may be entitled under the Company’s Ceatdiof Incorporation or Bylaws, by
contract, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or utadg power that the Company may have to indenthéymn or hold them harmless.
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6. General Provisions

(a) Tax Withholding The Company will withhold all applicable taxesrfr any Actual Award, including any federal, statel a
local taxes (including, but not limited to, the fapant’s FICA and SDI obligations).

(b) No Effect on Employment or Servicélothing in the Plan will interfere with or limih any way the right of the Company to
terminate any Participant’s employment or servicary time, with or without cause. For purposethefPlan, transfer of employment of a
Participant between the Company and any one déffftsates (or between Affiliates) will not be deesd a Termination of Service.
Employment with the Company and its Affiliates isan at-will basis only. The Company expressly mesethe right, which may be
exercised at any time and without regard to whaimdua Performance Period such exercise occutsrmainate any individual’'s employment
with or without cause, and to treat him or her withregard to the effect that such treatment ntiglve upon him or her as a Participant.

(c) Participation No Employee will have the right to be selectedeteive an award under this Plan, or, having lseeselected, 1
be selected to receive a future award.

(d) SuccessorsAll obligations of the Company under the Planthwiespect to awards granted hereunder, will bdibgnhon any
successor to the Company, whether the existenseobf successor is the result of a direct or intlpacchase, merger, consolidation, or
otherwise, of all or substantially all of the buesss or assets of the Company.

(e) Beneficiary Designationdf permitted by the Committee, a Participant uritie Plan may name a beneficiary or beneficiaries
to whom any vested but unpaid award will be paithmevent of the Participant’s death. Each susigdation will revoke all prior
designations by the Participant and will be effeztnly if given in a form and manner acceptabltheoCommittee. In the absence of any
such designation, any vested benefits remainingidrgt the Participant’s death will be paid to Begticipant’s estate.

(f) Nontransferability of AwardsNo award granted under the Plan may be soldsfeared, pledged, assigned, or otherwise
alienated or hypothecated, other than by will, i®y laws of descent and distribution, or to thetialiextent provided in Section 6(e). All
rights with respect to an award granted to a Rpatit will be available during his or her lifetimaly to the Participant.

7. Amendment, Termination, and Duration

(a) Amendment, Suspension, or Terminatidime Committee or the Board, in its sole discretimay amend or terminate the Plan,
or any part thereof, at any time and for any reasbe amendment, suspension or termination of e Will not, without the consent of the
Participant, alter or impair any rights or obligets under any Actual Award theretofore earned loh Rarticipant. No award may be granted
during any period of suspension or after termimmatibthe Plan.
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(b) Duration of Plan The Plan will commence on the date specifiediheesnd subject to Section 7(a) (regarding the Bsanight
to amend or terminate the Plan), will remain ireeffthereafter.

8. Legal Construction

(a) Gender and NumbeExcept where otherwise indicated by the contaxy, masculine term used herein also will include th
feminine; the plural will include the singular atié singular will include the plural.

(b) Severability. In the event any provision of the Plan will bédhidlegal or invalid for any reason, the illegglior invalidity will
not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, andtlae will be construed and enforced as if theydleor invalid provision had not been
included.

(c) Reguirements of LawThe granting of awards under the Plan will bgesttto all applicable laws, rules and regulaticarg] to
such approvals by any governmental agencies asmaltsecurities exchanges as may be required.

(d) Governing Law The Plan and all awards will be construed in ed@ace with and governed by the laws of the Sthte o
California, but without regard to its conflict W provisions.

(e) Bonus PlanThe Plan is intended to be a “bonus program”esdd under U.S. Department of Labor regulatioh@®8-2(c)
and will be construed and administered in accordavith such intention.

(f) Captions. Captions are provided herein for convenience ,cariygl will not serve as a basis for interpretatioonstruction of
the Plan.
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Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Corporation (Delaware):
Fluidigm K.K. (Japan)

Fluidigm Europe, B.V. (Netherlands)

Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)
Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Europe, BV (Netherlands):
Fluidigm France SARL (France)

Fluidigm UK Limited (United Kingdom)



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1722@8gning to the Fluidigm
Corporation 1999 Stock Option Plan, 2009 Equityeltove Plan, and 2011 Equity Incentive Plan of ryport dated March 25, 2011, with
respect to the consolidated financial statemerdssahedule of Fluidigm Corporation, included irstAinnual Report (Form 1K) for the yea
ended December 31, 2010.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, Californie
March 25, 201:



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Fluidigm Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or emnittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presente(

this report;

The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isiige prepared

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presantbis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehlis report based on
such evaluation; ar

C. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesftf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the

equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 25, 2011 By: /s/ Gajus V. Worthingto

Gajus V. Worthingtot
President and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Fluidigm Corporation

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or emnittate a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this ref

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presente(

this report;

The registrang other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contamld procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules -15(e) and 15-15(e)) for the registrant and ha

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedaoies designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material infornmatielating to the registrant, including its condatied subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattdy during the period in which this report isiige prepared

b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presantbis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehlis report based on
such evaluation; ar

C. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyesftf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrant’s other certifying officer antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the

equivalent functions)

a. All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrgistrant’s ability to record, process, summasiad report financial
information; anc

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the
registran’'s internal control over financial reportir

Date: March 25, 2011 By: /s/ Vikram Joc

Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officel



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANTO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, the chief executive offie# Fluidigm Corporation (the “Company”), certifgr the purposes of 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 96&darbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the bésty knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (th@dR®), fully complies
with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendet]; an

(i) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations
of the Company.

By: /s/ Gajus V. Worthingto
Gajus V. Worthingtot
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 25, 201



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANTO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, the chief financial officer of Fligin Corporation (the “Company”), certify for thenposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarlarkes Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledg

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10eKthe fiscal year ended December 31, 2010 (th@dR®), fully complies
with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(djhef Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendet]; an

(i) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations
of the Company.

By: /s/ Vikram Joc
Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 25, 201



